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Enclosed are two copies of Miss Frances Jackson's "Administrative
History of Hawaii Volcanoes and Haleakala National Farks." Also
enclosed is a copy of General Superintendent Barrel's letter to the
Hawaii Natural History Association which explaing the status of the
manuscript and distribution of copies. Please note on page 2 of
this letter that he recommends sending two copies to the Western
Region; one to be retained in Region and the other to ba forwarded
to either WASO or the Denver Service Center. Of the total five
copies, we are retaining the remaining three here in Hawaii.
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by Miss Jackson are no longer in the files and her pages contain the only

“ pe forewarned and forearmed and be aware of the unique events, people, and

United States Department of the Interior

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
COPY

Mr., Arthur F. Hewitt, Jr.
Executive Secretary

Hawaii Natural History Association ' ;
Hawali Volcanoes National Park |
Hewali 96718 |

Dear T:

Miss Frances Jackson, in partial completion of her contract with the i
association, has delivered five copies of her "aAn Administrative History :
of Hawaii Volcanoes National Park; Haleekala National Park," to this office.
To complete the contract and warrant final payment, Miss Jackson must still
deliver one copy of a final volume which wi contain the bibliography and
copies of selected rare or now unavailable documents found during her
search, as well as her handwritten notes as required in the contract. Upon
delivery of this final volume, we believe the terms of the contract will
have more than been met and final payment should be made.

What Miss Jackson has written far exceeds that contemplated in the original
contract and the value exceeds the money spent. Many of the documents used

existing written records of the matlers covered. Her work appears to be
complete and exhaustive. Use by present and future superintendents of Hawaii
Voleanoes and Haleakala, their staffs, and by others who must make or rec-
onmend decisions, will insure a thorough understanding of the backgrounds
and olimate in which contemporary decisions must be made and of the existing
inherited situations. Those who make use of Miss Jackson's monograph will

history behind the many park matters covered.

One copy of the administrative history has been forwarded to former Super-
$ntendent Wingate with the request for review and comments. His written
comments will of themselves be historical documents end make available the
views of a major participant. The Superintendent, City of Refuge, has been
requested to deliver a copy to Mr. Wingate, and upon completion, forward the
marked copy and comments to this office. It is contemplated that a Xerox
copy of his comments and marked pages will be made and retained here for use
by the Pacific-Hawail Historian and others. At this time the copy of Miss
Jackson's monograph held here will be forwarded, together with the original

Wingate copy and comments, to you.
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Three copies of the five delivered by Misg Jackson are Being Sent to you
under separate cover, One copy has been retained here; one sent to

Mr. Wingate. As noteg above, these two copies will eventually also be
forwarded to You. : '

1. Superintendent, Hawaii Volcanoes
o Superintendent, Haleakala

2
3+ Hawaii Volcanoes Library (Wingate, annotated)
L. Director, Western Region
5

« Director, western Region for forwarding to either WASO or DsC,

As noted above, the final reference copy at the Hawaii Group Office will be

a Xerox of the one reviewed and marked by Mr. Wingate. Any office may, of
course, make copies for another office,

As prepared by Miss Jackson, the monograph is for in-house use by NPS
Personnel. In discussions over the years with Russ &pple as to form, it
"Was agreed that due to the extent of the work and the intendegd use, certain
shortcuts would be bPermissible, For instance, the Voleano House is referreq
to frequently as the "VHse." Such shortcuts are readily understood by those

familiar with the Hawaii parks and saved Miss Jackson's time in typing the
35k vages. _

In its present form, the manuscript is not intended for publication. Like
any in-house goverrment document, it is covered under the Freedom of Informa-
tion legislation and regulations, and thus may be read on-site by anyone who
80 requests. Miss Jackson may also re-write and publish under her by-line

25 a professional baper any or all sections, with credit to the National
Park Service and the Hawaii Natural.Histony~AsSociation. She has indicated

intent to do so with some of the material on Haleakala, Anyone using her
monograph should also credit her, the Service, and Association.

Miss Jackson's administrative“hiStory and Russes' master's thesis (and
Supplements) on lang acquisition give NPS personnel the necessary historical
backgrounds for bresent and future park management and public relations

matters in Hawaii, Both should be readily available to Park Superintendents
and their stafis, o -

Sincerely yours,

: 6305 |
Robert L, Bayrel

General Superintendent
cc: . :

Director, Western Region
Director, Denver Service Center
Superintendents, HAVO, HALE




No histoéy is ever finlshed, There are always things
undone -- & new souvrce to checl, anotner prcmisiag clue to
follow out =- and they are left undone for ths very good.
reason that 1f the historian were allewed to indulge his
iéclinations, nothing would ever be written,

This history, then, pretends to be nothipg more than
an essehtial core of organized information, drawn largely
frem the f£iles and recerds created by the adminlistrabicn
of Hawall Nationcl Park, Haowall Volcanoes HNabtional Pari
and Haleakala Hational Park. To the countlcess kind people
who have offered their help end encouragement we owe a
heartfelt thank you, The work has been funded by the

Hawgii Natural History Azsociation, Lid., ¥We hope it will

rove a useful guide,
g

Frances Jacksen

Honolulu, Haweaill
June 1972
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The chain of islands knowan as the Hawaiisn Archipelago
stretches across the central Facific for over a thousand
riles, frem Ocean Island in the northwest; to Hewali Island
at the far southeastern end, They are the result of a rift
in the ocean floer through which lava poured, building the
Hewaiian chain, Todeay.the chain exists in the north only

as- subterranean mountains topped by barely exposed coral

I

reefs, At the southern end ere the deeply eroded volcanic
islands of Mauai and Oszhu, receatly dormant Maul, apd Hawail
wnich is still being built by two of its five volcences.

One of these two active volcanoes, lMauna Loa, stands 13,680
feet above sea level, one contipuous mountain rising nearly
30,000 feet from the floor of the ocean, and probably tioe
greatest single mouﬁtain mess in the worid. .

Although lying along the Tropic of Cancer, the almost
constant northeast winds, combined with the moderating expanses
of ocean, serve to/keep the islesnds both green and cocl.
Temperestures renge from seashore-balmy tobmountain~tcp—cold;
climates from desert-dry to rain-forest-wet, The high
nountains, catching the rain-bearing clouds, are the msjor
determinants; areas or even whole islands such as Xehoolawe,
lying in the iee of the mountains, tend to be dry.

At gbout the same time\that the Vikings were exploring
scross the narrow North Sea to America, the Folyueslans were

sailing from island to tiny islend across the soutiiern Facific



‘Ocead, settling, then sending voyagers out again, Only
during the last wave of exploration did these sailors venture
far to the south to settle New Zealand, and even farther to
the north to settle Hawaii. Although the settlers to Hawali
maiﬁtained an infrequent contact with their Tahiti home, the
nearest inhabited area was still a thousand miles away across
open sea and for all practical purposes the Hawalian culture
developed in isolation., The settlers in Hawﬁii found fertile
lands, gobd fishing,'and a generally pleasant environment'
1gpking both noxious animal life and undesirable climatic
conditions., They brought with them their basic food plants,
includihg the taro, coconut, and sweet potato, They also
brought the dog, pig, chicken, and a stow-away rat. They
lacked metals (except as extracted from driftwood) and the
larger animals, -

The Hawaiians also brought with them their sysbtem of
natufalisbic religion, centered about four great gods, each
of whose several diétinct attributes was worghipped as a
separate individual, While there may have been the concept
of one supreme goq, such things as the time of year, the
. waxing of political power by the god's chiefly descendents,
or immediate practical considerations usually determined -
godly impbrtance. Thus, scuth Hawall, frequéntly volcaaic,
had great concern for the care and honor of FPele, goddess
of volcances. In the same way, the demi-god Maul, a trickster
known throughout Polynesia, is associated with the crater of

Haleakala for his efforts to make the sun move more slowly

scross the sky,
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Legend has it that at one time Pele lived on Kauvai,
but finding it not to her taste, had moved down the island
chain, most recently vacating Maui in favor of hHewail. GShe
meintained two homes, lMokuaweoweo atop Mauna Loa, and
Helemaumau at Xileuea, The ohelo berry is her sacred fruit,

As a goddess, Pele was honored at heiau near the craters
she visited. 1t was essential to keep this violent-tempered
goddess in good humcr: what Hewailan had not heard of the
girl who refused to giveé an 0ld woman a bite of food, where-

upon the girl and her family were wiped out by & sudden lava

flow? The old woman had been Pele in one of her many disgulses,

Fele was fond of going abroad in disguises, prefersbly an old
woman or pretty young girl, and 1n whatever form, she brcoked
no refusal in affairs of the heart -~ her rejected lovers
stonily sit out eternity., Pele had severazl geantler sisters
whose duties were in the mists and clouds and glow of fire,
and a brother who guarded the crater of Kilauea from the bluff
&t Uwekehuna, |

Just before the middle of the 18th century, at about the
same time the coloéges in the new world were getting ready to
break eway from England and become the United States, the
chiefl Kemehemeha was born on Hewail island. The Hewalian
islands, isolated from the rest of Folynesia, had developed
with no outside influence beyond a stray Spanish galleon
plying the Manila route and an cccasional shipwrecked
Japanese fisherman, A feudal sort of system had developed

cormposed of high chiefs ruling part or all of an islend,

and gaining their positioans through inheritance and ability,



They in turn delegated power and land to lesser supporting

chiefs, By a serles of fortultuous events, Kamehameha
extended his physlical control from one district of the island
of Hawaii, to all the major islands except Kaual and Niihau.
On the death of their chief, he was to control these, also,
He had quickly discovered the values of both western goods
and western knowledge, He had godly assistance as well, In
his personal keepling was Hawaii's war god, Ku-kaillimoku., In
1790, while marching across a plateaun séuth of Kilauea, an
opposing army was destroyed in an explosive eruption of mud
ané hot ash, leaving behind only their fleeing footprilnts
which may still be seen, With Pele glso on his side, -
Kamehameha had a powerful assistant., By the time of his
death in 1819, Kamehameha had ruled the entire island chain
in peace for nearly a dozen years,

Kamehameha had been a bright young chief of ébout 25
in the court of his uncle, the high chief of Hawaii, when
over the horizon sailed some large canoes with great white
sails. It was the time of the makshiki when the annual tex
was collected, gameg were played, and war was prohibited,
The god of this moaths-long event was Lono-i-ka-makahiki,
highly honored as he moved leisurely around each island.
Based perhaps on earlier visits by Japanese fishermen or

Spanish sailors, Hawailan tradition held that a fair-skinned

god Lono would one day return. The newcomers appeared during

the annual religious ceremonies presided over by Lono, and
then anchored in the bay of Kealskekua just offshore from

the major heiau dedicated to Lono, The Hawailans reasonably

R



concluded that this indeed was the returned god Lono,

To the western world it was Captain James Cook, in late
1778 many months out on his third and final exploring voyage
into the north Pacific ocean, He had visited Kauai and Oahu,
then sailed to explore the Northwest Coast, reburnihg some
months later to these previously uncharted islands, and after
coasting along Mauil, had anchored at Kealakekua in the Kona
district of the island of Hawall,

The expedition and its leader were provided with all |
necessities by tge Hawaiians and good sense on both sides kept
mihor irritations between these quite different peoples from
getting out of hand. Cook had barelj welghed anchor on his
continuing voyage when storm damage forced him to return to
the Bay. During repairs, a boat was stolen for the metal in

it, and the resulting fray did get out of hand, Cook,

- leading his forces was knocked down ~- a most ungodly lapse --

and promptly killed. The Hawaiians, however, provided his
body witﬁ the funeral services reserved for a high chief,

They were able to return only parts of it to the expedition
for Christian burial, an event which has given rise to volumes
of somewhat grisly/folklore. Cook!s men salled home without

their leader, but with the knowledge of a new group of islands

on the direct route between the important fur centers of the

northwest coast of North America and bthe trade ceanters of
China,

No other Europeans visited Hawaii until 1786, but after
that, traders and explorers came in increasing numbers,

Captaln Vancouver introduced horses and cattle, which

-v-



Kamehameha placed under strict protecticn until they could
establish themselves. By the tura of the century the
islands were supplying food for the visiting ships, and
under the careful control of Kamehameha, the splcy sandal-
wood for the China market. In return, the Hawallans were
traded all manner of costly new clothes and furalshings, as
well as metal tools and weapons.

It is well to remember that Hawail had developed &
foreign population over the forty years between her discovery
by- Cook in 1778 and the arrival of the Protestant missionaries
in 1820, Sailors had jumped ship or were left behind to
recover from the accidents and diseases then common gboard
sailing vessels., Some came as merchants and travellers. A
few, suchas John Young and Isgac Davis, were capbives of war
who remained with Kamehameha, became his trusted advisors,
=nd were treested as chiefs of high raank., All of this new
pepulation, however; was male, and too many had "left god
behind the Horn." It was to this group, as well as the
heathen Hawaiian, that a band of Neﬁ England missionaries
directed itself in’the fall of 1818,

The first missionaries sent out by the American Board
of Commissioners for Foreign Missions included 2 farmer and
teachers, as well as preachers., They brought with them the
tools of btheir various trades, Even more important, they
brought their wives and families, although except for tThe
farmer who hed five young children, most of ©This first group
had sought out and married sultable mates mere weeks before

sailing, This group arrived off Xallua Bay in the Kona

—Vie



‘district of Hawaii in April 1820, Besides their youthful

enthusiasm (they had concientiously undertaken to learn the
Hawaiian language from some returning youths,) these first
missionaries were aided on arrival by an unexpectedly
favorable political situation.

Kamehameha I had dled shortly before their arrival, He
had prepared his 1sland kingdom so well that the succession
of his son Liholiho as Kamehameha II was accomplished with

none of the usual revolt and chiefly re-alignments., The

. young king Liholiho had for his advisor the strong-willed

Kaahumanu, a favorite wife and now widow of Kamehameha I,
She disliked the religious tabus (in Hawaiian, kapu)
surrounding food and women and encouraged Liholiho to end
them., The breaking of the tabus brought gbout a sharp
battle between the old and new ways of l1life, and in some
places resulted in the wholesale destruction of the old
religion. Hawaiian culture in 1820 was thus politically
solid, bub lacked a religious form bto replace‘the old tabu-
enforced god system,

With little enthusiasm bub only infrequent actual
opposition, the miésionaries were allowed to establish
themselves at stations around the 1slands, They began to
teach reading and writing to the chiefs, set up a printing
press, and were soon serving as advisors to the kingdom., In
some areas the missionaries were actively aided by their
chiefly converts, One, the high chieffess Kapiolani of the
Kona district of Hawail, marched to the crater at Kllauea

and declared herself a follower of the new god Jehovah,

-Vil-
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¥When Pele made no response to this implous act, another
aspect of the 0ld religion was fcund wanting and the temples
dedicated to the volcasno goddess were soon abandoned,

The missiocnaries! attempts to establish new taEus based
on a Congregationelist interpretation of the ten Commendments
met with opposition from some seamen and merchants which grew
into armed conflict at times, but the chiefs supported their
new bteachers and the islands gradually became Christianized
and westernized, with & king and court rivaling those of
Eurcpe. During the 19th century political and ecoaomic
conditiqns brought European powers with offers of assistance,
or threats of take-over, but the kingdom survived as a
political entity until an internal revolt overthrew the
monerchy aod solicited a politicai allianqe with the United

States, whose territory Hewali became in 1898,

. 2
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EARLY EUROPEAN VISITORS

Not until 1823, nearly forty years after the islands
were discovered, did a European record a viéit to Kilauea,
The Reverend William Ellis liked to visit all the sights
wherever he stopped and fortunately, he also liked bto record
in splendid detail his impressions of life along the way.
With some of his missionary brethren, and the usual complement
of native bearers, he undertook to visit Kilauvea in July of
182%, As they neared the crater, the natives expressed fear
of ﬁhe place, and expected retribution from Pele when Ellils
and his*party ate some of Pele's sacred ohelo berries to
guench their thirst, Ellis wrbte:

We travelled on, regretting that the natives should
indulge notions so superstitious, but cleaning every
ohelo bush that grew near our path, till about two p.m.
when the Crater of Kirauea suddenly burst upon our view,

We expected Gto have seen a mountain with a broad
base and rough indented sides...forming the rim of a
mighty caldron, But instead of this, we found ourselves
on the edge of a steep precipice, with a vast plain
before us, flfteen or sixbeen miles in circumference,
and sunk from 200 to 00 feet below its original level,

(They descended the steep precipice and) after
walking some distance over the sunken plain, which in
several places sounded hollow under our feebt, we at
length came to the edge of the great crater, where a
spectacle, sublime and even appalling, presented itself
before use-

We stopped, and trembled,

Astonishment and awe for some moments rendered us
mute, and, like statues, we stood fixed to the spot,
with out eyes riveted on the abyss below.

Immediately before us yawned an immense gulf, in
the form of a crescent, about two miles in length,
from north-east to south-west, nearly a mile in width,
and apparently 800 feet deep.

The bottom was.covered with lava, and the south-
west aand aorthern parts of it were one vast flood of
burniang matter, in a state of terrific ebullition,



rolling %o and fro its "fiery surge" and flaming
billows.

Filty-one conical islands, of varied form and
size, containing as many craters, rose elther round
the edge or from the surface of the burning lake.

Twenty~-two constantly emitted columns of gray
smoke, or pyramids of brilliant flame; and several
of these at the same time vomibed from btheir lgnited
mouths strezms of lava, which rolled in blazing
torrents down their black indenbted sides into the
boiling mass below,

The streams of lave which were emitted rolled
down into the lake, and mingled with the melted mass
there, which though thrown up by different apertures,
had perhaps been originally fused in one vest furnace.

The sides of the gulf before us, although composed
of different strata of ancient lava, were perpendicular
for sbout ;00 feet, and rose from a wide horizental
ledge of solid black lava of irreguler breadth, butb
extending completely around,

Beneath this ledge the sides sloped gradually
towards the burning lske, which was, as nearly as we
could judge, 300 or LOO feet lower. It was eviden®
that the large crater had been recently filled with -
liguid lava up bo btbis black ledge, and had, by scne
subbterranean canal, emptied itself into the sea, or
upon the low land on the Shoree...

After the first feelings of astonishment had
subsided, we remained a considerable time contemplating
a scene, which it is impossible to describe, and which
£illed us with wonder and admiration at the almest
overvhelming menifestation it affords of the power of
that dread Being who created the world, "and who had
declared that by fire he will one day destroy it., Ve
then walked along the west side of the crater, and in
half an hour reached the north end,

Ellis and his party left their baggage and wealt off to

see the sights. They found water "a luxury which...we diad
not expect bto meet with in these regions of fire" in the

neighborhocd of a number of columns of vapor.

These pools appeared great natural curiosities. The
surface of the ground in the vicinity was perceptibly
warm, and rent by several deep irregular chaesms, frcm
which steam and thick vapours conbinually arose. In
some places these chasms were two feet wide, and fronm
them & volume of steam ascended, which was immediafely
condensed by the cocol mcuntein air, and driven, like
drizzling rein, into hollows in the commpact lave on
the leeward side of the chasmse



The pools, which were six or eight feet from the
chasms, were surrounded aad covered by flags, rushes,
and tall grass. Nourished by the moisture of the
vapours, these plants flourished luxuriantly, and, in
their turn, sheltered the pools from the heat of the

sun, and prevented evaporation.
We expected to find the water warm, but in this

~ we were also agreeably disappointed.
When we had quenched our thirst wibth water thus

distilled by nature, we directed the natives to build .

a hut in which we might pass the night, in such a

situation as bto command & view of the burning lava...

The next stop was at the sulphur bauaks, "ga hundred and
fifty yards long, and in some places upwards of thirty feet
high, formed of sulphur, with a small proportion of red clay
or‘pchre." The ground was very hot, they were enveloped in
thick vapours from the many cracks, and finally a fog and
rain shower drove them back to camp, but not before breaking
off samples of sulphur crystzls "full an inch in length."

"0n our way to the sulphur banks, we saw two flocks of
wild geese, which came down from the mountains, and settled
among the ohelo bushes, near the pools of water," These were
the Nene, once seeh-in great numbers, but now reduced to a
carefully protected flock of a few hundred.

About sunset they returned to'their baggage and found
that the natives "with a few green branches of trees, some
fern'leaves, and rushes, had erected a hut. We were none of
us pleased with the site which they had choéen. It ﬁas at
the north-east end of the crater, on a pile of rocks over-
hanging the abyss below, and actually within four feet of
the precipice, When we expressed our disapprobation, they

said it was the only place where we might expect to pass

the night undisturbed by Pele, and secure from earthquake



and ofher calamity, being the place in which alone Pele
allowed travellers to build a hut," The missionaries said
it was much toc necar and decidedly unsafe, but the natives
refused to move, The location proved magnificeant for night

viewing of the crater,

Between nine and ten, the dark clouds and heavy
fog, that since the setting of the sun had hung over
the volcano, graduelly cleared away, and the fires of
Kirasuea, darting their fierce light athwart the mid-~
night gloom, unfolded a sight terrible and sublime
beyond all we hed yet seen.

The agitated mass of ligquid lava, like a flood
of melted metal, raged with tumultous whirl., The
lively flame fthat danced over its undulating surface,
tinged with sulphureous blue, or glcowlng with mineral
red, cast a broad glare of dazzling light on the
indented sides of the insulated craters, whose roaring
mouths, amidst rising flames, and eddying streams of
fire, shot up, at frequent intervals, with very loud
detonatioas, spherical masses of fusing lava, or bright
igaited stones,

The dark bold outline of the perpendicular and
jutting rocks around, formed a striking conbtrast with
the luminous lake below, whose vivid rays, thrown on
the rugged promontories, and reflected by the over-
hanging clcuds, combined to complete the awful
grzndeur of the imposing scene.

We sat gezing at the magnificent phenomena for
several hours, when we laild ourselves down on our mats,
in order to cbserve more leisurely their varying aspect;
for, although we had travelled upwards of tweniy miles
since the morning, and wWere both weary and cold, we felt
but 1little disposition to sleep, This disinclination
was probebly increased by our proximity to the yawning
gulfl, end our conviction that the detachment of &
fragment from beneath the coverhanging pile on which- we
were reclining, or the slightest concussion of the earth,
which every thing around indicated to be no unfrequent
occurrence, would perhaps precipitate us, amidst the
horrid crash of falling rocks, into the buraing leke
immediately before us.¥*

Asking the natives to wake them if by chance Pele or any of
her relatives should appear in the fire, they went to sleep,
2+ Ellis, William. A Nerrative of & Tour Through Hawail

in 1823, (Reprint of the London 1b27 edition,)
honolulu, 1917. See page 172 and on,
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The following year, in 182l,, George Anson, the
Seveath Lord Byrcn (and cousin of the poet,) arrived in
the islands, He was commander of the Eaglish frigate

HMS Bleonde which hed been dispstched to convey home the

bodies of their Hewalian Majesties, King Liholiho and

Queen Kamemalu, who hed died in London while on a world
tour, This unhappy duty discharged, Byron explored around
Eawaii, anchoring for a time in Byron's -~- now Hilo -- Bay.
Several parties went up .to see the volcanc at Kilauea,

They steyed ian the hut originally prepared for Chieffess
Kapiolani’s visit. This was a siéple shed open on one side
and sit;ated within a few feet of the crater on the plateau

between Kileuea nui (big Kilauea) and Kilaues iki (little

8

lauea,) Byron was the first to use these designations
for the two craters, and the plateau separating them is
known today as Byron's ledge.,

The expedition{s naturalist, Mscrae, was. emong those
visiting the volcano. He indulged his curiosity by
descending into the crater as far as the "black ledge,"

& hazsrdous trip beking up most of one day.

By noon, wlth difficulty and danger, some of us
haed reached the nearest smoking piller, about 30 feet
high and covered with sulphur, which gave it a
beautiful yellow eppearance, We walted here some time
for the natives to come up who had hurt their naked
feet and legs in falling through the hollcw lava that
lay in places resembling flues on the top of more
solid material underneath, which required the greatecst
caution to try it first out with sticks to see whether
it would brezk before we attempted to advance a step
upon it., We crossed many wide rents, Some ol these
openings were constantly smoking and smelt so strong
of brimstone that got up our nostrils when going over
them, as nearly to suffocate us.w

st lecrse, James., With Lord Byron at the Sapndwich Islands,
Honolulu, 1922, p. 05-bl,
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Another report from the same party, from the diary

of Andrew Bloxam, gave additicnal detalls.

The circumference of the crater (the sides of
which are nearly perpendicular all around) as measured
with line by Mr. Goodrich and other missionaries a
short time previous, was found to be T3 miles, and
the depth supposed to be about 1300 feet., About two-
thirds of the way down, there is a large black ledge
of solid lava, in some places 30 or 46 yards in breadth,
in others, contracted to a few feet. This ledge goes
around the whole of the crater, being, I should suppose,
the former level of the vast lake of burning and liquid
fire; the combustion of mabtter had probably caused the
rest to sink down three or four hundred feet, leaving
at the sides immense chasms and rough masses of loose
broken lava. The bottom of the crater abounds with
ipnumerable small craters and pyramidal cones, out of
which fire, smoke, sulphurous vapors, and red hot lava
are constantly issuing, and from some red hot stones
are ejected with considerable force to a great height,

About the middle and southwest end, the action is
more violent and the craters much large, and particularly
one with a cone in tae middls which was constantly
ejecting stones and red hot lava, The smoke and vapors
are entirsely sulphurous, and sulphur abounds in several
parts in great gquantities but more particularly on the
soubth side, the whole of which from its yellow appearance
seemed to be composed of it., Altogether the quantity
of white smoke and vapor emitted from innumerable mouths
and crevices, red hot stones ejected in one spot, a
large crater full of bubbling and boiling lava in
another, and the numerous burning fires on every side,
presented to our eyes a most terrific and awful sight,
These were accompanied by a sound resembling that _
emitted from the bellows of an immense blast furnace,
coming out in puffs at regular intervals of about a
second intervening, so loud is this nolise sometimes
that it has been heard several miles distant. The
above will give but a faint idea of this extraordinary
scene,%* '

As a naturalist, Macrae had noted the bronzse color of

the cones, the sulphur banks to the south "looking like the
chalky c¢liffs of Dover and Gravesend," and the pools of
water, and the abundant wild strawberries and ohelos, Near

the water he saw "some sheds used by the natives when

% Bloxam, Andrew. Diary of Andrew Bloxam. Honolulu,

- 1925. p. 64~65,
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cutting trees for cances. We also saw scme remains of
cooked fera (cythea) which our natives are glad to eab,
aad which we found not at all unpalatable.”,

This casusl touring of the very heart of the active
volcano was only the first of many similar trips. The
missionaries often recommended the trip aad ffequently
acccrpanied their guests; recorded sccounts of Kilauea

volcano grew guickly. Everyone was impressed with the

accessability of the crater, the ever-changing spectacle

of -the active cones, the sulphur deposits, the roar of fire
and smell of brimstone.

A comfortable feature was the relative safety of the
volcano, although the record of neer-mishsps was also growing.
The Reverend Thurston, visiting in 1823 with Ellis, was
almost given up for lost when he failed to returan to camp
until well after dark; he had been delayed by the numerous
cracks in the earth thch forced detours. A boy seat out to
lock for him sustained extensive bruises when he broke

through the thin crust of a hidden tunnel,

The wmissionary doctor, G. P. Judd, suffered a particulerly

harrowiag experience during his trip to Kilauea with the
Wilkes party, He had edvaanced into the main crater and was
getting lava specimens down in one of the smaller craters
which contained a small lake, Suddenly the crater began to
Jet molten leva, causing the lake to surge. A projecting
ledge prevented ascent; the lava fountain; near enough to

singe his clothes, blocked retreat over his original path.



'Fortunétely, one of his native friends had not fled;
leaning over the ledge he grabbed Judd and pulled him to
safety, although both suffered severe burans, According
to Wilkes, another moment and they both would have been lost.
- Most overnight tourists to the volcano stayed on the
northern bank of the crater in quarters variously described
as a rude natlive hut, lean-to, or shed, often located
precariously close to the edge on overhanging pilles of rock.
It seems probable that the Ellis location continued popular
despite the hazards: a visitor in 1841 wrote that the hut
was only 5 feet from the brink of a perpendicular precipice
of four .hundred feet, with more of the ledge looking ready
to fall in at any minute, The north ledge had the advantage
of being near the steam cracks which provided a condensed-
steam water supply, and were handy ovens for fast dinners,
Only one enterprising group records using a steam crack

for warmth, Charles Stewart, chaplain of the USS Vincennes,

returned for a second visit in 1829; while a missionary. at
Hawail he had visited Kilauea with the Byrbn group in 1823,
The o0ld shed on Byrgn‘s ledge was gone and the only hut now
‘standing was at a éifferent place,

The rude lodge we were to occupy, open in front,
and only slightly thatched on the side next the wind,
stands two or three hundred yards from the edge of the
crater on the north end.../and/we thought for a time
very comfortable, and wisely located as to temperature;
being on a spot of ground of such grateful heat, compared
with the rawness of thes mountain alr, as to lead us to
congratulate ourselves in the advantages 1t afforded,
as we sat on our packages in front, and partook of our
evening repast, within a foot of a crevice, from which
steam issued of such power as to cook our potatoes, in
a short time, without the aid of fire, But when we

-8~




came to tske possession of the mats, strewn inside of it
for beds, we found ocurselves in guarters considerzbly
hotter even than Coleman's LODGINGS FOR SilGLe GENTLeMEN,
You will scarce believe, that we all slept on a tempera-
ture of 120° Farenheit -- Tut such is the fact, And it
was well, the air above was as low as 56° or 607 so that
by frequeant turnings, we could get cne side cool while
the other was cooking, or we shculd have been well-nigh
parvoiled by morning. There was no alterpative however;
We therefore, made the best of the necessity and after
meny a twist and toss of restlessness, an occasional
grean of impatience, and not a few forebodings, from
one part of our bower or ancother, that we should be
steamed to skeletons before morning, we mede oub a
tolerable night's rest; and were quite in gocd humour
with our dormitory, to find, cn rising, that the
continued vepor bath had dissipated, almost entirely,

- the stiffness of limb with which most of us had

© suffered,.:#

Cherles Wilkes commanded en official U. S. Exploring
Expedition which brought a well-equipped group to Hawaii in
18L0. Among other things he was to explore and map the
volcano of Kilauea, and measure the mounteins of Meunhe Loa
ahd lfauna Kea to determine, once apd for all, just how tall

they were and which was the highest. Meuns Kea was usually

~

thought to be the higher zs it kept its snow cover longer,
but Mauna Loa wes deceptively long; estimetes of their
height rean up as high as 18,000 feet. In December of 1840

Wilkes set out from Hilc to accomplish his two appolnted

a4

tasks., He described his party as follows:

it will s=carcely be possible to form a full idea

of our company; that of my Lord Byron is described as
a sort of triumphal procession; ours was very different
from this, and was more allied %o a May-day moraing in

- New York, or a veast caravan, coasisting, as it did, of
two hundred bearesrs of burden, forty hogs, a bullock,
and a bullock-~hunter, fifty beasrers of poe (native food,)
twenty five with calabashes of differeat sizes and shupes,
from two feet to six inches in diameter,.,.Then there

* Steward, C, S., A Visit to the South Seas,..1829 and 1830.
. New York, léBB. Ve 25 Pe (5~(}e



were lame horses, which, instead of carrying riders,
were led by them; besides a large number of hangers-on,
in the shape of mothers, wives, and children, equalling
in number the bearers, all grumbling and complaining

of their loads....l felt happy in not understanding

the language, ‘

Just as we reached the great plain of the volcano,
we approached the southern limit of the wood, and, on
turning its corner, Mauna Loa burst upon us in all its
grandeur, -The day was extremely fine, the atmosphere
pure and clear, except a few flying clouds, and this
immense dome rose before us from a plain some twenty
miles in breadth, 1 had not, until then, formed any
adeguate idea of its magnitude and height., The whole
dome appeared a bronze colour, and its uninterrupted
smooth outline was relieved against the deep blue of
a tropical sky. Masses of clouds were floating around
it, throwing thelr shadows distinctly on its sides,
to which they gave occaslonal relief and variety. There

. was a blulsh haze resting on the plain, that apparently
- gave it great distance, though this was partially
counteracted by the distinctiveness of the dome. I now,
for the first time, felt the magnitude of the task I
kad undertaken,

Bﬁ comparison Kilauea looked "a huge pit, black, ill-
lcoking," with no eruption, no cones, nothing but a depression.
From the edge of the cavity, however, its.size became apparent.
"To give an idea of its caﬁacity, the city of New York might
be placed within it,.and when at its bottom would be hardly
noticed, for it 1s three and a half miles long, two and a
half wide, and a thousand feet dee?. The bottom looks, in
the daytime, like a smouldering rulns, The descent to the
ledge appears to the sight an easy task, but it takes an’
hour to accomplish," Wilkes camped 1ln tents on the north
end, and also commented on the beautiss of the crater at
night,.

After arranging for an accurate survey of the crater,
he and part of the group went on to the top of Mauna Loa,

Their gulde proved to be less than adequate, taking them



via a route both long and waterless. Scme of the packages
had to be left behind, end the higher they ascended, the
greater the number of deserters. Nearly to the summit,
they ran into & snow storm; the Hawaiians with 1ittle
protection against the cold, either fled or were sent
back, HFinally, Wilkes and one companion reached the summit®
of the terminal crater. They determined that a descent to
the floor would not be practicel, so they set up camp cn
the rim in a foot of 500We

_ Next morning a permanent camp was located on the rim
et & spot some of the group officially named Fendzlum Peak,
Within a walled area the tents were set up and made weather-
proof, "While the rest were employed in meking ocur tents as
tight as possible, ia the one Dr, Judd and myself occupled,
we diccovered a great esmount of moisture, which, on examination,
vas found to be caused by steam issuing through & crack in
the lava. On placing & thermometer in it, it rose to 68°....
As it somewhat ennoyed us, we pounded and filled the seam
full of broken pieces of lava. This circumstance led to the
discovery of a sma;l piliece of moss, the ocnly living thing,
either animal or vegetable, that we found within six miles
distant, or within four thousend feet of the height of the
terminal crater. This moss wes here nourished by the steam
that escaped, which supplied it with warmth and moisture,™
The next day a lieutenant found a smell piece of fern in
the rich earth of the crater, "a great curiosity," Why the
rerty failed to use the steam cracks for either warmth or

& limited water supply is not known,
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Thc weather was generally wretched, with winds, more SNOowW
andva general storm, but on the bebtter days they set to work,
The walls of the crater were measured during the survey of it,
and they recorded the name of the main terminal crater as
Mokuaweoweo,

The view from the wesbtern side of the dome of
Mauna Loa, was, as we saw it, surpassingly grand, In
the distance, the island of Maul emerged from and broke
the line of the deep blue horizon, while its lower side
was dimmed by a whitish haze, that seemed to unite it
to the island of Hawali,...Nearer to us was Hualalal,
the third grsat mountain of Hawail, up whose sides a
compact mass of white fleecy clouds was impelled by the
sea-breeze, To our right rose in bold relief Mauna

- Kea, covered with its snowy mantle; and at our feet
was spread oubt, between the three great mountains, the
black plain of lava, overhung by a dusky pall of clouds,

All other features were so blended into each other
by the mist, as to exhlblt a tone of harmony that could
hardly be conceived, considering the varlety of ths
forms, characteristics, and dlstances of the objects,
and which seemed to blend earth, sea and sky into one,
I can never hope agaln to witness so sublime a scene,
to gaze on which excited such feelings that I felt
relieved when I turned from it to engage in the dutles
that had called me to the spot.#*

Previous measurements had favored lMauna Kea as to height,
but they had measured Mauna Loa taree hundred‘feet higher
than it had been reported to be, There was "“some nervous
excitement! as, frqm the highest point of Mauna Loa, Wilkes
turned to measure éha difference in the height of these
"twin glants of the Pacific." Mauna Kea was the higher by
one hundred and ninety three feet, Modern measurements make
them 1%,680 and 13,78l feet respectively,

The Wilkes expedition was probably the flrst to reach

the top of HMauna Loa, 1t was certainly the best equipped

—————r

% Wilkes, Charles. U.S. Exploring Expedltion...
Philadelphia, 1805, In 5 volumes. Vol. l.
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and left the most complete record of -its investigations,

The "twin glants" of Mauna Kea and Mauna Loa were tempting
peaks to ﬁonquer. A, Menzles, a naturalist with Vancouver
in 1793, recorded an effort to reach the top of rauna Loa
but.found no adeqguate path through the thick forests of tizs
upper Kona slopes,.* Mauna Kea was more easily coaquered.
It was no longer an active volcano and the Hawallians had
explored it well enough to locate and quarry axe blades

from a deposit of basalt located above 10,000 feet, Some

" of the Byron party had gone up in 1825, and, in 1838, not

long before his death in a wild cattle pit on its slopes,
the botanist David Douglas, for whom the Douglas fir is
named, had climbed to the summit., Today, both peaks ars
accessable by jeep trail, and Kauna Losa has a_rougb road

to serve a U,5. Weather Bureau station at 11,000 feet on tz

north fiank,

3 There 18 a report that Menzies made it to tne summit,
but Vancouver makes no mentilon of the achlevement in
his official regort.

-
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THE VOLCANO HOUSE

Three uses of the area preceeded the establishment of
the Park, and coatinue to this date. They are the Volcano

House, the Volcano Observatory and Kilauea lMilitary Camp.

By the 18l0's, the Kilauea volcano region had become a
regular stop for any respectable tourist to Hawaii. This
stream of visltors had to make do wlth a native hut, or
pitch thelr own tents for shelter. ALl supplies they brought
with them. About 18516 a structure was bullt near the bluff
behind the present Volcano House -~ a native style house with
eventually a lauhala mat over the earth floor. A very
uncomfortable pole framswork covered with ferns and mats
at one time served as a community bed. There was no permanent
host, and the bouse was sometimes locked, but it provided |
shelter of a sort. Over the years the place underwent some
changes and by 1860 1t was described as a laﬁgc grass house,
12 by 18 feet, with a thatched roof and verandah in front,
capable of boldingxforty people, |

When somconeﬁhas built a house of entertaioment at the
Volcano, Kilsuea will be resorted to from far and near as
one of the wonders of the world, JSo wrote an 1850 visitor,
In 1866 a Honolulu newspaper carried this report:

The Volcano of Kilauea is to be honored with a

new hotel soon, erected expressly for the comfort of

travelers, Mr. Julius C, Richardson has for several

weeks been making preparations for erecting a suitable

bullding on the site of the old "crater house™ which
every traveler who has visited Kilauea during the past

-—l}_{_—
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twenty years will remember, He has purchased toe
materizls, lumber and furniture necessary for such an
establishment, and shipped them by the schooncr Alberni,
which tekes them tc Keauhou, a small port near the crater,
where J. C. King's pulu establishment is lccated. From
Keguhou there is said to be a good roud to the volcano,
distant twelve miles, Mr., Richardson proposes to establish
and keep open a gocd hotel, not cn a large scale, of
course, but sufficient for the accommodation of travelers,
During 1865, there were over four hundred visitors at the
volcanc; «nd with the improved lodgings and comforts and
an enterprising foreigner to look after them, it is nob
unlikely that there will be fully one thousand during

the present year,#

Mr. Richerdson, with George Jones and others, had been
engeged in the pulu business, with headquarters at Kezuhou
lanaing. Pulu, the silky covering 6f young tree fern fronds,
wWas dr;ed, baled &nd sold for stuffing pillows and mattresses,
4 thriving business during the 1850's, the market feded
when it developed that Qg;g_tended to absqrb water readily,
and with ege crumbled to dust, Of the several drying stations,
the remains of one gear'Napau crater was visible for maqy
years. 01d Keasuhou landing was destroyed in the earthguslke
and tidal wave of 1868,

Touring the islands in 1866, Semuel Clemens stayed in

the new Velcano House. In his letters to the Sacremento

Union, and later in Roughing It, he described the place ég
well-furnished, neat, and with a good table, "The surprise
of finding a good hotel at such an outlandish spot startled
me considerably more than the veolcano did." The facilities
included 2 lookout "like a tiny martin-house clinging atb

the eaves of e cathedral." The Volcano House had & visitor's

book, and in this Twein wrote his delightful Dream.

|

i Pacific Commercial Advertiser, January 13, 1B66.
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An 1873 visitor, Isabella Bird, left a more vivid
picture of both the Volcano House and its guest book,

This inn 13 a unique and interesting place, Its
existence is strikingly precarious, for the whole region
is a state of perpetual throb from earthquakes, and the
sights and sounds are gruesome and awful both by day

- and night. The surrounding country steams and smokes
from cracks and pits, and a smell of sulphur fills ths
air, They cook their kalo in & steam apparatus of
nature's own work just ovehind the house, and svery drop
of water is from a distillery similarly provided. The
inn 1s a grass and bamboo house, very beautifully
constructed without nalls, It is a longish bulldiang with
a steep roof, divided inside by partitions which run up
to the height of the walls., There 1s no ceiling, The
jolsts which run across are concealed by wreaths of
evergreens, from among which peep out here and there

-  sbtars on a blue ground. The door opens from the

- verandah into a centre room wita a large, open, brick
fireplace, in which a wood fire is constantly buraning,
for at this altituds the temperature is cool. Soms
chairs, two lounges, small tables, and some books and
pictures on the walls give a look of comfort and there
is the reallty of comfort 1ln perfection. Our sleeping
place, a neat room with a matted floor opens from this,
and on the other side, there is a similar room, and a
small eating room with grass cookhouss beyond from wnich
an obliging old Chinaman who persistently calls me "sir"
brings our food, We have had for each meal, tea,
preserved milk, coffee, Kalo, biscuits, butter, potatoss,
goat's flesh, and ohelos, The charge is filve dollars a
day, but everything except the potatoes and ohelos has
to be brought twenty or thirty miles on mulefs backs.

It is a very pretty, picturesqus house both within and
without, and stands on a natural lawn of brilliant but
unpalatable grass surroundesd by a light fence covered
with & small, trailing double rose, 1t is altogebher
a most magical building in the heart of a formidable
volcanic wilderness,

I have been looking over the "Volcano Book,™ which
contalns tne observations and impressions of people from
all parts of the world. Some of these are palnstaking
and valuable as showing the extent and rapidity of the
changes which take place in the crater, but there is an
ilmmense quantity of flippant rubbish, and would-be wit,
in which "“"Madame Pele®™ invariably occurs,s#

The visitort's book began with the 18116 house, and over

the years proved a popular feature ~- it was gocd for severzl

e e

% Bird-Bishop, Isabella, Six Months in the Sandwich islands.,
Honolulu, 196, p. 62,
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hours of reading before adding cne's own bit to the record.

The observations were varied at best., A lady spending Une

Summer in Hawaii in 1890 wrote of the book: "I turned to the

visitor's book and searched its olla podrida for something

wise or witty. The nearest approach to it was a single
sentence in an uncerteain hand; it might has been wise, angd
under the stress of circumstance, it might even heave ranked
as wit, bubt alzs! it was not original, It read, without
quotation marks, *'There is no fool like an old fool.' The
sad truth was perhaps forced from unwilling lips; and the
writer may have deemed it common property like the Lord's
Preyer or the multiplication table., Another, wribtten in =2
bold hand, was to the point and certainly originsl. It read,
'This is a grand place Ior wearing out shoes,Ms

Three years later, Charles Nottage, a more caustic
English visitor wrote: "Everyone visiting the volcano seems

to be seized with a specles of cacoethes scribendi., The

result is that the hotel register contains some of the
greatest nonsense concelveble,"#%# For all the trash in it,
the volumes also béid the record of impressiocns and adventures
of guests of more careful scientific bent, and as such afe
uniquely valuable for the data they contaln, |

From the time of Stewart's unplanned overnight vapor
bath in 1829 to about 1860, stezm bathing was & somewhat
hephazard affair. The new hotel venbure apparently saw the

possibilities of adding this as a2 regular feature, and fronm

%  lather, Helen., One Summer in Hawaii, Hew York, 1591,
pp 20~2011. :

*% Hottege, Charles., In Search of a Climate. London, 189},
r. 87,



1866 on there are frequent reports of sulphur steasming. The

early arrangements were fairly simple., Isabella Bird,
thousn soﬁewhat apprehensive, admitted the efficacy of the
procedure, She "limped and grouned down to lt...a most
spasmodic arrangement, singularly independent of human
control, and I have not the slightest doubt that the reason
why Mr. Gilman /host at the Volcano House/ obligingly
remained in the vicinity was lest I should be scalded or

blown to atoms by a sudden freak of Kilauea, thougn I don't

" see that he was capable of preventing either catastropael®

She remained the recommended length of time and then managed
to limp a little less, |

Another intrepid English lady visitor, Constance Gordon
Cummings, wrote in 1879:

I...halted at the Sulphur-Banks, which lie a
short distance below the house, and indulged 1n the
luxury of a sulphur steam bath. The bath-room is
buillt over a steam crack, above which 1s placed a
woocen box, with bench and blankets on which to sit,
The 1lid of the box shuts down in two halves, forming
a circular hole so as to leave the head of the bather
outside; and though it is difficult to avoid some
qualms as to a possible scalding, no one seems to
have coms to grief yet! A few seconds producad
prefuse perspiration, then with a bucket of tepid
water, followed by one of cold water to prevent
subseguent chill, the process is complete; and I,
for one felt.,..much refreshed by my bath,.*

The Volcano House food was ancother feature of note,

James Jarves, editor of tne Polynssian, reporved the rates

after a visit in 1847: 373 cents for a fowl; 62% cents
for a hen turkey; 25 cents for a small calabash of potatoes,
The fare at the 1866 hotel was even better, including,

% Gordon Cummings, Constance, Fire rountains. London;
18383, Vol. 1. p. 176-177.
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beside the goat and ochelos reported by Isabella Bird, "a

strawberry fed goose which had been enveloped in leaves

end baked in & hole in the heated earth." This was again
the hkene, still fo be found in great numbers necar the water

pcols, fecding on ohelos and wild strawberries. In fact,
cne cculd locate the wild streawberries by searching out a
ficck of Nene., And in 1879 there was reference to & supper
of rcast suckling pig; "also a delicious tart of Pele's
ohelo berries." There is no mention of serving cooked fern,
eiéher the starchy core Macrae found "not unpalzatable" in
182y, nor the tender younz froands ecaten like aspéragus.

Ag for water, the early supply wes dipped from the rools
back of the steem cracks, an adeguate enough supply when the
use was limited to only LOO visitors a year. With a permanent
botel, a more reliable supply was needed., After one report
in 1872 that the waber was "scanty and reddish, with a decided
flzvor of musty straw, most of it being caughé in an old
canoe set under the eaves to receive the drippings from the
thatched roof,Ms visitors began to mention that "an ingeniocus

7
errangement has been made of to supply fresh water, which hes
proved very successful, A cistern is constructed nesr the
steamn ledges back of the hotel, with a roof over it, on

nich the steam condenses, end flows into the cistern, Miss

There is no record of the first wcoden storage tank used with

]

roocf catchment system,

*  Kneeland, Samuel, Volcanoes and Earthouszkes, Boston,
1888, p. 22. ]
fawaiian Gazette., December 30, 187,
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By 1877, George Jones had become the sole‘owner of the
Volcano House project, having bought out his former partners.
With the éid of William H. Lentz, later to manage the hotel,
he undertook to remodel and partially rebuild the Volcano
House. All building material was again transported by oxcart
from the nsarest port, except for rafters, studs and posts,

ewn on the spot from ohia and naio logs. This building,
although frequently :cmodoled, still stands today as the old

Volcano House Museum. By 1889 the Volcano House venture had

" besn bought by Wilder Steamship Company, and the hotel was

managed by John H. Maby. A brochure put out by the company
discussed the accommodations: "These are confined bo what

is konown as the Volcano House, where everything within reason
can be obtained. This substantlially buillt and comfortable
house 1s of one story and has a wide verandah over 100 fest
long. The main building is 110 feet by 35 feet wide; and
thére are six bedrooms which accommodate three pesrsons 82Ch, e
The parléur and dining rooms adjoin each other in tho‘middlc
part of the méin building, and both of thess are large and
convenient., Thé fgrma: has several sofas and a superior
melodion of large”size. There is also a comfortable and
roomy fireplace, with rocking and easy chairs around. A

well selected library and medicine chest are also there."
Ooutside in front was a flower garden, to one side a

vegetable garden. Everything was done to make the staj
pleasant. "...lndoed, there are few hotels or boarding-
houses in Honolulu that are so well supplied with conveniences
as the Volcano House at Kilauea,™s

——————

¥ HacDonald, J. W. The Great Volcano atb Kilauea., Honolulu,
1889.
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A new hotel was built in 1891, a two story frame
building with a tower in one corner. The old 1877 house
became part of the new building, as a social room with
fireplace and billiard teble -~ the latbter serving as
emergency bed on occasion., A new hotel corporaztion had
bouwght up Peter Lee'!s Punaluu hotel and Lee now managed
them both, He hed come to the islends as a éabin—boy
from nis native Norway and, liking the islands, had stayed,
To facilitate his Punaluu route to the crater he bullt the
first road from Pahalz to the Volcano. He could tell
wonderfull tales and was &s much at ease cnbtertalning Her
Mejesty Queen Kegpiolani, who arrived without warning one
day, as he was with anyone. TFeter Lee left the Volcano
Zouse in 1898, set up 2 half-way house at Eleven Miles-0Olas
on the Hilo-to-Volcano road, and later, in 1911, esteblished
the Crater Inn just outside the present Park boundary, which
operated until 1922 when it was bought and the furnishings
used in the remodeled Volcano House, |

The best known and most durable Volcano Louse host weas
"Uncle George™ Lyd;rgus. He had come from his native Greece
end on December lj, 190l, he bought cut Lorrin A. Tburstoﬁ
and acquired control of the Volczno House from the Volcano
House Company. On July 2, 1902, the Volcano House Company

(Rocbert Shingle, president; J. Ena, vice-president; and

ws

F, W. Hobson, secretary) had negotiated a2 lease with the
trustecs of the Rishop Estate for 29,75 acres and the
buildings therecn for 15 years, beginning October 1, 1906,

at zn aannual rent of %500, The four year gap between the
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two dates is not clear. On April 18, 1910, the Kilauea
Volcano House Company arranged a six year extension of the
original leass, from October 1, 1921 to October 1, 1927.

The provisions remained the sams, except the annual rental
during the extension was increased to $900. Lycurgus still
"operated" the Volcano House and served as its manager,

When George Lycurgus left to visit his home in Greece, his
nephew Demosthenes Lycurgus took over as manager., In 1921
Demosthenes Lycurgus died, and in the ensuing shuffls, the
Inter-Island Steam Navigation Compané purchased 11 shares of
Kiléuea Volcano House Company stock from Lycurgus for 62,000,
thercby'gaining control of the Kilauesa Volcano House Company
and of the Volcano House itself, They installed a Mr., P. T.
Phillips as manager,

This was the situation when Boles arrived in April 1922
to assume administration of the Park, He noted in his first
report that the Company (he called it the Kilauea Volcano
Hotel Company) was building a new garage and doing some
landscaping. In April the Company began construction of a
new wing, adding 58 rooms to the facllities for a total of
101, ten of which had private baths, This wing was finished
in August and in Sepbember some old cottages were moved to
provide a bettcriview of the crater, Water storage had been
nearly doubled with a new tank holding {00,000 gallons, The
Hotel Company was also constructing a 9~hole golf course
nearby as an added attraction; the hotel élready had tennis
courts. Boles noted that the Company was making a strong

effort to attract local residents, although there were still
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frequeant complaints of poor service., The low stone walls
along the road, ending with "two massive posts of rough
lava surmounted with 18 inch white electric globes" gives
the hotel an excellent appearaance, he reported. According
to the annual Report for 1922, over {200,000 was spent on
the Hotel over the past year,

In December 1922 the Crater Hotel just outside the Park
was closed and the Volcano Housec purchased it at public auction,
dismantled the bulldings and with the meaterials thus gained,
coﬁStructéd two new cottages and an addition to the garage,
The Arnual Report for 1923 noted thet the establishment now
had 120 rooms, 2nd was contemplating a Summer Camp operation
3 well., Although approved in Karch 192l, final construction
for the Camp was deferred pending the return of volcanic
aétivity to Kilesuea crater,

On July 1, 1926, a new 20 year lease was negotiated
between the National Park Service (NPS) and the Kilauea
Volcano House Company., It provided adequate KPS control
of the services andffuture developments at the Vclcano
House (VHse) and sét the franchise fee at £1000 per year,b
The lease did not include any control of transportation to
or through the Park; the Hilc cab company then providing
transportation to the Park was the only one capable of
handling it at the time,

Witn the new leass, the Company went zhead with the
Summer Cemp project. Twelve 3-room cobtages with a capacity
of forty people were constructed in November, along with a

centrel assembly hall and thirteen water tanks, Early the
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next year it was decided to operates the Camp on the American
plan at $3.00 per day, rather than as housekeeplnz units.,
Some additional shower and toilet facilities were added
before summer and the place was opened for}businoss on
June 1, the first zuest appearing on June 10, Ths Hotel
Company, considering it an experiment, proceeded slowly with
improvements, but recognizing the isolation of the Camp -~
5 miles from the VHse -~ authorized a telephone line which was
completed on August lio.wThB Camp had fair patronage the first
. few years, but it not not prove successful over the long run,
due in great part to the general economic decline of the
perioﬁ.' By 1929 the concessioner had advised that if
business did not improve, they would request permission
to discontinue the Camp,

The lack of volcanic activity was a decided factor in
VHse business, In October 1927, they received NPS approval
to increase their rates in an effort to make soms kind of a
profit. Only July and August of any year showed a profit,
but the staff had to be kept on the year around to accommodate
the occasional ﬁoup’group. The new rate was also to cover
additional improvémcnts, such as telephone room service,

In November 1927 Jamess N. Gandy took over as manager,
replacing Channing T. Lovejoy. (Lovejoy had replaced
Phillips on April 1, 192l.) He immediately began improving
the place with new paint, flooring, general redécoration
and the installation of a telephone in every rocm, Over the
next few months a new Post Office room was added next to

the Hotel office, aad the. zculphur bath facilities were
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improVed. However, by early 1929, the Park was beginning

to rcczive complaints about the hotel, dealing mainly with
the lack of heat, hot water and bathroom facillties. Every
room had a telephone but they didn't all have plumbing, The
manager was aware of the complaints but was unable to remedy
the situation, Part of the problem was due to the fact that
Inter-Island!s subsidiary, the Kilauea Volcano House Company,
had undertaken in March 1928 to build a hotel in Kailua Xona
to accommodate Inter-island's guests at that port, and the
Cogpany preferred to put its funds into the modern and more
lucrative Xona Inn,

By 1930, a NPS specialist had rabted the VHse as definitely
not up to NPS standards, and went so far as to recommend ths
removal of the hotel entirely, as it was both ancient and
architecturally not a park type. He suggested a hotsl
operation in Hilo, with‘only a lunchroom at the volcano. Or,
if a hotel was desirable, rebuild at Aloha Point, a few miles
down the Crater Rim road beyond the residencé‘areao Two’
years later Landscape Architect Wosky reported that it was
highly unlikely the hotel would ever leave the Park, or for
that matter, its pgesent location, He recommended that at
least the conspicuous red roof and yellow walls be toned
down, This was done in 1935, when the building was painted
a dark brown with a lighter trim and a black roof., The
VHse did cooperate with theAPark by removing some un-
attractive fencing, especially around the tennls courts,
and eliminating the exotics in their garden. However, they

refused to consider the installation of heat, or baths at that
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time, and a problem involving the manager's wife was far

from solved, Apparently the Superinteﬁdent had agreed to

withhold requesting removal of the hotel manager providing

his wife resided off the island. This sihe did for three
months vefore moving to a cottage outside the Park. What-
ever the problem, the VHse management did not appear to be
acting in good faith.
Complaints continued to be received during 19%0 concerning

the facilities and service at the VHse, In February 1931, the

| Supcrinteﬁdent contacted the Secretary of the Kilauea Volcano

Houéc Company in an effort to effect improvements, FPromises
were extracted and a meetling arranged with the Board of
Directors., The Superintendent, however, felt that nothing
but talk would come of it, which belief was Jjustified in
March when the Directors, meeting with the Superinteandent,
refused to agree tc any plan of improvement at the time, on
the grounds that they were financially unable to do so and
the prospectivé business did not justify it. The Directors
claimed it would cdst between $30,000 and $50,000 to remodsl
the hotel to the gpandards the NPS was requesting.

The situation was resolved late in 1932. The Kilauea
Volcano House Company was adjudged indebted to its parent,
the Inter-Island Steam Navigatién Company, and the property
was offered at sheriffls sale on Deqember 29, 1932, where
1t was purchased by the only bidder, George Lycurgus, for
the sum of $3%00, Lycurgus began the necessary improvements
within two weeks by installing hot water in all rooms. Upon

his request, the remainder of the lease was transferred
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from the Kilavea Volcano House Company to Lycurgus, He also

initiated a bus service, in competition witn the Hilo rental

cars, with a schedule that was timed so teachers and business
people could get back to Hilo early Monday morning..

The new management faced stiff competition., On January 20,
1933, Inter-Island changed its Hilo and Park tour schedules so
that tourists spent the night at the Kona Inn and only cnough
fima in the Park to eat Inter-island prepared box lunches:
evaery cent of revenus remaincd with Inter-~Island, Pressure
from the Chamber of Commerce and the NPS finally forced them
to feschedule for more time in the Park, with lunch revenues
to the VHse and the Waimea Hotel. |

The loss of the tourist frade mads it impoésible to make
any profitj however, a local trade was being developed by the
special low rates offered, The Superintchdent's Annual Report
for 193l indicated that business had indeed improved, but a
new contract might be necessary and NPS accogntants took the
matter for study. In Januvary 193y, Lycurgus had asked for a
new contracﬁ, or some relief from ﬁhe fraﬁchise Tfee of $1000
per year. On April 28, 1936, this was granted, to be |
replaced by a formula requiring a percentage payment when a
glven profit had been achieved. Appraisadvat $108,242 in |
1952'when_sold, the buildings were worth only $86,152 in
June 1936, They were being maintained with the aid of WPA,
but the structures were in such poor condition that Landscape
Architect Sager ecchoed his predecessoré in suggesting the

whole thing be razed,
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In 1935 a wine-club room was added, which immediately
helped revenues, and by the end of 1936 -- at long last --
many of the rooms had private baths., There were not many
guests to fill them. The volcano remained quiet, and the
new Kilauea Military Camp (KMC) lease allowed that facility
to deprive the regular Park operator of a substantial amount
of business, according to the Superintendent's Annual Report
of June 30, 1936,

) The VHse continued in precarious financial condition
through 1939. The Reconstruction Finance Corporation refused
a loan for rebuilding a part of the hotel, and the Superint-
endent then recommended approval of a re-assignment of the
VHse lease from George Lycurgus as trustee, to George Lycurgus
as individual, in an effort to facilitabte securing a private
bank loan,

Superintendent Wingate saw this as the best of a bad

situation., He would have preferred that the government build

a new VHse at a different location and lease it to the operator.:

The present hotel/was too small and nheeded repairs badly,
Wingate alsoc noted that the operator oanly carried $10,000 in
fire insurance, which should be lncreased, It wasn't, In
September 1939 the VHse celebrated its 75th annhiversary with
a big luau, during which the old 1877 Volcano House was
presented to the NPS to be preserved as a museum,

Then on February 6, 19110, the VHse burned to the ground
in an early morning fire thought to have started in the
kitchen. Some of the cottages were saved, but the guests

and George Lycurgus himself lost everything but the clothes
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they were wearing,

Lycurgus immediately asked the NPS for the use of the
16877 "museum" building, which had been donated only the week
before, This was granted and with the museum and the surviving
cottages, Lycurgus continued to operate the hotel.

The site for the new hotel became the next item for
consideration, The Alcha Point location was rejected by
Lycurgus who was "appalled" by the suggestion and offered
the fcliowing arguments:

With Halemaumau.inactive, the guests might be
enticed by sulphur-steam baths, which were not
available at Aloha Point;

The view was not as good, and the steep cliff made
unattractive fencing necessary., He intimated the place
ran the risk of becoming known as the "suicide hotel';

The water supply would have to be piped over, .an
unnecessary expenditure; )

The gardens now were close enough ﬁo'be able to run
out and add to/the pot should unexpected guests arrive,
(The ViHse maiétaincd its own kitchen gardens on the
flats above the hotel.)

Finally, the new location would require a large
cutlay for new roads and trails,

Lycﬁrgus recommended the new VHse be kept in its
historic location immediately above and behind the old one
where there was plenty of level ground. While this location
was net chosen, neither was the one at Aloha Point, as both

lacked the room needed for expansion, The new VHse was located
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across the road and on the crater cdge in the area then
occupied 5y the Hawail Volcano Observatoryts (HVO) Whitney
Laboratory of Seismology.

A new VHse lease, number I-1p-252, was signed July 1, 1940,
replacing the 1926 lease Lycurgus has purchased in 1932. The
cornerstone of the new hotel was laid in July and the hotel
opened for business on November 8, 1941. It had one month
of operation befofe World War II shut off local travel, and
thg only income for the fiscal year ending July 19,2 came
from the club room sales and military rental of the hotel
and cottages, However, during the calendar year 1942 the
Vidse operated at a profit for the first time in many years,

Immediately after the war the VHse and NPS went ahead with
other work that had originally been scheduled in coanjunction
with the new hotel., 01ld structures came down, others were
moved, and the general area rejuvenated. In 1949 the old
Park Administration building (#l) was assigned to the
concessioner by Special Use Permit for use as an Annex to
the VHse. There had been some plan in 194l to build
additional rooms tb accommodate the increased number of local
visitors, but this was not done as there was no help to staff
the addition., The old Administration bullding was remodeled
by the concessioner to five modern rooms and a visitors!
lobby on the second floor, and a three room aparoment for the
manager on the ground floor. The neighboring garage (ﬁll)_
was assigned to the VHsé by the same Special Use Permit,
which providéd that there would be no charge for the use of

the bullding through December 31, 1960, because of the
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extensive improvements to be made by the company.

Under the provisioas of the 1952 lease, the government
assigned to the concessioner, in October 1952, two parcels
of land, One was the .6 acre horse pasture on the pluff
behind the old VHse, This area was withdrawn October 2, 1959,
when the concessioner (as of August 19, 1959) relinguished
his preferential rights to provide saddle and pack animal
service in the Park, .The other area was a 7.8 acre parcel
which covered the site of the new VHse, the o0ld Administration
building and the garage, the old VHse site, Vise museum and
cottages, and the two cottages on the hill. With the
Administration bullding and garage now part of the property'
assigueé to the concessioher, they were listed as governmeht-
owned structures assigned to a conéessioner on an "Inventory
of Government Bulldings and lmprovements! dated Hovember 10,
1953, Under the same date a Bullding Use Permit for the two
structures was also issued which merely continued the 1949
Speclal Use Permit. With the decision that the 01ld VHse
Museum was also goverﬁment-owned, the inventory was provided
with fmendment #1 défed February 15, 1954, covering the
Museun building, When the 1953 Building Use Permit for the
Administration building and garage expired in 1960, a new
one wes issued covering the period January 1, 1961 to
December 31, 1971, and providing for an annual rental fee
of $300,%

Ln April 1965 request for a list of goverament-owned

facilities assigned to the concessicner showed: #L2, the

e auto—- o,

# pile: C3823, 1953%3-£6. Director, Reglon Four to Supt.
HAVO, 6 April 1960,
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VHse Museum (reported as built ia 1855), and #11 and #hl,
the old Administration building and garage. On June 17, 1965,
the cemp cabins and restroom st Namakanl Palo were also
assigned to the concessioner, who waived any possessory
rights to the buildings. Late in 1966 the Director of
Western Region asked the Superintendent of Hawail Volcanoes
for the list of those government-owned buildings used by
the concessioner, to which the Superintendent responded on
November 16 with a list ghowing the old Administraticn
building, garage, and Namskani Piao structures, but not

the VHse museum,.

In 1952 the concession arrangement was re-negotiated.
Executed August 1H, 1952, the new lease was given the number
1, -10-0100-~65, and replaced contract number I-lp-252, It
ran from January 1, 1952 to December 31, 1971. Section #1
of the egreement, which was the consideration for issuing a
new contract, required the VHse to build an aédition of no
less than 8 rooms with 8 baths for occupancy prior to
December 31, 1953.J,This was completed as of October 1, 1953,
and Director Wirth/nctified Lycurgus on November 16 that the
new contract was therefore in effect,

In 1955 a much-needed improvement to the dining hall was
ccmpleted, as well as an addition which doubled the width of
the porte-cochere, The dining room was agaln expanded in
the summer of 1960. Uncle George Lycurgus died August 6, 1960
at the age of 101, His son Nick had taken over the manage-

ment of the VHse some years earlier,

vt e,

% Files (3823, 195%-66, Supt HAVO to Director, Western
Region, 16 November 1966,
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In late 196&, Lycurgus wrote to Superintendent Johnston
that the VHse Company was ready to build new employee housing.
When ccmipleted, two old buildings could be removed and the
old VHse museum turned over to the Park. He again asked for
assurances of a contract renewal which would justify the
expenditure. Johnston notified the Regional office cf this
request and on October 2, 156l;, received a reply stating
that before construction could begin, it was necessary to
revise the HAVO Master Plan (wnich, among other things,
re@uired the removal of the VHse museum building.) Then
the concessioner's site plan &nd architectural drawings would
have to be approved. As of 1970, the project was still
pending.%*

In 1962 the contract was smended by an Agreement (listed
as Amendment #1) datéd March 27, 1962, This revised the
franchise fee percentages, and added a lengthy non-descrimina-
tion section. The franchise revision was the‘result of
negotiations begun in 1960 toward a new contract for the
VEse, which would'guarantee a continuation of the concession
and allow the VHse/to obtain financing for improvements and
additions that were needed. It was noted that the 1940
contract had been replaced when it stlll had nine years to
run for the ccnsideration of the 8 new rooms. It was
suggested that a similar consideration might be part of a
new contract. While a new contract was not issued, the
franchise fee was revised in 1962, Again in 1966 the
concessioner opened negotiations with the NPS for a
*File: 03823, 195%-66, FIJ, HAVO to Dir WR, 22 Sept 196l;

N.Lycurgus to FTJ, HAVQ, 18 Sept 1G6él; rRagerlund, WR

to FIJ, HAVO, 2 Oct 1960,
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guarantee of a continuing lease, with which to obtain funds
for necessary improvements, These negotiations continued

through 1970,

Volcano House Museum

The old VHse museum (building #L2) which Lycurgus
presented to the NPS at the September 1939, 75th anniversary,
was officially donated to the Service on January 29, 1940,.%
When the VHse burned down a week later, there had been no
time for tne structure to have been accepted at any level
of the NPS and there was no question of Lycurgus again
occupying the structure which still "belonged"™ to the VHse,

There was no further consideration of the cwnership of
the old building until 1948 when a tabulation entitled
"Individual Building Report - Government Cwned Structures
Assigned to Concéssiqners, Reglon Four" listed the old VHse
by name as being assigned to the Kilauea Vclcano House, Ltd.,
under contract number i-lp-252.*% This reference was
unearthed in late 1953% in the Region Four files and forwarded
to the Director to';ssist in determining the cwnership of the
structure, an item that had been the subject of considerable
correspondence.

Then con January 20, 1951, Assistant Director Thomas
Alleh wrote to the Director of Region Four, Was it possible
that the 1902 lease from Bishop Estate allowed some interest
in the bullding which survived the periocd of the lease? A
% See: VHse file for February 5—6, 1940, dealing with the

fire, No written notice of the donation has been found,
# Flle: €3823, 1953-66., Tabulation dated March 15, 1948,
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ccpy of the 1902 lease was finally located in the Archives,
The lease provided that the lessee would give up the land

and all improvements thereon upon termination of the lease,
The lezse of June 7, 1926 included Article VI1I which provided
that "211 bulldings, fixtures, and appurtenances, whether now
on the land or hereafter placed thereon, shall at gll times
be part of the realty and the property of the U,S." It was
therefore determined that Building #li2, the old VHse museum,
should e carried on Hawaill Nationai Park inventory as
governrment-owned, It was noted, however, that in sasccord

with thé applicable contract provisioas, the govérnment did
recoznlize concessioners as having a possessory interest inv
the improvements which they had made to a government-owned
building,

With this information, the "Inveantory of Goverament
Buildings and Improvements™ was provided with Amendment #1,
dated February 15, 1954, covering "the assigngent of the 014
Volcano House, building no. L2, to the Kilauez Section
concessioner," As this building had been occupied by him
since 1932, the coﬁoessioner felt he had spent approximately
$5000 in improvements., With this as his possessory ianterest,
the building was listed as owned 1/l by the concessioner and
3/l by the government.

Ten years later, HAVO Chief Naturslist Hamilton directed

a memo to his Superintendent requesting retention of the old

% Archives of Hawaii. Part I, File #609, Hawail Lesses

general, covering the period April 24, 1919 to July 16,
1930, Allen's letter says copies were being forwarded
Yo HAVO, but they were not found in File 05525.
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Volcano House museum because of its historic value, and
asked that the Master Plan be revised to permit its
retention., This memo Superintendent Johnston approved on
Herch 5, 196L.% On July 27, Johnston forwarded a copy of
the Historic American Buildings Survey Inventory form on
the VHse museum, along with maps, photographs and a copy of

Olson's Story of the Volcano House, to the Director of Region

Four., He recommended classifying it as a CC structure

- exhibiting a way of life. It went from Reglon Four to the

Chief, WODC, to the Director of Region Four who passed it on
to the Director NPS, Along the way it had been re-classified
as "BB - Structures Part of Historic Scene - Stabilized,
Rehe&bilitated, or Remodeled." There is no written approval
from the Director NPS, but a news release of Novemper 6, 196l,
says it was approved by Hartzog in September,:t* |
The news article produced some local response and 1nterest
in preserving the building., Nothing more was done at the
time, although on September 18, 196li, Kick Lycurgus wrote
Superintendent Johnston to say the the VHse Company was ready
to build aew.staffibousing and a&s soon &S new quarters were
completed, they would turn the VHse museum building over to
the Park. Jouanston wrote on September 22 saying the building
had recently been designated "a historical structure®™ (this
would be about the time Hertzog could have given his approval)

and as "soon gs it 1s returned to us we will rehabilitate it

*  File: H30 "Archaeological and Historic Structures,"

AL
2%

For listing of this progression see: HAVO Supt Tobin
to Assoc Dir Baker, May 17, 1967.
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and use 1t as a public historical exhibit,"# A year later,
Lycurgus advised Hul O Pele that ss soon as the new servants
quarters were ready, the olu Volcano House would be vacated,. i=:
The new servants quarters were tied to general rebuilding and

a new _ease for the qoncessioner and had not been constructed

as of 1970.

| Superintehdent Tobla was not convinced of the necessity

of preserving the olé building, He wrote Associate Director
Baker ca May 17, 1967 to this effect, and in August, Connally
of the Office of Architecture and Historical Preservation,

wrote to the Associate Director requesting a Historic Structures
Report, Part I. This would provide the basis for a decisicn

on the bullding which shculd remzin classified as a BR structure
until then. In March 1968 Connally requested Region Four to
have the HAVO Superinbteandeat prepare a Resource Study Proposal,
wiich was tae first step in getting the Hisbtoric Structures
Report., Although the Western Hegional office could find no
oft'icial notification that the building had been approved

by the Director as class BB, nobthing should be done Yo the
building until the Historic Stabtus Report was prepared, -. The

necessary RSP was prepared and submitted March 15, 1968,

%  File: C3B23, 195%-66, FTJ to Dir, WR, 22 Sept 196l

#% File: A2, DMinutes of Meeting, Huli 0 Pele, 26 Oct 1965,
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HAWALIAN VOLCANO OBSERVATORY

A volcano is simply a crack, or weakness 1in the earth's
crust through which magma can force its way to the surface.
The Pacific Ocean is ringed with cracks of this kind., These
cracks produce two geological phenomena: first, when a
part of a weask area slips, an earthguake is produced, and,
1f the slippage occurs below a body of water, the earthquake
may generate a tsunami, often incorrectly called a tidal wave,
Coastal areas of Califordia and Chile are regularly dévastatedr
by tsunémi, and Hawail, in the path of tsunami from cracksv
21l around the Pacific, maintains a regular tsunami warning
system, The second phenomenon is volcanism,

Lava is molten rock, composed of silicates and oxides,
various minerel crystals, »andrgasese The same material when
still confined below the eartn's surface is called magma,

In Hawaii, this magma originates at a depth of probavly
thirty or forty miles, then seeps uﬁwards to accumula te in
holding chambers only a mile or so below the surface. When
the pressure has built up enough, there is an eruption,

Hawaii's two.currently active volcanoes have over
thousands of years built up btheir distinctive shield-shaped
mountains Qf Mauna Loa and Kilauea., Both have mein vents
at the summits of these mountains, and both have rift zones,
areas of weakness extending away from tne central swamit vent.
Eruptions may occur at the summlt or along these rifts as

flank eruptions, The rifts are marked at the surface by
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cones of volcanic material., These are especially noticeable
across the floor of Haleakala following its nortneast-southwest
rift Zone. The Chain of Craters is a series of pits aslong

one of Xilaueat's rifts,

Xilauea and Mauna Loa erupt so geatly because of the
relative fluidiby of their lavas which are low in silicas, and
thus less viscous -~ the gases in them can escape without
bullding up an explosively high pressure. Fluidity is also
helped by the relativelfrhign temperature of the Hawaiian
laba. Only two violently explosive eruptions are known %o
have occured at Kilauea, and one of these was due to water
seeping into hot vents, creating steam which blew ocut debris,
This 1524 eruption iavolved no new lava,

By the end of the last century geologists nad becone
fascinated with volcanoes. In 1882 Krzkatoa, in the Sunda
8trait between Java and Sumatra, had literally blown itself
up in an explosive eruption which threw out dﬁst clouds that
girdled the globe for months. The attraction at Kilauea
was a volcano whicn’erupted sedately 1lnto a large, conveniently
located crater, Béginniag with Lord Byron in 182L, each
official visitor surveyed the crater, drew maps, and reported
at length on the volcanic processes observed. Up to 192l,
the eruption was almost constant. Mauna Loa is less
accessable, but is also freguently and quietly active, All
in alz, admirablé volcanoes for geologists to observe,

Cbserve they did, The 1883-84 report of the U.S.
Geologlcal Service to the Secretary of the Interior included

a2 special paper on Hawaiian Volcznoes by a staff geologlist,
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Dana in 1590, Brigham (director of the new Bishop Museum in
Honolulu) in 1891, Hitchcock in 1909 all prepared volumes
on Hawaii's volcanoes, All urged the wisdom of a regular,
long~-term investigation of volcanism, based at Hawaii, where
both Kilauea and Mauna Loa were so easily observed., Wrote
Brighem in 1908 after a visit to Kilauea: "The desirability
of a permanent sclentific observatory at Kilauea was strongly
impressed at this visit, more stroangly than ever before, Not
merely a hut with a seismometer, but a scientific laboratory
with a competent observer. A tower from which could be
measured the diurnal rise and fallrof the domed floor of
the craéer; where tests of temperature in the pit could
be registered; where gases and ejecta could be analysed énd_
spectroscopic investigations be 6arried on, ¢

At this time the Massachusetts Institute of Technology
had on its staff, as head of the geology department, a young
volcanologist of ouﬁstanding worldwide reputation by the
name of Thomas A, Jaggar,., Widely traveled and familiar
with most of the world'!'s volcanoces, he stopped to visit
Kilauea in 1909 onfhis way to view an’ eruption in Japan,
In July of the same year, tne Whitney Trust gave MIT $25;OOO
to further their volcanology research and requested that a
study, to specifically include the new field of selsmology,
be made in Hawail, Jaggar was enthusiastic about such a
study and interested Lorrin Thurston and several ofther

Hawaiian businessmen in a five-year pilot study. MIT was

#  Thrums Hawaiian Annual 1908, p. Ly,
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not ready to support this kind of a program, but in 1910
they puréhased a thermometer and seismograph with wnich to
begin tahe work, The next year Dr. E. S, Shepherd and Dr,
F. A, Ferret went out to Hawaii and began issuing weekly
volceno reports which Thurston published in his newspaper,

the Fozolulu Advertiser. Shepherd, FPerret and Thurstoa

also managed to get the first recorded temperature of the
lava lake (183%2°F) by stringing a line 1200 feet across the
crater and lowering a series of recording instruments into 1%,

‘ Meanwhile, Jaggar had been seeking additlonal private
suppert for the Observatory, and in 1911 the new Hawalian
Volcances Research Association (HVRA) pledged funds to the
amount of $5000 per year, above and beyond the Whitney funds,
with which to get the Observatory started. The project, as
they envisioned it, was to provide for coatinuous, permanent
observation of the volcanoes, and to offer scientific
hospitalivy and an idea exchange, The Associabion negotiated
with MIT for the services of Dr, Jaggar, and for contributlions
from the Whitney Fund for the seismological work.

On January lf; 1912, Dr. Jaggar arrived at Kilauea, By
February funds had been raised in Hilo for an observatory on
the crater rim to replace Dr., Perret's modest hut and the
new whitney Laboratory of Seismology was under coastruction
belqw the roéd directly opposite the Volcano House, on &
site leased by the HVRA Tfrom the VHse., It was 18 feet square
with a basement of concrete set on'a solid ledge of basall --

the c¢ellar had been dug through five and a half feet of

ash ead punice,
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Jaggar submitted a Special Report to MIT on his work

l at the Observatory during January-March 1912 which listed

his accomplishments. Besides building the new Whitney Lab,

he was again issuing the weekly bulletins on the volcano,

had re-built the old Perret observatory cottage nearer the

plt, was helping the USGS team with their topographic survey
of Kilauea, had investigated a road to Mokuaweoweo atop |
Mauna Loa, and was now cdntemplating the construction of a
new instrument house on the very lip of the crater for
possible magnetic studies.,

Dr: Jaggar remained director of the Hawailan Volcano
Observatory until his retirement in 19410, then continued as
a research fellow at the University of Hawaii until his
death on January 17, 1953, fortyQone years to the day after
his arrival at Kilauea,

The Hawailan Volcanoes Research Associlation remained an
active supporter of volcano research in the Park, It is not
known how lbng their $5000 annual pledge continued, but for
many years the Superintendent's Annual Reports listed the
HV0 as maintained 6§ a federal organization with "aid from
private sources," Besides the Whitney Lab of Seismology;
they also promoted and built the original Puu Uluulu (Red
Hill) resthouse and summit trail as aa aid to volecano
research on Mauna Loa, The Whitney Lab building and
equipment were 1eased by the HVRA at $1 per year to the
Department of Agriculture, Weather Bureau, from 1918 to
1924, and to the Department of Interior, USGS, from 1920

to 1935, In 1935 the HVO was placed under the NPS adminis-




tration and it is not known what arrangements were made
with the.HVRA for the use of the Lab buildiang between 1935
and 1950, when it was removed to make way for the new Vise,
Tne HVRA also constructed the Uwekahuna museum-exhibig
buildizg in 1927. This was a project originally planned in
1915 tc provide an exhibit room and lecture system, It was
implemented when a generocus Congressional appropriation for
volceno research in 1926 paved the way for equally generous
contritutions to HVRA., The plans were drawn up by Jagsar in
1926 and changed somewhat by the NPS, They called for a
T-shaped building L2 x 20 feet, with an alcove on one side
to ccatain a seismology exhibit prepared by some Japahese
professors, This building would provide space for an
educational program on volcanclogy, under the supervision
of the WFPS, and it would also replace bhe museum Jaggar had
been keeping at the old Observatory site whicg was open for

only one hour a day from 11 to ncon,

The new bullding was started on February 21 and dedicated

on April 19, 1927, with Governor Farrington, Secretary of

Interior VWork, NPS Director Mather and Dr, Jeggar in attendance,

Uwekahuna Observatory (as tne Superintendentt's Repért for
April 1927 called it) was presented by Jaggar, on behalf of
the HVRA, to the USGS and KPS Jjointly and wes accepbed by
Interior Secrebary Work on April 19, 1927,

Uwekehuna provided an educational facility, but the
Hawaiian Volcanoes Observatory still needed adequate gquarters
for its scientific work, As early as 1930 the NPS was

exhibiting concern over the location of the HVO building,
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The Observatory and its related builldings and Jaggar's own
house were all located on the very crater rim in what
Superintendent Wingate called a "saered" area. Furthermore,
they were so located as to interfere with the Crater Rim
trail which was forced to swing around them., Landscape
Architect Vint's report in 1930 hoped the USGS (then
administering the Observatory) would retuild the Observatory
facilities elsewhere, locate the laboratory at Uwekahuna,
and house their employees in the government residential area.
| Jaggar was contemplating a new building in 19?1. He
felt there would be better results away from the rim and the
traffic of the VHse and headquarters area. He had planned a
two stéry structure, earthquake- and fire-proof, and selected
8 site for it southwest of the Sunmer Camp area, Both Wingate
and Landscape Architect Sager epproved thé site and Wingate,
in a lether to the Director dated November 2y, 193%, pointed
cut that the NPS wouid be remiss if it did nobt assist the
HVO which was helping to make the islands a scientific and
educational center of the Pacifie, |

Sager wrote id 1935 that the Public Works department
had $4,0,000 budgeted for a building of the sort required and
asked for plans to be drawn up. Nothing more 1s heard until
late 1937 when Wingate wired the Director of Regloa Four
asking for the status of the preliminary plans for the
building, which was now quoted at $100,000, Noney was not
forthcoming, however, and it was decided to delay the entire
project ratner than go ahead piece-meal with what small

amounts were on hand,
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In late 1938 Vingate again wrote the Director noting
that tne HVRA could barely provide funds for even a greatly
reduced salary for Jaggar., Since 1933 the federal goverament
had been paying 2/5 while the HVRA paid %2/5 of the HVO staff
salaries andbnearly all of the operating expenses, 1In 1935
the vosition of seismologist was abolished and on dJune 30
the velcanologist -- Jaggar -~- was traansferred from the USGS
to the NPS as an employee of KNP, where, it was hoped, the
"impeortant sclentific investigation conducted under Dr,
Jaggar's direction will receive the beneflt of stabilized
appropriations." By 1938 even the NPS was feeling the
rinch, Wingate felt it would still be a strong point if NFPS
could at least help with the physical plant, to be built with
CCC funds since Public Works had recently eliminated Hawailil
from its upcoming budget, Wirth_replied that when funds
were available, the‘Volcano Cbservatory and Naturalist
building had priority. >

By 1940 the project showeé signs of life and Sager
re-werked the plans to fit within the limits of the §15,000
CCC funds evailable for materials snd skilled la’bor° With
the destruction of the old VHse in February 1940, it became
imperative that & new structure be built to accommodate the
Observatory, as the Observatory site was Wingate, Sager and
Lycurgus! first choice for the locatién of the new VEse.
Apparently it was no longer such a "sacred" area., The new
"Volcano Observatory and Naturalist Building" became CCC job
#54 with the $15,000 for materisls allocated on August 12, 1940,

The fiscal year report of June, 1941 listed it as L5% completed,
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The new building was located on the site of the old VHse
garage, just Hilo-side of the Vise destroyed in 1940, and
across the road from Park headguarters,

The buildings comprising the old Volcano Observatory were
dismantled and the materials stored, pending a decision from
the Department as to whether the buildings were the property
of the government or the HVRA, The equipment and other
material, which had béen purchased by the Asscciation, were
donated to the government by the Director of the Association.

‘ Jaggar, in a memo dated June 3, 1940, discussed with
Wingate 'the possibllity of using the Uwekahuna Museum building
for the Observatory's work., He did not like moving the
Observatory away from the crater rim., The Uwekahuna building
had been bullt by the HVRA and then given to the Park and it
was surely the most likely structure to house the Cbservatory.
dJaggar indicated that the crater-rim location had the approval
of Sager, who had also agreed to tne desirabiiity éf preserving
the old Main Whitney Lab seismograph cellar, now under the new -
VHse, Jaggar suggested transferring the research oifices,
library and instruﬁent-making shop to the new Observatory
and Naturalist building, and putting the actual observing
instruments at Uwekahuna. This would be the daytime working
ground of the Observatory staff, and would still allow public
use of the museum and esplanade area at Uwelkahuna,

Jaggar weas particularly concerned about clarifying the
future of the Observatory. Not only was its location to be
changed, he himself was stepping down as director, to take

the chair in Veolcanology at the University of Hawaii, And,
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he wrcte, "The Hawailan Volcances Research Lssociation in
conjuaction with the University is on a aew footing for
publication of Volcéno Letter and monographs, supplying of
instruments and empleying research associates.”" He clearly
hoped <o keep all the possible benefactors happy with the
new Cbservatory,

Ey December 1941 the basement of the new building was
complete, concrete flcor poured, sidewalks and roof up. The
Observeatory staff had méved teo the basement room and a
méﬁhine‘shop was set up, A£11 work halted on December 7, 1941,
On April 13, 1942, the Army requisitioned the building and
by April 18 the building was 90% completed, The work had
been done in 72 hnours by 20 CCC enrollces, and eight carprenters,
two electriclans and a plumber supplied by the U.S. Eagineers,

| The location of the HVO at this time 1is not clear., iles
do not show if the Observatory was indeed mcved to Uwekszhuna,
pending the return of the Volcano Observator§ and Naturalist
building, if activity was suspeanded entirely, or if Jaggar
simply retired to his own crater-rim home and went ahesd with
the work., | f

What is clear 1s de Vis-Norton's continuing dislike of
Jaggar, He claimed Jaggar had manipulated the HVO into the
Universitj, wnich was funded by the Legislature. The

Legislature was not interested in volcano research, he claimed,

but the wealthy citizenry were, provided it was more "popular.,"

Recaliling the early days of HVRa, he felt that unlimited Tfunds
coulé be raised for popular science but nct for the pure

science Jaggar persisted in doiag.
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After the war, the HVO again came under the direction
of the USGS, In a memo of agreemént between the USGS and
NFS it was agreed that the Observatory, with its records,
library as needed (the rest of the library would remain at
the Observatory and Naturalist building), office and lab
were to go to the unoccupied museum building at the outer
crater, ie, Uwekahuna, Ruy Finch, then volcanoclogist-in-
charge, and instrument-maker Burt Loucks, would become
employees of the USGS., Necessary budgets would be adjusted
to-cover the change in administration, Ranger Howard Powers
was to stay on as a NPS employee until the Fark could find a
suitablé naturalist to replace him, when he would go to the
USGES aé a seismologist., With the fiscal year beginning July 1,
1948, the HVO would be wholly under the USGS, The transitioh
period, implemented by the memo, began Deéember 28, 1917. The
0ld Uwekahuna museum was immediately repaired and improved
for its new occupanté, the USGS to furnish funds for the job
and reimburse the NPS for actually doing the work,

The changes and improvements iﬁcluded new water storage
facilities and a géherator in the old Naturalist's office,
This would eliminate the necessity of installing power lines
to the Observatory. The plans for all this work were approved
by the NPS, “Standardizing this plan was not deemed necessary
as the work is to be done in a building which is not the
property of the NPS." The work to be done alsc included a
new seismograph cellar nearby, so the "“property" apparently
included the land as well,

The matter of USGS occupancy of the Uwekahuna location

L&



required clarification in 1954. Gordon Macdonald wrote
Superi:téndent Wosky asking about the permanency cof the
Volcano Observatory at Uwekahuna, as the USGS had plans for
some revisions and wanted a policy statement from the NES,
wiose laster Plan included the eventual removal of the
Uwekehuna building, This had originally come up in 1950
when Superintendent Oberhansley noted the heavy picnic use
in the area and hoped to relocate the Observatory, perhaps
to the headquarters area where tne Observatory had started
in its old Whitney Lab,

Wosky replied that the Service did not intend to resume
operation of the Observatory ané Museum, the 19477 agreement
between the NFS and USGS was con & "permanent basis" and there
was no time limit on it. He then requested clarificsation
from the Director, ¥PS, which was provided on April 5, 1954,

We feel that it is the sense of the Memorsasndum of

Agreement dated November 17, 1947, that -it be permanent

in nature. The Agreement provides for a transfer of
functions, records, equipment, and personnel, but with
respect to buildings for the Observatory it provides
only for use of certain existing ones and by implication
use of the lands on which they are located....Thus the

Agreement is silent on authority to use Park lands for

the erection of additional buildings,

: Notwithstaading the technical deficiencies in the
Memorandum of Agreement in this respect, it is the position
of this Service that Geological Survey may, nevertheless,
continue to use Park lands ia the Uwekahuna Site for the
Observatory, including the erection of buildings thereon,
Such site we regard as a permanent location for the
Observatory,*

With their permaneht occupancy of the site assured, the

USGS went ahead with their new geochemical buildings wiich

were completed and accepted in Hay 1958,

* Ccarad Wirth, Director, NPS, to Supt, HNP, April 5, 1954,
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Relations between the USGS and NPS have geaerally been
excellent except for a period in the 1950's when the matter
of housing threatened to alienate the two Iaterior Department
services,

In the earlier years, the HVRA had helped with housing
for the HVO staff by acqulring o0ld summer home leases #1281
and #1318, Jaggar's own home, as previously noted, was on
tne crater rim. As early as 1930, the Viat report recommended
removing the scattered HVO staff quarters to the government

residence area and two years later the Wosky report reiterated

he need for either removing or "“harmonizing®™ the USGS structures

in the éarko Wosky suggested the possibility of the NFPS
buildiﬁg the structures and renting them to the USGS, This
report produced some re—arrangemeht, improvement, and repairs
to tne USGS buildings, as noted in Superiﬁtendent Leavitt's
Annual Report of 1932, but.the following year appropriations
were drastically cutvand nothing more was done along this
line until after World War II,

In 1952 the NPS and USGS arranged'for additional housing
to be built for USGS personnel with USGS funds, but within
the Park and subject fo Park rules, In 1956 there Wasva’
brief exchange of correspoandence on the matter of who should
occupy which quarters. At the time, a structure built by .
the USGS housed the Assistant Superintendent, but Volcanologist
Gordon Macdonald, in charge of the Observatory happily occupied
the old Jaggar place as it offered the.best view of the crater,
He felt no cause for alarm in the nearness of the c¢cliffs,

The following April, however, the problem became more

-50 -
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difficult woen the USGS asked Superintendent Wosky for aid
in housiﬁg two new USGS familles, Wosky replied that there
was ncthing available expect temporary guarters, although
three olaces were rented to Kilauea Military Camp personael,
One c¢I tne new families to be accommodated was that of the
new vclcanologist-in-charge of the Observatory, Dr. Murata,
On arrival ia August 1957, he was glven his choice of the
avalleble housing from amongst the "Park" quarters, There
were no "USGS" quarters-then available,

* It soon became appareant to Dr, Murata that his housing
was not satisfactory and ke initiated action to obtain the
USGS quartvers occupled by tne Assisbtant Superiantendent, On
July 2ii, 1958, Regional Director Merriam wrote the Superinten-
dent to say that the USGS quarters Must be made available for
USGS personnel if they wanted them., Wosky replied four days
later that the USGS was occupying four NFS houses to the
single USGS house occupied by Assistant Supeéinteadent Bvans,
and that Muraté had chosen a NPS house, On August 1l Hurata
wrote bto éay that NPS quarters #ly, the oldest and least
comfortable, was not suitable, and he requested the USGS
héuse occupied by Evans, He noted that the hcuse traditionally
resérved for the Assistant Superintendent was available, and
he suggested now would be a good time To make the move,

A1) should have been well with this new arrangement, except
that Wosky noted that new NIFS people were due soon and would
be given first choice amongst the HPS houses occupiled by USGS.

At this point the Regional Director called a conference.

These talks produced a bebter understanding between the two

~51=



groups, and an admission that both were necessary in their
present location, It also produced a new Agreement, whereby
the USGS would build additional housing as soon as possible,
that the NPS would have first choice of NPS housing, but that
the NPS would aid the USGS by meking empty housing available
to them on a rental basis which would be the same as the rent
charged a NPS family, Wosky also asked that the USGS housing
be turned over to the NPS for maintainance. Such housing,
however, would continue to be assigned by the Observatory
Difector. Finally, it was agreed that Quarters 1l would be
torn down eventually and the USGS need not repair them. This
Agreement would replace the Memorandum of December [éig] -
17, 1947. A final draft was signed oa March 17, 1959.

Since that date there has been general good will between
the sister services, The USGS has requested NPS approval of
new USGS facilities, including the coanstruction of additionsal
housing in 1962, The NPS has granted speciai‘permits for
drilling and other experiments after eruptions, and the
Observatory has sent the NPS full reports of all its

scientific activities,
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KILAUEA MILITARY CAMP

Ccnbrary to popular belief, a Natlonal Park 1s nob
necesserily a recreation area, unless the unlgue feabture
to be preserved, for example, is a vast acreage of snow

which would almost guerantee its doubling in a recreational

| capacity., In Hawaii Natlonal Park, however, the military

maintains the Kilavea Military Camp as a rest and recreation
facility unique in National Parks,

| By the turn of the century the volcano area had developed
as a poéular summer-vacation home area, a favorite amongst
kamaaiﬁas for its invigorating climate and volcanic display.
The U, S. Army also had made use of the steaming flats area
below the old hotel for recreational purpdses in the form of
self-contained tent camps.» To take advantage of these features,
a group of Hilo businessmen banded togetier in the spring of
1916 to obtain a lease from the Blshop Estatbe of some U9 acres
on which to develop a '"regimental cémp and maneuvering ground
for the National Guard of the Island of Hawail, and...a

vacation and health recruiting station for the regular Army

" located in Bawaii."s The idea was that while the Nationsal

Gueré was not using the area for maneuvers, the regular Army
could use it for rest and recreation, The Commander of the
Hawaiian Department and of the Hawail National Guard both
expressed their satisfaction with the plan, and the promoters
of the camp set about obteining the funds necessary to develop
% Fcr details of the Bishop Hstate lease, and the early
history of the Camp to 1929 see: History of Kilauea
Military Camp, Hawail National Park (to May 1929.)
Prepared by the Army., File: 9-%-1l. See Appendix.
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the site. Approximately $24,000 was obtained by subscription

and on August 19, 1916, the Board of Trustees held their
first meéting. The Trustees were five in number: General
R. K. Evans, then Commanding General of the Hawaiian
Department; Genefal Samuel Johnson, then Commanding General
of the National Guard of Hawaii; Lieutenant Colonel John T.
Moir of the National Guard, Island of Hawail; Mr. H. G,
Vicars of Hilo; and Mr. L. A. Thurston of Honolulu,

By November 1916, the initial buildings were up, at a
co;t of approximately $17,000. These consisted of an officers
building, and cooking, eating and latrihe facilities, No
housing was provided -- tents were to be used., The first
group of Army regulars came up on November 27, 1916,

Although the area was considered healthful, it was
somewhat distant from Schofield Barracks on Ozhu, the major
regular Army station, The steamship lines were prevailed
upon to offer a special military rate between Honolulu and
Hilo, and the bus to the Volcano, or train ta'Glenwood, also
offered special rates., Large groups, however, might be
expected to march at least part of the waye

The next few‘years were not auspicious, Betweea 1917
and 1922 the Camp was not used by the National Guard at all,
and during World Wer I regular Army use totaled less than
cne thousand, For two years after the war, "not a single
soldier of the Regular Army used the HMilitary Camp for
recreatlion or other purposes.”

In 1919 the Trustees, faced with no fuands and only

limited use of the Cemp by those for whem it had been

-5l ~



established, considered three possible solutions: allow the
camp tc be used by other groups so tlat it could become
self-supporting; turn the camp over to the KFS for a
consideration which might partially re-Imburse the subscribers
for fu-zds already expended on equipment; or, clear the |
existizg debt and then turn the camp over to The Military

to conduct and maintain at their own expenss, The military
had, so far, consisténtly refused any financial involvemend
in the camp. The terms of the lease, however, prevented

tne Trustees from negotlating its transfer under any of the
above aprrangements., A 1919 "Summer School! plan'for use of
the area by the Departmeant cf EHEducation only incurred
ecdditional bills,

During 1919, General Mcrton of the Hawaiian Divislon had
made severel overtures with the object of having the Army
take over the entire administration of the camp. The Trustees
and the NPS both rejected these plans. Appaféntly in a fit
of spite, Morton thereupon refused to allow Lthe men under his
command to use tne/area, and there ensued the two year period
during which not é(single member of the Hawesilan Department
visited the camp,

Generel Summeral replaced Morton as head of the Hawallian
Department in August 1921, and recognized the value of the
camp as a recreation area, He also recognized that iﬁ would
not te available for exclusive Army jurisdiction. OCn KNovember
1, 1621, a memorandum of agreement was executed between the
Trustees of the Kilauea Military Camp and the Hawalian

Department of the U, S. Army whereby the Army took over the
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operation and maintalnance of the camp, and the payment of
$50 annually to the Trustees. This $50 was the ground reat
due to the lessor under the terms of the original Bishop
Estate lease, |

In the meantime, the fourth and final blll to establish
a national park in Hawaili had been introduced on January 20,
1916, signed into law on August 1, 1916, and the new Hawali
Netional Park officlally dedicated on July 9, 1921. The Kilauea
Military Camp 1dea had beea developed during the same spring
of 1916 (Thurston wrote to the Hawaii National Guerd on
May 8, 1916, and the Hewailan Department on June 2, 1916),
the Bishop Estate lease to the Trustees was dated October 2,
1916, and the cemp was first.occupied on November 27, 1916,
Thus, the establishment of the Hawaii National Park by
Congressional ection pre~dated the establishment of KMC by
its Trustees by two”months. However, it was not until
June Iy, 1920 that the KMC land (land included within the
boundaries of the new national perk) wes transferred from
the Bishop Estate to the Territory of Hawali, &t which point
the.Territory becaﬁe lesscr of the cemp lands; and only on
October 3, 1923 did the NPS become lessor of the area when
the Territory transferred its HWP land acquisitions to the
NFS. The NPS were lessors of the KMC site for not guite a
month before the new agreement between the Trustees and the
Hawailan Department was signed, marking the beginning of =2
vermenent military~run camp at Kilauea, During the five years
from 1916 to 1921 the Park had existed only on peper snd the

camp, although esteblished, saw little use and had been in
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financial difficulty.

Uoder the new agreemeant with the Trustees, KIFC was placed
under the administration cof the Recreation Officer for the
Haweilen Department and on October 30, 1921, the first
Commaniing Officer for KNC errived with a detachment of 2l
enlisted men, three Army trucks, and assorted camp equipment
and surplies. Use of the camp began immediately, with a
small ¢aily charge for use of the fscilities, so as to keep
govera—ent appropriations for the new KMC at a minimum,

Although the backers of the original EKMC idea had hoped
for trade benefits}to Hilo meréhants, the Army scon found
local food prices too high, and reguested permission to
purchase through the Honolulu Commissary. Although it was
felt that KMC ﬁas not an established post, permission to use
the Commissary was granted and funds approprilated to that end
in lzte 1923,

As time went on, the Trustees appsared Increasingly
anxious to rid themselves of the whifte elephant of KMC and
give 1t over to the exclusive control of the Army. In 192l

efforts were made to interest the Army in a new sub-lease

‘with the provision that the Army assume the still cutstanding

debts., The Army was-agreeable, but only if KMC were to be
made a permanent militery reservation, This was a step to
be promoted by "keeping Mr. Boles in line as favorable,"

The existing indebtedness of KMC was still some $3500,
but ty 1927 ell merchants who held accounts against KiC,
with the exception of Hilo Electric Light Company {(which had

instelled the lighting system for the 1919 Summer School) had
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stricken such accounts from their books. There 1s no record
of the Afmy having assumed any of these debts. It is not
known what finally became of the remaining $900 due to Hilo
Electric.

In spite of the fact that exclusive Army control was
not in line with the terms of the original Bishop Estate lease,
the Trustees went ahead with efforts to clear away National
Guard and Navy rights to the camp., The National Guard agreed
to withdraw their interéét in favor of the Army, but the Navy,
oély Just dlscovering they had any rights to the area, promptly
insisted on exercising them. A plen of joint occupancy was
finally worked out whereby the Navy was to use approximately
15 acres and pay $l15 a year toward tne ground rent of $50.

The Navy camp was absorbed into the main camp when the KMC
lease expired in 1936,

The Army wanted to guarantee the permanency of KMC by
obtalning exclusive military jurisdiction ovér the area, They
reccgnized that to remove the desired land from the HNP area
would require Congressional action., The Interior Department
was approached by/the War Department to thls end, and in a
létter dated Novembeb 17, 1925, the Interior Department
replied by flatly refusing to concur in the removal of any
lends from the Hawail National Park on the grounds that such
a move would establish an undesireable precedent and result
in similar applications from others.

The Interior Department, in informal conferences,
indicated that "it does not object to the presence of Military

Fersonnel within the Hawaili Natlonal Park, nor the development
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of the recreation cemp there, They are willing to execute
8 lesse to the War Department but do not desire to transfer
Juriscdiction unless such jurisdiction is a manifest advantage
to the War Department, ™

T-e Advocate General of the Army then prepared an outline
of tkhe present situation regarding KMC, dated September 1, 1926,
This ncted that the Act establishing the new Hawaii HNational
Park ellowed the Secfetary of the Interior, at his discretion,
to grazt leases for terms not exceeding 20 years, to parcels
O£ land of notkmore than 20 acres, for visitor accocmmodation
facilities, It was determined thet the Trustees, who still
held the original Bishop Estate lease, althougb they had been
inactive since 1924, could not give it to the Army, as ﬁnis
would result in the U.S. being both lesses and lessor of the
land in question, However, "it is belleved thatrthe Secretary
of the Interior under the brcad authority conferred upca him
by the terms of the Act creating the Hawail ﬁational Park

might permit or license the War Department upon the expiration

of the existing lease to continue to occupy and use the properbty

as a military recfeation camp, Such a license would be in
accord with the general purpose for which the park was created
and is now being administered by the Interior Department, "=t

And there the matter rested for the time being., The Army
wanted complete jurisdiction over the camp; tie NPS hoped to
remove as soon'as pessible all its inherited Bishop Estate
leases so that the NPS mignt have complete jurisdiction over
% Ses: History of KMC, HNP, Section II, p. 27.

Wt Mej. Gen. J. A. Hull, Judge Advocate General, to C, H.
3ridges, Adjunt General, War Department,

~59~



the land of Hawaii National Park, given into its jurisdiction
by Act of Congress,

The NPS especially wanted to eliminate the KMC lease as
this area had been difficult to administer from the first,
Boles and succeeding Superintendents were in frequent
disagreement with the commanding officers and personnel of
KMC over basic policies governing a NPS area, especially when
it came to the preservation of natural feabtures. Such things
as landscaping and new ébnstruction; removal of sand and
gravel from areas outside the KIMC lease; vandalism and
destruction of property and natural features; exoticvanimals
including livestock; &and discipline and jurisdiction over
criminal acts including theft, prohibition and rape by KMC
personnel and guests were among the more vigorously debated
problems,

Problems with the camp and its visitors pre-dated the
establishment of both KMC and the Park, One\of the early
tent encampments had resulted in a complaint of indecent
exposure by a sold;er from the principal of Xeakealani School,
29 Miles, Relatiéns between XMC and the new Park administration
after 1921 continued bad. 192 was a particularly bad year.
Soldiers from KMC reportedly broke into the garage leased by
the Mana Transportation Company and proceeded to make them-
selves at home. The building had been vacated by the tenant
aftér a bootlegzer was found operating there., A few nights
after the garage escapade, soldiers made themselves obnoxlous
at the servants' quarters of the VHse, demanding liquor and

robbing employee clothes-lines when ordered away -- three went
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AWOL and remained away from camp as well. A brush fire on

the Mauna Loa trall the same rmeath was probably set by soldiers
who "rcam the area, making campfires and carelessly dropping
matcnes." In April, the Superintendent rerorted "very little
trouble given." Five cases of KlC men drunk of the highways
were turned over to the U, S, Commissioner, July, an Army
truck struck an auto., That August, Boles wrote on KMC high-
Wiy maaners generally; Drivers of trucks ssrving KMC fronm
Zilo were refusing to allow passenger cars to pass -- ol one
océasion & sick child being brought homs from Hilo was delayed
oce hour, another time 17 cars were lined up behind the truck
by the time the ?ark entrance was reacned, The same moath,

the Report again menbloned harrassment of employees by soldiers,
as well as five soldiers lost on Mauna iLoa. Boles felt thess
were dessrtlon cases, as abt least ons earlisr "lost" soldier
laser turnsd up in jall for stealing an auto. 1925 was not
much bebter, During March, 2 sargeants and the official
photogrsp her from KMC were "faken in charge® by the
Superintendent who found them racing thelir car around Park

1

roads more or less under the influence of alcoheol., One pottle

'ns Superintendent's Report fof Janusary 1930 catalogued
a series of problems still originating at #MC., "For several
ye2ars 1t has been a custom for soldisrs from KMC to form
their initials or company iansignia on thes smooth floors of
exblact craters by the uses of large loose rocks, This has
igured soms of the craters as viewed from thalr rims

3

tonping ths praciice,

0

that orders were issued by this office
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In order to elimlnate formations already in place, the
officers of the military ceamp furnished us fifty men who
thoroughally cleaned up everything.

Two soldiers from KMC were arrested by Ranger Brumahgin
for rolling rocks over the Uwekahuna cliffs and they were
turned over to military suthorities for disciplinse,

Discovery was made on January 6 of three small trees

and a park sign deliberately shot into pieces. Search of

" the area revealed a guantity of army regulation rifle shells.

Three different partys of soldiers had been given leave by
off'icers to hunt outside bthe park boundaries that day and
the usual permission of the Superintendent had been granted
to carry their rifles through the park. All men involved

denied the shootlng of trees and the offeanse could be proven

on no particular persocn. In order to prevent further offenses

the commander of the camp issued an order entirely revoking
the hunting privileges of the entire camp. A\copy cf the
order furunlshed this office."

Complicatiug matters durlng the eablier period was
the lack of any cléar authority to enforce park regulations
within the XMC area, In 1924 the solicitor of the Interior
Department held that the only rights the US held over lands
included in the 1nherited Blshop Estate leases were those of
lessor, and thus the rules and regulations of the NPS would
not apply bto the lands until the leases were no loager in
effect, And, of course, the original lease was Lo the now

inactive Trustees of KiiC, throush whom all negotiations with

their Army and Navy sub-leassees theorebtically should go.
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Personalities doubtless played a part, aand when it
became impossible to solve the problems locally, botn sides
deferred to their superiors for a solution. In 192L,
Superintendent Boles reported to Director Mather that the
Trustess had failed to pay their rent within the thirty day
grace veriod allowed, and by the terms of the lease it could
‘thus be cancelled. Mather preferred to work things out with
the War Department rather than resort to a technicality., As
late as 1933, Superlntendent Leavitt expressed concern over
the lack of any written agreement betwsen the NPS and the
KMC, and wanted to write an office order to remedy the situation,
Ia March 1933, Genéral Wells of the Hawaiian Department
re-opened the matter of the disposition of EKiC by requesting
the War Department obtain Congressional approval of the KNG
83 a permanent military post. With an eye to the future (the
original Bishop Estate lease was due to expire'in 1936) both
the Army and Navy sections weant ahead with‘a.humber of rather
permanent-looking improvements., Landscape Architect Sager
noted pointedly in/his quarterly report for October~December
1953 that the new ﬁavy structures marked the first time either
camp had requested the Park to pass upon a building design,
or participate in its location. ‘Both campé, he reported,
were feellhg somewhat insecure,
On June 2, 19%3% the War Department asked for a permit
or license for another 20 years, On September 9, Secretary
of tkhe Interior Harold Ickes replied. Guoting the Act of 1916
creating the HNP, he noted that wnile tne Secretary of the
|

Interior had authority to grant leases, these were limited to
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such leases as were necessary to provide accommodations for
the general public. They could not be granted for individual
or limited group use. He stated that the inherited Bishop
Estate leases within the Park were "utterly contrary" to the
policies and laws and purposes that control the administration
of national parks., While there was no alternative but to let
these leases run their course, he also pointed out that "this
is the only instance on record where such a use foreign to
park policies and purpo;és occurs, and ib is important that
the anomalous situation be cleared when the lease expires in
1936." * The Secretary of the Interior concluded that he was,
therefore, without authority to grant the request.i

The heart of the matter was tne issue of Jjurisdiction:
the Army wanted to control the area without having to defer
to NPS rules and regulations; the NPS wanted to rid itself
of this constant source of opposition to Service policles and
park values., When, early in 193l, the camp guthorities took
the matter to the American Legion, the press, and the general
public, a loud and peated campaign developed, with the local
press and merchanés in favor of retaining the camp. Although
193 was "Netional Park Year," the NPS was at a disadvantage
in that 1%t had not made clear to the local populace the
policies whicn governed the administration of a park area,
and therefore NPS decisions seemed capricious and negative,
From the general noise, several major points emerged,

The Army claimed the camp in its present location was

t———n———a—a.

% File: 609-01. See also: Sager Report of February 3, 1934
giving background to that date,
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absolutely vital to their needs because: there had already
been & neavy outlay of funds in building and maintaining the
facility; the volcano area was the very best location for a
rest cemp; and, Army purchesing gave the merchants of Hilo a
handscze source of income.

Tze NPS wanted to be rid of the camp because: it did not
legally conform to the size and use requirement for NPS leases;
the military were not particularly conservatlion-minded and the
stafi znd guests of the camp, when free of discipline, were a
cénstant hezard to Park velues and occasionally to Park
perscunel; and, the military were race-concious and arrogant,
a btouchy matter in multi-racial Hawsaii,

be NPS could also see some advantages in keeping the camp:
it provided a large group of trained men in cese of emergency;
it was a good opportunity for educational contact; and, the
camp‘é medical facilities were available to Park personnel,
The sdministration at HWP, however, did not feel these were

adequate to outwelgh the negatives of retaining the camp.

They reviewed the Army's claim and found them full of holes.

vFirst, the véicano location was wet, lacked a reliable
water supply, and was not so necessary to the War Department
as some had alleged. While a camp with a change of climate
was desipable, even General Wells had agreed that there were
better locations which would "serve as well or better,"
Schofield Barracks itself, Hawaiian Department headquarters,
was locéted in a cool upland area not unlike the volecano
district., As a rest site for cases of melancholy (which the

Army claimed were minimal due to the availability of Xilauesa
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rest camp,) Wingate remarked that it was hardly the place to
send depréssion cases, with the sheer crater of Halemaumau so
temptingly close. (See: Accidents)

Secondly, the original investment of {24,000 was rather
hard to value after 18 years of use, None of the present
structures were class A, and only the recently built Navy
cottages even came close, This aspect was badly distorted
in the press,

Finally, the financial loss to the Hilo merchants was
not a valid consideration. The Park had not been created for
them, nor was 1t supported by them. There was a claim that
some $150,000 found its way each year into the local econonmy,
which worked out at approximately $28 per person using the
camp, However, the Army was actually buying its food supplies
through the Oahu commlssary and shipping it to Hilo, in direct
competition with private merchants. There was also unfair
competition for the ‘VHse in the low rates chafged the military
for the use of the KMC facilities. While there was certainly
some commercial ben?fit to the community, it was not NPS policy
to allow commerciai interests to outweight other consideratloas.

| The NPS was very well aware that the longer the camp
remained, the more difficult 1t would be to ever remove it,
and the greater the pressure from the Army to obtain complete
Army jurisdiction over the area, They saw taree possible
solutions to the problem:

1) Encourage the Army to rebuilt its rest camp in another
location well away from the Park boundary. Tals would be the

ideal solution., However, a camp of any size close to the
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boundary would merely meaa all the old problems, plus no
possitility of controlling tne development of tne site. (To
this day KMC looms on the landscape.)

2) Transfer the area to the War Department. This would
mean & v»oundary change, requiring Coagressional action which
woulc _robably fail without the support of the Secretary of
the Incerlor, 1t was a generally inadvisable solution., Said
Sager, "If the parks'are to serve thelr ultimate and higher
purpcse it must never be easy to slice portions from their
boundaries."* This solution weuld also leave the camp so
near the Perk as to retain all the past problems; and no
control over future developments,

3) Allow the Army to remain ch a permit or lease from
the Intericr Department. Such an agreement should limit the
size of development, provide full jurisdiction over the area,
and regquire the Army to bring the cemp to NPS standards of
both bulldings snd landscaping. ‘

‘There was &lso the possibility of allowing some kind
of public concessign at the camp to avoid the legal problem
of a facility whoée resources vere restricted to use by only
& limlted group, This device was suggested by Secretary of .
War George Dorn, and seconded on the local level by John Doerr,
Chief Naturalist et HNP,

The concensus of opinion at HNP was coantained in
Superintendent Wingate'!s Confidential Report of -June 17, 193l.:i=¢

It wes felt that the camp was there to stay and, while they

File: 609-01, Sager Report of Feb. 3, 193,
#¢ File: 609-01, :
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certainly should not offer such a thing, Interior would
eventually be forced to grant a new 20 year lease. This
lease, however, should limlt the dévelopment to no nore
than 20 acres, as authorized by the Act of August 1, 1916,
There were then only about 20 acres developed out of the L9
covered in the original lease, eénd this specification would
eftfectively limit the development of the camp., Under oo
circumstances should the Interior Dejartment allow a transfer
of land to the War Department. Wingate did suggest the
possibility of a "trade®™ of the KMC site for the lands then
being considered for the Kalapana extension of the Park,

Then there occured a shift in official NPS pollcy.
"Director Arno B. Cammerer wrote to Superintendent Wingate
that the Service must recognize the camp as an exception to
the rule because of its cutstanding value to the three branches
of the military service and because the Park Service has
tinherited the situation.! Cammerer sald the Park Service
would take the view that it had no legal right to permit the
camp to exist after the lease expired, bub that this might
be done by contract with the Army., He wrote it was wise and
in the best interests of all to cooperate in continuing the
camp, "%

And so, on July 14, 1934 the Interior Department notified
the War Department that they were agreeable to a five year
extension of the original lease, At the same time Ickes asked
for continuing talks with the War Department to work out the

eventual elimination of the camp., By extending the original

———————

% Apple, Land Acquisition, p.73-l4. Origlnal letter from
CemmeTer to wingate not located in HAVO files,
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lease, the HFederal goverament avoided the problem of being
both lessor and lessee of the land, However, this agrecement

to any kind of a lease was felt to have badly weakened the
positicn that a lease to sucu & group was not legally defensible
and se=7 an unfortunate precedent for this case and for future
requests of a similar nature,

| Oa November 5, 193l Cammerer sdvised Wingate that the
extension should be drawn up in the form of a permit, and

by tte following June a draft had been prepared by the staff
at the Park and at KMC, The Army spent the intervening time
in renovating the old buildings, repairing the walks and rcads,
and tuilding a few new cottages,

The Army was not satisfled with a mere five year extension,
nor with the prospect of eliminating the camp entirely. They
planned an extensive develbpment at KiMC which they did not think
would be financially fezsible under a short-term lease. The
Trustess of KMC weren't satisfied with the five year lease,
either., Inactive since 192l when they arranged to have the
Army administer the camp, they did not want to become involved
in it again, They‘explained that the extension had sone
ciauses in it which they could.not accept as they would not
be in & position to enforce then,

In October 1935, the Army arranged to guide a Congressional
delegation through botin the Haleakala and Kilauea sectlons of
the Fark, carefully shielding their charges Irom contact with
Park personnel, while providing them with information on KMC,
Both Cammerer and Assistant Director Demaray noted that a

showGown could be expected that winter,
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It came on January 3, 1936 when Representative John D.

Dingéll of Michigan introduced a bill into Congress to create

the "Kilauea Military Reservation." This bill had the backing

of Hilo businessmen and the Hilo Chamber of Commerce and was

designed to remove the camp from NPS jurisdiction. In defense

of the bill, Major General Hugh A. Drum, Commanding General
of the Hawaiian Department, gave an interview in which he
agaln mentioned the value of the camp as a rest facility and
then gave his version ofﬁthe history of the camp,

"Several years ago through the courtesy of several
Hawaiians the land was leased by the army for a recreation
cemp at high altitude near Kilauea volcano on Hawaii." The
small profits from the operation of the camp were used to
build up the camp which row had stone and wooden buildings
adequate to house 70 officers and 300 enlisted men, "A
short time ago the whole of the volcano area was declared a
national park, loncluding the army recreation cawmp, While we
have the camp on a short lease an effort is being made to
take that away from us., In fact, such a decision has been‘
made, The militar& camp has no direct besring upon naticnal
park affairs, unless the officlals of the park desire the
buildings, paid for by soldiers, to use for their homes,™

This remarkable interview with General Drum appeared in

the Hilo Tribune-Herald of February 11, 1936 and aroused

considerable heat., Wingate prepared a rebuttal to Drum two
days later which corrected some of the more blatant errors,
and also wrote the Director of the Park Service.

As the NPS could not allow a porticn of the Park to be
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"sliced away" they accepted the lesser of two evils and
re-oreaed negotiations withh the War Department. On April 6
Cammerer wired Wingate that the pending legislation for the
establishment of the Kilauea HMilitary Reservatilon was assured
of Wer Department approval unless Interior would grant a 20

year termit, Such a permit was decmed better than no control

&t ail. Reciprocal good will, he added, was essential. Ickes

had slready advised the Secretary of War on March 16, 1936
that he was "glad things have worked out for a 20-year lease
instead of a five-year lease" and explained that it was
“mancatory" for nis Department to oppose any bill which was
designed to remove land from a National Perk,

Orce removed, it would be impossible to get the area
back., On Merch 19, 1936 E. X, Tillett of Emergency Conserva-
tion Works (ECW) wrote the Director of NPS that the Army was

plancing to build a Schofield type base on Hawaii, preferably

"on the plabeau between Mauna Loa and Mauna Kea, So far there

 was only a CCC trail into this Pohakuloa area, but on April L

the Honolulu Star-Bulletin advertised a "Saddle Road." Tillett

also noted that raﬁcher Herbert Shipman had offered to donate
é parcel of land near the Park for an Army camp., The NPS
st11l hoped that the Army could be persuaded to remove their
rest camp to some other location,

The 19%6 lease covered all that certain parcel of land
containing an area of }j9 acres more or less for a period of
20 yesrs beginning September 1, 1936, It included a clause
for reversion t§ the Park in case of non-use or abandonment,

as well as the statement of terminetion in paragreph 19:

-71-



)

"Phat at the expiration of the period of agreement or
sooner détermination, the War Department will deliver up to
the Secretary of the Interior or his agent posséssion of the
said premises; provided that in the event the Secretary deems
it inexpedient or undesirable toc renew this agreement, the War
Department may remove from sald premises any or all physical
improvements thereon.,"

The Secretary of the Interior agreed:

(4L} "To allow tbe.;aid camp to cultivate exotic plants
of’such species on said premises as are approved by the Bureau
of Plans and Design of the NPS."

Superintendent Wingate hoped to keep the develcped area
limited to the 20 acres aliowed in other such permits, thus
controlling the size of the camp and the number of patrons it
could serve, He felt the camp, with its subsidized rates,
weas already a source of unfair competltion for the Park
concessioner at the ViHse, ‘

With a new lease, the Army undertook to improve theilr
facility. New cotpages were bullt, btennis courts added and
the landscaping ihﬁroved somewhat, With better NPS control
over the area, relations between the two groups became more
cordial, This amicable situation remained throughout the
eariy years of World War II, although the Park suffered
extensive damage at the hands of other military departments.

The next clash came in 19lli, Beginning in 1943 the camp
was used as a rest center for war-weary troops and in September
1944 the Army urged approval of plans for extensive additions

to the camp, designed to accommodate the visitors. The new
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facilities were "artificial recreational” -~ a recreation
hall, cfficers! club, enlisted men's club and the like --

and Wingate felt these did not belong in the camp, and would
defeat the purpose for which the area had been put aside., In

e memc to Regional Director Tomlinson, he noted that now was

- the tize to push for a relocation of the camp, perhaps to the

Pohakuloa region and the old CCC camp there, That area had
a voed and water and was as close to Hilo as was Kilauea.
Any wore permanent buildings at Kilauea would merely nail the
present development in place.

0n October 2, 1944, Tomlinsoa replied that ﬁhe Director
of the NPS would regquest the Wer Department to ccnsider other
locations for their recreational camp. He asked for the total
cost value of the existing structures and wtilities on the Park
land ia question. Wingaté wired a cost of $350,000. The
original cost was much lower, replacement wogld be higher. On
October 21, Interior Secretary Fortas wrote War Secretary
Stimson, firmly requesting the Armj find another site, as the
requested expenditures for permanent structures did not fit
with Park policy and should not be forced to do so.

On November 1, 1944, KMC Commanding Officer Muller
wrote’directly to Regional Director Tomlinson saying that
"if the present modest program is turned dowa in any one (1)
feature, the entire project will likely be disapproved by
higher military authority." The Reglonal Direcvor replied
in December that this was a major policy decislon and the
Army would be notified as soon as word‘came from the Director

of tre NPS. In the meantime, tingate esked KMC for data on
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the use of the camp for the Park!s travel records, snd was
turned down on the grounds that there was a restriction on
the dissemination of information concerning‘military rersonnel,

Througin the early months of 1945 the Army continued to
press for the new buildings and the NPS continued to press
for a relocation of the entire camp. In February the camp
pushed for a new office building and "lounging lanai' on the
crater side of the road, using the megnificent view from
Uwekahuna Observatory ag a build-up for this project. In
March, the Regional Director advised the Superiantendent that
his office and the Director were in agreemeat on policy as
far as it concerned continued Army occupation., The Army's
latest proposals confirmed the HPS stand thet they should
allow NO additional developments, and that pressure should
be brought to push the Army to a new camp locatlon.

The Army was once again thinkiag in terms of gaining
complete jurisdictlon cver the area, On March 12, 1945,
Secreﬁary'Stimson replied to Secretary Fortas saying that
the need for the KMC facilitles was pressing, and the

proposed expansion was of a type of coastruction and permanency

no greater than other bulldings put up under the same use permit,

The Army felt it was not practical to rebuild the camp else-
where, Fortas again responded by poiating out that the
Interior Department was without authority to permit the
permanent use of Natlonal Park lands by the War Department

as such use would not be compatible with the purposes for which
the Park was established. Bescause of the emergency, however,

temporary strucbtures would be permitted, to be removed within
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gix months of the end of the war. To this Stimscon agreed,
and ccastruction went ahead., In December, nowever, Maler
wrote the Director that the coastruction at XMC did not look
ready to be removed within six wmonths of the end of the war
(which had ended the previous August) and that the Army now

assuiiel they had carte blanche to do anythning they wished.

Late in November Wingate discovered that the Commanding
Ofticer of the Army in Hilo planned to move his headguarters
to KrC, which clearly was not in accord with provisions of
the KMC lease, In December the NPS was advised that the
Hilo Army Garrison was to be disbanded and the ohly transfer
was of "command™ responsibility., Under this guise some 50
men were moved to KMC on January 25, 1946,

The Secretary-level mansuvering continued, with Interior

pressicg for a relocation of the camp. On January 7, 1946

Interior wrote to say that XKMC seemed to be becoming permanent,
which was not compatible with HPS policy and Interior definitely
looked forward bto its removal "anot later than 1956." Interior
also mentioned the. growing public interest in other sites for
the camp and urged the War Department to investigate thess
areas for a new campe. |

In March the Secretary of War repllied that they nad
spenﬁ a2 lot of money on the cemp and couldn't afford to move.
Besldes, all the bulldings at KIMC conformed to their agreement
with Interior.

Two months later Interior wrote again. There was no
guestion of the righﬁ to occupy the camp under the present

lease, However, the camp was incompatible with Park policy
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and therefore 'We do nobt intend to renew the permit when it
expires iﬁ 1956."# Interior further noted that the additional
buildings had been allowed only with the provision that they
be removed within six months of the end of the war. That
periocd had now passed. Inberior could not approve of extending
the use of temporary buildings and approving new ones when

the whble had to be removed in 1956, Would the War Department,
therefore, please remove their temporary buildings and seek

a new site for the camp:

The NPS found itself with the proverbial camel already
well into the tent, On April 16, Tomlinson reported to the
Director the findings of his inspection trip: several of
the "temporary" structures were of permanent construction,
nicely connected with permanent cocncrete sidewalks, The
Hilo Army Garrison still had its "command" force of L0-50
men at KMC, and there were also some 80-140 priscners of
war at the camp, in sight froﬁ the main road.\ The piace,
wrote Tomlinson, was being run as a real military camp,

Nor was the M;DPAC Real Estate Officer reassuring. The
buildings were indéed permanent and for that reason the Real
Estate Off'icer was recommending the area be transferred to
the Army., Other proposed sites would be expensive to develop
and it was illogical to abandon KMC which had already cost ;
the Army over one milllon dollars, |

Wrote Tomlinson: "After inspecting the camp and discussing
matters both with the Commanding Officer and the Real Estats

office, I am more convinced than ever that the camp should be

et

% File: 609~01. May 2, 1946. Interior Secretary Fortas to
War Department.




removed from the FPark at the very first opportunity, since
it is tretty certain that with changing Commanding Officers
there will be more or less difficulty in requiring them to
live ur to the terms of thne speclal use permit issued by
the Sscretary,.':

L7 about this time the Navy approached Superintendent

Oberhensley with an eye to a Navy rest camp in the area,

The Surerintendent outlined the problems and suggested
berheps they join with the Army in developling a new camp
outside the Park,

During the next few months both the Interior and VWar
Departzents took the matter of KiMMC under study. On October
16, 1946 Interior Secretary Krug wrote Wer Secretary Patterson
outlining Interior's position, Interior would issue a revised
permit to continue the camp with such additional facilities
as were essential, This tentative permit included special
provision number 1 wnhich continued the camp éo April 8, 1956
the original expiration date but added, "If there is coantinued
need for such a camp after that date, your Department will
provide facilitieé in another location outside of Hawaii
National Park."

The War Department found item number 1 unacceptable and
asked that it be stricken, to which Interior Secretary Chapman
agreed "Upon written confirmetion from you that your Depart-
ment will do everything possible to carry out the intent of

this provision prior to the expiration cate of the original

% Flle: 609-01., Tomlinson to Director, NPS, April 16, 1946.

_77- .



permit, waich is April 8, 1956."# War Under Secretary
Royall, whose ofiice had responsibility for real estate and
leases, responded that as this required the War Department
to make a decision concerning conditions ten years hence,
War could not at the present time commit itself to a move.
He asked to have the agreement signed withoub special
provision number 1,3 Royall &lso asked that the permit
be revocable by the Secretary of War only, which Krug
refused on legal grounds,s=:t

‘ Finally, on March 5, 1947 Royall asked that the
termination date be changed from April 8 to September 1,
1956, -To this Secretary of the Interior Krug, on March 29,
1947 replied as follows: "Since it is my desire that this
permit coatinue indefinitely, the termination date has been
eliminated from the permlt, I hope that this change will
make the permit even more acceptable to you than the one
which you suggested." Along with this letter‘went‘a new
permit., This was a complete reversal of Interior's stand
of March 2, 1946 when Secretary Krug heas wrltten. "We do
not intend to renew the permit when it expires in 19561

Director Drury, on reviewing a draft of Krug's letter,

noted that as the Secretary felt the camp should be permanent,

it was assumed the Secretary wanted the permit to continue

indefinitely but that the land should not be eliminated from

% File: 609 01, November 18, 1 )gé. Interior to War,

st December 3, lQE . Royall to Interior,
PR " Merch 29, 1947. J. A. Krug to Var,
It " March 25, 1947. Director Drury to XKrug.
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Ga June 18, 1947, the Secretary of War returned tihe
permit unsigned as he objected to the revocable clause
which could be employed by eitner the Interior or War
Depar::eht, and requested that the 1956 permit be amended
to autzorize the use of the new bulldings and other new
featur=s, To this end, the permit was smended by letter of
July G, 1947 from the Secretary of the Interlor tc the
Secrstzry of War, who couatersigned it, signifying his
agreemsnt. The permit extended the expiration date to
August 31, 1956,

Tne camel was in the tent. The Park Service could
only accede to the plan prepared by its parent vody, whose
stated position was that the camp should conbinue "indefinitely."
There was, nowever, an expiraticn date,

During the next two years, the Army prepared a master
plan of the area, the Park Service received requests for
and approved a number of new buildings for tge camp, and
the two parties generally got along well, TFart of the good
will was certainly.due to Superintendent Oberhansley, a Kavy
man during the war, who knew the military mind.

By early 19149 military use cof KMC had decreased markedly
and the Army was faced with "drastic economies,” Lt. General
H,S. Aurand wrote on September 19 that it might be aecessary
to "Giscontinue the operabticn of Kilauea Military Camp," and
Superintendent Oberhansley immediately wrote to his superiors
askiag if he should attempt to get the camp "intact, with all
furnishings and equipment.” On Cctober 11 he asked for

confirmation of Regional Director Maier's recommendation to




procure the camp intact,

The situation received tne usual loud and enthusiastic
debate in the press and public houses. Oberhansley stressed
that were the camp to be turned over to the Park, it would
continue to be run on a "mecdified basis" as a militéry rest
camp. And this was exactly what the Army finally proposed to
do, rather than glve up the camp entirely. By the end of 1949
a new plan had been worked out for the camp to be operated
with a resident staff from the several branches of the military
sé}vice, and bthe camp remained open, though with contlinued very

light usage. This situation lasted until spring 1951 when the

Korean. war provided new rezsons for retsining the camp. It

was fully activated again by May 29, 1951 and use of the area
rose guickly,

With the need for KMC obvious by its suddenly increased
popularity due to the Korean war, the military began again to
conslider a permanent camp at the XHMC site, In December 1952,
Oberhansley forwarded ths latest requests for certain "temporary
buildings" and a b%ll park, recommending approval, »Merriam,
Director of RegiodfFour, wrote Director Wirth of December 16
noting that the approval for occupancy was covefed in the
July 9, 1947 amendment to the original permit and then went
on to say: "While it has been our hope consistently that the
Military Camp, as such, could and wculd be ultimately
eliminated, there appears to be no other course we can take
at this time than to go along with the Army occupancy of this

site until August 31, 1956, as herein requested."#

% Iile: 609-01, December 16, 1952, Merriam to Director, NFS,
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Director Wirth replied early in 1953 saylagz that the
NPS ned hoped for a final solution just before the Korean
acticn developed, but cue to the preseat proolem, they would
not ask the military to discontinue use of the areas mentioned,
In March, Assistant Director Thomas J. Allen {who had once
been superintendent of HNP) recommended the NFS lebt the
problex lie for the time being, "IL the Departmeat of the
Army requests an extension of the over-all permit for Kilauea
Milite-y Camp in 1956, the situation will have to be reviewed
for cetailed agreement in accordance with the conditions
preveiling at that time,"st The criginal permit was amendeqd
to accommodate these new requests on April 16, 1953,

As usual when pressure mcunted bvetween the Park Service
and the military, tension at the Park itself produced some
petty rroblems, The number of FPark perscnnel who could have
PX acd medical aid privileges expanded and coantreacted in direct
correlation to the state of affairs in Washington, Personalities
also plsyed a part. in September 1952, the precise form" of
medical ald available to Fark Personnel was carefully and
coldly detailed bjxtbe KMC medical officer, the day after he
hed been denied permission to hunt goats in the Park,:+ (He
may kave had a case; although technically illegal to hunt in
the Fark, consistent rumor suggests that hunting the unwanted,
exotic and rapidly increesing goat was a past-time availlable
to the favored.) |

The Army, of course, did request an extensicn cf the

permit due to expire in 1956. On December 22, 1955, Colonel

D ]

¥  File: 609-01, March 19, 1953, Asst Director Allen to
Director, Region Four,

#e File: 609-~01, September 10, 1952, Dr. Mosek, KMC to
Supt, HAVO,
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Harris, Commanding Officer at KiC, wrote to the Commanding
Ofricer at HUSARPAC., He pointed out the coming expiration
date and reported, "Mr. Wosky, Superintendent of Hawall
National Park, would like to see the present arrangement
renewed to be effective immediately upon expiration of the
present agreement,"# KMC was then asked to take/gggggsary

to renewing the agreement, and to prepare a drsft letter for
the Secretary of War to send to the Secretary of the Interior
on the matter, In the meantime, Headquarters, by command of
Lt; General Clarke, would initiate action to "transfer to

the Department of the Army the land comprising the Kilauea
Military Reservation now under Department of Interior permit,"s
If this didn't succeed, action would be taken to renew the
permit,

The program for transfer of the area never came to pass
and so action was initiated on a renewal of the permit, On
April 25, 1956 Reglonal Director Merriam wroge Superintendent
Wosky that the Army had requested a new 20-year permit and
would Wosky please comment. Wosky replied on April 30 that
the camp was proviéing recreation and conservation education
to many of the military. The demand was so greabt that guests
were limited to a one week stay. Relations with the Park were
good, In view of the type of serviece being provided, "Ve
recemmend that the present permit be extended for a period
of 10 years from September 1, 1956, "t

This recommendation went to the Regional Director, who

et

2 b;fbxlde: 609-01. December 22, 1955. CO, KNC to CO, HUSARPAC,
353t id.
#R% FPile: A-7019, April %0, 1956. VWosky to Dir, Region Four.
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passed it with his concurrence to Director Wirth. The
Director-sought out Chester R. Davis, Assistant Secretary of
the Army for a general review of the agreement so as to
incorrcrate in the new cne any changes that were appropriate.
Director Wirth also asked for information on the desirabllity
of a tza year agreement as opposed to the 20-year one the
Army requested. There is no mention of refusing a new permld
outright, Merriam clted the U.S. Ccde and a Solicitor's
Opinicz dealing with thé leasing of a camp in Shenandogh
Nétional Park to the Boy Scouts of America as providing legal
precedent for renewing the KMC permit,

Wosky thén prepared a Special Use Permit for 20 years,
whicn Merriam reviewed and passed on to the Director on
July 10, He noted that the Army nad rejected the 1947
agreement because of the revocavle clause and recommended
that it not be included now. "We recommend," lerriam wrote,
"the issuance of the permit and see no real 6bjection to
granting the 20-year authorization requested by the Arnmy
but in many reSpecpe we would prefer a ten-year permit."
Wosky, according é; Merriam, had recommended & 1l0-year
agreement because "he thought the Service would prefer a
shorter period, s« .

By August 15, 1956 an agreement replacing the previous
prermit #1l-3-5 had been sizned by 21l., It included the
followlng points: K#MC to comply with Park regulations;
to cenform to Park approval of architecture and landscaping;

to ccoperate and render assistance as needed; to extend to

Ve

% File: A-7019. July 10, 1956, Merriam to Dir, NPS.
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permanent Department on the Interior personnel employed
within the Park medical aid, except fqr chronlc conditions,
and privileges of the PX, recreation areas and so on;j
violators to be turned over to the Commanding Officer if
they are military persoanel assigned to KMC; and the NFS
to maintain the Golf Course Road,i*

In October 1956, the military asked that the clause on
medical aid be clarified toc make if clearly dispensary-type
service only. Wosky reccmmended the change be approved and
by‘December 1956 a final draft of the new agreement had been
signed and filed. KMC would remsin within Hawali Natiocnal
Park for another 20 years,

Relations between KIC and the Park continued generzally
pleasant with the Park superintendent and KMC commanding
oftficer exchanging compliments whenever one of them was
traasferred away from Kilauvea., The volcanic eruption of
1959 required clarification of the "cocperation" clause,
The KMC commanding officer pointed out thaﬁ the Army could
not be used to enforce state or federal laws and so his men

could not be used in directing the heavy traffic. Also, KMC

was on an "austere" budget and so assistance would have to

be limited to the first day or two, until other measures could
be worked out,s=¢

The Mamalahoa by-pass road alignment required some land
from the reer of the KiC leased area next to the pali, and
an exchange was arranged waereby a piece [0 feet beyond the

%  Mile: A-T7019,
#% File: A-T7019, Decenmber 1lu, 1959,
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mid-stripe was taken for the road and KilC received in return
scme cew land to the east, giving Xl 5L.6 acres more or less
instesd of the previous 52.7 acres, (The original Bishop
Estate lease had been for u9 acres more or less,) This
agreermznt had been signed by all parties by Avgust 22, 1960
and became part of the 1956 Permit file,

Tme next year the Army Real Estate officer wrote the
Director of the NPS on Army neseds in the area: they expected
to use the camp througnw196u and wished to have their views
tfansmitted to the Bureszsu of Budget,

I 196l, however, KHC came under fire from Comptroller
General Joseph Crawford who reported to Congress that the
facility cost some $350,000 per year over receipis of
$250,000, and recommended that the Department of Defense
make it self-sufficient or clese it down. Fees were low,
transportation for cars and people between Honolulu and KwMC
was free, only 8% of military personnel anc dependents used
it at a mere L0% capacity. The need for this costly facility
was questioned in yiew of the numerous recreational facilities
that were availabie. The local newspapers carried the story
and so did one in Columbus, Chio, which felbt it was expensive
and unnecessarily fancy. They added that the Deﬁartment of
Defecse did not subsidize this sort of low~cost recreation
for rilitery families in places less drab than Hawali, and
they came to tne same comclusion: make it self-sufficient
or ciocse it, The Department of Defense countered that
closing would have an undesirable eflfect on morale. They

had ro plans on how to lower costs beyond cutting staff and
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raising food rates. The largest expense was the free trans-
portation via LST, Despite a suggestion to tura the wnole
thing over to the Park Service in lieu of closing it, KMC
remained open under military operation, but without the free
transportation,

The austerity aspects appeared elsewhere, In 1962 it
was debermined thab KMC could no longer provide school bus
service to tine neareét intermediste school 15 miles away to
Park children as well as to KMC children. The same year
the Park arranged to use the chapel building for a Suanday
school for Park people when KMC discontinued Sunday services.
This problem was under study by KMC in 1963, at which time
the Sunday School enrollment of 56 persons was broken down
as follows: 29 Miles - 26; Park - 18; KMC - 12, Other
important things like who could play bingo, or go to the
movies, or use the Post Exchange at Ki¥C were also clarified --
generally, all HNP and USGS persoanel and fa@glies residing
in the Park were eligible for KMC privileges., As of the late
1960t's, the three gederal agencies had developed a successful
trolka administraﬁion of the Xilauea Park area, even to
providing, cne each, a gift-bearing king for the annual

Christmas pageant,

Other Military Use o Kilauea

One military facillity encouraged by Superiatendent Boles
for the development of the Park was a landing field. He felt
such a field could be used by the Air Service in preparing

arial photographs, especially for use with the proposed Mauaa
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Loa rcad, as well as for general military use. The U.3.

Army, Eaﬁaiian Departmeat, nhad requested a landing field,
prelerably in the Uwekeahuna area, ol about 1,00 by 200 yards,

and on February ly, 1925 Director Mather radicd permission

for & zemporary alrplane landiang field per Boles'! recommendation.

Tzs landing field thus grznted aspproval was to replace
one destroyed by bombardment during the May 192l eruption.

The cld one was on a sandbar of volcanic ash close © Halemaumau;
the new one was to be Q&tside Kilauea crater about one halfl
mile NorthEast of Uwekahuna toward XiiC, close to the belt road,
The supervision of the field was under Park jurisdicticn, bub
it wes available for use by any visitor.:

This field (location uncertain) was used for the next
fifteen years for various searciies and for volcano watching
atop Meuna Loa, apparently with no questions being raised by
any federal agency.

As part of a war preparedness program, in October 1940,
the Army surveyed possible sites for airfields at Keauhou
koa mill, Puhimau crater, Peter Lee corral area at Ohiakia
and other locatioﬁé between Glenwood and Yountain View, The
Keauhou site, although the most desirable, was rejected as
too costly to develop.

The following year, increased use of the army field

within /sic/ Kilauea crater triggered a memo from the Fark

to the CAA on the stebility and safety of the field, The
Army apparently felt it was dangerous and suggesfted obliteration,

It wes impossible to enlarge, due to the terrain, and was of

% See: un-marked file titled "Landing fields."
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doubtful use even for emergencies, being only 1600 feet long
by 300 feet wide, unmarked, and with a rolling surface of
volcanic ash. The CAA replied thnat the field was safe for
class one land planes in emergency, but military craft would
have trouble, As there were few saitable emergency fields
in the islands, they recomnended it be retained,
_ This field was plowed up by military order shortly after
the start of World War II, then re-levelled by the Army in
December 19)i3 to allow small planes to observe military firing
in. the "Kau Desert Impact and Training Area." Superintendent
Wingate noted tanls was the same site as the earlier field, on
the sanébar SouthEast of Halemesumau, about 1/i mile long, and .
he had authorized the leveling on the grounds the area had
been used for a landing field earlier, and the NPS would destroy .
it again on the termination of hostilities.*

| The guestion of the lénding field came up after Lhe war
and oa August 2, 1945, Director Drury‘indicatgd it was still
NPS policy to exclude planes frcm parks, although the rising
post-war experimentation with aircréft might require modification
of the position. A CAA survey in 1946 agreed there was no
need for a field in the Park, The no-landing-fields policy
was.re—inforced by subsequent legislation and in 1950 even
the Civil Air Patrol was denied a Kau road site for a landing
fleld they proposed to furnish and maintain, out of-viéw of
all roads and with minimal alteration to the environmeant. The

matter of aircraft over the Park remains a minor problem.

P e

% File: 601-0k4.1
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Bombinz Range:

iz ?iew of the present European situation, Congress will
pass Yanything that seems to have military significance..,.
without any consideration of the consequences., With all the
terriflc destruction going on in the world tcday, the still
small volce of conservation is going to have a more and more
difficult time making itself heard." So wrcte Richard W,
Westwoed, managing editor of Nature magazine., The date was
1950, =nd the occasion was the introducticn of & bill to
reﬁove from HNP 9 square miles of Kau coastline rof an Army
bombing range.

Lete in 1938, the Army Air Corps decided it needed a
bombing range and after reviewing all possible areas in the
Territory of Hawali, they decided that a 1ocation-on the Kau
ccast of the HNP was the only suitable site, The Park site,
they insisted, met all their needs; the Park site,‘nowever,
had been set aside by Act of Congress to pres;rve its natural
features un-impaired for public use, Utilizatbtion of the Park
area for this intended military use would necessitate its with-
drawal from publicﬂuse as the two uses were in conflict,
Military use, furthermore, was in conflict with the Act of
1916 which established the Park. Such Army use, and the
necessary withdrawal of 1and‘from tne Park, would establish
a precedent difficult to conbtrol and dangerous to the whole
park system,

Superintendent Wingate, meeting with tne militsry in
Novemdher 1938, indicated he would not object to an application ‘

from the Army for use of the area for a specified time, with 1
|
\
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no permanent structures, and after every effort had been
made to locate a suitable range outside the Park. The Army,
however, had already selected the site they wanted and
applied for use of 9 sguare miles of Kau seacoast the following
April. In response to a wire from Demaray, Wingate reported
his November 1938 meeting with the military, and indicated
the Army had not looked for other areas -- such as the un-
inhsbited desert sité at Manuka which was available, Purther-
more, they nhad talked of seven square miles, not the nine they
were now requesting. He recommended that no more thaa six
miles bé made available, after the Arm& had expléiued what
other sites they had investiagted and why those were unavail-~
able, and he urged'that any withdrawal not be effected until
the Territory had taken the necessary action toward transferring
the Kalapana extension lands to the Park;%

The Army persisted and on May 26, the Secretary of the
Interior wrote the Secretary of War that, ﬁif‘you say" this
is the only suitable site, Interior would make no administrative
objections, This use of the area, however, per provisions of
the Act of 1916, wsuld reguire tnat it be "eliminated" from
HNP by legislation., The War Department felt they had the
necessary legislative support and the necessary bill weas
introduced by Senator Sheppard in spring 1940 for the larger
area of 9 square mlles /6150 acres/ plus a number of Park
foads and trails and the scenic Hilina Peli cliffs, to be
known as the Na Puu o Na Elemakule Range,

The bill set off a flurry cof protests from the Audubon

¥ File: 601-04. April 19, 1939.
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Societies, the Isaak Waltcn League and a number of other
conservation minded groups and individuals whose complaints
were muach the same as Wingate's: the area had heen set aside
in perzetulty aznd this withdrawal set & dangerous precedent,
The ¥iZl was eventually amended to the smaller area cf 3052
acres, and General Herron, Commanding Officer of the Hawaiian
Departzent, agreed to the inclusion of the same terms as
founc Za other U.S. agrgements, ie, that with nocn-use or
abgnéo:ment the area would revert to its previous owner. The
withdrawal was effected in summer 1940.

On’ December li, 1940 Wingate notified the Director of NPS
of trhe sites the Army proposed to use on Mauna Loa and at
Haleekala [see Haleakala sectiog/ and in September 1oL,
received additional complaints from conservabtlcn mianded
cltizens protesting a bombing range in the Park, especially
as rumor had it the Army had since acquired lands for an
additlonal range near Scuth Foint.

The Army Air Corps had its necessary bombing range in
mid-194,0; World War II began in December 1941, nearly 18
months later; in 19A3 the Navy used the bombing range
briefly., The Army did not use it at all during the entire
10 year period it was withdrawn from the Pzrk. In fact,
little is heard of the bombing range until March 25, 1945

whea a plane strafed the area around Apua point and slightly

injured two fishermen., Protests to the Army brought disclaimers

that they had anything to do with it, that it must have been
Navy planes. Col, Muller also sent a brisk memo to Navy

officials to the effect that they were to “eliminate this

~
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nazaré," 1n December 1945, tne isrmy formally relinguished
an arez of two acres at Apua poiant, but even then did not
mention the Elemzkule bombing range.

Tne following spring, Acting Superintendent Baldwin
wrote o ask if it wasn't about time to re-open the Kau
guestizn. Before retiring, Superintendent Wingate had
indicated he felt there was no need for coazgressional action
as Ccnzress had left the rrecise area of tioe withdrawal to
ve decided between the Inberior and War Departments. Beldwin
noted the area had never been used by tihe Army and if they
were giving it up, it should go to the NFPS, not ﬁo the Navy.
The arsa was a goat patrol problem -- access for goat drives
had been refused and when they were allowed in, they were
fired on.* Secretary of the laterior Krug agreed and on
April 23 invited the Secretary of War to join 1n sponsoring
legislation for its returan. War, however, wanted a study
of this joint legislation and the mabter faded from view
uetil April 1948, when the Army reported it could foresee
no use for the area and would not object to legislation
puthorizing its return to the NPS, Tolson had, in June 1947,
asked for a list of war use permits scheduled to expire six
mentns after duration /Herch 1946/ which showed the two
Halezkala sites, KINC, and the Kau Bombing Range still in
military hands.

On September 30, 1948 the area was again used for bombing,
with no prior warning. A request to the Air Force for an

explenation brought a svrprised reply from the Lrmy Alir
¥ File: 601-0h.
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Cémmanding Officer at Hickem who agein disclaimed responsibility

but reported the Nevy had posted & newspeper notice of possible

use, Genoral Travis follcwed this with a memoc deted October

5, 1948 saying that there would be no more bombing thers under

eny circumstances as there were other sdequate ranges 6lsc-

where, He promised advance notificetion should an "unsettled

situation™ require use of the area,

The Army was ocut but the Navy wanted in, The NPS staff

urged immediate legislation to return it to the NPS, if

necessary asking the Army Air Force to szponsor it. Such a

bill was proposed for introduction to the 813t Congress but

e&pperently nothing ceme of i1t. The Army undertook to clear

and restores Park areas of unezploded’projectiles -~ 1t is

not kaown if they also cleared the bombing range -- and

finally in May 1950, the Secretary of Wer and Secretary of

the Interior agreed on reveking the order of withdrawal, This

/

was dated June U, 1950. There wes a questicn of the need to
actually repeal the Act of 1940, which matter was presumably
resolved 1in the codification of permanent laws of the NPS

then under review,

Keu Desert Impact and Training Area

Although the Elemakule Bombing Range received light use,
the Park did not escape unscathed, Immédiately efter »
December 7, 1941 the 27th division under Genersl Relph McT,
Pennell moved into the Park end took over several buildings
and other facilities. Although on their departure in Cctober

1942, several small tools had disappeared, scme expensive



*

glassware had been broken, and a tractor-grader had been
damaged (repaired eventually by the Army Engineers), their
commanding officer had cooperated fully 1in protecting the
Park. Shortly after their deperture, a "botherscme problem"
arose through use of the Park by variocus Army units for
motorized end infantry msneuvers and firing practice without
referonce to the Park administraticn. Wingate's Report to
the Director for the.fiscal year 1943 is a masiorpiece of
understatement in reporting this invasion., This use, he
reported, was dolng extensive damage to the forests and
desert terrazin and was observed carefully for some time
before the matter was taken up with tne‘new commander, The
best that could be gotten from these negotiations was his
approval of a tentative sgreement to confine the Army activity
to a specified area znd on certain daya each week and the
assurance that as rapidly as possible;this use would be
lessoned and if possible discontinued, Tnouéh this teatative
egreement could not be approved by the NPS it was reasonebly
adhered to locally, although it had been necessary to call
the General's atténtion‘to violatlons of the agreement that
he had puﬁ in the form of an order to perscanel undér his
command, The assignment of a renge officer at KMC to coatrol

Army sctivity helped, but the roads were still deteriorating

»badly, minimum restoration costs of demaged areas wes already

over $50,000 and some sections could never be restored, So
leng, wrote Wingate, as Martial‘Law'remains in effect no
further alleviation can be expected, except possibly through

a change in local commenders, since the Army has authority
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under this law to do whatever 1t deems necessery to promcte

the progress of the war,

Regional Director Tomlinson had'long since sent Wingétéfs.ﬁ

rerorts on to the Director, with the notation that Army use
of the area was a mere convenience, but not & necessity, and
the Seerectary of Wer could, if he wanted, issue blanket

ipnetructions in respect to Perk ereas, At the very least,

treining in the Park should be limited to Territoriel defense |

needs, The Martial Law.zspect, however, made it futile to
forbid frmy use and even with the tentative agreement, Wingate
had en uphill fight to preserve Parlt velues, He was in
regular’correspoadence with Generel Gibscon, Commending Officer
of the Hewasiian Deperiment, on many vioclations of ths agree-
rent in respect to: the area to be used (expanded st will
beyondvthc original'agreement); the degree of demepgs (Gibson
felt it was minimal, but in April Wingate was protesting
wilfull demege with restorstion coste/Sver $100,000 in an
erea set aside and dediceted "by Congress as a public pafk
and pleesure ground for ell pecple“j; and unnecessary

hezerds and'.harassment (trip wires'acrOSS'pgtrgl end public
treils with no waraing of their installation; 'permission
toAclear the roeds of boulders in ppeparét;én of en eruptlon,

which included explicilt instructions that each boulder was

~to be placed jusﬁ off the ¢dge of the road clear of the

shoulder "to & positien directly opposite the one it now
cccupies.") He also askedvthat.the entire operation be
moved to availeble private leand,

The protests eventuelly reached the Departmental level
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and on January 30, 19l Interior Secretary Fortas wrote the
War Dspartment that thoere was no debate on the use of the
Kau Reservation (bombing range), but there was a definite
protest on the use of unauthorized aress in the Park referrod
te informally as the Kau Desert Impact and Trsining Area,
Speclfically, Interlor wanted the Army to withdraw from the
latber area, On November 27, 194y Secretary Fortas tried
again, pointing out that for two years, with no pernmit, the -
Army had bsen using the Kau area of HNP with resulting hesavy
daﬁageo Martlial Law had been terminated in the Territory on
October 2L, 194} and there was no longer a need to train men,
even for Territorial defenss, in a Natlonzl Park., Ha again
asked the Secretary of War to inatruct the Army to withdraw
from the area and restore 1t to its original condition,

In January 1945, they finally discontinued thelr un-
autnorized usze of ths Kau Dasert aresa for training purposes
and maneuvers, invelving both heavy and light‘weapons, although
they retalned warning signs for months after that,

In April, Wingaté wWad stlll having to explaln, this tims
to a Major Bryan, fhat "at no time was permission requas@ed
to make use of paﬁk land fcr'tnese activities and none was
ever gilven since this office and the Park Serﬁics iz without
authority under law to grant pe:mission for activities of
this natura.'s# At Aruny request, an estimate was made of the
amount of work necessary to clean up the ares, obliterats
scars and do such restoration work as was still poasibles.

Damsge 1in many places was so grave as to be impossible of

e ——————

% Flle: 601, April 7, 1945.
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repair, koa groves had been blested, nene nesting sites werse
gone, the intensive use of the desert hed thoroughly broken
the crust of the desert ash, and the aesthetic values of the
erea had been largely destroyed for years to come, as well
as its values for studies of plant invasions and successions.¥
In December 1945, the Army finally relinquished one acre
at the end of the Chain of Craters road; in April 1946, they
ressored some of the demage doane cutside of the Kau erea; end
in the spring of 19L9, Army Engineers proposed clearing onaly
trails and & buffer zone ercund trails and aubto areas and
lesving.the other sareas "unseerched." This was rejected as
inedeguete end between June and Fevember, EKileuea and mest
of the Kau secticns were cleared of unexplcded shells by &
Schofield Army Ordinence team. The Superintendeant's Hepért

for Jenuary 1955, noted duds were still being found in the

Ksu desert, There is no menticn of pestoration,! and

several ercas still show this demege 25'year§ later,

Pest war useixt

In Aﬁgust 1935;A8uperintendent Wosky wrote the Reglonal
Director of the latest cese of an agency”which at first felf
it must carry on a project within an aresa, finding it could
get along just es well elsewhere, A U.S., Air Force Major
Ceplan from Wﬁeeler Air Force Base called and "beldly"
spnounced that bthe Alr Force had decided %o construct a
reder stetlon et Uwekehuna adjecent to the Observatory, and

aslred for a permlt covering several ecrss of ground, This

S ——

% Superintendent's Repcrt to the Director for fiscal year 1945.
% Flle: L=30.



was apparently the same offlcser to whom the NPS had addressed
a recent letter on military use of Red Hill at Halaeakala,
Superintendent Wosky reportedvlittle succoss in explainlng

the NPS position, as "defense' was all-important, but mentioned

Secrstary Lewls' "strongly worded" letter of August 8 to the

Secretary of the Air Force, relative to the preposed Alr Force
installation at Red Hill, The Alr Force, reported Wosky, then
declded i1t was at least willing to look for a site outside the
Park, psrhaps near Kulani.®

The nexi requsst was the Navy expsriment in the area
between Malna Loa and Hauna Kea which was 'in the-wofké from
JuIy‘1956 to July 1957. They plannsd to uss ths Weather
Bureau station at 11,000 fest, and Suporintendent Wosky
suggested they get Washington cleérance for these "classified"
experiments, As 1t turaned out, all areas nosded by the Navy
ware outside the Park,

In March 1957, the Navy made an overture for scme
50,000 acres of Park land in Xau for a Jet bombing range.
They were diacouraged, »

In May 1961, overtures were made in bshalf of the Missile
Tracking statlion to be operated by the University of Hawéii

and the Smithsonlian Institutlon, planned for Haleakala, They

opnoacsd the radar installation proposed for the top of Haleakéla

by Hawaii Aiyr Natlonal Guard (HANG) and wondsred if perhaps
the HANG facillity might be installed atop lMauna Losa, Super-
intendent Johnaton indicated the NPS had the same objactioas

to Mauna Loa as to Haleskala for tracking stations and othepr

% File: L-30. August 22, 1955. Wosky to Act.Reg. Dir. Maier,
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auch developments, The matter was dropped.

Tb.en. in September 1961, the Alr Force was back at KMC
with a project for the KMC ballpark area, The previous April
17, trne Alr Force, through the Commanding Officer st KMC,
asked to use ths ballpark for'soms kind of radieo station.

The FPark was'assﬁred this would sat no precedent, and if the

station proved zatiasfactory, it would be removed to ths Shipman

- put up a 2-acre spider web, It was all removed by May 31,

Then on Sspbtember 13, an officer appeared who said bthat every-
thing hdd been worked out in VWashington and they wanted the
KMC balléark again for "emergency tests." Superintendent
Johnston called Tolscn and found the NPS was indesd committed
to a spsclal use permlt for one year begianing Ssptember 15,
The Shipman Ranch station was not to be ready bsfors March}
ths altéraata CCC site was nobt usable as there was no power,
They remained &b the conspicuous ballpark sité until-November
6, when the Air Force called to 3ay the projsct was complets
oxcept for‘hauliag’away supplies, and they were cancelling

the rest of the permit, with thanks,
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A NATIONAL PARK

The idea had been driftlng about for some time when,
in 1903, Willlam R. Castls wrote in the Volcano House Guest
Book: "The time has come when the U,S3, Government might well
reserve the whols reglon from Mokuawsowso to the sea in Puna,”
Three years later a vialting lady Journalist, Mprs.Edith i |

Tozler Weathared, was even mors specific, She felt the volcano

ahould be & Natlonal Park, The Honolulu Advertissesr editorialized

1n favor of the 1dea and the Hilo Tribune did the sams. They
both noéed that the Park idea was popular wlth tha raan in the
straet.and with businessmen and thesy suggestsd that interssted
Hawalilans should push for at least a Ceagregsional investigating
committee., A Tribune editorial on March 20, 1906, after
romarkling that the ldea was a natural one, went on to say:

"It is eminently proper and in lins wlbth natiocnal policy tnét
the volecano and 1lts environs should be in the kseepling, and

undsr the care of the federal goverﬁment, for the benefit of -3_,
the people and in ofde: that 1its surroundings may be both
protected and Improved,"

Lorrin Thruston led tha fight for a Nationsl Park of
Hawaii's veolcanoes., He had lived on Maul and served as &
guldo at Haleakala, He found Kllauea so fascinating he
undertook the oparation of the Volcano House for thirtsen
yéars. The Hawaiian Revolution of 1893 found this misslonary

grandaocn a leadoer in the group working for the short-lived

- Republic of Hawali, and with Sanford B. Dole he co-authored
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its constitution, In 1900 Thurston became the publisher of

the Pacific Commerclal Advertiser, and from its pages kept

the Park proposal alive,

The Thurston Lava Tube, one of the popular abtractions
of the Park, 1s named for bim, ZFormed by lava cooling over
molten material flowing below, such tubes are quite common
around Kilauea, ruaning for miles with skylight cpenings

where the tunnel roofs have caved in, Some of Thurston's -

- relatives had a homs near Kilauea, back of which was such

an‘opening into an unexplored channel, and one day Thurston,
a neice of his, and the ever-curious Jaggar undertook to

follow the tunnel to its outlet., They ended up ebove a

" black hole in the 8ide of a small crater only yards from

Kilauea iki, Jaggar christened it "Thurston's Cavern," and

' today it is known as Thurston's Lava Tube., The tube runs

for some distance down ths flank of Xilauea volecano, but
only the first few hundred yards of 1t are opén to the.
public. | | ' ’

- In 1907 ths Hawall Territorial leglslaturs approved a
spscial apprepriatiQn to bring 50 Congressman snd their wives
to Hawall to see the propssed Park ares at first hand. Thay
visited Halsskala and Kilauea and were served a complete
dinosxr whilch had besn cooked over hot lava vents ali the side
of Halemaumau, Sacretary of tae Interlor James A, Garfield
was converted to the idea during a visit in 1908, Another
Congrsaslonal party toured and was won ovar the following
yoar, Thurston had accompanied them all,

Ths Park plan also had the support of Territorial
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Governor Walter F. Frear. DBeginning in 1910 he annually
recommended to the Secretary of the Interlor the desirability
of appropriate leglslation. In 1911 Frear sont to Washingbton
the draft of a bill for & "Kilausa National Park.," Thurston
urged Frear toe seek from the Hawall Legislaturs a resolution
supporting the Park, It was readily obtained and made the
dupport almost unanimous., Ths opponents wsre C, Breswer and
Company and the Bishoé Estate, both of whom owned cattle land
Thuraton hoped to include in the new Park, Thursbton countered

thelr protests with a front page Advertiser article headlined:

"lational Park Bill is ia Danger., Land Wanted as Pasture for
Steosrs." Thls was followed by a series of endorsements of
the Pari proposal from such psrsons as Théodore Roosevelt,
John Muin and Henry Cabot Ledgs. The 1911 bill in the form
praseonted to Congress ran into a snag over boundaries and

the proposal was tabled..

In 1912 Thurston was jolned by Dr. Jaggar, lately hired
as director of the Hawaiian Volcano Observatory, and egually |
a3 enthusiastic as ?hurston about making Kilauea a Nablonal
Park, Jaggar wantéd to include Hualalal, most of Mauna Loa,
and the summlt of Haleakala as well as Kilausa. Jaggar was
also urglng the establishment by Coagress of a "Bureau" to
administer the Natlonal Parks, at the tims rather loosely
eperated by the Dopartment of the Interior. No newcomer to
Hational Parks, he had helpsd %o survey Yellowstone,:the firas
Hatlonal Park and the Devil's Tower which bscams bthe firat
Hational Moawusnt.

Luciua Pinkham, the nexit Territorial Governor, continued
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to push for the Park in his reports to the Seeretary of the
Intorior and in 191l the entire project moved forward when
Stephen Mather acceptsd Interior Secretary Lane's to-tha-
point invitation: "If you don't like the way the national
parks are belng run, comes on down bto Washington and run
them yourself," Within months, Mather had the natioa National
Parks concious, and Congressmen were again junketing to Kilausa.
Thurston and Jaggar toured with them all, gaining support for
a Kilausa National Park;”and also for the proposal to tura
over to ths federal goverament the Hawail Volcano Obseﬁ}atory.
The financlal arrangemsnts with the Whitney Fund at MIT were
soon to expire., Late in 1915 Jazgar wes sent to Washington
as spokesman for bobth the Park and the Observatory proposals,
On January 20, 1916 Hawali's Dalegabe to Congress, Jonah
Kuhlo, inbtroduced the fourth and final Hawaii_National Park
billl which had baen carefully drafted by Jaggar, Lans and
Matnar, Committee hearings were enthusiastic; and on April
17 the House approved the bill, Ths Ssnats followed suib
and on August 1,‘19;6, President VWilson signad the.bill into
law, Hawail Natioéal Park was thes twelth National Park to
bs established, and the first establishaed after the creation
of the nsw Hatlonal Park Sarvice thé nonth before,
The five year lapse bebween establishment and dedication
of Hawall National Park was caused by a restrictive feaburs
of the enabling legislation which required that the Park bs
"roasonably accessible in all of 1ts parta" befora public
funds could be appropriated for maintainance and dévelopmento

The bill also provided that no public funds could be spant
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on land acquisition, Territorial Land Commissioner, B. G.
Rivenburgh, had immsdlately begun the necessary'land
acquisitions while serving as National Park Represantative

in Hawall, By 1922 the Park was "accessible" and Albert O,
Burkland, an engineer wlth the U, S. Gsological Service, was
appointed Acting Superintendent, With the first appropriation |
of $10,000 for fiscal 1922, he officially began bthe dsvelopment
of the Park by repairing the Crater road.

Tas Park was not totally devoid of facilities. A new
driveway around Kilauea iki" had been conatructsd a decade
earlier; providing access from the Volcano Houss to the
Halemaumau end of the crater via the "Forn Forest.," A trall
had a2lso besn bullt along the preésnt Chaln of Craters road
a3 far as the Dsvil's Thréat, This work had besn dons by
prisoners camped at the 0ld Summer Camp, Tals site was used
by the Volecano Houss for ﬁhair Summay Camp and was coverad
by ash during tae 1959 Kilagea Ikl eruption, In 1915, other
prisoners based at Namakani palo -~ ths 0ld Prison Camp ww
had conatructed a Kau road to replace the Peter Lee trall
from Pahala, The prisoners had also reconstructsd an old
trall across the floor of Kllansa from thne Volcano Houss to
Halemauhau which came to be called the "World'ls Weirdsst Walk,"
Jaggar and Thurston also developed a tralil from Kilausa to
Mokuaweoweo atop Mauna Loa, This was bullt with ths assistance
of the 25th Infantry using funds collected from Hilo business

leaders and included a rest houss at Red Hill,
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GENERAL IMPROVEMENTS

Park Office and Hsadquarters

Boles arrived in early 1922 and set up an office some-

where. In May, hs purchased at auction a complete set of

Art Metal office furniture from a defunct Hilo bank, and in
January 1923, he obtalned a set of drawers for storing supplies,
and a glass front bookecass 10 feet long to use for storiag
"specimens™ uatil a real museum was avallable. His first
Annual Report of 1922 listed the most Pressing needs as an
Admlnisiration Bullding with at least one large room for a
Mussum (the HVRA had offered to donats their collectilon )y
and a residence for the Supsriniendent,

4n Office was the most important -- par diem allowsd
the Superintendent to live at the VHss -~ and by March 1923,
plans were approved for a2 $1500 bullding, As bids were too
high, Boles hired tbraé cr four local Japanasé carpventsrs,
bought lumber, supplies, and $50 worth of carpenter's tools,
ard bullt ths office himself.' York commenced May 28th Qith
Congresaman Raker f;om the Mt, Lsssen district of Califorpié
turning the first{ spadefull, Ccmpletsd in July for $1470,
1% contaiped an Information Room and Huseum 20 x 20 Leet,
an office 10 x 14 feet, and drafting room, 10 x 14 feat.' I
had a basement for storage with 7 feet of headroom, hot and
cold ruaning water in the lavatory, electricity, and a stoeam
hzating system désigned by the Suparinbendent which enabled
the office to be "kept at a uniform temperature through

controlled volcanic heat, Belng a Department of Interior



structure, 1t was quite proper that we should obtain the
heat from the Interior De?artment of the Earth," Congress-~
man Linthicum of Marylend turnsd the valve to‘send steam
through the heating plent., The approach to this office was
over a rustic brldge across a steaming earthquake crack,
The veolcanically heated office was worth no little in
publiclty value, although Cammerer reported there had been

some 111 fesling because a local contracior was not able to -

~make a large profit off the goverament when Boles build by

day labor an office which had besn bild in at twice the cost
finally expended,%

It was planned to comvert this structure into a Ranger
cobtage when a new Admihistration office could bz built,

In 1930 Landscape Architect Vint located a new site for
the Park hsadquarters north of the USGS building, which
allowed a view of the crater and traffic conbtrol., The
Superintendent'a Anpual Report of October 1931 noted an
appropriation of {8800 for a new Administration building,
completed by the’following Juﬁe.  The lower story had re-
inforced concrete fioors and walls, the oubside walls
covered with a venssr of lava stones, The upper story was
frame with rustic finish, a galvanized roof and ap astracitive
fireplace in the public room. The plans were those prepared
by Vint, but the building was located on s rise near the road
rather than at the Vint sits nearsr the crater rim and obsar-
vatory. The grade was ubtilized for & two-car garage under

one end, easily converted to clerical space when needed, thus

% Cammerer Report, 1926,
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elimipnating the necessity of building a wing. There was a
parking area ln front, which becams a pond during the rain,
and a proposed office parking space in back which required
the re-alignment of the auto trail to the rim. The building,
reported the Superintendent, was attractive, well arranged,
and would ssarve tne Park for many yaaré.

By 1937 even thls headquarters bulldiang was fully utilized
and Superintendent Wingate reported the need for more space.”
The bullding also needed extensive repairs. Due to constant
aeeping of steam through walls and floors, timbers had
decayed and it was necessary to tear up and replace the lobby
floor and outside walls,

In 19490 some $15,000 in CCC funds were available with

- wnlch to bulld s new Volcano Observabory and Naburalist

quarters on the site of the Volcano garage, bslcew the VHas

ca the main road, The CCC, who were alse to provide the labor,
had the cld gerage down and approximately 45% of the new
building completed by the end of June 1941, By June 30, 1942
it was finished excspt for scme interlor painting aﬁd linoleuﬁ;
The co3t was now reﬁorted as $£45,000 and the building itsslf
had actually been completed and promptly commandeeredbfof use
by the Army, to be returned to the Park in October 1942,
Nothing could be done during the war ysars -~ 3taff was cut

in half during the fiscal year 19113 alone, and Superintsndent
Wingabte wrote bitterly that this so-called economy would result
in a later expendlturs of over $1l00,000 for rozads alone which
might have been kept in repalr with at least an adequate ataff,

He was quite correct,
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Nine years after it was started, the Park administration
moved 1nto what had been the Naturalist and Observatory
building, still undergoing construction in 1949, A museum
was still lacking and Hul O Pele began a fund drive to add
a Mussum wing te the new bullding. This structure was builg
wlth over $11,000 donated by Hui O Pele and dedicated on
May 23, 1953 as the Jaggar Memorial Museum. The entire

bullding was re~roofed in 1962 and the next year the auditorium

~was enlarged and the complete building refinished toc mateh the

addition. Other additions for visitors comfort in gstting

from the parking area to the Museum and Auditorium have since

been bullg.

Eatrance Checking Station

In 1923 Suporintendent Boles was conslidering a chacking
station as one of several new structures nseded. A bthroe-room
cobbage purchased in May 1923 (with 192l sppropriations) was
roved inside the Park limlts Ynsar the entrance' and seb up
with added bunks for the road gang. Bolss hopad to use it
later as a Ranger c9ttage for the checking station., The

station ltselfl appeared as one of two recommendations in his

-

924 Fiscal Year Report,

In April 19390, a bid was recaived op materials and
supplies for ths erection of an entrance building, but due
to hsavy rains no work was started until the following month,
It was completed in June, Bullt of lava rock magsonry and
fronted by a lava flag-stone terrace, it was reportadly a

very attractive design,




According to Coffman, the checking station required
extensive repairs in 1937 for mildew and rot. Close land-
scaping had contributed to the}problem.

It is not clear where this structure was located or whab
became of 1% or of the laborer-Ranger cottage moved to the Park

in July 1923,

Staff OQuarters

Boles' second most pressing nsed was a resideace for ths
Superlntendent and cottages for all the permanent staff, In
Jénuary 1923, he got a small, 3-room cottage, 15 x 18 fest
from the old Crater Hotel site and moved it into the Park
about 150 feet from the new office site, This housed Ranger
Lancaster in two rooms and the third room becamse ths paint
shep., Another second-hand cottage was moved to the area back
of the main entrance to pro#ide bunks for day laborers working
on the belt road, When the road was finished, it could be
remedelsd for the Ranger manning the entrance cbecking station,
Otne” buildings wers purchased and dismantled for their lumbeh
and the equipment they contained. With this, Boles went ahead
with minor repalrs and construction using his own crews, -

Another Ranges >r cottage with tank and varer supply was
bullt in the Administration area in 1926, and a room wasg
added to the paint shop. The sams year, the Superintendent
finally had a residence of his own, built on the crater rim.
It had hot and cold water, elscirlcity from the VHse plant,
and a lava rock fireplace., The cornerstone was a boulder

hurled out during the explesive eruption in May 1924, and
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signs at the traills to the house welcomed visitors to enjoy
the view.

Superintendent Boles! second recommendation in his
Apnual Report for 192 was for living quarters for all
permanent emplcyees, Additional homes weore added slowly.

A residence sectilon for ths Park was clearly identified by
1927 and subssquent constructlon was pretty much cdnfined to

this area, In 1932 Landscape Architect Wosky reported the

. area had five permanent homes, five temporary ones, and a

temporary 5-car garage. The suggestlon for putting the "spaff
regidences" on the Hilo road on the Bishop Estate lesased land,
30 as to agsparate ths employess into classzes, was firmly
rejocted, Wosky also recommsnded that the USGS housing bs
located in the Park residence area as there was ﬁo reason

why two units of the same Department should havae separats
housing arsas,

Housing was always critically short., The Report for
Fiscal Year 19%8 msntioned five new employse cottages atb
Kilawsa and one at Haleakals, builb for the mosbt part with
CCC funds and 1abo§. Nevertheless, soms of the Kilaueg staff
ware 8511l boarding and living st the VHée. Five now employed
guarters were mentioned in the 1940 Fiscal Yeér Report. Than
nothing more 1s heard until after the war when ths rapild
development of the USGS Volcano Observatory necsssitated new
housing and an adjustment in staff housing policies., (Ses:
HVO secticn,)

A roof overhead was not enough, The residences had %o

bs heahed, ventilated and kept free of mold and rot in the
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cold and damp Kilauea climate., This is a problem not yot
satisfactorily handled. Boles used volcanic steam for

heating his office, and other struchbures have been located

over gteaming areas for the same purpose, Ths usual result

has bsen ths woodwork rotting away in the damp steam. Wood
stoves, kerossne stoves, oll burners and various forms of
centrel heating have all beeh tried in an effort at warming
and drying bhe Park buildings.

The drying problem was no less severe than the heating

one., To avoid wood robt, concrete slab floors were tried,

which reduced to zero the below-ground ventilation. They also

nozated the poaslbllity of a basemeat laundry-drying, play,

and storage arsa, another desirable feature in the damp climate,

In 1937 the year the Park hsadgquarters building had to
have major repailrs due to rot, Coffﬁan outlined the basic
problems and offered a solution, He felt that the weather
had not been properly considsred when designi;g local
buildings. They should have great areas of wveantllation,
not the tiny, infrgquant openings adequate for mainland
structurss, Due ts this, most Park buildings suffered from
dry rot and stesam damage in a very short time, Close land-
scapling did not help, either. Single wall construction, he
wrote, was adequate and taere was no nesd for heavy supports
for snow, There must be atbtlc ventilation as well as
basement. Treated wood might also help., Brush treatment at
the site was not effective, |

And his obvious solubion: "This writer concurs with
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local officers in the suggestion that it would be well worth
vhile for the architect wno usually prepared tihe plans and
specifications for the buildings et Haweil Natlonal Perk to
make a visit to the park in order to study personally on the

ground the loczl problems and needs in this respect.”

Roads and Trails

In the early days of travel to the voleano, it took fully
two deys to make the trip from any neerby port, and a vital
feature was the half-wafwhouse. If ons exrived at Hilo, the
path ran through dripping rain forest to a stop at the Mounbtain
View House, ﬁntil rather 1atevig the ceantury merely a native
dwelling remembered maliply for its fleas, Then there was
enotheyr fifteen or so miles through more damp forest, beyond
Oilskin Flets (now Glenwced) namsd for an old coat which some
teurist'béd left for anyone who might need its services, then
cn the-last few miles to the Volcano House.

' The other major route was from Punaluu, oa the southeast

coast, where Peter Lee kept a hotel, to Pahala on the "“train,®

~on to the Keu half-way house in a-edcalyptus groeve, then on

to the crater, This Kau road, built in 188l, was not much
better than the trail from Hilo,% T, G, Thrum, publisher of

the Heweiian Annual, wrote in 1886 of these last few miles

beyond the Keu stop: "This sectlon of bthe road is said to be

- gbout elevea or twelve milses, but to jog-trotters meandering

over and eround lava humps in two hours of drizzling rain, we

may be pardoned if we question the accuracy of the survey, for

————————rn

% Hawellen Gezetbte, March 12, 188L, p. 3 for details of the
Xroad, _
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it struck us as the longest twelve mile ride we had experienced.
But then, as lava fields have no very hizh market value per
square foot, I do not wonder a few feet are thrown in every
rod or bwo,Ms

For a time the Wilder Steesmship Company landed passengers
at the rebuilt port of Keauhou, from whence they were taken

up the bluff to a "station," then to the volcano in a small

cart, Kesuhou landing exists now orly as & few coconut trees,

end the "station" is part of Ainshou Rznch, The old Keathou
trail became & bridle path when & new road to the Ranch was
built from the Chain of Craters read,

In 1888, the Minister of the Interior reported to the
Legiclature a plan for a new roed.i* A Puna resldent, using
only a "traction engine" had pushed & road across the ga lava
"egqual to the best macedemized street in Honeclulu." It wes
proposed to builld such a’road from Hilo, feclliowing & coatiéucus
line of gz flows, all the way to the volcano~ét Kilauvea, thereby

ringing the two points within three hours commuanication of
each other. Tourist travel could be expected to lncrease,
fully repaying the cost of £$30,000, the proposed budgeb for
a 12 foot road with turncuts, :

Coastruction began in Merch 1889, Some ten miles were
completed the first yeer at a cost of neerly $40,000. The
work was done with.day laﬁorers and ﬁrisonérs; and it &oved
slowly due to financiel problems and inadequate flelad

engineering. One section with & 55 fool grade descent across

% Thrum's Hawaiisan Annval), 1886,
s AH, Report to the Legislative Assembly from the Mlnister of
Interior, Minister of Finance, 1888-1897,
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the hard-to-work pahoehoe lava was flpally abandoned, There
were dangerous holes alohgslide the road and an extra $1200
was needed to fill in these "man-traps." One stretch in the
Panaewa woods nseded a drain aand re-alignment as 1t collectad
six feet of water in heavy rains and "several animals have
beoen drownod in the attempt to pass this place.”

Ths new Hilo-Volcano road was finally completed in’
September 189L., Ian December 1892, the Bursau of Public Works
- had purchased the Peter Lss road from Punaluu and was alsoA
upgrading it for vehicular traffic,

Ths Hilo road was gradually improved and transportation

facilitles progressad from the sarly weary norsa, to a four

Iy
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stauge ia 189h, to an actual railrocad line as far as
Glenuood in 1901, The stags provided mors than mere trans-

vortation, according to ons lady writer. Oane left Hilo

o]

immediately after brealkfast, and if the rain ceased Lfor 2
moment, the peaks of Mauna Loa and Mauna Kea were in view,

The stage, a dilapldated vehlcls drawn by four gaunt horsss

in rather rusty harness and driven by a bashful, goadnatﬁred
Scotchman, distribu%ed people, luggage, newapapers, lebtters,
parcels and a “good-sized box of joints and steaks™ along the
WAy, bhe lattar hooked over a roadside crane or deposidtesd in

a box out of reach of hungry animals, The Hilo-Pahala sanpan
1s the lineal discondant of this old stage, parsulng a
meandering round trip once a day, as the oaly schzduled, public

transportation to the Volcano area,
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By 1922 when Superintendent Boles began on-the-scens
admninistration of the Park, the belt road ~- Mamalahoa
Highway ~- ran from Hilo through the Park to Pahala and on
to Honuapu landing in Kau., Within the Park proper, a side
road led from Pster Lee's Crabter Hotel over to the cauldera,
around Kilauea Ikl and on to the vicinity of the crater
overlook aﬁd parking lot, The "Crocket Trail" led down the
Chain of Craters, From the VHse, a trail crossed the )
canldera to Halemaumau; another skirted the crater rinm
around to Uwekahuna, A third route led the way to the koa
grove, tree molds and oa up to Bird Park and the start of
the lMauaa Loa trall. This last crossed privabte lands and was
something of a nulsance, Thare was no way to cilrele the
cauldsra, and golng from the overlook to Uwskahuna rsquired

baclktracking via the Vise.%

In-Parit Roadn

~

Boles devoted hils first "modest appropriation" to repalr .
of roads and trails, most of which had beeh neglected since
1916, The o0ld wagoa road from the VHse to Halemaumau aloag
Waldron's Ledge was widsned, olled and re~-opened for traffic,
Thrse view polnts along the way weré selecbed, clsared and
provided with "rustic" railings., The Crater Road was repaired
and a half-mile éddition built to a turn-around and parking
area for the greater accommodation of elderly visitors, A

mare 100 yards from the crater rim, this parking area was

3% For information of early road programs see Report of F,A,

Kittradge, Highway Engineesr, USBPR, to L.I. Hewes, Deputy
Chief Engineer, USBPR, November 1925. T2 pp., maps, photas,
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ebliterated in the explosive eruption of 192, and a new
parking lot had to be constructed in a safer place., The
roadway followed the line of the approaéh road desfroyed
by lava in 1918,

Boles also widenad the Mauna Loa trail, enough to allow
cars o drive to bthe edge of Bird Park, This project resulted
in private ranch gates baing left open even more freguently

than previously, and so a bypass road was run outside the "

fencs, to the koa groves- and Bird Park, The new roubte not

only solved the gate problem and kept the cars off the golf
course {where they wandered looking for lava molds), it also
gave the Park coatrol of the entire road. In his Repor: for
July 1523, Supsrintsndent Boles wrote that vislitors could now
g9 to any part of Hawali National-Park witheut having to cross
private lands, By late that year, he noted soms 1l miles of
gocd aubo road within the Park itselfl.

The HMay 1924, eruption dumped ash and pumice on roads,
but did no psrmsnent damage. It did; however, mark the sad
of continuous activity in Halemaumau and Boles began to
consider other atiractions., A Ychain crater road" is fipsk
mentionsd in April 1924 and his Annual Report for that year
pressed for development in this rift zcne area to open up
12 cratsrs and the area of lava actlivity in late 1923 which
céuld be resched by the Keauhou "roagh, actualiy a trail
accessibie to light autes., Boles went ahead with this new
road developmeat and had a right-of-way cleared to the second
cratver by the end of 1925. Unfortupatsly, construction was

delayed until land ownershlip matters could be setiled,
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(Cemmerer was shocked to discover two lots over which the
road was to pess were still in private haunds, although Boles
ned the entire srea grubbed, and urged Land Commissioner
Bailey to acquire them with speed!) The road hed popular
approvel and the county of Hawall indicated it would construct
a road from Kelapana to meet the Chain of Creters road as soon
a8 Park ccnstruction wes complete., The 0K to go ahead with
actual construction was not received>until HMexrch 19273 workv
hegan in April and proceeded repidly. The 7 mile new rosd
was opened to the public in April 1928. Appropristions for
Hewali ccunty to build a conaceting road frem Kalapané were
defeated in the 1927 Legielative sesslon -~ CGahu, paying 75
percent of the texes, wished to retein a larger share cf the
Improvement dollars,

The county road from Hilo to the Park end beycnd was
being improved with réinforcedrconcrete, mecedenm with an
oiled surféce, or asphalt in the very wet spots. In 1922,
of the 29 miles froﬁ Hilo to the Park bounéary, 11 were ‘
¢lready cencrete 18rfeet wide, and additional miles were
contracted out eacé year, Various cther sections of the
read were almost constantly under repsair by county work |

crews and the resulting detours wandered off into cane fields

or camp forests. The Park section of this around-the-island

road was edvertised in lete 1927 for a gravel-type censtructibn.

This grevel construction was cheaper but a continusl mein-
tainance problem and the spproach roeds frem both sides were
being built to & higher stendard. Protests, however, came to

naught, Work began in November and was completed in Juane 1928,
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The Superintendent's Report for October 1, 1928 listed
Park road construction to that date:
The Volcaro road, east of the Park, became an unbroken
concrete highway for its 30 miles from Hilo when the last
6-mile unit was completed and opanad for travel on Octobsr 22,
19273
Chalin of Craters road, begun April 11, 1927 uader a contract

for $1L8,000 was opened to travel on April 16, 1928, It

- strotched eastward for 7hmiles from the Crater road and made

accessibie more than 12 plt and cone craters on the Puaa rift;

Kau road, for a distance of 3.25 miles immediately west of

the Perl, uader contract for $45,Lh85, was given an asphals
/

macadam surfaclang, 10 feet wide, Done batwsen February and
July, thils completed a smooth hipghway from Hilo to Walohinu,
some 0 miles;

Ths Around-ths-island road, approximabtely L.24 nmiles
witain the Park, was begun lNovember 9 and comﬁleted on June 2,
1928, The reconstruction job was decas Yo modern standards,
Botwasn August 11 agd Septeamber 15, ths gravel sgsurface was
given an oil procaﬁs treatment for which a contract was let
for %9:9650

The Uwekahuna Observatory, bullt in 1927 with funds
raised by HVRA, wazs reached by a gravel auto-trall Zrom KMC,
The Museum~Observatory was developing as a btourist interast
and the next logical step was to continus ths road beyond
Uwskahuna to jolan the Crater road at the parking lot, thus
allowing a circult of the Kilauves csuldera., 1In 1931,

Suporintendernt Leavlit had a road graded betwsen Uwskahuna



and Halemaumau for the grand sum of $600, which shortened
ths distance by I miles and immediately became very popular
wlith visitors,

A complete rebullding of the 1l existing roads in the
Park had been recommended by Superintendent Allen in October
1929. Except for the roads constructed the year before, all
were obsolete and worn out., He also wanted all roads given
an oil process surface, Esrly in 1930, the Park began a
major road building program,

To bring the roads up to standard, Projects 1 and 2 wers
inltiated to improve sactions of the Crater rocad from Perk
headgnarters Ho Halemaumau, Thls work was dons in 1931-32,
The newly opened Uwekahuna-Halsmaumau road-trall needed up-
grading and, with additions, becams Projset L, Plans had besen
drawn in 1932 showing three sectlions: Halemaumau-Uwskshuna,
Uwakxehuna to belt road, and b2lt road to Bird Park turparound
and parking lot. The Halemaunau-Uwekehuna section followed
the line of Leavitt's 1931 auto trail and was counpletsd juss
in time for the Sep?ember 6, 193l eruption. Includéd Wwas a
parking lot designéé for 550 cars. The Uwekahuna-belf road
section presented two alternatives, Line B, the more sceale,
followed the old auto trail from Uwekahuna to KMC along the
crater rim, Line A, the one finally adoptod, angled to cross
the bzlt road between the old Prison camp and XKMC and thea
contianued across to the new Blrd Park turnaround, This last
section replaced ths kea grove-trse moldo-golf course road
to Bird Park., Work began in August 1933, and was basically

complets the following May. Ditching, walling, wideaning, and
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finally olling and layiog en asphalt surface contlnued to
1940, This work was done by local crews after the major
building had been done under contract to E.E, Black for a
sum in excess of $100,000.%

The addition of the Footprints escreage put some 4.9
&dditional miles of the belt highwey within the Park for
meinteinance and necessary rebuilding., In 19%3%, Job 3-B

cerpleted a new roed to the Keu boundsry using funds gaved

. from other projects, As en interesting aside, in 1GL7, =

C. Brewer aad’Company representative asked for the sgpecifi-
cations on thls sectica of the highwey. It had hsld up
excellently with a minimum of repair uader heavy truck traffic
end wes in the best condition of any in the Territery. They
wanted to duplicate it for some of ftheir planﬁation roegs,

The result of this enguiry is nobt known,i=s

Job 3-C covering the new Park pcriticn of the belt highwey

ecquired with the Footprints eddition moved less rapidly.

There were Quarrels‘over the stenderd %o be used if the road
was sceaic or if it was to be considered meainly for through
traffic; theéere waé hesitation over committing Park funds
until the county had 1ts portlon well under way; end there

was a lack of funds for Perk projects generally, becoming more

end more severe each year of the edvancing 1930's, The basic

préblem was one of too meny agencles havinpg the-administration
of Federal Route Neo, 6, the belt highway. Most of it weas
improved to lé_feet wide with narrcw shoulders and barely
edequate for traffic. Outside the Park, the couaty rcad was

¥ File: 631,05 for details of these projects.
®*% Superintendent's Monthly Report, December 1947,
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elght to 10 feet wide; the present in-Park sectlon had a
1l foot bed with 8 feet of paving., A high-spsed highway,
proposed by those who saw 1littls of scenic value in the
Footprints additicn, should have at least a 32 foot roadway.

In 1939 Superintendent Wingate asked BPR for funds to
briong the road up to the standard of the recently compieted
Territorial section Just outside the park, In 1940 a bad curve
at the new boundary (near the old Half-way House) was finally
eliminated (by whom 13 not clear) presumably in connection with
other road improvehents. In 1945 this section was again
given consideration. It was never up to standafd and, as the
nain highway around the 1sland, had been heavily used during
WWII, The repair work was scheduled for fiscal year 1946 and
plans were prepared for a 3L foot road with 23 feet of paving,
Apparently this was done, ‘This same ssctlon was widened and
straightened in 1957, Additiohal Park road improvemeats were

scheduled for Mission 66,

Hilina Palil Road

The Chaln of d}aters road was opened in April 1928, to
be followsd qulckly by other road and trail construction’in
the area newly opened up, The oid Kau trall from Devil's
Throat to Kipuka Keana Bihopa was re-cponed in 1929,
Superintendent Lesavitt's Aprual Report dated October 1931,
reported that the secondary road fron thé Devilis Throat to
Hilina Pall was improved s0 as to make 1t passable for light
cars at a cost of $890.79, Presumably, at least a portion

of this aubto trail followed the Kau trail opensd in 1929,
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Hillina Pali became the headgquarbters for trall trips into

the south side of the Park, A stone shelter with water had
been built there in 1930, and a horse corral, earth toilets
and belephone were added the next year, From Hilina Pali, =

brall was bullt to Halape opposite the island of Kesol via

‘the Puna trail and Puu Kapukapu. Thils was some S’miles long

and cost 370.55, Anobher trail was built wsstward to Kipuka

Pepalau over the Kamooallil flow, arcuad Mamakaila Hills, past

- Mauna Iki to Uwekahuna Obssrvatory, a distance of 223 miles

at a cost of $805,23, This;opéned up portions of the Footprints
Maupa Iki area, Shelbers with water were built at Kipuka Nene,
Kipuka Pepelau, and Halape,

Hilina Pali had besn suggested as the terminus for a road
gysten as well, An undated report by Rangsr Christ sometims
after 1930 and possibly as late as the 1940's, surveyed a road
from the Hilina Pell resthouse at 2200 fszet down to the sea-
coast, The oaly acceoas to the coast ab the time of the repors
was via foot or horss, and the trall was poor, having besn
developed primarily for use during goat drives. The survey
proposed a rcad 93 miles long with a 33 to 5 percent maximun
grads, An auto trail would be a nice, easy trip with good
views. The upper Gserminus might be considared for possible
extension to the west entrance of the Park, and the lower
nlght be extsnded eventually to Keauhou, The proposasd road
locatlon; however, was not dependeat con these possibilities.%*

Probably due to lack of funds generally, nothing mors

was heard of the Hilina Pali road -~ any portion of it —-

-

P

% Pile: 6L40-21,1.
% Ibid,
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until Auguat 1938 when a set of plans for a Hilina Pall road
werse forwardéd from the Regional Office, In Docember, thoy
forwarded traclngs for a propossd Hilina Palil "truck trail,”
Ths appropriations or funding was nét clesar -~ Park or CCC --
untll 1939 when Supsrintendeat Wingats wrote to the Director
asking for funds from the Roads and Trails allottment %o
improve the truck trail, rather than use CCC funds mersly to
repailr. Hs noted a rscsnt heavy rain had badly damaged the -
trail, espécially aeveral culverts put in by CWA four years
before, Ho had a new allgnment aurveyed, but the title for
this work suggesbted a new trall rather than a reconstruction,

It is not clear who did what or when., The Superintsndent's
Report.to the Director for the £iscal ysar 1940 reported the
start of "erosion control? by the'CCC, "the completion of a
gravol trﬁck trail part way down to Hilina'Pali (report with
chotographs), and a reference to the Hilina Pall truck trail
job being incomplete dus to the termination of the CCC camp
and the removal of the boys to war jobs. The Park, he added,
was doing whabever was necessary to keep the project from
desteriorating. _

Apparently.the Park was nobt able to keep 1t from
dsteriorating., The Army usad it for two years durlag World
Wer II and it was badly washed. In 194l the Hilina Pali
truck trail eppeared on a "Deforred Malnbainance Program,t
wnich reported that ths last thres miles of construction
were already sbarted and needed finishiag, this last a

reforenco to ths job left incomplete four years bofore.%

% File: 600-0l,



In 1949 Superintendent Oberhansley undertook to finish
the road once apd for all, He claimed the last thres miles
were rehebilitetion work end could therefore be considered
meintelnance. Accerding to nearly evergbédy elss, 1t wes
construction., The work was finished as meintalnance
(fortunately within the maintainance budget) but the Reglonal
Director suggested that in future, if there was any doubt on
guch borderline cases, 1t would be well Lo clear the job with
bis effice prior to sterting werk. The route had been re-
stelred and et least the lower three miles greded before being
cpened to the public on Hovember 10. The Hovember 1h, 1549
press release celled the result a newly-oiled roed for light

trevel end proposed future developtients were to ineclude picnie
- prorx T P

cod cexping ereas, Oberhensley cobtalned edditional emorgenc
v P85 3

repair fupds of over $10,000 during 1950 &s a result cf heavy
rains weshing the rcad, and yet more repair money was made
evaileble in September 1953, How Oberhensley's "resourcefulress”

got the Hilina Peli rosd was the subject of & Homolulu Star-

Bullebin erticle on March 3, 1951,

| The roed has';eceived modefate meintaipnence since then,
The earthcuelkes attending the Halemaumau collapse in 1960
cracked and pitted the road, end volcenic activity since

thea has necessitated closing it for repairs,

Belt Roed By-vass

The biggest post-war road problem hed to do with the

Memelehoa highway, better known a&s the "around-the-islznd"

. or "belt" road. It wes heavily travelled, passed between
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tho hezadquarters buildlng and the VHse, and was a contlnual
rialntalnance and safety problem as well as a Jjurisdictional
tangle. The 1IPS wanted ths bellt highway outside the Park

2o that all ln-park roads could be bullt, maintained and used
in accordance with NPS regulatlons, Coloring the problem was
the long=-deferred Kalapana-Chain of Craters road and a new
aouth entrance to the Park,

The situabion was reviawed in a lebter from Charles C,
Morris, Divislon Engineer, to Dr, L., I. Hewes, Chief, Western
headquarters, dated March 15, 1948,

Baginning about 1927, the Volcano Road from Hilo
to Park headquarters was improved to standards then in
ves with Federal Ald, ' :

In 1931 and 1932, the road through the Park was
improved with Foderal funds providing a 16'-18? '

bituminous surface,
From the Southwsst Park boundary approximately 6

nilss of road has bsen conastructed wlthout Federal funds,

and from ths end of that seciilon to Honuapo about 15.5
niles was graded and surfaced 21 feot wide in 1937-38
and 1940,

In 1945 exceptional heavy rains washad out
epproximately 4 milea betwesn 6 and 10 miles southwest
of the Park boundary and this section has been recon-
structed, generally on hsw alignment, as an Emergency
Relief projsct financed entirely with Pederal funds at
a cost of approximately $l437,000.

During the war years the road betwsen Hilo and the
northeasterly Park Boundary was damaged by extraordinary
traffic volume and the increased traffic demands repalp
and higher standards of width and alignment,

The Commissioner has approved the program of construc-

tion in 1948 of approximately 1L.2 miles between Olona
Street in Hilo and Mountaln View as combinad War Damags
Rehabillitation and PFadsral Ald Projects,

: The work will consist of wldening the graded roade
Wway, some improvement in aligament and the construction
of a nesw bituminous surface at a btobtal estimated cost of
approximately $1,200,000,

Program aspproval has bsen recommended on a similar
combined projact for ths improvement of somse 8,6 miles
betweon Mountain View and a polint approximately L.l
milass northeasterly of the Park Boundary at an esstinated
cost of $1125,000, :

The section between the end of that improvement and
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the fark Boundary is to be rehabilitated on present -

standaxrds and alignment at an estimated cost of $178,000,

anticipating a possible future relocatica of the highway
which would replace this L.l miles of Park Approach road,"

Where to put the Mamalahoa highway, inside &nd outside the
Park, took a decade to decide,

In 1947 the site of the old Crater Hotel, just outside
the Park, was clesred for a quonset hut motel developmeht,
which, with the general growth of the vacetion commualty at
29'Miles, forced sericus consideration of a rcad which would
by-pass this boundary déﬁelopmeﬁt. A scenic rozd swinging
north arcund this area led reasonably to a more northerly
route threﬁgn the Park, end this became the favored in-Park
eligoment, o

There was citizen support for a new approach roed wltha
a protected right-of-way, aad the Werrlitorial government as
long ego &3 1930 had sgreed to "proceed with any plen the Park
Service would present towerd retaining the present neatural

beauty of all both preéent and future territorial and county

roads leading to Hawaili National Park,"st but got if the new

epprecach rozd forced area residents to go an added two miles

to get to the Parki Plans to close the present Park eatrance
met strong oppositibn. Volceno residents received their meail
et the VHse postal statioa, Thﬁj‘ elso felt they had been

there lcng before eny Park, and any attempt to restrict their
access to it was ﬁet{with outraged opposition. Yars of the new

Perk Accees road proposal was an eantrance gate and annual feo,

D ]

% Superintendentt'!s Report for March 1930, reporting a
conference between Mr, Vint, lr. Gable, Governor
Lawrence Judd, the Territorial Land Commissioner,
and the Park Superintendent,

~126-




In 1950 the Territorial Legislature even wenit on record in
favor of retalning the present Hilo entrance, if and when a
new approech road wes bullt. The fee propossal went intc
limbe with the repeated delsys in deciding on a new road
allgnment, and the Post Cffice precblems were handled by
providing e "Volcano" post office station at 29 Miles. The
VHse station became "FHawall Volcanbes National Park,"

To facilitate ceontrol of access to the Park, however, the
Peter Lee cut off rcad at the Park boundary, & Snort cut going
over to the Crater Rinm rcad, was eliminated in eerly 1949,
after a rash of raids onryaung treé fern fronds whica were
cut end found thelr wey to local merkets as frecsh greens,

While the exterior epproach road preblem simmered, the
internal by-pess road went forward. Relcocatlon of the entire
roed through the Hilina Palivérea Qas considered and rejected
as being too damaging to scenic values, aé well as retaining
the heavy traeffic volume within the Park, a situation the KPS
considered undesiraﬁle. The northerly slignment, mauka of
K¥C elong the rim of tbe cauldera, eppeared most likely es it
was outside the Pé;k and‘separated from it by a naturel bluff,
Early plans called for a route at the top of the rim along

in
the golf course, but/attempting to avoild the golf course

-greens, the route ran througbAseveralvnouse lots leased outb

by Bishop Estate., To the Park, this alignwent had the double
edvantage of avoiding the Perk and elimineting a residential
developeent which the Perlk viewed as c¢bjectioneble, Procpective
home-cwners, however, viewed the highway as equally cb jectionable,

The site belenged to Blshep Estete wnich felt 1t had elready



'provided enough land to Hawaiil National Park, and so that

portion of the by-pass road was relocated to the base of the
bluff direectly in back of KMC,

The KMC-golf course secticn of the by-pass road wes
planned to extend directly to the proposed north approach
road which passed arcund 29 Miles with access to that community
via Wright Beed. 2.mile Wright Rocad, sbout which the area
residents were so upset, was uader construction in the fall
of 1952, From the approsch rcad, a feeder road -- Route B --
would run in to Fark heédquarters. One possible line for
Route § ran along the top of the cauldera bluff back through
the old VHse aree to headquarteré; tbé other line was
ferther ewey from the rim and in part folleowed the sbandoned
RR lire developed to serve the koa rill in eperation at the
turn of the century. This line swung completely behind the
VEse area to Joln the existing Mamelahoa highway beyond the
headquarters'cbmplex. Both routes eand the tie to the spproach
rdad required en extension of the Park boundaby into land

controlled by the Bishop Estate,

The north approach road end ebtendant in~Perk by~-pass road

remeined unsettled through the 1950's, Bishop Estete wes nob
agreeable to any boundary change involving eny more large aresas
of thelr lend, and the county of Hewail saw ever—incréasing

costs for building @ road on a new alignment, even on

Territorial land, these last several miles to the Park boundary.

The county, meanwhile, bhed upgreded its road in the Ksu
section and the Park wes uader npo litbtle pressure to get its

portion of the belt road up to modern standards. The
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Territorial Highway Department expressed no preference for

eny of the proposed routes but did want to know if they should
prepare to bulld a new road, or widen the present one up to the
Fark eantrance -- which would destroy much of the screening
vegetation and produce e strip development at 29 Miles,

The Territory, apperently, wes going shead with widening
the old road. A letter from Governor King to Superintendent
Wosky on July 18, 1956 gaid thet the new a2ligament would
require condemnatica of lands for the Park which the Territory
could not afford.® The Terribtcry was &lso going ahead with
rebuilding the old road from Mcuntain View, start of eny
prcepesed pew approach road, and & Park by-pass would be en
unnecessery duplication, Thet pretty well killed any mejer
portherly re-routing of the approach road,

In~Perk glternebes were then investigated, In one, the
highwey swung éway a2t the Hilo boundery up to the RR bed, then
to the golf course and on to join the pres¢at‘highwayo' This
rlan was abandoned because cof the continuing necessity of
obtaining Bishop Estate lands. A more likely alterpazte
followed the seame éeneral route but kept the rced entirely
o Park lands, -Superintendent wosky me¥ with Governor Quinn
in Jenusry 1960 and a route was finally selected, The in-Park
by-press road would leaﬁe the present alignment at the boundary,_
swincg north to the vicinity of the bluff below the cauliera
walls, passing well behind the heedquaerters and VHse ares,
end directly behind KMC to join the belt road nesr the Bird

Park reced., This road would be entirely on Park land, The

P ——

¥ File: D=30, 7/56-12/6l,
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Foderal government would assume the cost of the rcad; the
State would do the actual work; they would all colleborate
cn the design; and the State would essume the malntalnence
end operation of the finished roed.

The road plan, nobady's first choice, was finally approved,
funds were transferred from the again~delayed Kalapane road,
and a contract let to Black & Kuwazye Bros,, in April 1961,
There were delays cccasioned by the loss of survey notes in
the May 1960 tidal wave (tsunami) at Hilo; & difficulty with
the Bishep Estete borrow pits; end a deley in a FAP road to
wbiéb tﬁe by-ress roead wes scmehow tied, HNoney rewmeined 2
rroblem —- the lowest bid ceme in 25% over KPS estimates and
21% over FAP estimates. Left-over Crater Lake NP funds wers
diverted to Hewzii NP, The new 7-mile Park by-pess rozd was
Tinelly inspected and pessed on Jepuary 10, 1942, |

&n eutc accident death on the highwey 1n April 1966s
fecused attention on a lingering bj-product of the new road,
the matfer of jurisdictian. The original plen wes for the
Federal goverament tb pay for bullding the road, end the Stete
was to assume operékion end maintsinance on completion. The

State ésked for title in fee, rather then a Special Use Permif

as offered by the NPS, PFee would require Congressionsl action,

and an easement, availeble under present lew, was suggested,
At the éame time, the NPS ssked for a guitclaim  from
the State when the old road wes abéndoned. Albthough the NFPS
hed exclusive jurilsdiction within the Park, it also socught
legel cwnership of the land., An area extending L0 feet on

either side of the center line was agreed on, but cuitclaim
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ecticn by the State was dependent upon new leglsletion
through whlch the County could formally sbandon the road,
On September 5, 1561 Haweii County took action in Resolution
60% to ellow the State to quitelaim to the NPS, The action
woved slowly through chernels and was eventuslly recorded 1in
Bureeu of Conveyances Liber 396, page 211.

The legal difficulties continued, The Park wanted to
turn over the entire length of the rcad within the Park to
the Stete, not just the new headquarters by-pass section, with
the State recognizing both legal and edminisbrative Juriscdicticn.
To do this, the State hed to epply to BYR as the.representative
c¢f the Depertment of Commerce, which in turn hed received the
lends from the Interior Department, ss the cnly legal way to
provide Lor the transfer of the roed right of way., The Stale
Traansportation Departmeht and Federsl BPFR continued thelr
correspondeﬁce, the Stete secking full Jjurisdiction ¢f the
rced if they were also to have full respoasibility; the
Federal offices sayiug full jurisdicticn wéuld require
legislative action, In Jenuary 1663, the Directer of the NPS
gave his approveal %o en immediete transfer of the roced with
the necegsary legislative matters to be cleared up &s soéa
as peséible, with the dne stipulation‘tbat the right of way
wes subject to terminetion at the option Qf the Secretary of -
the Interior in the event of a breach of terms or conditicns.
under which 1t was granted,

The matter dregged on thfough 1963 as the apprcpriate
meps were made and signhatures cbtained, The Federal Bureaun

cf Lend Manegement closed the case without prejudice in
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Januery 196l;, because the State Division of Highways had
failed td agree to the Director's stipulaticn, The matter
was re-opened in March and again delayed as the BPR began
to process a stipulation of their own. The BLM granted e
right-cf-way for 50 yeers on April 1i, 196l after four years
cf processing, and even this was not correct ~- the read
descripticn prepared by BLM excluded Parcel 1, the new by-pass
road, The State, still seeking legel jurisdiction, pressed
for a perpetual easemenﬁ; To clarify the road description,
the State had to re-epply with the BPR, sendipg an amended
epplication with the proper description, which the BIXR would
gend on to BLM for an emended decision, Thls was done, bub
B} returned yet ancther incorrect decision,‘having this timse
deleted the 50 year provision, while felling to add Pazrcel 1,
State Director of Transportetion Matsuda, understandaebly
ennoyed, wrote on August 26, 196l thet the State would assume’
mainteinance of this sectlon of the Hawaii Belt Road "when
the right of way'is-transferred to the State, and when Congress
relinquishes jurisdicticn, the State will assume same," The
Staete finally assuﬁed maintainence and adminiétration of the
roed on November 17, 196k, nearly two yeers after completion.
The NPS meenwhile began the slow process of assembling

the informetion necessaﬁy»to dreft legislaticn for & transfer

of land to the State. Superintendent Johnston submitted

raterial in September and October of 196l. Nothing more was
heard, Superintendent Bean, in reporting the April 1966,
cccident pointed out the serious conseguences of divided

jurisdiction should a tort claim result, He pointed out thatb
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failure by the NPS to follew through on 1its obligations was
used against them by its critics, especially in reference to
the Kauai park proposal. Furthermore, Bean pointed out in
November 1966 that legislation to cede jurdsdiction of the
highwey was not included in suggested legislation foriﬁarks.
Failure to do this had already been cited as the reasod the
State refused to fix the rest 6f the highway within the Park,
. Perhaps it took another li yeers during late 1970 the

Kau end of the in-Park nighway was being widened and repaired.

Kelepana Roed

When the Cheia of Creters road was first proposed, Hewail
Gunty hed promised to build a roed up te the Park bouzdary |
from Kelapana, The legislature refused a directi regquest for
fuads in 1927, but grented the county the right tossli $30,0C0
worth of road boads during the 1929 sessicn., They were never
sold and in 1931 the suthority was sgain given to sell $30,000

worth for the Kalapana rosd, a sum far below the projected

$L00,000 cost of the project., The Counby then asked Territorial

Governor Judd to get permission of the President to issue bonds
for $1;00,000. County roads were poor, the Olaa to Kalapana
section was herdly up to Territorial standards and sven the

$5,000 ellotted to the Park for the Makeopuhi to Park boundaxry

_section of road had beea diverted to the Uwekahune-KMG road . 3

The deteriorating econcmic situation pushed the County's
Kalapena road well into the backgreund, althcugh the Park

continued to consider various routes down to tne coast to meet

e ———t

% File: 631-01, 1925-1948. Leavitt to Director, NPS, July
31, 1931,
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the counby road, One such road went via Hilina Pall to meet
the Chein of Creaters road;‘ anothef which went via Hilina

Pali but kept closer bto the cliff was considered as a replace-
ment for the belt road; another would open up the coast aad
the Mauna Ikl area at the top of the peli. Superintendent
Wingate, during the 1930's fight for the Park extension
authorizetion, would not push for any kind of Kalapana rcad
untll the coast ares  -this road would open up cculd be provided
with some protection, either as an extension of the Park, or
as a Hewelisn "reservetion." BHe wanted to preserve cae of

the few remeining Hewaiisn communities for its residents and
elso as a Park attraction.

B& 1oLl the extension bill wes law, but no funds were
aveileble until the acquisition ﬁas completed. The ?ark;
however, relterated the obligation to bulld a road through
the extension, Wingate had a teatative alignment, btased on
an early WPA project; and declared the sarea involved was 0o
ICnger‘occupied by Hawailans elthough still owned by sone,

The Territory wished to obtain the rosd alignment parcels

“promptly, but found themselves Taced with the rumor thaet the

Perk was tryiang to run the people off the land., The Territory
femained reluctant to proceed with the land acguisiticn -=-
it was, after all, an expense to them and unot to the Federal
goverament, Wingate felt the acgulsition would be complste
by 1945 and urged an early road survey,.

Tre land ecquisitions were not complebte by 1945 and Read

end Trail funds were limited for severel yeasrs efter the wer,

By 1948 Superintendént Oberhansley had managed the reconstruction
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of the Hilina Pali road and was ectively pushing this route
for the Kalapana roed eon the grounds that it had the best
gcenic approach. He suggested 2 gecond spur to tie the

beach road to the Chaia of Craters road if necessary, elthough
it would be an added expense, Along the beach to Hilina Pali
was the route favored by mest planners not only for the viewus,
but also to save the Chain of Craters-Kalapana foot trail.

In 1953 the Ounty of Hawelil passed a resolution a2nd seant

- it to Delegete Farrington esking for funds from Congress to

build the perk roed, They were informed éhat everything was
held up until such time 2s the land ecouisitiocn was complete.'
If Hewell ccunty waented the money the road would bring, they
weuld have to help the Territory ecquire the new Perk leands,
This situation dresgged on for enother T years,

Finelly in 1961 money beceme evailable. In June the firnm
of Herlend Bertholemew was contracted to survey an alignment.
The survey was essentielly that of the propeséd Bishep HMuseum
reuting althdugh it extended from the end of the Chain of
Craters road down the pali closer to Kalepenz then had
previous pleas., / |

By February 1963 the centerline hed been staked; and-a

contract was granted for the first 8.82 miles the following

month,

A Honolulu fdvertiser articie of January 30, 1963 '
reported on the new road, '17 miles leng, it was to coss
some 2% rillion dollars end was part of an Accelerated Public
Works Progrem. The public could have full access, but, in

accord with the 1938 Park act,; cnly native Hewaiian residents
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of Kalepena, Ksimu and Kupaghu and thelilr friends could fish
without & Park permit, Thizs raised en iﬁmediate cry fron
other local fishermen and the provision has not been enforced,
Superintendent Johnstoa hoped to fence the new area as part
of a Park-wide fencing program. This also hes not been done.

In November of 1963 a contract was let for enother 9 miles

~ of the Kalaspena road and a year later it was ready for flnel

paving, The new road waes dedicated &t Washila heisu on

June 19, 1965,

Pesslimism over the propriety of a road built beyond the
Chain of Craters terminus hes beea borne ouﬁ;‘ Volecanie
ectivity alcng the rift has destroyed sections of the highway

«nd it i1s rot now a circle route,

1659 Kilevea Ili Chenges

In 1959, voleenie sctivity in dorment Kileues Iki craber
necessitated re-routing the Creter Rim roed. _Puu Puel cut
the road in two; eclnders obliterated the summer camp picaic
&rea, and covered over nearby roads, trails and vegetation.
Some $600,000 wes diverted from the Kelepana read fund to
build & new section of the Crater Rim read. Oveflooks, perking
end an interpretive trail through bthe destroyed ohia forest

were also constructed and plans were drawn for future emergency

escepe roads and trails shculd enother eruptioa cever the road,

The eruptlon brought staff to the Perk and several other
road problems were decided at the sems time. The headquartars'
by~-pass route was reviewed from the Hilo boundary to its

junction with the old road beyond XMC. A new steaming bluffe-
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Uwelrahuna route was developed, A new eccess road to Bilrd Park
wes laid out, elimineting much of the road from Uwekzhuna to
the belt road, Several road junctions were also re-designed
to ebrupt right angles, Abandoned roads were torn up and the
areas replented but with little success, The scars are still

vigible in the 1970's,

ITrajils

The crater trail from the VHse to the fireplt was in
use loug befcore the Park was esteblished. It is sssumed that
this route dowa the fece of the cauldera below the VHse has
remeined essentiaily the same‘over the years; with the route
acrbss the floor belng repeired eand rebullt efter eech lava'
flow., There mey have been side trails ot now known. There
is a reference in late 1922 to the trail through the aew lava
tube on the creater floor, and to the "Postal Rift Tuﬁael.“

In 1926 the new Sendalwood trail to the crater floor was

cpened, Thls provided an alternate route along the upper

feult bluff of Kilauea ceauldera, then joined the old Crater

trail to the floor. At bhe plt itself, trails were built
eground the crater, marked with cairans or #hite rainted slabs
of lava. -Eruptions often forced new trail building to disperse
the crowds for better viewing, and to avoid a conceatratioa of
weight at oae point c@ the rim; | -

Superintendent Boles devoted the little money he had to
repair and rebuilding of old treils and the coamstructica of
new ones, As old ones were put in order, they were extended

to new poilnts of interest, In May 1822, he was working on
& - =
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the Waldron Ledge Trall between Kilauea Iki and a point one
mile south of the VHse. rrom there to the VHse the Waldroa
traill was re-opened as the Rim Road., Two months later Boles
was constructing a trail from Byron's Ledge, between Kilauea
Iki end Kilsuea cauldera, dowh to the floor of Kilauea Iki,
With access by a second trail into Kilauea Iki from the road
cppesite Thurston's Lava Tube, this lcop trail became one of
the rwost popular., It was rebuilt ian 1930 znd again after the
sruption of 1959.

The Thurston Lava Tube trail was another populer pre-

Perk trail, A new bridge ard stairway to the lava tube were

}constrgcted in 1924, end it was "permaunently imprcved! in‘

1930 by widening, constructing dry walls and surfacing with
cold asphelt emulsion. As the Superintendent pointed out,
1% wes used by 211 Park visitors and had assumed more the
character}and needs of a welk way for persons in street
clothing rather than a trail for those equippéd to hike,

The improvementé continued as the visitcrs beceme less
end less inclined to«even ieavelfheir tour buses. In i955
the treil was re-sg urPaced all steps relaid with hand rails
and a blacktop trail laid through the tube itself wzth warning
lights at low spots, etc. This made it "much safer! end the

- Superintendent reported that "no additional work should be

required for years,"# Three years later it required new work
in the form of new guardrails &t sheer drops and new surfeace
for the treads. In September of 1958 some 18 tons of hot mix

were used to prepare a walkway in the tube proper. Ths

* Superintendent's Report for July 1955,
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'following yeer a new protective wire was installed along the
concrete bridge and HELCO installed lights through the tube.
No longef is it necessary to carry a kerosene lantern and
duck around stalegmites end stalagtites, HModern tour drivers
deliver bus-loads of often elderly visitors for the helf
mile stroll into Kaula Crater, all on well tended walks with
sturdy gugrd-rails, and through the Tubg itself,.now smcoth
ucderfeoot and lighted electrically,

In 1927 some 1800 feet of treil ca 16% grade was buils

© from the Summer Camp down the pali to the crater floor,

Extended to-Halemeumaw in 19--, this became the Little Beggar

treil. In 1930 the Summer Camp treil was eX tended north acrogs
Eyron's Ledge, elong the rim of Kileuea Iki to the tzlus elopes

et the fcot of Waldron Ledge to ceonnect with the existing trail

>

from the VHse across the crater floor, This allowed nany new
circle trips. |

~The Crater Rim treil was relccazted in December 1G22, end
2 new section by the Superintendent's residea;e built in 1926,
The Steaming Bluff trell between the VHse end Uwekashuna was
developed in 1930. The ﬁwekahuna bluff trail down the face
of the north bluff’#nd used mainly by KMC personnel was badly
Eamaged in the Meay 192L, eruptionkand wes repaired with KMC
&id leter in the yeer,

The Puna rift area was réacned by "Cockett's trail®
end/or the'é Craters treil, e ten mile lcop pessing the
Thurston Lava Tube snd 10 craters of verious sizes, two
of which were usuvally steaming, The 6.Crater treil weas

replaced in 1928 by the Cheain of Crabters road , and the
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next year a trail was built from the end of the road over to

Napeau crater. Neglected for some years, this trall was

repaired and re-cpened again in February 1959. In 1934 the
Puu Huluvhulu trail was built. For the first time since the
Park was established, trail work was done under the direct
Supervision of a Landscape Architect and this project of 1%
miles became the standard for trall constructicn in the Park,
The Hilina Pali truck trall, & spur frem the Chain of Craters
road, and the trails to Halape, Kipuka Keana Bihopa (finished
in October 1929), Kipuka Pepelau, and the loop treil to Hsuna
Lea through Maune Iki and Footprint area were cpened in the
1850,

Iﬁ 1932, Landscape Architect Wosky reported that of the
over 100 miles of trall In the Park, only three were of mejor
importence: the Meuna Loz trail of 385 miies; Helemaumau
treil of 3,2 miles; and the Mauna Loa-Hiling Pali locp treil,
It wes the rare visitor who used any trail bubt the Helemauman
end KMC used more than most, He also pointed out that there
vers uokstreaﬁs in the Park so shelters were équipped with
sheds for water collection. Most shelters had been bullt by
Bui O Pele with salvaged material end should be replaced, He
felt these shelters were &3 lmportant to trails as were the
culverts or surfecing, _

Getting lost was & hezard., The Kelapana trall was
cleaned in 1962 %o avoid any other users getting lost on it,
end the HMauna Iki trall may have claimed a 1ife of a KMC
visitor beck in the 1930's (or he mey have goue AWOL, which

also happened from XKMC, although the rugged terrain provided
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e usually ssbtlsfectory explanatlon should & hiker be found"
before he had time to make his way out of the Park,) Steam
end other cracks were also hazards and needed guardreils, as
et Steaming Bluffs. The Fern Jungle trail, a sbort reinforest
hike beyond Thurston Lava Tube, was enbirely abeandoned in early
1959 when the parking end pick-up arees &t either end proved
hazerdous,

The next vear, following the 1959 Kileuea Ikl eruption,

& trail wes bullt seross the new cinder fields and through
O

“the burned cub chies end celled Desoletion Trail, Constructed

£s & boardwelk, it had & fremewcrk sslvaged Irom cld redwood
water tonks, covered with 1 inch rough cut boards fer treed.

It has proved very satisfectory.

Sizes

The leck of availeble water meantioned by Wosky hed
already attracted the attention of Superinteandent Boles, who
likewise feared for.loet hikere, His answer was to properly
werk allbpoints of interest, trails, and directicns. To this
end he prepered and'installed over 200 signs the first year,-
mostly on 1 i~é boerds, but meny &s big as 2 by 3 feet.

in May 192%, he had erected a large entrance siga,
consisting of a dead kea tres, arched over the road and
supported on two boles of ohia, from which was suspended a
"suiteble inscriptidn.* This sign, 2 feet'by 10 feet, read:

U.S8, Department of the Interior --- Natioral Park Service
HAWAII X¥XATIONAL PARK
"Set aside for the pleasure of the People."

It was deisgned to not only identify the area, but es an
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invitation, and caused quite a bit of favorable comment, Boles
reported, How long this sign survived 1s not known.

About ten signs a month were added during the rest of his
administration when plants and shrubs were also identified -~
he did make an effort to verify Hawallan names with authoritles,
All these signs hed green lettering cn a white background,
edged in green, Boles felt these signs were most satisfactory,
but o0ld time residents were leses then enthusiastic sbout the
sheer number of them in evidence,

L dezen new bulls-eye reflector danger signals were
installed at sharp curves in the roed in 1927 and by the end»

of the yeer enother dozen iafcermation gigns hed been prepared

- end instelled, These signs were to bring Park regulations

to the abtenticn of the public., Of 1 inch redwoed, 2lf inches
wide by 27 loag, cerved in the shape of a shield, the i?forma-
tiecn consisted of 3 columns with 10 items. The first foﬁf N
items were the same on each sign, the last six varied with
the location. These shields were placed at the botel, military
cemp, Uwekehuna Oose vatory, and in every Perk shelier, Sign
ranufecture, with everything_else, declined during the dgpression
end wer years, .

The post—wér signs werq/%%uted wood, replacling ocléer
metal and painted wood onss, xralls were measured in the
Chain of Craters and Kilsuea area and in July 1947, 80 sign
texts were prepared. The Superintendent's Annual Report to
the Governor for 19149 reported over 200 directional and
interpretive signs of cerved wocd had been made and installed

along trails, It was also noted thet the Bird Park trail hed
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been made a self-gulding nature trail with leaflets
explaining natural features along the way. This technigue
1s now used for most major trails in the Park -- a vast
improvement over the hiker maps of 1922 printed by courtesy
of the Honolulu newspapers,

| A handsome alumipum routed sign wlth text and sketch
for Halemaumau crater was donated 1n October 1957 by Hawail
Natural History Associstlion, Ten years later, the Park was

swltching 5o routed plastlic signs for most Park areas, ,Thééa

were both light and attractive, In Decembsr 1959, the Park

began changing signs and exhlbits to show the physicai changes
caused by the Kilauea Iki eruptlon. With the 1961 ssparation

of Haleakala, the Kilausa section modified 1ts name by addling

"Volcanoes" and installed concrete and stone entrance signs

at both enbtrances on the belt highway. The next year most

of the trail signs were refurblshed,

Campgrounds and Picnic Areas

Cempgrounds and picnic areas for the mors passive visitors

were also developed by Boles. The "ohia grove near Kilauea
Iki" and Bird Park/had basn selectsd by early users and these
sites were improved with at least s water supply., In February
1923, 10 acres were offlcially set aside for a public camp
site near the beginning of the Cockett trail and the sast rim
of Kilauss, above Byron's Lzdge, A tool house already con=-
structed there had a tank with 3000 gallons of fresh water;
Underbrush was cleared and tent locations established, with

rock fireplaces and rubblsh pits, This sarea, known as the
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public auto camp site, was improved in 1926 by the addition
of a rain shed and water tank., The same year, Bird Park was
provided with "similar bulldings, with tollets." There is

no specific mentlon of toilets for the Ohia grove camp.
Visitors apparently used these camps, but not heavlily., The
Superintendent's Annual Report of October 1928 reported
increased lnterest in the campground facilities with 9 cars
and 22 persons using them as against 2 cars and 5 persons the
previous year., The return of lava to the pit was expected

to stimulate overnight use, Bird Park had already been closed
to camping, and the Superintendent's Annual Reports do not
refer to public overanight camp areas after 1928.

Déy use areas for picnic parties were set aside in Bird
Park and at a locatlon about 100 feet back from the crater,
where cooking grates were built over hot éracks. Boles reported
a temperaturs of 150 degreses over these steam cracks which
issued forth only heated air, no gases. He noted the con-
venience of fire, smoke, and ash-free cooking. There 1s no
reference to these Park-malntained, steam crack grates after
1923 and it is assuﬁed they were disdontinued as the noxious»
fumes from the crater lncreased prior to the 1924 drainback

and eruption.

Civilian Conservatlion Corps Prbiscts

In January 193}, work was started on the construction of
the first CCC camp in the Territory, designed to provide useful
training and employment of young men on work projects in the

nation's forests, water sheds, etc. One 200-man camp was
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originally authorized for the Park, later incresased to 250
mea with the additional 50 assigned to the Haleakala sectlon,
These 50 were later transferred to the Territory of Hawail
CCC in order to asslst 1ln Terrlitorial PForestry work on Maul,
25 of these men were later returned to the Park and were
formed into a unit at Haleakalsa,

A report to December 1940 1isted the important projects
complated or undertaken by the CCC:

(L) Construction of 52 miles of goat~proof fencs
along the Kilauea Secilon boundarises and the subseguent
elinination of approximately 8,000 wild goabts. Thess
pests were causling enormous damage to the park forests,
in certaln places denuding the land to such an extent
that heavy srosion had sef in and the soll was being
completely washed away., The GCC is now engaged on an
extensive erosion control project which is alrsady showing
beneficial results;

(2) Almost the entirs park trail system was improved
and many new miles of trail added including the bridle .
path around Xilsusa Crater, the connecting trail through
Kilauea Ikil, the = t trails on Mauna Loa, trail to
the Lava Tress near Napau Crater and the spectacular
Halemauun trall at Haleakala;

(3) Restoration of Kipuka Puaulu (Bird Park), Tals
spot one of the most beautiful and botanically interesting
in the whols park was endangered by the extensive intrusion
of foreign plants, particularly a morning glory which had
gained such a foot-hold that it was smothering the native
forest, The CCC undertook the sradicatlon of all foreign
plants in this area besldes constructing a foot path for -
public use and‘a small picnic ground conveniently located
adjacent to the Kipuka. Throughout the six years of its
work in the park the CCC has continucusly engaged in
removal of dangerous foraign plants which by their rapid
spread threatened to a considerables exvent the naiive
Hawaiian forest, The park was sstablished, not only to
preserve the interssting volcanlc features but, to
proserve for the enjoyment of all people everythiang which
was native to Hawail, It was, thersfore, necessary if
the Hawsailan landscaps was to be preserved that this work
bs carried ong

(4} It constructed 26 miles of psrmansnt telephone
line from Kilauea to the summit of MMauna Loa for use by
parties making the summit trilp and for use during volcanle
activity on the mountaln, It also placed underground ths
Headgquarters telephone system;
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(5) It comstructed 10 mliles of truck trail oa the
slcpes of Mauna Loa for fire protection and to facilitate
patrol on Mauna Loa during eruptions., Thls trail is
opened to the public on gulded trips each Sunday, It is
now engagsd in reconstructing the 9 miles Hilina Pali
suto trail which when completed will provide the public

with comfortable access to one of the most scenlc portioans

of the Kilauea Section;

(6) It constructed three public information cases at
Kipuka Puaulu, Thurston Lava Tube, Makaopuhi Crater, aad
a public information bullding and ranger shelter at Hale-
maumau beslde several information polnters at different
polnts in the park and complsted work on the Footprints
area museum structure together with several water-proof
ca3ss to preserve the historic footprlints in the Kau
Deseort, This latter work was done with funds provided
by the Hul-0-Pale;

(7) It constructed five employees quarters at Kilauea
and one at Haleakala and three laborsrs!'! cottages at
Kilauea besides one duplsx quarters for employees burned -
out in ths Volcano House fire;

(8) It completed work oa an extensive waber system
for Haleakals;

(9) It is now engaged on ons of the most important
projects undertaken in recent yesrs; the coastruction
of a new Volcano Obssrvatory and Naturalist Bulldings

(10) It is now also engaged in miscellansous work
connscted with rebuilding the Volcano House on a new
site including grading approach roads, coanstructlon of
parking ar<as, and landscaping.

The sbove are the mors important projects, but
1t has assisted materially each year in malatalnance of
the park roads, trails, telephons 1ines, and buildings *

Communication

Prior to 1950,1HNP had no telephone system whatever,
That year, with an allotment of $3250, supplies were purchased
and telephone lines were strung on trees or poles as necessary
vhrough the Park, In barren areas, iron poles were used,
sailvaged from local Army discard, wlth the last few hundred
feot to a station put undergrdund in condulits, The entire

system was hand ringing, through a Kellogg switchboard, Ib

TResume of Park Activities from Jaauvary 1933 to December 1940
covering principally travel and lmportant visitors, persoanal,

improvaments and approprlations." 10 p. Materlal for a

Hilo Tribuns-Herald, L5th Anniversary Issue, Decembsr 1940,

-1 6~

*



served 3l telephones, mostly the wall varlety, along 36.75
miles of cable, In his Annual Report for 1930, Superintendent
Allen wrote that the 25 miles of metallic circuit telephons
line so far installed were the first telephone communication
copstruction completed in HNP and served the Park headquarters
area, Halesmaumau fire pit, Thurston Lava Tube and ths Summer
Campe. By tbe\time the job was cdmpleted on June 30, 1931 the
line had been exztended to Bird Park, the end of the Chain of
. Craters road, Ksu and Hilo boundaries, Ainahou ranch, and

from the Devil's Throat down to Hllina Pali, All lines had
bsen carefully hidden, whenever possible without too reat
expanse, In 1931 the Hawalian Telephone company had moved
its lins off the road batween the Hilo entrance and the Vise,
materially improviag the landscape in that vicinlty,

The new sygtem had some temptations. In 1935 Superintendent
Wingate had to remind his staff that the Park switchboard was
not to be used for personal calls, Tnese were to be made from
the Vise or the pay teiephone°

With the exception of a reference in the 1939 Superintendent's
Raoport to the Govef;or to laying an underground telephons cable
at Kilaunea hsadquarters, and a 19ll; telephone inventory and |
map of lines,% nothingz more 1is héard in refersnce to telephones
until the 1950's when the Park attempted to replace its old
handecranked field btslephones with new dial telephones as pabt
of the 1sland-wide commercial system.

In September 1951, the Mujusl Telephone system advised

the Park that 1ts present manual system was to bz replaced

¥ File: 660-0n.1. July 17, 1944.
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with dial telephone service by June of 1951, As of that
date there was no dial service, but rather a note from
Superintendent Oberhansley to Mutual Telephone Company
asking for the history of the telephone line across the
Perk., Apparently a smoldering dissasgreement between the
Park and the telephone company had finally come to & head.
In July, J. Ballard Aﬁherton, President of Mutual Telephone
Company, responded with a detaliled history of the line, - Said
he, a line had existed prior to 1915,‘when the compahy had
presented a map in evidence in a rate case, showing a llne
between Hilo, Volcano and Kau, The "subject line"™ appeared
on other wmaps prior to 1915 as well, Furthermore, records
dated March 1891 had been fouad indicating an inﬁention on
the part of the Hileo and Hawalil Télepbone and Telegraph
Company, the predecaasor of Hutual Telephoﬁe Company, to
commence abt onpce the lins éonnecting Hilo and the Volecano,
A letter .dated March 2, 1891 from the Kingdom's Department
cf Interior tells the Treasurer of the Hilo and Hawail T&T
that he is zuthorized to draw upon the Interior Department -
against an appropriétian of $1250 for thé constfuctién of |
telephone lines across this area, A record in the State’
Archives indicated the complete payment cof $2500 was made,

probably the appropriation mentioned in "Chapter 51, Seasion

Laws 1890, p. 102: aid to telephone company, Hawail - $2500,%

Atherton continued: Dbesides rights obtained throughn
loag and undlsputed use, there were other rights based on
charters to the companles later absorbed by Mutual Telephone

Comvany. Contained 1ln these charters were grants of all
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privileges of Chapter LV, Statutes of 1874, This allowed

the compagies to put pole lines over publlic highways. There
wers rights to transmit intelligence by electricity over
streets and highways gfanted by the Kingdom.of Hawali which
were not abrogated when the land became Hawali National Park
in August 1916, at least as concerned the lines already in
exlstencs,

Fipally, wrote Atherton, if the park felt these rights

spould be more specifica};y evidenced by the executlon of a

\ long term easement from the Government to the Company, the

Company was willing to review terms, etc.

The Company, in brilef, wanted to run their telephons linses
through ths Park and the Park did not want the unsightly linses
on 1ts property. Ths Company wanted an easemsnt, which was
out of the guestion under the provisions of the Act of 19163
and furthermors,; it was hardly nscessary if the Company truly
had a vested lnterest in The right of way. Tga allowable
Special Use Permit was refused as being too uncertain. HNeo
one seemed to have maps of}precisely where that early line
went, whetﬁer throggh the Park proper or merely through
Bishop Estate land but outside what was to become the Park,

Someone found a letter from Superintendent Wingato
dated June 18, 1935 in refapence to an ECW project for the
relocation of the telsphone lins, in which Wingate wrotae
that Hawalian Telephone Company maintalned and operated a
lins across the Park, apparently without any legal right to
do 3o, although the line appearsed to have been in existence

at the time the Park was established., Wingate felt the
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situation could be remedied by issuance of a proper permit
from the NPS, The Service reply of July 8, 1935 suggested
a five year permit, as they did not wish to issue a loang term
permit of easement in this case. The reply also pointed out
that general NPS policy was for the Service to own and operate
telephone systems within parks, If the pole line to which
Wingate referred was only to serve the Park, then the Service
should relocate and reccnstruct it, If it was a commercilal
line, the Park should have the privilege of counnecting the
Park line to 1t, and the operating company should obtain a
permit to cross the Park.¥#* Apparently nothing st all was done,
A;cording to another item dated Decembar 8, 1937 Mutual
Telephone had a lins of 26l poles slong the main highway from
the Hilec entrance to the Kau entrance wlth a branch liae to'
the CCC camp and another to Xeauhnou Rahch, the VHse and the
Park headquartegs area , ¥

In 1951, the best the Ssrvice could 6ffer was a Revecable

Speclal Use Permit for a term of 20 ysars with renewal privileges.
A draft was prepared in April 1952; and sent to-Aﬁherton for - -

company approval, 7Atherton, maantime, had vislted Washington

offices on a recent trip and re-iterated the company's pésition. __

Ee was advised that with a Special Use Permit the company
would not lese any of its rights even 1f the permit was
revoked, If dasired, a clauss could bs included saylng any
rigbts vested 1n the company before the Park was estsblishned
are saved, A Spscial Use Permit with these provisilons was

% rile: 855,
#+ Ibid.
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prepared and sent to Mutual Telephone Company. This was
agreseable and a Revocable Use Permit for a right of way in
Hawail Natibnal Park was approved from July 1l, 1952 to June
50, 1972.

This took care of the matter of a telephone 1llne across

the Park, In 1952 service from the Park to the outside was
stiil via a single party line, satisfactory but not good,
and the Park fileld system was still 1in operation but badly

deteriorated and a maintainance problem, If it was to be

retained, it would require major repalrs., The system was of
no value to Hawalian Telephone Company (successor to Mutual
Telephone) which had been approached to provide all the

communication service in the Park, Talk wsnt on until 1956

when the Company installsd a dial system for the Park, with

Joint use of the utlility poles. The old fleld lines remained

oo the ground, deteriorating. In March 1957, the telephons

swltchboard was removed and the next month the o©ld system

came out except for a few field lines for smergency use., The

0ld fire alarm system, tied to the telephone switchboard, was

retalned untll new 'Fire alarm boxes could be installed on the

utility poles., This was dons the summer of 1957. By June 1961,

all the old field telephones were out, although lines and poles

remained, and the system was shipped to Halesakala Natlional Park

to saerve as a fileld system in the crater,.

Replacing the field system of telephones was a leased

radio system. The Kilauea Ikl sruption of late 1959 proved

i . the usefulness of a radlo system ~~ Honolulu Police radios

I
-

were loaned for the duration -~ and by an agreemani dated
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December 31, 1959 it was agreed there was an lmmediate need
for a mobile and portable radio system with a headquarters-
base set. Director Wirth was to obtaln funds to trj
contracting for such a service for one year, Thé minimum
requlrement was for an M system as follows: 1 base set,
150 mc, 60 watt; 8 mebile sets, 25 watt; 2 pack sets, 1
or 1% watt. It was expected that an equipment rental and
service contract could be obtained at a cost of approximately
$3300 per year. Thse radios borrowed from the Hoaolulu Police
were returned in February 1960, and bids went out on a Park
radio system, In July, a contract with General Electric,
Ramsay division, was signed for a local FM system., By
Novembér, 2 new tower had been constructed and some of tha
cars had radios installed, A base station and mast werse
coastructed at the old rainshed area in June 1961, at which
tims the field telephone sjstem was completely abandoned.
This FM radio communicatlon system seems to be Satiéfactory.»
The private communication system between headquarters
at Kilauea and at Haleakala was never satisfactory}  Accordiqg'”
to the Supsrintendents' Reports, a two-way radio telephons
system was set up in Aﬁgugt 1948, The system réquiped dally
contact at a specified time and worked well for a while.' A
new FM intsr-park system was proposed when the In-park
system was switched to FM in 1960, This was delayed duse to
contract complications and when Haleakala becams a separate
park, there was some question of the nesd., Ths need continued,
however, especially in late 1962 when Landscape Architect

Viat was residing at HAVO and supervising tne new construction
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at HALE, A radio system was preferred as the telephone tended
to go ocut-during storms and winter weather -- in July 1960,
there was no radlo contact wlth HALE on eight different days.
The General Elsctric affiliate, Ramsay, quoted $54 a month

for thls service, compared with %13 an average month for
telephone service, and it was concluded to try a rental-service
contract for a year, rather than purchase the equipment out-

right, and sse if the result was more satisfactory communica-

~tion. As of late 1963 this service was apparently in

operatlion; there ls a reference to the inter-island radio
mast and its fregquent relocation in the Superintendent!s

Report for NHovembsar,

Eleciricity

Until 193}y, Park eleciricity was bought from the Viss
plant, The cost, 1n 1931, was $.07 per kilowatt hour, the
plant and line were overloaded, and the service was poor,*
Finally, in December 193l, the Hilo Electric Conmpany iine was
extended from Olaa, Poles werergérefully hidden in the Park
and the residence a;éa was served by an underzround éabla
with part of the eépense for burying it borne by Public Works
funds, Then in June 1953, HELCO was given a Special Usse
Permlt to construct lines of Kau, providing that arsa with
commarcial service for the first time, This line was on
poles above ground, along the Park right-of-way, with an
underground cable to sarvs Uwekahuna Observatory. In 1956

HELCO revised the Park system, by this times badly deteriorated,

—————

i Superintendsnt's Annual Repoert, October 1931,
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by stringing lines from utillity poles used jolatly with
the Hawailan Telephone Company. The Telephone Company
crews did the Eree—trimming inbthe headquarters area to
keep the lines clear. By May 1957, the new system was
completely installed and the above-ground facilities left
over from the old system were removed. Apparently the
system went partially underground again in 1965 whe; the
linss from headquarters to Uwekazhuna were put underground,
As far as aesthetics and utility poles are concerned, the

Park had besn either 20 years ahead, or behind, the times,

Water
There are no atreams of running wabter in the Park, and
the nearest large body of water 1ls the Paclific ocsan. Tank
storage of roof and rainshed water, collected during ths raiany
sesason, remains today the sburce of Kllauea's waber supplye.

All private residences are supplled wilth a roof catch-

meat system feading to a storage tank for immediate use, The

VHsa, with heavy public demands for water, early incressed
its catchment surface by buildingbrain”éheds}and'é'taﬁk farm
beaind the hotel. 1In 1922 Superintendent Boles noted the
VHse had bank stérage of over 300,000 gailons and was starting
construction of a new single tank with & capacity of 400,000
gallons, Filled to capacity by winter rains, the hotel had
750,000 gallons in storage by February 1525. In 1922 the
Volcano Ressarch Assoclation furnished a 2000 gallon tank
from which they drew water for their drilling force.

The Park bullt tanks at each shelisr or campground, at
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the Summer Camp going as far as to iastall showers under the
tanks, Tanks in shaded areas had to be protected from
fallling flora: the tank and shelter at Bird Park, originally
located in a fine grove of trees, had to be moved to an open
space because of soapberries falliang and rendering the water
unfit for use. The frequent references to water tank building
and repair led to a note in the Superintendent'!s Report of

February 1929, explaining to his readers that all water for

. ENP was from rainfall collected oa bullding roofs and stored

in redwood tanks,

A dry spell meant a short supply of water. The drought
of winter 1950-31, lasting till March, found soms stations
entirely without water except for what could be pumped back
to them, and the Military Camp managed to gst along only by
extreme conservation., To guard against shortagss in the
futurs, a 66,005 gallon underground coacrate ressrvoir was

constructed to stors surplus water during the rainy ssason,

A gravity flow system of collecting mains, 2200 feet long,

the pipe ranging in size from two bto four*inches,'was_also
put in, A small pugp house was bullt and a gasolins engiue‘
installed for pumping water back to the tanks at each building
when needed during periods of low ralnfall or when a water
shortage existed, The pump also furnished an auxilliary
fire protection service in that water could be pumped back
through the malns for t his purpese, This syatem was built
in 1933,

Ths added storage was not adequate to compesasates for

the serious and protracted drought during the 1940 fiscal
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yoar, Rainfall was only 50.52", about half of normal, and

the result was frequent serious water shortages and s&béequent
danger to governmeant and other buildings from fire, The VHse
burned to the ground in February, Even the new CCC camp
suffered from an insufficiency of water storage capacity,

The dry weather continusd through the calendar year 1942,
witn total preclpitation for that year 30 lnches below normal,
to which was added the drain of a large number of army
personnel 1n the area, They did begin work on additional
watsr catchment and'storage‘reservoirs, but work stopped in
October when the group left. Thelr departure allowed the
Park to get by until the January 1943, rains begzan to refill
tanks, The process was slow and wasteful as ths upper porﬁions
of many tanks had dried out and léaked badly., At one time,
there was less than 180,000 gallons of water available for
Parik, hotel and‘KMC.*

The drought continusd. In November 19413; the ViHse

- offered to build new 10,000 or 20,000 gallon tanks at thelirp

own expense if they could have whatever surplus wate:'tne
Park coulda't stors from the Observatdry Buildidg roof auring
rains, 1945 was dry, followed by heavy rainstorms which
washed out roads and trails. In 1945 and again in 19456, memos
went out to all Park residents to use waber sparingly uantil
the next rainfall, By September 1916, the shortage was acute
and hauling water was considered, KMC was already hauling,

On arrival, Superlantendent Oberhansley found the situation

eritical. He obtained some 3000 feet of 2% inch pips from

% See: Superintendent!'s Annual Reports for 1940, 1943,
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tae Naval Air Statlon at Hilo and tied in the CCC camp
tanks to the Park reservolir in mid-September,

The water problem was stroagly focused by the collapse
of the Vise's Lj0 year old 100,00 gallon redwood tank. It was
beyond repair and reduced the concesslioner's water supply by
half. Oberhansley wrote to the Director of Reglon qur on
Docember 6, 1916 asking Ffor emergency funds with which to
coastruct concrete storage reservoirs to compensate that loss
and to dispose of the "entire meas of assorted unsightly tanks
of ancient vintage now dotting the landscape adjaceat to park
headquarters.”s# He hoped to secure the nscessary suppliles
from the Surplus Property Office, A 2 million gallon storags
reservolr was preferable with 500,000 gallons as tne minimum,
Oberhanslsy urged the Service not to temporize by merely
replacing the wood tanks, as the Regilonal Offlice seemsd tempted
to do, .

Obsrhansley wrote the Surplus Property Office hoping to
locate some steel tanks for emsrgency use. Nobody had them,
but the Engineers atv Ft. Armstrong in Honolulu did have a
dozan 100,000 galld:i redwood tanks, still packaged for ship-
ment, and ready to be auctioned off to the public. Oberhansley
grabbed them at a cost of $1920 sach under the provisions of
Public Law 478. They were shipped to the Park via Pearl
Harbor at no cost, and the entire transfer seems to have
involved no paperwérk, for some unspecified reason, Super-
intendent Oberhanslsy had served in the Navy during WWII.

During their five years of storage, howsver, the 12 tanks

% PFiles 660-05.
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had been attacked by termites, bbrer bees and dry rot and
oaly 8 complete tanks were salvaged from the lot, These
were installed with $10,605 in emergency repairs fuands in
late 1947 and the gubtters of the Observatory Building, now
headquarters, were finally connected to the water collection
system in December.

If no paperwork surrounded the transfer, a large file
developed after discovering the actual condition of the tanks,
Superintendent COberhansley wrote Government Surplus asking
for a downward revision in the price of the tanks to $1000
each, They had only cost $1755 FOB Portland in 1941 and it
was common practice to at least downgrade the condition of
oeuess estimated" lots to conform to their actual condition
on opsning. Government Surplus claimed the sale was "as isﬁ
and "where is" with ample time for inspection, and the final
outcome of the requested price revisioq is not clear.

Longer term solutions were also béing consldered,
Superintendent Oberhansley had originally éalled for a full
water enginser survey and report,:but tge more présSing need -
becams an improved/collection and pressure system, incluéiug
replacing the tanks at the CCC area where approximately half
the water was collected, As no additional surplus btanks were
available, this had to be delayed except for replacing the
water pipe to the reservoir from 2% to 6 inches in diameter,

During the summer of 1947, rumored springs and streams
that might supply the Park area were checked out, Kulanl was
repcrted to nave discovered an apparently lnsxhaustable watbter

supply, but this turned cut to be water draining from one small
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erater to another, and the known Kulanl spring was not reliable,
Pumping wéter from Mountain View, 15 miles away, would cost
50 cenbs per 1000 gallons, and KMC was not able to contribute
to such a‘project. The Horita tunnel at the head of Wood
Valley near Pshala, used by the Hawalian Agricultural Company
in 1900-1905, was adeguate for plentation use but not always
strong and had been muddied by cave-ins, Geoiogists working
on Hawailian ground water sources had fouad nothing near the
" Parlk, -. |
Reglonal Engineer Crawley, in a report dated Auzust 12,
197, reviewed the situation to date. He recomumended a water
survey when funds for it and fof constructicn were available,
Upon completion of the eight new tanks, he felt the water
system was in good condition, and felt 1t would allow for
orderly develcopment, such as a pipeline from a new source
or construction of additional collection and storage facillties
at Kilauea, whatever proved most economical.’\He pointed out
that wooden tanks were not decorative bub they were the
safest, as plpes and reserveirs in earthqﬁake areas were
subject to damage.x He also suggested that watersheds need
not be unéightly, nor need they be painted red, as those at
Kilsuesa were. Finally, with an annual rainfall of over 100
inches, he suggested that the development of another watershed
near the KMC source should be seriously investigabed.*
The Park preferred a collection and storage facilitj
separate from KNMC, but perhaps in the same area, where elevation

would allow good gravity flow, KMC had no funds for immediate

% File: 660-05,

-159-



construction but planned to install steel tanks at their
rainshed area above the Park boundary. For the time being
it was agreed that KMC and the Park would each independentlyv

provide for collection and storage by expanding their

existing installatlions as required. The Park would concentrate

its collection and storage in the vicinity of the large rainshed

which, with the large tanks in the area, it was 1ln the process
of taking over from ths VHse concession.¥# This should provide
a total of 1,650,000 gallons at the shed, 360,000 in the
utlility area, and another 200,000 at the CCC area for a btotal
of 2,210,000 gallons. With a modest expenditure for moving
the céqcsssion tanks to a less visible location behind ths
ralnsheds, and an extenslon of the sheds and the tanks them-
selvas, 1t was expscted that a water system would be developed
to serve the Park and the concession for the next 20 years,=r
By Decembef 1947, the & new tanks wers in, the VHse was
on a meter using Park water, and plans were being drawn for
the removal of the remaining tanks on tank hill ead the
construction of the catchment system in the ralnshed area.
The last cf the obnéxiodértanks by the ?EsénﬁuéeumVWere gone
by September 1949, In 1950 the system was hooked to a |
chlorinator. t sprang a leak in 1952, the same year that
the three-year-0ld water system was found, once agalin, to be
inadequate to carry the Park through a dry spell, In 1954
the systém was not adequate to meet the minimum requiréments

of the Hawall Fire Rating Bureau., The 100,000 gallon Navy

% Additional information on the VHse water system is reported

in File 900-01.7, not loecated.
¥ Fille: 660-05, Oberhansley to Dir, Region Four, August 19,

1947,
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redwood tanks were in need of constant maintainance, they
all lesaked when dry, and a 50,000 gallon tank was rotted.,

Throughout late 195l and all of 1955, Superintendent
Wosky pleaded foxr help in repalring and eventually replacing
tbe‘deteriorating Park waber system. An earthguake in April
1955, damaged two more of the 100,000 gallon tanks, as well
as the ground water lines, On inspection it was found that
many of the 1 inch lines laid in 1937 were so corroded that
only 3/8 of an inch was left, Through this passed assorted
vegetable matter ffom the roof catchment which clogged the
already limited system.

This tims, tank repalr took the form of dis-assembling
the wooden tanks, pouring concrets bottoms, and re-assambling
them. 6 tanks had been re-bottomed by December 1955, and all
1l wers finished and again in use by February 1957. Tais
necessity mothered the inventica of a device for tightening
tank straps which won its inventor an award,

In 1947, a complete overhaul of the water system had
been recommsnded; in 195l it was recommended agaiq. The 1947
crisis héd resulted in a report dated November 6,>1947 giiing
data on rainfall at Park headquarters monthly from January
1899 to October 1947, the extent of storms and droughts (the
1919-20 season was the worst drought it was felt nsacessary
to prepare for), visitor use, and storage facilities.® The
1954 crisis resulted in a lengthy report on BHNP by ths US
Public Health Service, and one year later, the start of

corrsspondence with the Westsrn Reglonal Office on a

% pile: 660-056.
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comprehensive water supply system.,

In March 1557, one month after the 14 old wood tanks
had been put back into service'with new concrete bottoms,
a contract was let for new stesl tanks, These were set on
bedrock, A concrete ring was poured, then the interior filled
witn crushed rock, then a 6 inch.éand base, These new tanks

held 500,000 gallons of water each, When completed, the new

- water system incorporated the old rainshed building and 1l

wood tanks with concrete bottoms for raw water storage and
a wood tank for treated water storage; plus the new
construction consisting of a new rainshed building, started
in Juans 1957, a conduit system to connect raw water to the
wood raw water storage tanks, a sgnd filter tank and pumphouse,
and fcur steel, 500,000 gallon tanks for treated and chlorinated
water,% The water distribution system was completed on
December 18 and all buildings,.hydrants’and residences wers
hooked up. | )
A few bugs in the system had to be wofked out, An
unpleasant sediment was found in the new llnes, possibly dua
to reaction of the’ water with the coral sand used in the
fiiter system, It was also reported that the acid rain water
was atbacking the galvanized roofs and producing zinec oxide,
New filters were suggested, or, they could completely dls~
continus the roof collecting if the ne# collection sjstem was
adeguate, Final decision not known,
A more troublesome problem develcped in connection with

the paint on the interior of the new steel tanks., It was

% Superintendent's Report for August 1958,
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necessary to hire a man to inspect the interior of the filled
tanks and determine the precise problem, Superintendent
Johnston was concerned over who was to pay the bill for this
work. Inspection turned up heavy rusting on the insides of
all four of the 500,000 gallon steel tanks necessitating
draining them and sandblasting and painting them. Who paid
for ﬁbis was another question. The original constructing
and painting companies refused 'to accept the responsibility ;-
. or liability -- for rusting in the tanks, How this was solved
is not clesar, In June 1960, a contract was let to the Modern
Painting Company to re-do two of the steel tanks, the others
to be done later, at a cost of approximately $5000 pér tank,
When re-painted, the tanks stlll made the water smell and
taste bad, which reguired more investigation by the contracior.
The investigation turned up nothing which appsared to be the
cause of the continuing bad odor. In March 1963, Superintendent
Johnston applied to the Public Health Service for aééiéﬁance,
samples were taken of water from every prossible spobt in the
system, and sent to the laboratory for investigation. - Paint
chips were aiso sedé, along with material from the carbon
filters., In late December 1963, the lab report came back --
there was nothing in the paint job to abcount for the problem.
The musty odor suggested algas or some other biological growth.
The carbon filter suggested that both the taste and odor were
present ln the original water supplye. The interesting feabure
was in the fact that each of the four tanks had a differeab
effect on filtered and chlorinated water stored in it: ons

dlid no harm; the second was satisfactory for some tims after
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painting and then the water deterlorated; the third was
unsatisfactory immediately, but after the tank had bsen
drained and filled the water was satlsfactory; +the fourth
had remained unpalatable since painting_and was removed from
service, except for storage of water for the fire systen.
Tnis tank showed some chlordane contamination and it was
recomnended that this chemical nobt be used in future tank
painting. The chlordane, in fact, probadbly came from spray
from nearby vegetable farmers, whica the wind then carried

to the tanks. Through 196u the correspondence continued

with the Public Health Service and the County Board of Water
Supply. The water supply was fouad to have met standards

for baéteriological gquality., All suggested solutions to get
rid of the taste and odor had beeh tried with no great success,
The rust problem might have been algae wita high iron axide
concentration, ‘The last possibility was to repaint the tanks
with a different palat. Bids for this job were solicited,
but none were within the funds available, and no contract was

let,

bk

The distribution system also neéde& impro#ement; ‘Those:
1937 linses hed corroded to pencil-lead size by 1961 and a
new distribution plan to Uwekahuna Obssrvatory was approved
in late 1961. This lines, coanecting the Obssrvatory with
the headquarters system was not completed until July 1962,
the delay being caused by the maritime strike, The next
year this line was extended to Namakanil Paio in preparation

for the cabin camp bsing planned therse,

% Fille: D5039, Dec. 26, 1963 for the lab report.



In 1958 the water problem at Thurston Lava Tube had been
alleviated by the installation of a 10,000 gallon wood taak,
with a plastic line connecting it to the headquarters pumping
area, The plastic line was experimental, required frequent
repalrs, and was replaced in Dscember 1963, with galvaniied

pipe.
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INTERPRETATION AND EDUCATION

Rapnger-Naturalist Programs

Owing to the large number of women and children in the
park during August, wrote Boles, a lady guide was added to
the staff, a Miss Barretts of Honolulu., She was to organize
hiking parties and help ladies and children. Until author-
i1zed to add her as a Temporary Ranger, she was being employed

as a laborer at $3.00 per day. This made a staff of: one

- Suparintendent, ons Ranger, and three laborars.* The "lady

gulde" ex-laborer remalned until October 8, 1922,

. Ger thls hopeful start, the interpretive rfacilities
undsr Boles resumad the form of multitudinous signs, and
thousands of hiker maps printed through courtesy of ths
Honolulu newspapers, Ranger Alex Lancaster, a carry-over
from pre-Park days, added color and served as guide and

gensral assistant., Non~Park agencles helpsd some. The newly

established Hul O Pels was prspared to provide funds for what-

ever might be deemed "contributory to the comfort or pleasure

of those who visit ?ele's domain.""Thsée'cdﬁtfibutions resulted

in the construction of several shelters, but sarly requests
for funds for interpretive activities met with disapproval.
The HVRA maintained a mussum in the old Whitney Lab building,
open only from 11 to noon, and in 192é they'provided funds
for the new Uwekahuna mussuwm-exhibit building. The Uwekahuna
Observatory, as 1t came to be called, was pressanted by Jaggzar

on behalfl of the HVRA to the USGS and NPS jolntly, in 1927,

.

% Superintsndent's Report for August 1922,
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and an interpretive program began under ths staff of the
Observatory. The display ran to volcanic specimené and charts,
an operatling selsmograph and at stated hours, lantern slides
and moving pictures, The NPS coordinated with the HVRA in
oengaging Dr, Paul Kirkpatrick of the University of Hawail for
the heavy tourist season from June 244 to August 1, 1927 to
take charge of the Observatory and twlce dally give lectures
and show pictures, His audience that summer numbered 2356
people, Dr. Kirkpatrick left at the end of the tourist
season and programs were iimited bo steamer days and on
Sundays at 2 and 3 p.m., During the 10 months ending July 31,
1928 there were 197 lectures given tb 9216 people. Dr, Jaggar
gave 5‘1ectures by request (to visiting Jspaness scientists)
and hils clerk, Mr, Hodges, gave 29, most of them bpefore
December 1927, That month newly appointed‘park Ranger George
D. Douglas took ‘'excluslve charge of the Observatory, generally
refurbishing the exhibifs and also preparing a lecturse (o
accompany slides and movies of volcanic activity.,

In the fall of 1928 Douglas ran afoul of the law and
the interpretive programs for the park, offered only at
Uwekahupa, languished until the summer of 1929 when Otto
Degener, formerly Professor of Botany at the University of
Hawall, took over, He assumed duty as temporary ranger-
naturalist, pending the examinatlon for permanent filliné
of the position, He conducted lectures on volcanic activity
at Uwekahuna each steamer-day afternocon, plus 1l evealng
lectures on natural history topics at the VHsse té a total

of 3205 persons during July alone., Lectures and field trips
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covered volcanology, volcanic history, geology, botany, bird
1ife and other items of natural history. Dr, Jaggar alseo
continued hls lectures to spscial groups. 7_

No properly qualified naturallst was available followlag
the deparbture of Dasgensr at the end of the summer and the
Park Rangers and Superlintendent carried on the educational
program of lectures and hikes through the winter and next

spring. Already the audiences overflowed Uwekshuna, During

June 1930, the Superintendent reported 17 lectures given 515

peopls, aad 102‘persons on fieid trips, Others visited the
Observatory but did not stay for ﬁne lectures, The Superin-
tendent in his Annual Report for 1931 rscommended that in '
educational work the Park had possibiiities second to no
otner and urgesd their use, The new educatlonal program, he
wrote, should include a new mussum buildiﬁg, nature trails;
wayside shrines and perhaps a live exhibit showing the 1ife
and customs of the Hawaiians.

Implementing these proposéls went ahead slowly, In 193l
Naturalist John Dosrr drew up a Mussum Development Plan which
was reviewed and revised at the Wesbtern Museum Laboratory in
Berkeley, California, By late 1937, several small unlts of
this plan had been implemented., The Tree Molds and Bird Park
had simplé trailside shrines consisting of a glass display
case with maps, charts and diagrems, A more extensive shrine
was scheduled for tne Halemaumau crater area,

A Development Plan for Museums, dated October 1, 1938
listed the following structures as buillt: the Uwekahuna

Museum and Observatory, Mauna Loa traillside museum at 7000
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feet, Halemaumau Exhibit and Ranger Station (of stone), and
Lava Trees and Bird Park Exhibits (mentioned in 1937.)

Similar shrines were to be constructed at Lava Tube and
Makaopuhl as well as a serles of informational rointers and
the new Observatory'and Naturalist bullding. When the land
was finslly acquired, an aquarium was planned for the Kalapana
extension, perheps using the open pools along the quiet sea-
gshore., An sthnological museuwm at Kalapana and the Fbotprints

shelter and shrine were both to be built, With the exceptlon

of the Kalapsasna projects, most of these exhibits were eventually

built as planned,.s*

1931 did see the start of a new Summer Session educational
program, and the firm establishment of the Park Naburalist
program. |

The Summer Sess3lon was the first formal educational
effort since tbé 1919 Summer School at the XMC locatloan,
although Boles had attempted»toviaterest the Hawaiil -

Education Associatidn in a special teacberé'summer camp

(both an area and aAprogram) in 192Li, A nsbure study class

of 10 assbfted sch6;1 teachers aﬁd Univéréity of‘Hawaii
students, headed by Extensicn Forester Theo, C. Zschckke;

for four weeks made its headguarters st the Kilauea Summer
Camp, Zschokke was assisted by newly appointed Park Natupralist
John Doerr and Rangsr Everett Brumaghin, who handled geolégy
and botany respectively, The program proved so pcpular, the

Universlity asked Doerr to give a nature study course to 21

—————————

% 01d file: 620-l6, Museums; 83%3-05. The Museum Development
Plans menticoned have not been locsted,
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teachers in Pahala starting in Februsry 1932. The class was
worth 2 credits and included lectures, field trips and cless-
room discussion, The summer of 1952 the University continuéd
the formal Summer School, offering two courses: Hawalian
flora by Zschokke, and Hawailan Volcanoes by Jagzar., Credit
was offered for both and drew 59 students, 55 of whom took
both classes, The entire Park staff participated, serving

as guldes and general resource people, The lectures were

~open to Park visitors ag-well as students and many attended,

The University, well pleased, plaanned a branch at Kilauea
for the following year, with a staff and faculty to handle

approximately 100 students, Doerr continued his program with

an extension course in nature study in the volcano region,
under the auspices of the University, to a class of 40 school
teachersa,

The 3rd seéson of Summsr Ssssion courses coasisted of
5 classes with an earollment of 63, The faculty of 5, headed
by Benjamin O. Wist, offered 1 class in botany, 2 in geology,
2 in sducation, and 1 in English, The next year, 193k, the
enrollment raached“éver 100, with 8 clasées offered; Classés
were gilven in the sun parlor of the VHse and on the Lanail,
Supplementing the regular courses were a series of weekly
evening community lectures given by members of the faculty,
the program conducted by the Park Naturalistv. The S5th Summef

Sessicn of 1935 found enrollment down to 8i, nine courses

offered, the whole again supplemented by faculty public lectures.

Thare was no 6th., The Volcano Summer School was abandoned

in favbr of a school of graduate research in scieﬁce, approved

~170-



by University of Hawail President Crawford, and Jaggar, who
was appolnted head of the new school and a professor on the
staff of the Universlity. Money to continus the work of the
volcano observatory was becoming increasingly scarce --
Fedsral funds for all of 1935 amounted to only $600 -~ and
Jaggar was appointed to the University staff, with the
Obssrvatory itsself transferred from the USGS to the NPS, with
hopefully a more sscure sourcs of funding., These moves would
allow Jaggar's work to continue. The 1937 program of ths new
Summer School of Sciencs was undertaken by Dr. Stanlgy S.
Ballard and Dr. Iwao Miyake. Dr. Ballard was offici;lly
appointed Reslident Assistant in Geophysics to serve without
compensation (from the NPS.) Apparently this arrangement,
which sppears to be more a technique for staffiang the Observa=-
tory than one for runaning a school, lasted only the ons summer,
Ian thse mid-i9u0's, the Summer Session surfaced agailn,
briefly. Leavitt, then Superintendent at Crater Lake NP,
wrote in Novembar 194li, to ask how the HNP Summer School.had
worked out, as a similar program was basiang coasidered for
Crater Lake, Hsa reéalled refusiﬁg’buildings inrthe>Park for
the University, but had reccmmended they locate spacs jusf
outside the Park as the program appeared very successful,
Wingate responded that the Unlversity had been under pressurs
to establish simllar summer scheools on other islands, and
the one in HNP was no direct use to the Park (s program in
Hilo or Kona would serve more area resideats) and it had
overcrowded the hotel. Sufficient accommodations at moderate

rates would nmake such a school very useful to the Park and he
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hoped that the post-war_years wounld see greater use of the
Park faciiities. The Park now had a building for lab and
office space in the Naturalist and Observatory building.

In late 1945, President Gregg M. Sinclair of the Unlveraity
of Hawail, in contact with the NP3, wrote Wingate to ask about
the possibility of establishing a Volcanology School at the
Park with the aid of Rockefeller funds, Wnat Sinclair proposed

was an expanded geophysical program built around the HVO and

"with HNP preoviding soms 6f the personnel, Wingate hoped to

see flelds other than geology, as the Parklﬁas e nabural lsab
for botany, oranitholegy, archaeelogy, entomologj and engineering,
but the Geophysical Institute concept had Wingate's approval.
Howevar, he resigned about that time (March 19&6) and nothing
more is heard of 1it,

During 1935 the Park inltiated action on another kind of
educational program. Superintendent Wingate asked the
Hawalian Hiéﬁbricél Sbciety, Bishop Museun énérbthers for
help with a survey'of names so that HNP names would be properly
Hawaiian, ér"could be changed to soﬁéthing Hawaiian. Allir |
correséondents sugéested Professor Coulter of Ehe University'
of Hawali as a major source of Hawalian name information.
Xenneth P. Emory of the Bishop Museum wrote, in Sertember 1937,
to say that it was still possible to get good information via
field trips., He suggestsd arranging with Mary Kawena Pukul
for a 6-8 week field trip. Wiangate approved and suggested
the prejesct for the 1939 budget, but it was not included.
In 1941 Ranger Olson and Naturalist Fagerlund suggested HNP

compile a list of Hawalian place names for all the islands,
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expanded from a file Olson had been keeping. Nothing more 1ls
heard of this project.

The first full-time, permanent Park Naturalist, John
Doerr, was appointed in 1931, He had been preceeded by Kirk-
patrick and Degener as summer naburalists, Jaggar and his HVO
staff, and the ranger (but not officially naturalist) Douglas.
Doerr immediately thrsw himself into developing the naturalist
program, He continueé the lectures, led the regular trail trip
from the hotel across the crater to Halemaumau, and in June,

issued the first volume of Hawalil Naturs Notes, a mimeographsad

newsletter containing natural history articles. 1951 was the
same year the Park obtalned the services of a seasonal rangsr-
naturalist, got a new lecture hsll at Uwskahuna, built with
Hul O Psle funds, and added to its stock of descriptive
lantera alides and movies, The year before, the Park had
received from James Henderson of Hilo a three year lease of an
educational film on’&olcanoes which showed}ho% volcanoss are
formed and included scenes of various active volcanoés around
the world, includiqg Kilavea., This gift came immediabely
after Hui O Pele h;d refused Superintendent Allenfs reQuest
in late 1929 for funds with which to obtain slides and movlies
for the education of Park visitors, |

Afver 193% a park ranger was assigned to assist regularly
in the educational work and other rangers were called as
neaded, Trips to polnts of lnterest were developed and the
next year a new ranger, who had passed the Junior Park

Naturalist examinatlion, Ranger Samuel Lamb, was assigned To

this duty and served as the Park Naturalist!s regular assistant,
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with the increased educational work -- the Summer and extension
programs were in full swing ~- 1t was found desirable to use
both ranger and naturalist staffs for public contact work. A
rotating schedule was developed which improved the morale of
the rangers on the staff, who previously had beea engaged
solely in mainbtainance and protection activities. The change

resulted in increased enthusiasm on the part of the rangers,

and increased favorable comments from visitors.

Naturalist activities during the war were limited to
fending off war-related destructlon. ‘Naturalist Fagerluand
was assigned other chores during 1943 to 1946 and during that
time the position is listed as vacant., The post-ﬁar Park
visitor was a new sort of individual and the growing tourist
industry developed package tours with little time for more than
the lecture-snow and either lunch or a quick stop abt the cfater
overlook, Naﬁuralist activities stressed information and the
pagsive pleasures of4the headguarters muéeum. ?rograms of

lectures and films are shown on a regularly scheduled basis

to accommodate visitors, and rangers may escort Gours through- -

the Thurston Lave Tubs. During crater volcanic activity,
rangers are present at the viewpolnts during heavy-use periods,

The little newsletter Hawaii Nature Notes, started in June

1931, continues to appear irregularly,

One mercifully short-lived visitor entertainment st be
mentioned here. %“To meet a popular demand for the World's
Grandest Hole in One Clgb, the Service threw up a tee 10 X
6 x 1 on the rim of Halemaumau and marked it with two signs,

Hawaiian Transportation Company supplies the new golf balls
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and clubs. For 50¢ per ball anyone may drive off into the

pit, achieve the feat of making a hole in one, and receive

a card certifying to toe same., This was started on the 25th -
and by the end of the month 89 cards had been issued. Tourlsts
are wild for this stunt, begun with Mather at the Pan Pacific
Conferance -- to which Pele responded with two subsequent
éruptions." Phus reported the Superintendent in his report

for January 1928, The new members totaled nearly 1500 by the

sand of September 1928, among whom, it was reported, were many

prominent and distinguished people (none of whonm presumably
had time to play the "sporty" 9-hole Kilausa Golf Club.)
During the early part of Jasruary 1929, a considerabls area of
the Halemaumau crabtsr wall fell in, including not only the
visitor view point but the "19th tee of the World's Greatest
Hole ia One Glub." A new tee was built upon a safer site
along the pit edge. The date of the final demise of this .
gimmick is not at present clear, (It waS kiiled by Executiva"
Order obtalnead througn Superintendent Leavitt,) ?erhaps the
naw tes also fell ;n,-taking with it a prominent,or”distinguished;
person, as sacrifice for the sacrilege. |

The early days of the Park saw a number of special events.‘_,
Boat traffic resulted in a fluctuating stream of visitors and
steamer day, with its extra load of visitors, was usually |
worth some extra effort. The arrival of an entire boatléad
of sensduled bourists, such as the Shriners in dJuns 1922,
the Los Angeles Chamber of Commarce the next year, and the
various visiting warships, all required extra temporary nelp

to keesp order, schsduling of special tours of the Fark, aad
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somatimes the erection of additional facilities: two
primitive bathroom structures established ansar the crater
viewpolnt to handle the needs of the crowds atiracted
during one Lour wers promptly named after the most distinguished
of the vislitors and were known thereafter as "Lord and Lady
Jellicoe."

As a finsl event of the Cook sesqui-centennlal

a Hawailan pageant was given on the edge of the pit on the

.night of August 18, 1928, It was divided into threse parts:

dancing and hulas; & re-anactment of Kapiolanl'ls deflauce
of Pele; and prayers by the 99 ysar eold kahunatKalama, for
the return of Pele to the stlill guiescent crater. The effort
produced continuous avalanches only.

Two years later the volcano's continuing gulet drsw another
group trying to induca Pele to return. On February 1l7th, 1931,
Mrs. Kaolllokalani Pihanaokalanl, an aged Hawsiian woman frgmv

Honolulu who claimed to be 100 years old, together with five

generations of her own immedlate family, arrived in the Park

besaring letters of”introdubtion from the Hawail Tburist Bﬁregﬁ,"
asking the support-of the Superintendent and cooparation in

har efforts to induce "Madama Pele" to return to her abode

and renew activity in the fire-plt. Throuzh members of her
family who intsrpreted for her as she spoke no English, she

said sha was a dilrect descedant of Madame Pele and knew the
proper chants and prayers and offerings necsssary to persuade

the goddess to bring sbout an eruption., She was sure she could
ring the volcano into actlivity immediately or cause its

ceasatlon after sctivity had once besn produced, She asked
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for the special presence of the Park Superintendent as well

as other witnesses to see a demonstration of her powers and
there were over a hundred to see her on the day of her arrival,
publiclity having been given the mabtter through the press and:
bver the radio,

She and her party were glven every courtesy and considera-
ﬁion possible, The volcano failed to show any special signs
of 1life in spi&e of bér offerings or prayers, and she explained
that 1t would take a little time -~ maybe that night or the
next day befors the volcano would erupt. She and all the
members of her famlly camped at the pit for some time, but the
next eruption did not occur until 193i.

Ons of the Park attractlioas in the 1960's was a lady,
dressed in a red muumuu, who offered chants to P3ls while
flinging into the crabter various packages and parcels.

The official establishmenb of the Park 1n 1921 had been
celebrated with a large party of guests and a 1uau at crater's
edge. The 20th Anaiversary in 1956 was the occaslon of a. |
special dinner and dance at the VHse with a prééram of Hahaiian:
rmusic and entertainment. Soms 250 couples made reservations
for this festive event, 1In contrast, the 50th Analversary in
1966 lacked lusu, sruption or pageant. Perhaps sharing the

anniversary witin the Park Service itself dulled the event,

Librar
The Park library, like Topasy, just grew, Each staff
man abt the Park and at HVO had a collection developed around

his particular intersst. The result was extensive duplication
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of periodical items, and a fine mish-masa of books purchased
privately; by HVRA, USGS or NPS, and some valuable gifts,
The HVO collection moved around as the staff moved from
administrative agency to adminlstrative agency. Finally, in
1946, Lorrin Thurston suggested the great need of having the
HVO library organized, The HVRA, with which he had been
assoclated for years, agresd to underwrite $3000 for a one

year Jjob with the expectation that the Park would provide

- funds to continue. The funds were made avallable -~ for

salary only ~-- and University of Hawaii Librarian Dr, Carl
Stroven arranged for one of his catalogsrs, Miss Priscilla
Griffey, to make a preliminary three-months survey. The Park
paid for supplies, offlce space, furniture, general assistance
and quarters, the University of Hawali directed the program;
and the HVRA paid her salary, via the University,

Miss Griffey's report of March 6, 1947 indicated there
were over 23,000 volumez, of waich 6000 were ideaggar'é A“
office, 17,000 in the HVO library (housed in the Naturalist-
Observatory building, apparently'éoon af'ter cbmplétidn -{‘ '
certainly Jaggar hés recommended this move in a memo dated
June 3, 1940), and some 150 in Park headquarters. She felt
it was an archives and should be handled as such wlth very
simple cataloging and classification and no more thaa a
single subject entry. Thus, the catalog would be a gulde
to the books on the shslf and not a bibliographic tool. She
recommended procedures for this work and felt a book buying
budget was a necessity, both to guarantee new acquisitions

and to avoid the present duplication.
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Finally, all scattered holdings were to be consolidated
into one collection, but with a very simple charge-out systenm
for easy circulation,

The actual work began July 1, 1947 under Miss Mary Melton.
She worked the remaining 9 months of the one year authorized
by the HVRA and prepared a final report dated May 1948. She
érranged the library and developed a policy and procedures
handbooXk which would allow a noa-professional to continue
the work.

On July 1, 1948, the HVO came under the administration
of the USGS again, and the office, lab and as muéh-of the
library as thsy neesded, moved back to the Uwskahuna Observatory
bullding, where 1t has remained, There 1ls nothing in Miss
Melton's reports to indlcate whilch titles or subjects were
selected for the HVO 1ibrafy.

Although the cataloging was incomplete when she left,
the material had been organized and weeded, with duplicates
sat asids for use in exchanges., Naturalist Douglas Hubbard
carried on the library wofk by soliciting material from the
Smithsonian Institute, which promptly put the HNP on its-
mailing list for selected subject areas; purchased the
publicatlons of the Bishop Museum still in print, and wrote
directly to the authors for out of print material; seanbt to
the Director, NPS, for books on National Parks; wrote
Territorial Delegate Joseph Farrlngton for copies of the
Annual Yesrbook of Agriculture; and sent books to the NPS

Director and to other parks, many of them items he had



personally purchased in the second hand bookstores in San
Francisco. The major series and the Library of Congress
cards were purchased with funds made avallable by the Hawali
Natural History Association (HNHA.)

In 1951, the HNHA obtained the services of Miss Margaret

Titcomb, then librarian at the Bishop Museum, who came for a

“week or so each year to catch up the library work, The gensral

arrangement has been for the Museum to carry her on leave,

» with pay; for the HNHA to pay expenses; and for the Park

to provide quarters, usually at the VHse, This arrangement
has continued for 20 years and provides continuity in the
maintainance of the library. Between her visits, the work
has been done by volunteers and by part-time staff paid by
the Hawaii Natural History Association. |

After the spurt of acquisition activity in the 1950's, the
number of additions each year has settled down- to a small but -
steady stream of private gifts, and a small but less steady
stream of purchases made by the Park or by HNHA, A library
buying budget, if there 1is one, is very limited, Theilibrary |
was moved to basement quarters in May 1961, end provided with
e dehumigdifier and heater, There is no information as to ths B

state of the separated BVO library.s

¥ For information on the library see: Griffey Report of
March 6, 1947; Melton monthly and final reports of
1947 and May 1948; Melton article in Hawaii Library
Association Journal, December 1947.
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Hui O Pele

The early days of Hul O Pele have been ably outlined
in an article by former Superintendent Oberhansley which

appeared in the Hilo Tribune-Herald in August 1951, portions

of whiech follow,.

Hui O Pele was organized upon the suggesticn of
Charles C. Moors, the late renowned engineer of San
Francisco following his first visit to Kilauea in 1922,
Mr. Moors was so lmpressed by his visit to the fiery
domain of Pele that he ccnvinced the Honolulu Advertising
Club in an address before that group on May 9, 1922, that
it would be desirable to form soms sort of an organization
or soclety that would grant membership certificates to
those who, in his terms, have "actually stood on the
brink of what 1s without doubt the most fearsome spot
on earth accessible to man," _ »

Mr, Moors left a $100 check with the President of
the Ad Club upon his departure from Honolulu May 30, 1922,
with a request addressed to Governor wWallace R. Farrington
that the organization he had proposed and made the original
contribution for be implemented., After several meedings
by interssted persons and groups, on February 16, 1923,
the present name of the socieby was adopted, together with
a plan for organization and certificate of membership, To

ake the organization sslf-supporting, a $1 1ife member-
ship fee was fixed, each member to receive a csrtificate

and a pin, Gift memberships, numbsrs 1 te 12, charter .. -.. -

memberships at $10 each, numbers 13 to 200, and life
memberships 201 onward were decided upon. The firss
$10 charter membership was issued to L. W. de Vis-Norton
and gift memberships 1 to 5 were issued (in order named)

to founder C, C. Moore, U, S, Presideat Warren G. Harding,

Governor Wallace R, Farrington, Dr., Thomas A, Jaggar, and
Thomas Boles, Superintendent of Hawail National Park,

who accepted the office of Kuhina Nul {Prime Minister)

of Hul O Pele, an office since held by succeeding parl
superintendents,

On August 10, 1923, 2 final report on organization
of the society was filed by Chairman George lMellon
defining certain rules and procedures as follows:

"Ths president of the Ad Club shall be ex-officio
president of Hui O Pele, the Ad Club secretary-trsasursr
ex-cfficlio sscretary-trsasurer, the sxecutive board of the
club perpstual trustees, and the superintendent of Hawaii
Natlonal Park shall be ex~officic Kuhina Nul, Ths funds
of the Hul are bto be kept 1n a separabs account and used
only for such purposes connected with the Hul as the
trustees may approve,"

Cn November 17, 1923 it was further ruled as follows:
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"Should there be receipts for memberships over the cost

of certificates, buttons, postage and incidental running

expenses, 1t 1s to be used by the trustees for some purpose

connected with the volcano, such as a rest house, or what-
ever may be deemed contributory to the comfort or pleasure
of those who visit Pele's domain."

The first notable growth in membership occurred on
December lj, 1923 when the entire visiting delegation to
Hawail of the San Francisco Chamber of Commerce numbering
250 joined Hui O Pele, and by December 18, Deputy Kuhina
Nul de Vis-Norton reported 400 enrolled members of the
Hul, some 30 of which were charter members at $10 each,

On January 29, 192l lapel buttons for men, bearing
the insignia of Hul O Pele were adopted and buttons mailled
to members who had already received thelr certificates,
By 1927 adequate funds had been collected for the Hul to

consider expending them, and rest houses received the primary
attention, Several suggested plans, including one for a. simple
shelter were forwarded to Superintendent Evaans in May and then
forwarded to the regional Landscape Architect for final
approval, By the following May, Hul O Pele had 1issued its
first 25 checks ‘and Evans accounted for the total of $511,46
expended: o - -

Shelter #1 at Thurston Lava Tube, buillt of lava masonry
in September 1927 at a cost of $272.18;

Shelter #2 at E. Pauahi crater, built from the sams
design as #1 in Octobsr 1927 with a cement touch-up in April,
at a cost of $83.83;

Shelter #3 on Halemaumau btrall 500 feet below the junction
with the Sandalwood trail. This was a double bench affair of
lava masonry with iron roof built in April 1928 at a cost of
$130.81;

Souvenir ribbons for autolsts usiag the Chain of Craters
rcad on opening day. Cost of $2L.65.

Later in the same year, there was mention of checks spent
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'for clerical work and for book acqulsitions, These may have
been issued by the Park before Certificate revenues were
forwarded to the Hul O Pele account in Honolulu, as they do
not appear in later Hul O Pele accounts,.

In May of 1928 Hui O Pele received a membership boost with
the arrival of the U, S. Fleet in Hilo, There was a flurry of
correspondence bo guarantee an adegquate supply of both the
émblem buttons and emblem brooches; apparently one could
choose whichever one breferred and brooches were at least
equally popular as buttons required lapel space often occupied
by some other emblem.

Most of 1929 was spent in building up the bank balance
for wadt Hul O Pele hoped would be a major building project..
An accounting for May 1929, shows no expenditures beyond
the %511.46 already accounted for the preceeding year,
although the Superintendent‘s Raport for January 1928, mentioas
the plaanned construction of a shelter at the 7000 foot level.
on Mauna Lea,

. Ia December of that year, an accounting showed $3700 on
hand and Superintegﬂent Allen wrote asklang for funds for four
projects and precipitated a minor policy disagreement betwesn
Hul O Pele and NPS, He recommended the funds be used for:

#1, an overnight shelter at Kipuka Ahiu lookout; #2, leass
of & film on volcanoes; #3%, a movie camsra outfit to bs usad

to publicizs the Park; and #4, funds for lantern slides to

o3
&)

made and distribubted to otner park areas, The board of
trustees discussed the projects and came to the conclusion

that project #1 was acceptable; numbers 2 and 3 were only
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to attract visitors already in the Park; and #l silmply was
not & part of their work. They noted that the Haleakalsa road

was progressing and a shelter would soon be needed there, A

shelter at the Mauna Loa summit was also needed, They clearly

wanted to stay with the famliliar and successful rest-house-~
and-bench~building program they had followed so far. Super-
intendent Allen, having been advised that the funds could be

spent on any project deemed worthy by the Superintendent, as

- long as it was educational and not mere amusement, pressed

for greater flexibility.

By June 1930, it had been agreed to spend Hul O Pele funds

oa the constructlon of a shelter at Hilina Palil, which was
completed in August for a total cost of $824.06.

What to build was not the only problem; several other
policy matters had to be clarified. In April 1930, Director

Albright wrote pointing out that if Hul O Pele was to do any

actual construction work, all‘plané’wduld have to be‘appfo?ed>

by the NPS, and if the NPS staff was to do the work, then Hul

0 Pele funds had to be transferred to them before work could
/ ) - .

begin, The previo&s year, the NPS had had to explain that
its policy would not allow the placement of a brass sundial,
being built by students at Kamshamsha School, to be installed
on thes terrace before the Uwekahuna Observatory without the
approval of the Landscape Architect, Hul O Pele felt that

as the sundial was for the Hawslian Volcanoes Research
Assocliation building at Uwekahuna, 1t was not contemplated
that NPS would admianlster 1t, Final location of the sundial

1s pnot known,



A third problem had arlisen over "memorial" benches,
shelters and tralls, paid for by, or dedicated to, a particular
individual, Again, the NPS indicated that tnls was against
its policy, although all facilities built with Hul O Pele funds
ware so identified witn a discrete sign,

Wnile the Hilina Pali shelter was being built, plans were
being drawn up by the NPS Landscape Architect for a museum-
lecture hall addition to the Uwskahura Obssrvatory. In
September, Allen sent the plans to Huli O Pele and asked for
glily00 for construction., He noted that a new road to the
Observatory was scheduled for the following year; the addition
would 2allow the program to be expanded to include a permanent
scientist with a ranger assistant; and the NPS was already
conztructing comfort stations to accommodate the larger Euilding.
Agaln Superintendent Allen was met with resistance., Das Vis-Norton
claired insufficient funds to cover such a large outlay and
mentioned that the original estimate had been somewnsre between

three and four Lhousand. He also noted that the NFS had funds

with which to build comfort stations, but no funds with which

to build and furni;h the structure the comfort stations wers
to serve. The matter of personalities appears clearly in
ensuing correspoadence, Hul O Pele eventually furnisied
$%650 with which to begin the work, and Allen promised he
would try to make that amount cover the cost of necessary
furnishings as well., Hul O Pele had actually pledged up to
the 51100 originally reguested with the additional revenus
to come Trom future membership sales, but the soclety was in

no way obligated to provide the additional 3800 and ths NPS
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would simply have to stall any bills if funds were not
available., Work on the new Uwekahuna museum began in
September and showed an expenditure of %3736.98 as of
December 51, all funded by Hul O Pele. Not until September
1951 was the building declared fireproof, and only in March
1932 were funds available for the purchase of the chairs which
would allow a transfer of museum and Ilacture activities to
the new location at Uwekahuna,

With the depression: new memberships lagzed, and so did
funds for Huli O Pele projects. Albright had written in 1930

that, while the availability of Certificates could be mentioned

.to tour drivers, 1t would not be desirable to have NPS persoannsl

push the Certificates 1n the Park, Sales by drivers were not
great, however,nor were tourists fond of the approach. ‘A way
was asaded to push Hul O Pele Certificate sales that met with
NPS approval. Most Certificates were sold by hotei clerks,
and a few by the KMC staff, the agehts getting a 10% éommission.
Superintzsandent Leavitt éuggested that pe:baps the Tourist
Bureau‘could'Sell the Certificatéé; They wére”already ﬁsing
the membership lisgs in some of their promotional work, A
few were also sold at the "19th Hole," the Boles gimmick of
a hole-in-one into Halemaumau., De Vis-Norton deplored this
commercialism and under Leavitt, the "hole-in-one" was killed
by Executive Order. Very few memberships were sold during
the3€ years except to visiting military personnel. Both the
Vilse and the NPS were protesting a new Inter-Island package
tour which kept 100% of the revenue with the Inter-Island

company, end allowed visitors no time at all in the Park.
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Adding to the problem, the Honolulu Ad Club, original
sponsor of Hul O Pele, fell upon bad times in the early 1930's,
There was a feeling among some of the members that since Hul
0 Pele was thelr "child" they should have the fresdom to
expend 1ts funds as they saw fit, The NPS opposed this position
in principle and cited the earlier refusal of the Club to part
with Hul O Pele funds for any Park project that was not directly
designed for the comfort of Park visitors. De Vis-Norton, to
safeguard Hui O Pele fuunds, simply called no meetings of the
Hui O Pele Commlttse for several months,

In the summer of.193§ the Ad Club electad a new president;
one Spﬁd Murphy. This person was a relative newcomer to |
Honolulu and at the time was suspended from using the US Mails
due to a charge of fraud, His elsctlion had takea place under
curious circumstances, A épecial meeting had bsen called to
wnich only a select few were lavited, the rules were then.
suspended, and his election was by acclaim of the 7 members
present, Thls procedure resulted ian large numbebsﬂof resignations
from the A4 Club itéelf, including that of the chairmaa of the
Hul O Pele Committee, de Vis-Norton., Hul O Pele funds were
in danger. |

With de Vis-Norton resigned and anothsr Hul O Pele
Cocmmittee member dead, the new regime sought to galn control
of its funds by controlling the newly appointed Hul O Pele
Committee., The first step was to eliminate the Park Super-
intendent as a member, on the grounds that ne was merely an
nonorary Ad Club member., However, pressure wWas brought to

bear by some of the oldtimers still in the Club,
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and the new Hui O Pele Committee included both
the Supsrintendent and Harry Fleld as chairman, people that
de Vis-Norton felt were honest. |
| Leavitt immediately suggested that one way to safeguard
the funds was to spend them on a trail and shelter for Mauna
Los, With the possibility tnat the Ad Club might give it up,
he and Jaggar also discussed the possibiliﬁy of Jjoining Hul

0 Pels to the infant Hawall Natural History Association, a

 small informal helding group of sorts which as yet had made

no effort to attract members,

The Ad Club actually controlled only some $2700 of Hul
funds at the time., Park headquarters still sold most of the
Cortificates and funds weant first into a Government account
before being traansferred to the Hul O Pele account in Hoholulu,.
Murphy and his supporters, including Ad Club Treasurer Henley
(at the time general manager of radio station‘KGMB) first
attempted to subvert some fdhdé to cover expenssas ofrtbe
president during a'trip to Hilo to "look over™ Hui O Pele.

Even thils was rejegted by the new Committes as_guite uf-
acceptable, and Leavitt contlinued to push for a relsass of
fuads for a Mauna Loa rest houss, |

In December 1933 Wingate (who had replaced Leavibtt as
Superintendent) wired Murphy for a release of Hui funds for
the Mauna Loa shelter, plans for wnich had been approved by
Landscape Architect Sager, The summit eruption of Mauna Loa
made a shelter there a popular project. Murphy, apparsntly
seeing the handwriting on the wall (de Vis-Nortoan had mentioned

the possibility of an injunction) replied that the funds would
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be available after January 1, the delay being necessary to
gain the year-end intercst. Rlley Allen also pressed editor-
ially for donations with which to furnish the new shelter.
Murphy released $2500 on January 3, 193l and by March, in bitter
cold weather, work was started on the new snelter, PFPack animals
were loaned by nearby ranchers and KMC. . The shelter cost all
but $37.70 of the $2500 appropriatiocn,.

The A3 Club continued in difficulty., Wingats reguested
an accounting of Hui O Pele funds iﬁ October 1934 and followed
this with a demand note against the Club for some $310 of
Hul funds that had already been expended on unauthorized
projects. The Club was near baankruptcy and Murpny made 2
specilal appeal to members for funds with which to clear tha
books., Murphy was finally forced to sign a demaad nots, an&
steadfastly promlsed to repay the missing Hui funds. In due
courss the Ad Club did entirely disband, Treasurer Henley

left the Islands rather abruptly, and presideﬁt Murbhy's

‘affairs went into litigation, Not uantil February 1936 did

District Attorney ngrém M. Stéinback érrange for a repayment
of the §310 to Winéate in return for the demand note signed
by Murphy in 1934, This was the last coantact betwsen tne Ad
Club and Hul O Pele,

The collapse of the Ad Club left Hui O Pele witn no
reputable sponsor, Superintendent Wingate had been given
custody of the Soclety in September 193, to do with as he
saw fit. His first concern was a new sponsor for the group,
and by the end of the year, he had definitely decided on the

Honolulu Outdoor Circle. Ex-Hul O Pele Committee Chairman
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Field approved this move although a few old Ad Clubbers
preferred the Tourist Bureau and had made some moves in that
direction, By January 1935, Wingate, Field'and de Vis-Norton
(now a member of the Outdoor Circle's Hul 0O Pele Committes)
had prepared a new set of by-laws for the club, (These have
not been located.,) They broadened the scope of the group's
functlons to allow the expendlturs of funds for projects other

than bulldings, a move long sought by the NP3 staff. NPS

" Director Cammerer actually wanted to get rid of this problem

child entirely, but Wingate wrote in February 1935 that the
Outdoor Circle had agreed to take it on and that the Hul

could not simply be disbanded. The Director finally gave his
approval for this move, but noted that a NPS man ought not to
head the group. On April 3, 1935 the Hul O Pele files were.
turned over to thse Hui O Pele Committee of the Outdoor Circle,
consisting of Mrs., Cooke, chairman, Mrs, Robert White,
treasursr, and Superintendent Wingaté; Tbe Hui'had.a'balancé
of $680.54 in savings and $00.45 ian 1ts checking account,
With the addition of the $31C from Murphy in February 1956;:
the available funds were close to ° $1000. Although Wingabe

suggested a list of projects at this time, there was no actlon.

By 1939, Riley Allen and de Vis-Norton both were expressing

concern over the apparent lack of actian since the Cutdoor
Circle had taken over the sponsorship of the Hul. They
suggested the possibility of a separate crganization for

Hui O Pele in Honolulu. Nothing came of this, but in October
1929, money for the Footpriﬁts area Museum was donated by the

club, &nd the work was done by CCC boys as job B-19,
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On May 27, 1941, & special meeting was called, out of
which came a new constitution and by-laws for Kul O Pele.
The new constitution outlined‘several types of memberships,
as follows: Honorable Life lMemberships, to bes awarded to
those who had performed some valuable service to Hui O Pele,
and to distinguished visitcrs; Charter lembers, of which there
were still some 100 Certificates outstanding, available to Life
Members who had jolned before 1927, upon payment of a fes of
$10; Life Membars, as previously; and 12 Governing Msmbers,
gll of whom were to contribute their services to the Bul and
were to be elected by the Board of Directors, except for two
to be appointed by the Outdoor Circle. The first.twelve
Governing members were listed, drawing heavily on o0ld Ad Club
Eul O Pele Committse people, Governing the group was 1in the
hands of the Governing members wnhno would elsct éppropriate
officers, Offiéers lncluded the honorary Kiaaina, to be
held by the Governor of Hawail; Kuhina Nul, held by the
Superintendent of the Park; and a presideét, two vice-.
presidents, a secretary, a treasureb, and an auditor. Member-.
ships still includéd the choice of eitner an "offiéial Brooch
or Button Emblem of the Society" along with the membership
Certificate., Disbursements were to be made for projects which
were for the coanvenience of visitors, on the reguest of the
Superintendent of the Park and with tne consent and approval
of the Board of Directors. The Board consisted of the officers
and the btwelve Governing Members, Article 1I of the new

Constitution, on the purposes of the Club, read: ",..buildings



|
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for the shelter, comfort, and protection of visitors to the
Hawaii National Park, equip such builldings with furniture,

instruments, books, museum displays,...” This list of |
acceptable projects had been discussed between VWingate and

the Committee the previous December, Article III provided

that the funds cof the Society could be derived from dues,

donations and other means but, except for expenses, were to

~ be used for no purpose other than those listed ip Article II,

The first officers of this newly re-organized Bui O Pele were
Charles R, PFrazier, president, and George Armitage, secretary.
At tne same meeting, a vigorous new program of public
relatlions was presented, to include framed certificates and
posters 1ln selected locations, and volunteer agents to sell
the memberships,

The new program had barely been sstablished wihen December
7, 1941 forced Hui O Pele and the Park into World War IIL, and
little was heard of the society for several years,

After the war, Huli O Pele continued with the program

outlined in May 1941, Gertificates and posters were distributed

to hotels and books of Certificates were left with hotels, the
Tourist Bureau offices, KMC, and anywhere else thabt sales might
bs made, the agents again taking a 10% commissicn, For several
yéars, the society had a close assoclatlon with the Hawalil
Tourist Bureau, the head of the organizaticn serving also on
the Board of Hul O Pele. As the HNRA grew, they gradusally

took over the major portion of Hul O Pele membershlp Certif-
icate sales, resulting in a noticeable improvemant in annual

income to the Soclety.
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In April 1950 it was decided to discontinue giving pins
or brooches witn the §l membership Certificates; the pins
were gold-plated and too expensive., A wallet size membership
card was substltuted, all remaining pins and brooches were
called back, and, when the new cards were well established,
were to be sold for an additional $l. The switeh from pins
to a membership card required that all advertising had to be
corrected, including‘tne VHise menus which mentioned Hui O Pele
and were regularly taken as souvenirs., For the most part,
stickers with the revised information were pasted on as
necessary. The wallet cards went through severai forms until

a design andva paper type were develcped that proved satisfactory,
The Certificates themselves were re~designed in 1962, .
In early 1947, Hui O Pele had over $6000 available for
use in the Park and it was'agreed that the funds be expended
for museum development, In February 1948, a tcmporary displaj
was developed around the paddle wheels of Jaggar's "Ohiki "
his amphibian "sandcrab," and a new Hawaii relief map was
installed, By mid-1949 the old ruseun plans had been’revised
and updated and Hui 0 Pele had $7000 a?ailabla for projects,
In December of that year six museum units were chosen for the -
Washington Museum Laboratory to construct, Paul Rockwood,
formerly of the Western Museum Laboratory, was hired to serve
&s on-the~scene specilalist, The start of work on thess projects
in January 1950 marked the new beginning of museum work in
Hawali National Park.

In June 1951, the Hul donated another $2500 to the museum

project, malnly to keep Paul Rockwocd at work. In December 1952
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an additional $2000 was donated to complete tne Museum in time
for its dedication on May 25, 1953, That April, the Museum
name was changed from Hale-O-Ikeike (House of Knowledge) to
Thomas A, Jaggar lemorial Museum, With funds from the Hui,

ENHA, and NPS Region Four, Rockwood remained at the museum

until December 1953, Halley Cox was assisting Rockwood in

the museum for part of this pericd.

In March 195l the Soclety suggested spending some $2900
then available on a diorama for the museum, This was seb
aside in favor of-joining with the HNHA in completing other
projects, including the third pamnel of the Great Seafarers
triptych, two other exhibits, 2 bronze plaques, and a Hawaili
Island map for the lobby.

Two years later, the Hul funded a'program of twenty—foﬁr
interpretive signs Iin redwood with a short text routed into
the wood. Addiéional funds were spent the following year
(1957) on sign repairs, new signs and new acoustical tile for
the lobby where naturalist talks were still being given.

The museun, dg;ing these years, had gained a mgjor addition
through the loan, gnd later gift, of part of ﬁhe David Forbes
collection of EHawaiiana, In 1958 the HNBA contracted to have
the Museum collection catalogﬁed, valued, and labeled. It also
attempted to determine the ownershlp of some of the materials,
especlally the paintings, many of which were hsld by the Park
in storage.

In 1959 the Hul provided $3000. toward a Bishop Museum
contract for a study of the Kalapana area. Two new roadside

exhibits, at Aloi crater and Lava Tree Molds, were donated by
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the Hui in 1963, and during 1965-66 the Society gave $600
toward obtalning and then cleaning, framing and mounting

Hitchcock!s Madame Peles painting whlch now hangs in the lobby

of Park headquarters,

Up until 1951, Hui O Pele had been a Honolulu organization;
although the Park 1t served was on Hawall, no Hawaii Island
resident was a member of the Governing Board until fhe Annual
Meeting in March of that year. At that time, a move was made
to galn wider Big Island representation on the Board, with a
view to eventually moving its entire base of operations from
Honolglu to Hilo, In preparation for this move, all the old
Hui O Pele records, scattered at bthe Park and elsewhers, were-
collscted in Honolulu,

The effort to establish Hui U Pele in Hilo moved another
step forward at the March 1954 meeting. ' A vice-presidency
was left unfilled with the hope of persuading a Hilo resident
to accept it, and move the organization to Hiio when bthat
perscn moved up to become president., Glenn Mitchell of Hiib :,“
was approached by S9perintendent Oberhansley with thls 1n»miﬁd;’.'v
and Mitchell agreaé/to'accept the rositica of vice-president.

In March 1956, however, no éhanve‘had taken place: William
Cogswell was president, having taken over at the death of
Frazier ( who apparently had served continuously as president
since the Society's re-organization in 1941), the Hui was still
based 1ln Honolulu, and Hawall island representation on the Board
was minimal,

Finally in 1961 Hul O Pele was re-organized, again, and

its headquarters moved to Hilo. In February Superintendent
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Fred T. Johnston asked for an up-~-to-date listing of tne
members of the Governing Board., Again Hul O Pele funds were
held in the Goverament account until a decision could be
reached., In March the Board of Directors'agreed to a re-
organization of the Soclety, and a traansfer to Hilo with a
new Board of Directors to be organized there. A complete
audit was taken, showiag a balance of $1860, a 1list of

interested peopls was prepared, and a meeting with them was

~arranged for April 6, Some 25 persons were iavited to attend,

along with a 1list of 19 posslble new Board members.

At the April 6, 1961 meeting, a new Board of Directors
was elected, including the Park Superintendent and Park
Naturalist, Thess totaled 21 persons, 17 members and L
officers. An Honorary Board was also recognized, consisting
of 7 previous directors begianning with Harry Fisld. Althodgh
members living on other islands serve on the Board of Directors,

Hul O Pele is now primarily a Hawaii Island soclety.

Hawall Natural History Association

The early history of the HNHA 1s still unelear. A 1953
file refers somewhat vagaely to the fact that the Association
had a 1little over 900 members in 1947 and grew to over 21,000
in 1951, As of that year, the Association had donated to the
Park: $l07.70 for the Museum; $838.78 for photographic equip-
ment; $1050.11 to the lidbrary; $563.55 for employees; and
%250 for research expenses, This informatioa came from a
mimeographed report of the activities of Natural History

Assoclations, dated August 24, 1953. In 1953 the Assoclation
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was reported bto have donated $3000 to "Museum Development,”
Their income was largely from the sale of slides and movies,
wlth a lesser amount from postcards and other items. The
pest cards were dropped from the invenbtory that year after

a memorandum from the Director, NPS, disapproved the sale of
note paper by the Assoclations., _

Early ia 1954 a new list of projects was prepared {not
found) and a new constitution drawn up, patterned on one
submitted by the Washington office, It was adopted by members'
vote on January 18, 1954 (not found.) The research programs

list was amended to stress natural history, as the major

intersst of the Association, not merely nistory snd archseology.

Volcano research in progress was also to be included, and new
programs of needed research on exotic plants and restoratioﬁ
of endangersd species was suggested,

The next few entries in this file deal malnly with
iaventories of supplies and an annual statameﬁt andvReport."
Expenditures included fuanding the Bishop Museum study of the
Kalapana Extension and new equipment in 1959§ funding of a
uniformed park inférmation~receptionist in 1961, a GS-3
position costing $5957'from a profit of 10,216,.95 during 1960;
and incorporation as a non-profit organization 1n the State
of Hawaii, effective August 23, 1961, with a new constitution
and by-laws. Memoership oan the Board of Directors was
expanded to includs the Park Naturalist at Halesksla, In
1563 a taxonomist was hired to classify all herbarium
specimens, arrange them properly, check Ranger Guanar

Pagerlund's list of plants and bring it up to date, and
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collect as many as possible of the missing specimens, In
196l, arrangements were made to hire Mrs. John Forbes as a
permanent staff member to provide for continuity of operation;
and in 1965 the Association contracted for a Park history and
provided other funds for interprstation of the Park's 50th

Anniversary in 1966.%

% riles: 871-03; AL2, 1960-56.
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FLORA AND FAUNA

On the isolated Hawaiian Islands there developsd many

plant and enimal species which were not only indigencus ~-

native to the place, but endemic -~ known only at this

place, Within the Park, the problems were to preserve the

native species and eliminate or control the exotic ones,

Native Flora

Park policy wculd gé directed at preserving and if
possible re-establishing the native fleora in areas where it
no looger grew, This was to be effected either by eliminating
thatever hed pushed the natives out of their former habitat,
thereby allowing them to re-establish themselves, or by
transplanting nursery or field grown plants, Some of the
endangered endemic plants, however, were not native to the
Parkx area although they were native to similar lands, There
develcped a major policy question over whethéf or nct these
should also be esteblished in the Park in an effort to preserve
af least a few speclmens within a conservation area,

The commonest’tree in the Kilauea ssction of the Park

is the ohia lehua [ﬁetrosideros collinaf which, with the true

tree ferns /Cibotium/and the smaller but upright ferns of the
Sadleria group distloguish the "rain forest" or “fern forest!

of the volceno region,

The sandalwood /Santalum/, koa /Acacia koa/ and ochie

had all been harvested as econcmic crops,‘the former for its
scent, the two labtier as hardwocds, This cubbing hed reduced

the once extensive sandalwood forests $o a few, scattered
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trees, The ohia and koa were less intenslvely sought, but
koa had been cut from nelghboring Blshop Estate lands early
in the century and again rore recently. This harvest had |
rendered the lands less desirable a&s Park sdditions, a fact
not lost on the Blshop Estate trustees. Fulu, the soft
covering of new tree fern fronds, hed also been harvested
briefly, but there was no major threat to the tree ferns
themselves until the advent of the orchid industry in the
1940's when the fibrous trunk became a favored growing medium,
Establishment of the Park lessened this threat of man but
there remained the threat c¢f exctic, grazing animals,

One of Superintendent Boles! ezrliest problems lay in
the continued grezing of Xipuka Fuaulu, or “Bird Park,"

The original Park encompassed severgal of these kipukas -~-

<

Al

rcckets of land geologically different from tne surrcunding

lave -- where a wide variety of trees could be found., One of
these, Kipuka Puaulu, had been grezed be cgtgle from a neigh-
boring ranch long before the ares became a Park, but as late

as 1913, Dr. Joseph Rock estimated there were still over 40
species of native/érees within its GO acres. Territorial
rorester C.S, Judd, concerned with the loss of native trees,
urged that the kigﬁka be fenced and the stock excluded. Grazing
produced a pleasant park-like effect visually, but very poor
natural reproduction of the plant species. In 1926, Cammefer
urged the same thing in his Report and suggested a deal be

made with the rancher to fence out nhis stock in exchange for
Iree grazing rights elsewhere, Boles was not coaviaced and *

felt the ungrazed underbrush would be a fire hazsrd, |
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The area was finally fenced ian 1928 and the immediate re-growth
of new séedlings of seversal species clearly showed the negative
effects of grazing.

Grazing, by cattle and by fersl goats, continues to be
one of the worst enemies of the native forest., The koa groves
in the HMeune Loa strip area offer ancther example, Both ohia
and koa had been nursery-grown in large numbers for plaanting
in selected Park aréas, put both initially responded poorly
to transplanting. As the koa forests seemed to be especially
endangered, a new attempt to preserve them was made in 1935
when two Park Rangers fenced off four mature kxoa stands in the
then-grazed Meuna Leoa strip area, The immediate sucker growth
within the enclosurés, compared with the non-existant growth
outside, was compelling evidence of the adverse effects of
grazing on the koa reprcduction in this area. VWith thils
evidence at hand, & concerted effort was made to rid ths
strip lands of cattle and allow the koa standé to restore
themselves. Cattle were re-introducéd as an emergency measure
during wObld War II, with new damage to the koa groves. In
1949 when thé area/was again free of cattle, a new effort was
mede to restore the koa forests. The Park nursery again
produced seedlings in great numbers, Thousands were dis-
tributed on the lower slopes bf Mauna Loa and many survived,
Besides restoring the koa itself, it was hoped that the new
groves would reduce fire-susceptable grasses as well.

While ceattle were destroying koa in the strip area,
feral goats were eating everything thet sprouted in the pali

areas, In August 1937, Superintendent Wingate covered the
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four miles between Pepeleu snd Hilina Pali and reported:
"Upwards of 2,000 goats were seen end close observation feailed
to reveal a single tree of any species less than 15~20 years
old." Perhaps with this in mind, a nursery at the Park wes

finelly esteblished late in 1937 with koa, hau /Pariti tiliaceum/

and mamani /Edwardsia chrysophylla/ seedlings from the Terr-

itorial Forestry Departmeat Nursery in Hilo,

Buring its early years, the Fark nursery seems to have
concentrated on propagating a few common trees for landscaping
and reforestation., In 1940, some memani were transplanted to
the denuded Kipuka Hene end Hilina Pali area in the hope of
repziring some of the goat demage. During this year, some 20
specles were experimented with at. the nursery, though many did
not prove satisfactory in the field. Additional native trans-
rlants were set out in 1941, including a number of wili-wili

/Erythrina monosperma/ at Hilina Pali. These latter were

given the protection of goat-proof fencing. A grove of
coconubs were also re-introduced to the Halape coast area,

where some 70 sprouted coconuts and L0 hala /Papdanus tectorius/

seedlings had beenfplanted in 1927, with ancther 105 cocoauts
added by the CCC boys in 1934, The original teach plenting
had been fenced, ané the cocenuts seemed to have survived well,
There is no additional mention of the hala seedlings, but as
of 1929 some 66 of the original coconuts were still alive, a
few four feet tall,

The post-war reforestation program included more plantings
at Hilina Pali, In 1945 over [j0 wili-wili were set out, again

protected by goat-proof fences, The survival rste for the

@2 (D -



original 19L1 planting is nct known, but to enhance the view
from the'lookout, the screens were removed in 1954, The goats
guickly reduced this planting to three trees,

The Park nursery, officially established in 1937, served
two seprarate pu&poses, with emphasis fliuctusting over the years,
First, it was designed to produce many of the common plants
for simple reforestation and for landscaping. Such was the

case with the ezrly kee, memanid end will-wili seedlings. Secead,

it was to serve as & scientific station, developing techniques
for nursery growing the commopn natives, and for preserviag

and propagating the rare and endangered specles, During the
pre~war years the emphasis had been cn mess producticn of the
cormmon plants, but Ranger Gunder E, Olson, who had been glven
charge of the nursery, had also succeeded in bringing eleven
native species to the traasplant stage, thereby proving it
was feasible to use netive, nursery-reared trees for reforest-
etion projects throughout the islands, This was at a tiﬁe
when the Forestry Department was actively intrcducing exotics
fcr watershed refo;estation on the grounds bthat natives could
not be satisfactoéily grown and transplanted,

Immediabtely after the war the nursery moved inio its
other major fleld of endegvor, the propagation of rare and
endangered species. In 1940 and sgain in 1943, Dr. Joseph
Rock had visited the Park and urged the establishment, within
the Park proper, of a botanical reserve in which such species
could be grown., As early as 1923, Superintendent Boles had
asked Territorial forester C.S., Judd for help in obtalning

sandalwood seedlings from Molokai "with which to start a
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small grove within the park limits."™ There is no mention
of whether he was able to obtaln these seedlings, but Boles!
192l Report approvingly noted the establishment by Judd of
ann erboretum of several acres "nearby," in which endangered
native trees would be pleanted., "Nearby" may have been the
Bird Park area. A dry winter proved disastercus, however,
and very few of the young plants survived,

This early effort was of the "botenical garden' approach
designed to preserve as many rere and endangered trees as
possible, and only 3 of the fourteen species planted were
native to the kipuka. The entire project was a failure, even
though'additicnal plantings were made in the area cver the
next few years, Nothing more is heard of en arboretum or
nursery in the Park for the next ten 3earé.

During these early yeérs other rere but non-Park plants
were being tried. Otto Degener, thean e Univeprsity of Hawaidl
botanist, sent a can of seeds of the Haleakala greeasword,
with instructions to scatter them along Byron's Ledge and
the KiiC area, 'Thegbriginal pian had been to use Haleakala
silversword, but this plant had failed to yield seeds., In
February 1928, Degener sent ten sprouts of the silversword
itself which were planted on the rim of Kilauea crater.

Roth plant species were rare but in no way native to the
Kilauea section of the Park. Nothing more is heard of either
of these planting attempts,

Quite simply, unless the species had originally grown
in the Park -- and in that particular area of the Park --

Such a botanical reserve program would not conform to
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National Park policy. Naturalist Guaner Fagerlund outlined

a compromicse progrem in a2 memo to Superintendate Wingate

‘dated November 11, 19Ll,. He pointed out that the Park was

obliged to preserve not only individual species but also their
natural ecology, and while rare trees in general needed aild,
rare trees native to the Park hed received, to date, little
avtention, This, then, should be the Park's first responsibility.
In another memo dated November 25, he suggested a plan for the
non-Fark species. These could be proreagated in a nursery such
as the Parkts or the Fobestry aursery in Hile, and then planted
cut on private properties, Such a plan would ellow the Park
to assist iﬁ preserving these endangered speclies, while avoiding
the error of establishing a sanctuary of non-Fark plants within
it's boundaries.

This preservation nursery program was instituted in léhB
with the aid of the Hilo Feorestry nursery. One of the high-

lights of the new program came in 1951 with bthe successful

~transplant of a slip taken from the only surviving specimen

of Eibiscadelphus giffardianus then known. Thils was placed

in the Bird Park area where it may once have grown naturally.

Between 1953 and 1659 the genersl forestry program mcved
ferward well, It had the advantage of interested Fark Rangers
in charge, andé interested Forestry Technicians to provide the
long-range continuity. Careful record-keeping and proper
field care paid off handsomely with a high success rate among
the treansplants,

During the slow periocds of temporary lack of interest,

or funds or manpower, there was a return to the mass production
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of common species, especially koa and mamani, for use in
landscaping. A slow period has resulted in very little
nursery work since 196l,

Two natlve plants have required special attention at

cne time or another, These are the true tree ferns /Cibotium/

end the ohelo /Vaccinium reticulatum,/

In the spring the ferns send out new fronds and these
young stipes, somewhét resemoling aspearegus, are considered
delicacies by some of the islapd population, During the late
1930's and egeain in the rid 1940's, special patrols were
necessary during the short spring hervest period to prevent
the destruction of Park ferns. The Thurston Lava Tube area
was the favored site in the 19%0's, as it wes readlily accessible
via the cut-off road running between the Mamalahoa highwey and
the Kileuea Iki roed. For a while it was necessary to close
this roed to control the thefts. During the 19L8 ?andalism,
the stipes were selling for as much as 90¢ a éqund. The
Superintendent noted in his Annual Report that with the removel
of tree ferns outside the Park for the orchid industry, the in-
Fark ferns would b; all the more unigue, This outbreak was
stopped with little damage to the ferns and there has been no
mention of this proﬁlem since 1948, due to better educatioa of
the public to Park values, and the closing of the access road,

The ohelo problem also had to do witn picking edibles
from within the Park, an activity prohibited by general Hational
Yark policy. Originslly the fruit sacred to the volcano god-
dess Fele, the cranberry-like berries are now popular with

islanders who make them into sauces, shortcakes and pies,
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Although Park policy is cconsistent, enforcement fluctbuated
over the-years on whether to pick or not, and if picking were
allowed, who could do it &nd how much fruit could be gathered, |
At times the prchibition was complete, at other times one
could pick, but ooly with a permit, aad then only a specified
emount, Or, one could pick freely, but only for perscaal use,
or cnly 1f one lived within the Park, For z while the VHse
served chelo pie, bub this was dropped from the menu on the
grounds that it wes counter to the private-consumption~-only
eniorcenent policy in effect at tne time, and because there
wes little call for it. A4s well as can be determined, Park
attitude on ghelo-berry picking seemed to be determined by

1) the condition of the bushes themselves, a matter dependent
on general weather conditions and curreat volceanic activity,

and 2) the coanvictions of the incumbent Superintendent,

Exotic Flora

~

IThe Paork, when established, was already the home of a
number of avtractive 'garden™ exotics, The pink "Lymaa" or
"volcano" rose graced the fence of the 1868 VHse., Fuschia
and nasturtiums had been widely sown in what were to become
fark areas, The striking purple tibouchinza, yellow and waite
"gingerlily," and the orange flowered hybrid bulb comzmonly
called Mbt, Bresia had all esceaped culbivation and were well
esteblished or scon would be. The exotic blackberry vied with
the native morning glory in a strangling density of growtho
Summer home owners, KMC and the VHse all had lush gardens

full of introduced plants. There were also a number of exotic
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grasses and "weeds" which had moved intc the Park from who
¥nows where,

Beth thereasturtium and fuschiz had heen specifically
planted in the Park proper. 0One of Boles! first monthly
reports (for October 1922) mentiocns that the Park staff had
been planting both, Cammerer in 1926 noted that the Outdoor
Circle of Hilo, with the best of intentlions, had also been
planting exotics along the Park roads. He suggested that
Boles get tonem to re-direct their fine efforts into more
gepproonriate channels, Cexmerer zlso mentioned that the ViHse
gerden was a joy to behold, but that it had no place in a
Wational Park., A1l ia all, he saw several weeks of work for
the Netlional Park landscepe architect, |

By 1930 the problem of garden exobtics had not progressed
very much., The VHse garden was s%till full of exotlcs, The

roadside nasturtiums were doing well and spreading, The

blackberry and guava also ranked high on the list of undesirsble

exotlcs, The gquestien of exotics, reported Thomas Vint in 1930,

was particularly serious in HNP,

His report went in, but apparently due to depressioh
flnances, little was done, The 1932 Report of Landscape
Arcnitect John Wosky listed the same problems, although he
did mention that all but the fuschia had been removed from
the VHse grounds, Wosky sdded the moraing glory and the

staghorn fern /ﬁicranopteriq emarginate/ to the 1ist of

problem plants, Both are aatives but tend to overwhelm other

species, Nasturtiums, at least, were no longer mentioned as
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a problem,

Finélly, the CCC &and WPA progfams beginning in 1933
provided the funds and the manpower to adequately tackle the
worst of the exobtics, bezinning with the blackberry and
morniang glory in Bird Park, Other exotlecs were removed by
grubbiﬁg frem the residence and headguarters areas,

The next major effort to remove exotics came in the 1950!'s

when & program was institubed once again to remove the blacke

" berry and morning glory iz Bird Park, as well as the exotics

elong roads and trails, Re-sprouts were sprayed with herbicides,
Gespro, a local firm, in 1955 was treating sample plots with
chemicals to determine the best control of exotics, Some plots
showed a high plant kill, but the chemicals were not selective,
The most satisfactory technigue for the removal of exctics
continued to be hand grubbing and burning the trash to remove
seeds, followed by a spraying with herbicides to control
re-growth, \

By 1957 there was a regular exotics control crew on duty
from roughly April/through October ané by 1962 the problem
had reached the stége vhere it was considered necessary to
revise the PCP to include the complete clearing of 180 acres
of exotics by 1965 at the rate of ;0 acres per year,

The degree of exotic flora control varied widely over the
years; At the present time 1t is thought both impossible and
unnecessary to achieve complete eradication of all exotic
plants in the Fark, Somne, such as the pink "volcano" rose,

seem to be considered residents of such long standing that



they are almost classed as natives. Hydranga and the

2lrulikuli /Lempranthus glomeratus/are bota tolerated at the
VHse and KMC, Others, such as the "gingers" and bambco |
ofchids are so well established that they can at best only
be controlled., Infrequently some new exotlic escapes

cultivation and becomes an attractive pest requiring special

attention, such &s occurred with the coreopsis receantly,

tiost of the large exotic trees, such as the evergreens and the
eucalypous, are slowly and incoaspicuocusly belng removed,

With the acquisiticn of the Kalapana extension; the control
of exotics has moved into a new phase, The plant species in
the extension are so overwhelmingly exotic that total ersdi-

cation seems unlikely,

‘Retive Fauna

The Hewaiians brought with them to the islands the pig,

| dog, rat and chicken, Already here were a great number of

birds and one land mammel, the bat. Européans brought with
them a mulbitude of animals of which two mammals and many
birds were to have”én effect on the Park,

~£mong the native birds were a number that were also-
endeniic, particularly the Nene or Hawaiian goose, and the

honeycreepers of the Drepanidaeé family., The Hawalians ate

the Hene which originally occurred in large, tame flocks,

and they "harvested" selected feathers from several of the
forest birds with which they made the royal feather cloaks
and helmets. These birds, however, were merely plucked and

released to grow new feathers, and the Hawalian forest bird
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population did not suffer more than tne indignity of a few
missing feathers, ZEuropeeans were less carveful. The birds
were hunted for specimens and for sport and in a very short
time at least two species were extinct, others were thought
to be extinct, and many more were endangered. The Nene and
many of the Park's forest birds fell into the latter classi-
fication,

Hawali National Park was nob established specifically
es a bird sanctuary but it served as cne. The Park contains
the ohia forest favored by the drepanids, snd the upland lava
neadows favored by the Nens, Native bird protection, however,
was not a major element in early Park edministretion, Boles,
in a supplement to his 192% Annual Report, noted only that
the "native red birds" were becoming plentiful, and so were
the introduced Chinese pheasant. With the exception of a
1929 project to eradicate the mynah birds in Bird Psrk with
air rifles, there is no reference to protection of anative
birds in the Park until well into the 1930's,.% The attractive
exotics, on the other hand, are frequently mentioned, and‘
were even protected to the extent that the Park trapped and
removed the equally. exotic mongoose which was destroying the
eggs of the ground-nesting exotics,

What had happened witn the native flora was happening

also with the native avifauna, New species had been introduced,

elther Tor their beauty or their sport value, and althougzgh

* Superintendent's Monthly Report for November 1929, Air
rifies were being tried, Poisoa would kill ground nésting
blrds, and shobguns would frighten away native bvirds,



not liberated within the Park, these introduced birds quickly
found the Fark a safe hone,
Beginning in 1928 = concerted effort was initiated to

re-~stock the islands with song-birds, under the suspices of

)

the Territorial Forestry Lepartment esnd interested bird fanciers,

In December of that year, groups of thrushes were literated in

different localities, and cn Janvery 16, 1929, the Eilo Tribune-
2 L4 P

Eerszld carried a full page ad headed "BEUY A BIRD, An Appeal ¢

a

o)

the Bird Lovers of Hawail," A §.00 doaation wculd purchsase a
pair of birds to be released in likely sreazs, Birds cffered

were the cardinals, chinese thrush, mesadowlark, and Pekin

-

nightingele, The Superiatendent's report for Januvary 1929
noted thet many volcano area sunmer-home owaners had subscribed
for birds and "the park will be directly benefitted by th

U

eChas been underliined in firm

o

movement.," The word "bhenelit

lines with the 1nitials E.G.W. 3y October of that year it was
spparent that a great many cof thé introduced birds head found
their way to the Park and intended to remain, Superintendent
Leesvittis Aanual Report of October 19%3% mentioned that birds,‘
the only native animal life in the Park, were apparently.
increasing, but theAintroduced birds were also rapidly
inecreasing and "it will probebly be only a mabter of time when
the native birds are crowded out,"

A depression year wori project initiated formal bird
study in #lip, Two.technicians vorking in a summer prosran
during 19%5-1937 prepared a "Hawailian Bird Survey" under the

direcction cf George C. luaro, This study dealt meinly with
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sightiags in study plots. In 1637 alsc, Hawa

0

received its first annual bird census,

During 1935-1939 the CCC wildlife sectlon began & genersl
survey of Fark avifauna, FPart cof the study involved bird
diseases, as a faector in the decline of native bird populations.
Bumble~foot and cther bird disesses were identified and in part
traced to intrcduced birds. The study found that mynahs and
English sparrows picked up bumble-foct from chickens, and this
led to a campeign during 19%9 for adecusate screeulng of
chicken pens, Blcod parasite research coatlauved in tae summer
of 1940 with identificaticn aid from the First and Wilclife
Service,

Senior ¥Wildlife roreman (CGC) Paul K, Raldwin was

ot

o
o]

Lo

O
a

vy

[
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officially authorized to take over the bird st
19%9, heving already devoted much of the previcus two years

to it. He pulled together the work already done and ian April
1940 began a study of the life histories of the threatened
native birds. These were to include & bird census, bird

food habits aad predatcor control, His report for Hovember
1SL0 suggested that the bird studies continue for another

two years, that they should ianclude & complebe Nene study,
and tnet these should be Iollowed by a related forestry studye.

By the middle of 1941 Beldwin had two publicaticns con birds
b

t

alrcady issued (cane on birds in HKP) and more were being

This work came tc a nalt with the start of World VWer IX

prepared, '
in Uecember 1941, but Beldwin was able to "make time" with
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whicn to continue at a modified pace nhis oird studies so &s
not tc lose tne value of the work alresdy done., He coanblnued

ied pregram until 1945, In 104l his "Eirds

“"_)

with this mecdi

abtional Park! appeared in Ludubon Megazine (May-dJu

o
}.(3
oy
A}
by
[3¥]
‘-J-
}.J.
b

and his paper on the lene appreared in Condor (Jaa-Feb 1945)
the followiag spring.
Within the Perk, the war years saw some dsmnsge to native

rGs due to milivery use oi the Xa'u bombing range, The

o
e

Directcr of.ta Park Service, fezring even greater damege to
var-zone pirds, requested thet representatives of endangered
species be sent to safe, meials
a 7ift'pair of Nene viere offered by rencher-neighbor derbert
Shipman, It was fineglly decided tnat shirment might prove

cequally hazardous aand the birds remained in the islands.

Arpareatly only tne Kene were considered for thls preserveation

rroject,
The war years also saw the end of the Tforeign bird
importaticns., This progrem had been opposed by Baldwin znd

the AN

2y}

staff who saw the cxotics steadily pushing the native
birds out of their home forests,

The developing field of bird studies nad received
encouragement in the spriang of 1937 wahen a flock ol Fene were
signted in the wild on tne lower slopes of launa Loa. Nene

were velng pen-raised by several ranchers, bubt were thought
Lo have become extinct in the wild state, The sightings were
verified by photographs and investigation established thsat

tae birds made the locality their rermanent home, He

¥

e Was &
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unique chance to study an cndangered species on the briank
of extinétion.

A Nene sighting in 1948 roused new interest in the
rossibility of re-stocking the range with pean-reared geese,

Duriag that year, Vernon 3rock, Directer of the Territorial

L

ivision of Fish and Gemes, gprroached Surerintendent

LI

Cberhansley on tne possivility of raising Nene in the Fark,

.

the birds bto be cbtalned by trapping the wild flock. e also

scolicited Park aid in a new bird study. Tne KPS was agreeable

tc both propositions, but preferred using tame stock for

i

creeding, The result of this inbtercst was the establishment

.

ol the Territorial FPchaltulca Breeding Staticn in 1S49, This

(4]
[e7)

station is outside the Fark, slthough Cberhansl

Q

¥y hed sugges
a station at the b-tanks area of Mauna Loa, The new bird
study did not come a2bcocut as it was decided not To hire an
ecolegist at that time,

During the next few years the sightings bf Fene in the
wild increased, verified as often a&s possible by on-the-ground
investigaticn. Most of the flock were in the launa Lea
secticn, but incrcésingly they were also to be-found ia the
Kilauea crater and Ka'u desert areas. In 1953 it was estimated
that tne entire world Hene populatiocn was barely 50 birds, of
which 7 were at the Severn Wildfowl Trust in England, The
criginal Pohakulca pair and the three birds sent to the Trust
had all come from the Shipman flocck at Keazu, Until a wild

female was trapped and added to the breeding flock, the

Shipman fleck provided all the Hene breediag stock, There
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is a slight possibility that the Shipman flock contained a
few cross-bred geese showlag Kene mariings,

Since 1949 the Poahkuloaz- and Severa~bred dirds have
been successfully returned to the ﬁild on lMauna Los and in.
the crater of Heleakala, Actual Perk coatribubticas to tne
progran have been limited to providiang safe range for the
birds oa release, Althougnh BNP listed lene Research as its
single wost important prodblen in 1952, no funds have veen
available for such a project snd the lene work done so far
hes been centered at the FPchakulez Station,

Nene, as Hawaiit's State Bird, was saved from extinction.
Equally worthwhile birds coanbtinued tc dwindle in numbers over
the same pericd of time as intreduced birds esteblicshed them-
selves in the Fark and arove out the natiVes.
scholarly visitor pointed éut the dangercus situation and the
Regionel Director weant sco far as to ask the Superintendent
what could be done, Superinteadent Johnston replied that while

1

HNP had gced habitatbt for the natives, a study of the competing'
intrcduced birds was needed., 4s this would reqguire funds not
then avalillable, the matter was dropred. It was suggested,
however, that laui's Kipahulu Vealley would mele an ideal bird
sanctuery, but this proposal met with difficulty ian the arez

cf ®PS policy on new land acguisitions.

L
cr
jy
(¢

Finally in 1966 W. Banko o Fish aad Game Services,
purezu of Spert Fish and Wildlife, arrived in the islands to
pegin an extensive study of the "endzngered" birds of Hawaii,

This project will finally provide the aecessary information
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. the pests from neighbcring lands. As ocutline

gered birds of HNP,

'{3

to deal responsibly with tne ende

Exotic PFauna

Introduced birds, novever destructive to native birds,
have acver teen Ltre object of a major contrecl or extermination
progrsm such &s has been tne case with the feral goats,
Superintendent Boles repcrved scme 20,000 zoats in tne Park,
end the Territoery had alrcady embarked on & pregram cf clearing
G in Raymend
Geerdes study, the Park hzd neither the fuads ner the manpower
to control goabts during the years up to 1926, 1In 1927 the

-~

crestry was prcovidecd

tyj

Territorizl Bosrd of with Tunds to drive

(o]

goats in tne Park zres, as well as cn the lands outside, angd
during the next five years from 1927 to 1951 Territorial-
financed drives remocved several thousand goats each yeeor,

In 19322 Territorial funds were not fortnccoming zcd from
then until 1937 a gost centrol program was labking. The oanly

gecats removed were those taken in the course of public huating.

o

Office Order No., 2806 dated Nevember 12, 193l stopped even that,
by limiting controi work in the Park to regular, permanent,
uniformed KPS perscnnel, Such perscanel simply was not available
and on June 8, 1935'tnis crder was medifiled to allow the |
"assistance of outside persons. Qualified perscanel and
Tfunds were still limited and during the pericd 1931 to 1937
the geat pepulation had increased tc the poiant where damage

tc vegetation was again very noticeable,

Cnce zgain tne depressioca-born CCC program proved a
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value to Park objectives. Wingate's Lnnual Report feor 1936

o

g
o
e

repcerted tne CCC boys well cn the way with Park fencing

o]

project, This had been started in January 1936 an

¥

o

s Lo

Qs

W

enclose some 60 miles of Ferk boundsry witn gcat-prccf fence,

18

U

Yhen ccmpleted, goat drives would rid the FPark of the pests,
It is nct known hew much ¢f the Perk actually was fenced, bdbub

betwcen February 1938 and 1941, the CCC boys and Park Raangers

i

were sble to eliminate over 7000 goats in seversl drives, I&
wos estimated that some 500 were still in the rugged lave
areas, and thesec would have to be hunted down individually,

ate's 1928 f

(.
o

2l year report, the feacling

& Furk's most imvortent cone-

o

prcject and geat drives werc

Vierld War II brougnt an end te CCC drives, but Park
persoanel accounted for ancther 600 gesats removed during 1942

and 1943, : .

After the war, the scat pepulatica again began to iacrease

2s the pressure against it was reduced. Feral goats probably
start breeding at Yess than one yesr of age, twin more than
50% of the time, and nannies dreop two times every eleven to
fourteen menths, nder reascnable circumstances, & herd will
double in size In a 1ittle over a year,

The Park tried a system of short term (90 day) contracts
during the pericd 19L); through 1947. These were simply not
successful, averaging only scre 1300 zoats per year.
zeglaniag in 1948 the Park cffered year-long contrects Tor

gecat removal, hopilag that the longer pericd would allcw a
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better return on the time and money expended by the centractor
and thus & greater number of goats removed.» It apperently
didn't. Duriag the seven yewurs from 1948 to 1955 the average
aqnual goet kill was still adbout 1200 a year, aad that figure
dropped to less thaa half for the years 1951 to 1954,

It should be noted that total figures fer anpual gozat

-

kills between 1SL} znd 1

\No)

55 include Park Ranger patrols and

K¥C hunting parties as wWell as those teken by the permitee,

4

N

The hunting parties were more trcuvble then help, often
including inexrerienced pserscanel who were in the way and
subject to accidents. In view of bthls, Superinbendent

Oberhansley concluded in 1951 thkat ccnt
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be restricted tc Park pverscnael only, and this pesition was
re~-stated by Acting Superintendent L. Castro ia late 1953,
The last yearly goat huntiang contract expired Uctoker 31, 1955,

Since 1955 the goat population has been gonbrclled by
Park perscnnel. An annusl kill of 300 was estimated to be
sufficient to control the herd, but by 1960 it was clear
this figure wes far tco low, In 1961 the annual kill
necessary to "stabilize" the nherd was raised to 600, There
is no menticn of how large a herd was to be maintained, and
actuzl annual kills between 1960 and 1963 were double bthat
number.

The goat control prcblem has been a matter of both
national policy and local procedure. At one time it was

hoped to ccmpletely eradiceate the herds, and to this ead

the CCC boys built a feance arcund the Park and participated
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in ccacentrated geat drives., The program was successiul
xcept for & Tew scabtered goabts which circumstanpces allowed

to remezin ia the Fark. Tea years loter it was agaln possible

Lnother policy held thab "stabilizatica' would be
adequate, but it failed to properly teke into coasideration
the high reporduction rate of tne herd, acr did it bese the
csize of the "stabilized"! nerd ca any kind of rssearch of goat

Prcecedure alsc has veried, Drives have long been the
Tavered technique for rercving goabs ia lerge numbers cver
o resscnebly short periccé of time, Howsver, drives tead to
for 500 geabs as for 5000, eand

be expepsive, costing the ssme

eguire either large numbers of trained perscnnel to

ct
)
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e
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cover tne field, or the reﬁtal of & helicoptsr to scan the
field and nelp in driving the goats To pens cr kill areas,

An individual hunter can be quite successful, It is
reported that between 1958 and 1963 Chief Ranger Delyle R.
Stevens personally destrcyed over 3500 geats, This technique

m

ht serve to keep an accessible small herd within reascn-

B
3

Tre problem, &s viewed by the hunting public, is quite
simple: let the public hunters remove the unwaated goats

from the Pasrk lands., The problem is nct all that simple

o

zn2d public hunting is not now 2llcowed cn Fark lands,
Control mezsures for other fauna naes dbeen less difficult,

The mongcose is still a minor pest, and along with tne rat



and cccasionzl feral cat or dog, is simply trspped and
remcved,

The pigz has required more ccnsistent attention.
Technicelly a native, within the Park srea he tends to
increase rapidly in numbers to the peint cf
Gamage bto Park plants., At the present time several zcres

of Park lands show extensive pig damage. Over the years

b

the ccnconsus c¢f thin ing within the Park has held that the
pig need not be totally removed, but shoﬁld be ¥ept within
reasonable limits, What consistutes reascnabls limits,
naturally, has tended to vary. Contrel haes always been
cfficially b

J
more often during an empleyee'!s off hours rether than durin

03]

working hcurs.
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MAUNA LOA

In Jznuary 1968 a news story broks in the Honolulu
papers, proposing a Scenic Rozd for Mauna Lea., Such a road
would open the area to the public and tie togethsr Park areaé
at Kilauez, Mauna Loa and Honaunau, Koha. This ambitious plan
was the most recent variation on a proposal that dated back
to 1916 and the establishment of the Park,

The inclusion of the summit of Mauna Loa was nevsr

~

seriously contestsd in the hearings for a Hawaii Natlcanal Park,

It is often called the world's largest active volcano and
vrobably tne largsst single mountain mass on sarth, and Jaggar
nad urged its inclusion as a field of scientific research

second cnly to Kilauea in importance., The lMauna Lea szction

L

¢]

soms 17,920 acres defin=sd by metes and bounds was includsd

1
o

the 1916 bill, To satisfy public demand for accessibility
of new Park arezs, the bill included a provision for a "strip
of land of sufficient width for a road to connect the Kilauea
and Hauna Loa sections of the island of Hawall, with width
apd locabtion of thd;strip tovbc determined by thechcreﬁérj
of the Inbterior." The 7926 acres of private lands on the
summit were easily acquired by the Territory and, with
another 999l acress of public lands, transferred te the
United States on Juans 28, 1921,

Popular intsrast in Mauna Loa was overshadowed by the
continuously active, readily accessibls Halemaumau cratser
in Xilauea sectlon, but Supsarintendent Soles visited all

sections of "nis" Park, ascending Mauna Loa ian July 1922,
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He went by mule to the HVRA resthouse at 10,000 feet, and
walked on to the top. His Superintendent's Report for that
month advocated a road to 10,000 feet and a trail to the

top. His Annual Report for 1922, prepared in late summer,
mentioned the strip of land, yet to be selected, which would
connect the two Park sections. He estimated the additiocn of
the strip would bring the total area of the Mauna Loa section
to 17,380 acres /sic/. The Mauna Loa section already contained
some 17,920 acres, bubt Boles was obviously thinking. in terms
of adding approximately 360 acres as ocutlined by Jaggar in
1916 during hearings on the bill. 4An additional 3460 acres
would have been enough for a aarrow road right of way.

In February 1923, Boles and Jaggar surveyed a possible
route o the summit. No road funds were availadble, bub Boies
hoped to be able to have a horse trail laid out (across the
intervening Territorial lands) before the nexb expected
activity on Mauna Loa. {This activity did not actually occur
until April 1926 when a summit eruption followed by a flank
eruption flowed to~éne sea and destroyed the village of
Hoopuloa,) The horse trail was prepared and Boles frankly
felt this was adeguate for the Time being. Interest in Mauna
Loat's summit was limited to scisntists, goat hunters, and a'
handful of hardy btourists who ascended the mountain to view
eruptions., The demand for an immediate road to the summib
was limited to less than Tfifty people, and any development
of the Mauna Loa area should be delayed at least until the

USGS nad completed its topographic studies of tue area, thus
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avoiding duplication of tae engineering work.i#

During September 1925 gangs surveyed tne mountainside
under the direction of a Highway Engineer from the Bureau of
Public Roads., Boles reported one line had been run, and he
thought it probable that one or two otners would be run

between the two sections "so as to touch as 1ittle as possible

-the grazing lands along tnis route, the inclusion of which in

our extended boundaries would be expensive to the Territory,
and involve administrative difficulties for years to come,"s%
Wnen Associate Director Arno B, Cammerer visited the
Park in early 1926 to clear up some lingering laéd problems
and decide the friendly inter-island rivalry over priority
for a summit road to Haleakala or to iauna Loz, he inspected
the Mauna Loa road aligament as far as 10,000 feet., He found
tnat in several -plzces 1% raa off Territorial land into
privately owned land, and recommended that another survey be

run, He recommended tnat the final alignment be well awa
pan 3

from any private land so tnat there would be no danger of

e

rivat

o

ko]

intrusion onto the road. He reported Goveraor

v}

arriangton ready to issue the necessary Executlive Order trgns~
ferring "any necessary wide strip of Territorial land, which
would at least be several miles wide, through which this road
would run." He felt a trail would be adegquate, but refesrred
to the third provision of tne act creating the ParX which
seemed to require tnat a road be built., It was also arranged

3% superintendent!'s Annual Report, 192i.
3=  Superinteadent's lkoathly Report, September 1925,
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duriagz Cammerer's visit that Superintendent Boles and
Territorial Land Commissidner Bailey would agree on the
taking lines for this section., There is no mention in
Cammerert!s Report of the anecessity of avoiding grazing
lands, but Walter E, Wall, Territorial Surveyor, in agreeing
to a new survey for the road aliganment, did suggest that
whea Boles went to select the lands for the strip rosd, the
choice grazing lands be avoided as far as possivle,

Who finally drew the takinz lines is not knowa. How
bhey did the job is simplicity itself: using a bluepriat
of the new road alignment survey, straight lines were drawn
between the Mauna Loa and Xilauea sections, outside the
widest swings of the road's many switchbacks, This strip
included some 116,050 acres, much of it fine grazing land,

The grazing lands questlon proved only a minor nurdle
at the time. Oa February 1lli, 1927 Canmerer wrote to
Superintendent Evans that-the survey and blueprint, including
a reservation to the Territory of Hawaill of perpetual grazing
rights, had been submitted by the Governor of Héwaii'and
approved by the Department of Interior.# Governor -
Farrington executed a deed (not an Executive Order) transferring
title to the United States which was approved on May L, 1927.
waever, in April 1926, the Territory had awarded a El;year
grazing permit, General Lease no., 1920, for part of this area
to tahe Hawalian Agricultural Company, operators of Kapapala

Ranch. This lease was to prove an aggravabtion until 1948.

3% rile: 63%1-01.
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Although of 1limited scenic value, the Mauna Loa.strip
area was found to conbtain superior groves of koa and other
native flora, Studies established that grazing was destroyiag
thevggg, and the NPS wanted to cancel the remaining years of
the leazse, as it applied to Park lands, An opinion on the
deed of transfer from the Solicitor of the United States
Department of Interior dated February 21, 1938, Opinion No.

M 28999, held that the lease was invalid and grazing should
be terminated. By October 19i0, the cattle had been removed
from the connecting strip. They were rebturned ia 1942, the
justification being "war emergency.'" This grazing permit
finally expired June 10, 19L8.%

-~

As of Kay 1927, the Department of

}-

nterior had ?ossession
of the land on which to build a connecting.road.f The Park
administration was not eafﬁusiastic about building & road to
the summit, in spite of continuing publicity based on both
scenlc and scientific grounds, nuch of it from Lorrin P,

1

Thurston and the donolulu Advertiser, Thurston eavisioned

not only a road bubt-a summit hotel, Superintendents Allen

end Leavitt, both favoring roads only to Red Hill at 10,000

feect, advised the Advertbiser that plans had not gone beyond

the tentative stage, and that money was very short and the

KPS was concentrating on finishing the Haleakala road before
uadertaking new road projects. Landscape Architect Joha Wosky
in 1932 could not recommend the road on the basis of currend
cost and expected use, and in January 193%3, Director Albright
% ror details of the strip grazinz lease see: Apple, A History

of tne land acquisiticn for Hawsll National Park to
Decemoer 51, 1950. p. 115-151.
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suggested that the main Justification continued to be %o
"furnish scientific gentlemen means of access to ﬁhe surmit
of Mauna Loa in case of volcanic activity, rather than as

a tourist attraction,"# Schemes of auto taxes to pay for
construction were considered and abandoned. The road grade
would have to be bullt on permanent alignment and grade,

both expeunsive. A rumor that the Territeorial Legislature

miznt pass a bill to use-prison labor for such a road made

the rounds, followed by justifications for the road as a
labor relief project. Local individusals and intgrested
parties memorialized the Governor of Hawaii and Director of
the National FPark Service throughout 1933% and 193L, On
Januery 13, 193, Superintendent Wingate also Wwrote, urging
an 8 foot wide road to Red Hill and a trail beyond, so as to
"keep faith" with the Territory which had added the strip
"primarily to furaish a right of way for 2 proposed road to
the top of Mauna Loa:" The road would 2lso be a lever with

which to close out the Territorial grazing lease in the strip.

Wingate's plan was offered with the ncte that he did NOT wanb

r
)
o
o
o
lag}

ca in its vast, aloof majesty to becoms like Kilauee,

something trivial with hotels and a golf tee for a Hole-in-One,
On January 31, 193l, Landscape Architect Merle Sager

presented his report on the Mauna Loa question. He noted the

contihuing enthusiasm of the Thurstons and the Advertiser,

the recent Territorial Legislature!s Resolution naning the

connecting road the Thurstoa digaway, and the recent eruption

% File: 63%1-01.
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which had again called attention to the desirability of
easy sumnlt access for scientific investigation,

Sager found that none of the Hawaii National Park staff
advocated building a road to the summit, and Jagger re-iterated
nat any vay to get to the top would satisfy scientific needs.,
Sager agreed with Wingate that hauqa Loa was a place to rezlize

the insignificance of man and the bigness of creation, "But
this calls for solltuae, not a tourist highway.'" His
recormendaticn was for a 5% grade, 8 foot wide road, hard
surfaced on an alignment which would permift widening if
necessary, to the 7000 foot elevation seismograph stabtion

where the scenic features faded into fields of dull lava,

o
£

na

ween the road end and the summit he recommended a four

0
®
ot

oct wide trail of 15% grade on a new alignment., An airplane

Yy

landinz field at the summit was also suggested, and rejected,
as veing subject to eruption damage and too dangerous an
altitude for take off andAlaading.

And nere the road project remained for several nmore years
due to lack of fund§, an obligation to complete the_ﬁaleakala
rcad, ang tnevadveﬁt of World War II,

Mauna Loz was not entirely lacking in access facilities,

0

however. In July and August of 1930, a 30 inch wide, standard
zrade trall was completed from the Rest House at 10,000 feet
to the summit at 13,675 feet, a distance of some 1L miles,
This provided a2 smooth trail the entire distance., There is

no meablon of any survey being used, In September 1930, the

crews rebuilt sections of the trail below the 10,000 foot
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rest house and just above Bird Park, it being planned to
connect the two points laber by a trail entirely within

the Park boundaries. Apparently Boles! 1923 horse trail
had wandered outside even the generocus taking lines of the
1925 road aligament. The present trail would be used until
it could be re-aligned,

In line with Sager's recommendations, the CCC began

construction of a truck trail to the 7000 foot elevation on

September 3, 1935, This 10 mile trail was completed on
September 30, 1936, Again, there is no mention of which, if
any, road alignment was used, The trail was for administrative
purposes -- not public use -~ and provided access to the
selsmograph at 7000 feet, This truck trail did anot fully
meet the needs of the scientific community, much less the
public, accordidg to Coffman, reporting in June of 1957.
It was rough, had no turn-outs, and should be-extended to
at least the 10,000 foot elevation. During 1937-1938, a
dike for the protecﬁion of Hilo from NE rift lavae flows was
under considerationfand a road to the summit figured in this
project. The dike, a favored project of Jaggar’s, never won
the apprcval of the Corps of Engineers who would presumably
have had charse 6f its design and construction.

| The eru?tion of 19%% resulted in additional improvements
on lMauna Loa, A telephone line was struang from the 10,000
foot rest house to the summit with KMC providing both the
wire and the men to string it. The telephone line was repaired

and restrung as far as Red Hill the following yesar after heavy

~229 -
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winter storms had damaged it; and the grounded line from

Red Hill to the summit was replaced by the CCC during 1937-38,
Another heavy winter storm necessitabed additional repairs

in 19%53. A Memo from Ranger Olscn to the Superiantendent,
dated March 10, 1933, noted that the batteriles for the phones
had been re-connected wroag -- they had been removed at some
time for use in lightlng., He also found that approximately

a mile below elevation 12,000 the telephone line ﬁas down
for a distance of a mile and a half. The line was broken

every 3 or I poles and all the poles had been broken from

their concrete foundations, with many fallen over, He suggested

more frequent poles when the line was rebuilt, and that the

ipper pcles be braced aad set Tully in concrete, nct just in

2n ahu of stones with cement at the top. There was no goocd

explanation of why the line from 12,00 feet to the top was

unbrecken, unless the snowfall had been deep enough to support.

it. He also reported some six miles of duplex ground line
strung above Red Hill which should be removed,

A Deferred Maintainance Report, dated March 9, 19ll,
reviewed the state of the Mauna Loa telephone line. Line 4B
waé seven miles long and of ohia posts cut and installed in

193li, Since 192 these poles had developed serious rot and

neny hed been re-set and many were too short., All needed to

be replaced with steel poles set in concrete with oak brackets

sc as to ccnform with the 17 mile stretch of Mauna Loa line

(L&) already installed, Line I)B was between line LiA and

¥ rile: 620-0l.
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headquartéers and it was vital to keep it in good condition.
It served the timing circuit for the seismograph, the fire <
and tool cache station, and was important in emergencies and
for eruption information, There is nc record of this work
being done, but a Superintendent's Report for December 1945
nctes that a Park Ranger spent considerable time checking and
repairing the telephone line on Mauna Loa,s*

During 1948 a telephone wire was strung, then dismantled,
salvaged and abandoned, Apparently this was the line from
Red Hill to the summity, as there are references in 1952 and
1958 to the condition of the belephone line on the lower trail,
In 1959 new wire for a ground circult telephone line was
installed along the road, rather than along the fence as
previously.

The origin;l rest house at Red Hill or Puu Ulaula at
10,000 feet had been constructed by the HVRA somebime before
July 1922 as an ald to scientific researcn on Mauna Loa, They
had also participated in the coastruction of the summit trail,
either the 1912 foot trall leid out by Jagzar, or the 1923
horse trail laid out by Boles znd Jaggar, The NPS apparently
obtained the rest house sometime before January 1928 when the
Superintendent mentions having "fallen heir to" the 3-room
rest house aznd water-tank at Red Hill which the HVRA had built,
The place had been badly used and 1t was recognized that the |
KPS must make some repairs in order to save the property from

being blown to pieces and burned as fuel by campers, The roof
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was re~covered with tar paper, a wire screen was placed over
the water tank, a stable for horses and a toilet were built;
and six mattresses were paclked up to augment the three
already there,

The same Report for 1928 mentions a Hui O Pele shelter
to be erected at the T00Q foot level, and a set of mileposts
along the trail which- were to bear the additional figures of
elevations and distances in hours and minutes., A shelter-
museum was built, but Hui O Pele does not report any expenditure
for 1929,

Iq 1933 the Red Hill rest house was agaln repaired and‘
two toilets, & stable, and & fence were coastructed. Ther

sams year the Superintendent of the Park requested Hul O Pele

)

to provide 2500 for a sumnit rest house., This was coastructed
x W

»

during the summer of 193l and replaced the cld summit cave

knowa as the Hotel de Jagzar. By 1938 both the Red Hill and

summit rest houses were again in poor condition due to cars-
less and inconsiderate users. In 1939 the Red Hill rest house
was repailred againf{ The south wall was lined with Canec for
warnth, interior walls were removed, and a lp-burner kéroéena
stove installsd. A news release reported that after March 15,
it would be necessary to charge a fee of 504 a night for
adults, those under 16 free, and reservations in advance
would nave to be made at Park headguarters, It is not kaown
how long fees were collected. Ia 1951 thne fee problem came

up again and it was found that fees had aot been collected

recently and as of October, cnly one visitor had occupied



the summit cabin overnicht, meking fee collection in the
future pointless,.*

In 1956 the cabias were again reported in poor condition,
and as bhere was sbtill only limifted use of the facility, it
was suggested that the summib cabin be: 1) razed and rebullt

at the end of the Mauna Loa road, i.e., the new Kulani :oad;

o

) fixed, then maintained by Hui O Pele; or 3) gbandoned
entirely. Tbe USGS, however, indicated a ccntinuing need for
the summit cabin and it was retained. It had already been
moved once; the summit eruption of 1940 threatened the site
and the cabin was torn down and moved to a safer location by

Park persoanel,

Lt

The NE Rift Road

Toward tne end of the second World War, the road popped
up again., On Juae 28, 19d:, Territorial Land Commissicner A,
Lester Marks wrote to SuperintéﬁdeﬁﬁHWihgété'éskihg about the
status of a road alignment shown on a map he had found. Wingaté
replied that nothing had been approved by NPS in Washingbton,
the line was a kiné of by-product of the 1925 survey to
determine the taking lines of bthe Mauna Loa strip acquisition,

and the nearest thing to a road was an authorization to builld

st

joie
s

a truck trail to 7000 feet for admia ative purposes,
completed by the CCC. in 3eptember 1936, Pressure for a summit
road via the strip was again growiag in those Territorial

offices which rememoered that the strip lands had been

———

% 01d file: 620-0i, Oct L, 1951, I.J. Castro to Director,
Region Four. ,
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expressely set aside for such a road.

o new road was bullt, but the Superintendent's Report
for Auzust 1949 indicates that ab least the lower 5 miles
of the truck trail had been re-azligned, the first work done
on it for over ten years,
the Mauna Loa road picture at

A related event entered

this time, in the form of the Kalapana Zxtension. The NPS

had buillt the Chain of Craters rocad on the expectation that
the County of Hawall would bulld a coanecting road on through
to Kalapana on the shore, This road had never been built,
and now the KPS was seeking additional ldnds in the Kalsaspana
area. -Service intentions in this proposed extension were.
viswed with suspiclon by scme locél residents, The Mauna Loa

road geained support within the Service as a public relations

‘ot

-

gesturs to "keep faith" with btae people cof Hawali,
4 road all the way to the summit, however, still failed

to win the approval of NPS personanel, and it could now be

pointed out that recent eruptiocns would have destroyed ssctioans

of any sumnib roadxéuilt to the proposed elignment., The NPS
took a position opposed to tne summit road on the following"
grouands: 1) with cattle out of the strip, the Nene and koa
were coming back; 2) lava flows would block a summit road
and endanger visitors trepped on the upper slopes; 3) the
scenic views were of doubtful value at the aigher clevations;
and i) the summit should be set aside as a primitive area,
On april 8, 1949, Director Urury mzde NP3 position clear when

he wrobte to tne Director of Region Four that "the portica of



_W*W*v*_*v 1

the Article,..quoted by you, is interpﬁested by the Service
as being permissive rather than mandatory so far as it
concerns the constructioa of a road to connect the main
portion of the park with the one isolabted area at the summlt
of Mauna Loa, "

If the NPS would not bulld a road up Mauna Loz, someone
else would have to do it., Road enthusiasts found a friend
in Lhe Director of Ianstitutions, Thomas B. Vance., Vance hnad
recently established the Kulani Prison Camp in the fern
jungle between Olaa and 29 miles, over the loud protests of
Volcano area rasidents both inside and outside the Park who

pointed out that the site was less than three miles from their

homes, The fern jungle was considered sufficiently impenetrable

to dissuade prospective escapees from fleeing the unfenced

camp, and the atmosphere was to be rehabilitory 1n nature.

I

The site ned besn selected in part because of its fine stand
of koa trees, raw material for the camp's cralt program.
Vance felt his charges could contribute labor oa a Mauna Loa
scenic highway, thus providing them with useful work; and thé
Territory and gensral public with a desirable new road. The
plan was to proceed up the mountainside Ifrom one of the
rough roads devesloped by the military during their World War
Ii occupation of the saddle area,

The Hilo Liocns Club took up the Kulani road as their
project for the fiscal year'ending Juae 1950, They provided
the gas for two bulldozers operated by Xulanl inmates.

Governor Stainback urged tae Territory to ocuild up the Kulani

% File: 361-01, 1949-51.
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area, and to use Kulani prisoners to build the Mauna Loa

road. The Kulani budget included the road item, Stainback's
successor, Governor Oren Long, was reported in favor of the
Xulani road, Hunters rejoiced at prospecis of better access
to the saddle area hunting sites; winter sportsmsn visualized
ski 1lifts on both Mauna Loa and Mauna Kea,

The land over which the Kulani road would pass was 1in a
Territorial Forest Reserve; the NPS had administration over
only the area above 13,000 feet, Although the Kulani rcad had
almost silenced requests for a summit road via the strip area,
NPS policy dictated a strip alignment IF a summit road had
to be built, Local Park personnel continued to poin® out to
road enthusiasts that even a Kulahi road would be subject to
eruption damege the road was te follow the NE rif$ zone/,
and would not provide fast access for scientific personnel.,
They also pointed oubt the probable destruction of scenilc
values by opening a road; the high cost of constfuctibn,"
operation and maintainence; and the fact that supervision
of that portion off%he road wanlch ran through Park lands
would be a major probleﬁ, distant as it would be from Park
neadquarters at Kilauea,

In Hilo popular support for the road remained high., The
Hilo Women's Club was considering a botanical garden aloag
the way, The Hilo Lion's Club was thinking‘in terms of a
Summit Lodge to be maintained by Lions for Lions in the heart
of the winter-sports area,* By December 1949, the road was

% £H, Long, Iastitutions, ML road: Thos.Vance to Charles
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a rough jeep trail, 10 feet wide with a 6% grzde, pushed
tnrough the easily worked aa lava to about the 7500 foot level.

During 1950, coatinued funding of the project seemed in
jeopardy. The Territorial Legislabture was unwilling to aprrove
the entire road sum Vance had included in his Kulani budget,
and the Bureau of Public Roads felt the project was not suit-
able for their consideration. Then, in early 1951, another
group aanounced plans for the Mauna Loa sumnit,

On February 15, 1951, the Honolulu Star-Bullstin ran a

news story giving details of plans for a UCLA geophysics
group to estabiish a VWieather Observatory'on the summit of
Mauna Loa, The site was idezal, being well above the level

of ssa-shore pollubants. DBusinessmen visualized the start

of a multi-million dollar project, with the Mauna Loa summit
an excellent scientific laboratory for research in geophysics,
geology, volcanology and astronomy. Such a development

would ve of commercialrbenéfit to the Territofy; All-that
was needed_for full development of these g:and scientific
opportunitiss was access.

;This was nobt the Tirst time thg scientific value of the
Mauna Loa summit had been suggested, O0n May 31, 1938, Stephen
B. Jones, FProfessor of Geography at the UH had written to
Vingate that an outgrowth of the "moborcycle™ road to the
summit might be a mesteorological observatory on ths mountain,
He noted that as early as 190&-05 such an observatory had
been discussed and the Pzcific Science Conference in 1920

had advocated the Mauna Loa station. Such a project, he
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sugzested, would have the support of the Army, Navy, PAA,
Weather Bureau and HSPA.* Two months later, on July 6,
Robert G. Stonsz of the Blue Hill Meteorologicgl Observatory
(operated by Harward University) wrote VWingate about
including & Weather Bureau station when the Mauna Loa
observatory was build (ic, the summit cabin repaired and
rebuilt.) Vingate replied, per Acting Surerintendeant Moomaw,
that walle an observatory would be desirable, the building |
contemgplated was Tar too small and access was via 30 miles
of trail. The tone of this letter suggests that otner
requests for space in the bullding had already been received,:=t
The summit sites sslected for the Weather Observatory
project, howsver, did not mesetb wiﬁn Park approval., Superin=-
tendent Oberhansley noted that the malin quarters for the
project were at 12,850 feet -- outside the Park boundary --
with a small underground structure at the summit., He felt a
road terminating at 12,850 feet would be best for the Parlk,
with 2 treil on to the summit, Possidble joint use of the
summit location byf%he staff of the Volcano Observatory was
re jected ~-~ they preferred the rest house site -~ but a

~

road to even 12,850 feet would be of help to bthe volcanologists.%%%
The Veathsr Bureau, which was funding the UCLA project, conbinued
to press for a sumﬁit road for "administrative purposes™ on

the grounds thal even the one mile trail from the NPS boundar

to the summit lab would "impose an unreasonadble hardsnip on

ale  ats 4ty

s AH, Long, Iastitutlions. ML woad: Oberhansley to Simpson,
W I =
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the lab persoannel," A summit road, with a gate at the
NPS boundary, was proposed.

While Superintendent Obserhanslcy-was attempting to
deternine who was ruaning the Weather Bureau Observatory
project and what their requirements were, Vance was pressing
the Territorial Legislature aand the NPS for a road to the
summit, tc open up the scientific research possibilities
atop Mauna Loa (and incidentally, the public recreation ones,
Vance found no difficulty in reconciling these two uses of
the suriit.) On May 16, 1951, he sent three proposed road
access routes to Oberhansley. 7Two crossed Fark lands and
would provide a "loop" escape route in case of volcanic
activity, a contingency the NPS indicabed was a reason for
their refusal of the summit road project,

vAt this point the road raan into another delay. The
Xorezan conflict had created a tight roney situation and
allocated funds were not bteing released by the Governor,
Since the Weather Burcag;intcrcst, the project began to
lookrlikc.a Fedcral’project aéd-noﬁ of much local'véluc 6f
interest, On July 11, 1951, Adams, the Acting Treasurer of
the Territory of Hawaii, wrote to Vance that the Governor'’s
credit restraining committee nhad disapproved release of
%$75,000 for the Mauna Loa road, citlng the Federal rather
than Territorial developmeat of the area and pointing out
that for the Terribory to undertake the road project would
be speculative,

llevertheless, on &Luzust 22, 1951, the NFPS signed a five
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year contract with the Territory of nawail giving thc
Territory a Special Use Permit and authorization for
constructicn and maintainance of that portion of the HMauna
Loa road within the Mauna Lca section of HNP; espéciallyv
including an escape route, Tnis contract developed out of
the Wcathcf Observatory project proposed for the 13,500 foot
elevation and the SUP wes to be incorporated into a general
permit to UCLA. The Revocable Use Permit for the summit of
Mauna Loa ran from August 1, 1951 to July 31, 1956, It was
for a road to the proposed Observatory and aa escape route
therefrom, The final road locatioas would be determined
jointlf by the NPS and a repressntative of the Territorial
Deparfment of Institutions, is, Vémce° The proposal would
include traffic control as deem=d necesséry by the Super-
intandent. A SUP to the Veather Bureau to construct,
maintaia, and operate a mctéorclbgical observatofy'od ﬁhc
summit of Mauna Loz was also issued., (Details of these
transactions were not available,)

During 1951 and 1952 Kulani inmates contianued to work
on thes road under the direbtion cf Vance, who remained
enthusiastic a2bout a sports development above 12,000 f=eet,
Arrangements were made to use cinder from FPark lands and
various controls were suggested to kesp unauthorized persons
out of the area, As of August 1951, a "passenger" road had
been completed to 9000 feet. Vance hoped to have a L-wheel
drive trail to the lab site ready by October 15, and a

passenger car road to the summit ready by the followiag
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summer, By fall of 1952, both Vance and Oberhansley agreed
that the road was stiil "very rough' even for lL-wheel drive
vehicles, and heavy visiter use cof the area was not yet
likely, The road was into the Park but well below the
summif, having reachéd 11,000 feet in August,

Lack of funds and a delay in establishing the Weather

Cbservatory halted road work and little more is heard of the

_project until 1956, Cn April 12, 1956, the Secretary of

Commerce wrobe the Secretary of the Interior on tne re-
establishment of the Mauna Loa weather station per the
Revocable Use Permit issued by HNP. A statement from the
Weather Bureau outlined their two-step program, First, a
station at 11,000 foot level, oubtside the Park, developed

by the Weather Bureau and the Bureau of Standards; and,
"ultimately™ (wb;n funds were avallable and plans developed)
transfer the observatory program to the summit, Personnsl
would reside at the ll;OOO foot level and the trail would be
improved to permit transportation of men and.équipment.

Mauna Loa was superior to both Mauna Kea and Haleakala becausse
of its smooth dome, and it would have to be kept a wilderness
area for best scientific readings. The summit part of the
program would not be ready until fiscal 1957 and the Secre-
tary of the Interior witbhcld.fiaal approval of any cxtcnsion
of the Weather Bureau's SUP, due to expire July 31, 1956,
until specific locatiocns and responsibilities could be

agreed upon,.i

¥ Flle: L-30, 1/1/54-21/31/59. Federal Records Center, SF.
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The Weather Bureau weat anhead with their station at the
11,000 foot elevation and oa July 17, 1956, Roy L. Fox of the
Weather Bureau wrote to Superintesndent Wosky to ask if anything
forbade a group other than ths Territory from building a rocad
within the National Park, specifically a road from the slope
observatory to a summit observatory. Wosky rsplied that tne’
Territory still had a. Special Use Permit to build a road along
the desirved alignment but any proposed summit road had to
include an "escape" route before it could receive NPS approvai.
Nothing more is reported from the Wsathsr Bursau on the road
exteasion or on a summit observatory. |

Duringz 1956 Lorrin P, Thurston noted tze lack of a Hauna
Loa road in ths Park developnment §lans and initiated a series
of lestters fto press for its inclusion. The Service replied
that it was condcntrating on the Chain of Craters-Xazlapana
rcad and suggested Mauna Kea, rather than Mauna Loa for .
spientific and winber sports developmeat on the grounds that
Mauna Kea would be cheaper to dsvelop as it had no volecanic
unprcdicatablcs.rcqhiring multiple escape routes. Then ip
1560 the Hilo Lions Club agsin took up &ths cause, urging a
road up from tﬁc Weathsr Burszau station on to the summit,
outside the Park. Intersst died again quickly, although the
KPS prepared a summary of the proposals to date, and the |

Director reiterated Service policy against a public road to

L ae
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Late in Pebruary 1963, news of a Hauna Loa road appeared

in tne press with article in the Honolulu Advertiser on the

27th and the Hilc Tribune-Herald on the next day. A road

was to be cut across from Fuu Lene on the Saddle Road to
conaect with the old road beyond Kulani, shortening the
distance to the 11,000 foot Weather Bureau observatory by

nearly half, This work was to be done by the Atomic Energy

- Commission, which had devsloped an interest in the Weather

Bureau site, It was pointed out that with adequate access,
Mauna Loz {and thus Hilo and the island of Hawaii) still had

a chance of capturing some of the lucrative scientific
resesarch projects going to Haleakala. Superintendent Johnston
guickly pointed out that Haleakala was a good example of whatb
happens when an area is opsned up -~ the scientific slum at
Seisnce City was already mushrocming. Thc Hilo Licas Club,
however, retained their ides fix of a passeager road to the
summit. They prepared a history of the Mauna Loa rdad,

Kulani route, noting their support since 1948. They wrote

Hawaii's Coagressmen for aid in getting the Park to improve .

the inéomplctc road through Park lands (according to the
agreement under which it was built, the Territory was to
maintain it), and asking for a2 renewal of the right to entry
to Park lands. These letters found their way ﬁo the office
of the Diresctor, NPS, who replied on May 1, 1963, giving
details of the 1951 Special Use Permit, and the NPS reasons

for coantinuiang the policy of keeping Mauna Loa a wilderness,.

¥ rile: D30, March 20, 1963, May 1, 1963.
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To publicize their cause, tne Lions arrange’ for a
dedication of tne nsw Mauna Loa road on April 28, 1963,
followed by a procession of cars up to the Ovbservatory,
The public was invited, but a sizgn-up was necessary as

permits to pass were required. The Advertiser!s report

of this venture was not overly enthusiastic, The views

were not that grand, the weather was bad, car trcuble was

a possibility, and permits to cross were necessary from the
Department of Fish‘and Game, As of June 11, public travel
to the Hcgthcr 3ureau obScrvatory had averaged 1css than two

dozea a wsek aand by July 21, the Hilo Tribune-Herald was

A

W~

revorting the road impassable to the average car.” The
Weather Bursau did not need = gcod road for their purposes,
nor did thay have thne funds to keep a passenger car road in.
rapalr,

By liovember 1966, the Wsather Bureau was-complaining thnat
dust raised by the road was creating a problem at their
opservatory, and Goveraor Buras refused to release the ﬁ?Q,OQQ»
approved by bthe 1963 Legislaturs for a Mauna Loa‘rqaﬁ on the

grounds that tiae Legislative appropriation was more for

hunting access than for an observatory or lMauvna Loa scenic
road, Currsnt interast in a2 Mauna Loa~3addle Rosd sea2ms to

stem mainly from hunting groups.
The 1968 Scsnic Road propcsel did not suggest a rosd to
the summit of Mauna Loa, but rather a road around the flank

of tne mountain to Xona, with a side trip bto Hualalai, The

# rlle: D30, FTJ to Dir, Region Four, June 11, 1563, 1



idea of a flank road was first suggested by Jaggar in a
letter to ex-HNP Superintendsnt Boles on September 10, 1937,
He fclf a road with the summit crater as the destination was
"helf-baked" and proposed a sceanic roadway up the NE slope
and along the whole length of the rift belt, emarging at the
koa camp roadway iln Honomalino to join the belt road. This

proposal would open up areas of Hawalien azntiquities on the

rift, a more interesting prospect than mere lava fislds,

Jaggar felt at that time that he and Viingate were the only
people who had a @ oper understanding of the possibilities
of Mauna Loa,%

Another flank road proposal surfaced duriang the Xulani
road projsct in the late 19.0's, The Hilo Lions Club
suggested a road from Olaa over the Stainback Highway to Kulani
Camp and oa around the flaak to the west. The NPS challenged
this proposal on grounds of cost_and the possibility of

eruptions damaging the road.

¥ rile: 631-01, Sept. 10, 1937.
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ADMINISTRATION

Jurisdicitional matters

The legislation establishiag the Park did not spell
out maﬁters of Jurlsdiction over Park arszas, According
to Supseriantendent Bolesf April 1922 Report, "The letbtar
from Secretary Lane td birector Hathei.éated May lith,‘l918

will govarn the policlss of the Hawail Natlonal Paric, '

The leased lands by Solicitor's Opinion were not under

Park jurisdiction untll ths leasss explired, bub fértunately,
there were po particular problems with the headquarters

arsa house lsasss, The KMC, VHse and Kapapala Raanch leasss
are discussed slsewhers, Propibitlon maSters were handled

by the "Prohibition office" and the U,3. Commiasioner. A%
least one bootlegger waé niding bis wares in the Park tree
ferns ard a lady bootlegger worked briefly oub of tne Mana
Tranaportation Company garage near the Vise, Vandalism of
Park flora was controlled by makiag ths driver of the car
respoasibls for the conduct éf his passeagsrs; and apparently
the Superintendsnb could forbld offendsrs the éight to retnrn
to the rark,

Jurisdiction over the in-Park portion of ths Mamalahoa

hignway becams an issue in 192l during the explosive eruption

ia May of that year, when Supsrintendent Boles assorted nils
right to control the highway by closing it to trafiie, Hilo

businesamen held ths view that the highway was uader the

D v
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coatrol and administration of the municipal authorities.
Governor Wallace R, Farrington finally wrote Dirsctor
Mather on ths mat er and on March 28, 1925, the U,S.
Solicitor returned an opinion that held Park roads to be
clesarly under ths administration of the Secrstary of the
Interior,.s

| The next problemharose in conneétion with the Baldwin
cass in 1928, A case of criminal assault in the Park was
investigabsd without enthusiasm by the Hilo police, When
the Park administratiop sought PFederal intcrvention, tha
U.S. Attorney gave an opinlon dated December 31, 1928,
whlch held that the U,S. did not have exclusivs jurisdiciion

in HNP, aod thus the U.S, Abtorney's office could not carry

on an investligation in the Baldwin case, It had been aasumed

that the Park legally had rebtained exclusive 3ur*séiction.
As this was now found to be not so, the Park was in tna
position of being unable to prosescute in U.S. courts any
violatlons of its rulss and regulations., The 1925 decision
gilving jurisdictiog/ove: the roada to the Sscretary of the
Interior was not sxpandsd to cover othsar portions.of the -
Park, and in Jaauary 1929, Superiantendent Allen requasted

the Dirsctor, NPS to see if Territorial legilslasion could

bs obtained, cediqg this exelusive jurisdictlon, Ia Ssptember

O
Lt

tha same year, hs asked the Director to introducs legis-
lation in Coagress giving the U,S, governmenit exclusive

Jurisdiction over aress included in HNP. (The cass of

- 5’3:1’3 . 1"1“3.
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Ranger George Douglas had_bean'dragging along since May
of 1929, and the even eariier Baldwin case was still un-
resolved.)

An Act provi&ing‘exclusive jurisdiction by the U.S.
over HNP was approved April 19, 1930 (49 Stat 227), The
Act exempbed from jurisdictioa ouly the right to serve
criminal and civil proéesses for crimes commlitted outside
the Park and the right to tax persons and corporatioas, All

- laws applicable to arsas’ﬁndar U.S, adminlistratlion were in
force in tbe Park, Fugltives from justice would be subject
t0 the same laws as those found in ths Territory of Hawall,
Thare was no masnbtion in the Act of voting rights, a major
concera later at Mt. Rainier Natlonal Park, Ths Jurisdiction
Act also required the Sescretary of the Inéerior to adviss the
Governor of Hawaill when exclusive jurlisdiction over HNP was
assumed,

Oa October 26, 1931 Superintendent Leavitt wrote the
Director, NPS asking about ths appointmeant of a U.S,
Commissioner for the Park., The Director responded on
November 1l, notiué tbét the Governor had not been notified
and would not be notified until a Commissioner had been
appointed to assume the exclusive jurisdlection over ths Park,
In shorbt, the Park was in the sams situatlion as befors
passage of ths Act,

Ths problem lay 1in 1oc$ting a sultable candldate for
the $2000 a year position of U.S, Park Commissioner. As

sarly as June 1930, Supsrintendent Allen had submitted to
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the Diresctor a list of possible candldates, most of Qnom
were interested if they did not have to give up their other
work and go to liye in the Park, a requirexent under the
Act, Feselers were out for a rotired person with Natural
History lnterssts who might be the Commissionsr. An Arny
man, a sclepntlist and a clergyman were rejectad for lack of
lsgal training., A lawyer, however, could not afford to
leave his other responsibilities, and a retired perasonr could

not afford the outlay necessary to maintain s house at Tths

Park, +he matter of housing was thsn pressanted to Tsrritorial

Congreséional Dslegate Victor Housten who promised ald in
fundiné quarters for a Commissioner, These quarters wars
ready by July 1931, but no Cozmisaioner had yet been appointed.
by February of 1932, the qgeation now beidg how to provide
for the Halesakala section of the Park if the Park Commissioner
1ived 'at Kilauea. | . ‘
During spring 1932 an amendment to the Act of‘April
1930, allowing the Secretary of the Infterior to appoint a
Park Superintendenﬁ'to be U,S., Commissioner at no extra

salary, was pa3sed by ths Senate bub Congress adjourned

bafore the House could act. The difficulty with this proposal

was that most complaints were made by ths Superintendent; a
secoad similar proposal to allow the Supsrintendent to ssyrve
as Commissionrsr for ths Park and bring cases bsfore ths
nearest other U,S, Commissionsr also failed in Congress on
the grounds that it combined administrative and Judieial

functions, In the mesantime, Superintendent Lesavitt had
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worked out wilth both the Hilo and Wailuku U,S, Commlssioners
a plan to handle all cases brought beforé them which had the
approval of the 1?031 U.S. Attornay.

The essenblals of this plan were introduced by the
Secretéry of the Interior as an amendmeat to the Act of 1930
in 1934 as H.R. 9153, A similar plan, H.R. 5305, finally-
passed as Public Bill 726 of the 75th Congress, and was |
approved on June 25, 1938. It provided that durlng such
times as tinere was no U.S, Commissionser at:HNP or when the
Commissioner was unavailable, any U.S. Commissloner duly
appointed for the U,S. District Court for the Territory of
Hawail and residing in the District was to have full authority
and powers, was to be pald necessary travel expeases, and so
forth., This amendment gave to U.S. Commissioners ctner than
just the U.S, Park Commissioner, duties beyond thoss of a
mere committing magistrata wksn dealing witb‘ENP problems,

While awalting final»action on the amendmeﬁt, the new
Park Superintendent, Wingaﬁe, was advised by Director Tolson
that on April 30, 1935, by Order No. 3650, the Secretary of
the Interlor had epproved sbolishment of ths position of U.S,
Commissioner for HNP, effsctive as of June 30, 1935. Wingate
asked for the re-establishment of the Park Commlssicner,
noting that prompt hearings wers impossible and enforcement
a farce, He hoped for legal aid actually in the Park,
especially in view of the problems expected in working oui
a new KMC leasa, Wingate was reminded that he had not

included a Park Commiséioner position in the 1935 budgeb; 1t
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was included in both the 1637 and 1939 budgets, but remained
unfunded,

Legal matters had not greatly improved under the pPro-~
visions of the ne; amendment., In August 1938, U.S, District
Court Judge S. C. Huber wrote Superintendent Wingate to
point out that a Commissioner could not issue a warrant‘of
érrest without the app?oval of the Distrlct Attorney. Although
this did pnot apply in all cases, it did in so many as to be a
wise precaution, he wrote. The following June, Superintendent
Wingate was engaged ln corrssponding with J, Akau, the U.S,
Commissioner at Hilo, on the lattsr's inability ﬁo do more
than bipd over scme CCC boys for petiy larceny., Since btheir
violation was not specifically covered by Park rules, the
judge could nct dispose of the case.

Nobody questicned the jurisdictional prerogatives until
after the war when local businessmen began trgnsporting
tourists around the Park without permits, claiming local
Jurisdiction over the roads, Superintendent Wingate, Hriting
in December 1945, felt the matter of jurisdictlon over the
roads was clear éaﬁd had been since 192li/but asked for
evidence that the U,S, had exclusive jurisdiction,v He found
that the provision in the 1930 Act reguiring that ths
Governcr be notified when the U.S. took over the exclusive
jurisdiction had nsver been fulfilled, Director Tolscn
replied that thers had been no notificabion bscauss no Park
Cormmlsaloner had ever been appointesd, but that the Act was

self-exscuting in establishing such Fedsral jurlsdiction.
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Tolson also asked for the details on when Park personpnel
first began the exercise of police jurisdictiocn within the
Park by the arres? and prosecutlon of law and regulation
violators. The records showed a series of cases, most of
them biought before the Commissicner at Wailuku, dating back
to Aﬁgust 1936, The D;rector commented that perhaps the
Governor should now be advised, but there is no record that
this was done, _

Supserintendent Oberhansley followed Superintendent
Wingate in asking for ths immediate appointment of a'Park
Commissioner, as the Hilo Commissioner was not sympathetbtic
to handling cases in the NPS mannsr., The Regicnal Dirsctor,
writing in Jenuvary 19L7, suggested btalking with U,S, District
Court Judge D. E. Metzger to get hls views of the matter, and
if he and the Superintendent agreed, to submit the name of
a candidabe, If was further suggested that M@tzger might be
able toc help, even withéut the appointmenti of_a Park Commis-
sicner, 1In April, the Interior Department gave 1its approval
to new legislation/to'allow the appointwent of U;S. Commi g~
sloners for several parks by the U,.S. Districﬁ Courts, without
the prior approvael of the Secretery of the Interior., This
presumably passed Congress; 1in December 1948, Judge Mstzger,
in a letter to Harry Irwin, U.S, Commissioner at Hilo, wrobe
fhat there should be 2 request from Park managemeht for ths |
eppointment of a non-resident Park Commissionar béfore the
Judges acted o name one, Yet the next spring, Metzger

beslbtated to appoint a full-time Commissioner as there were
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8o few cases, and Irwin, who had been a candidate for the
Job as far back as 1930, continued in his single capacity
of Hilo Commizsioner until mandatory retirement on June 30,
1650, And in Novémber 1950, Superintendent Oberhansley
wrete to Irwin that after discussion with bthe Regional Office,
it bad been agreed that there was no need to appoint even a
Resident Commissioﬁer for thse Park, a job for which Irwin had
applisd after his retiremsnt,

/Files covering this subject for the decades since
1950 have not been located./

Accidents

Iﬁ~Park accldents at Kilauea have rarely been fatal and
most frequantly involva visitora to the Park who geot lost in
the fern jungle, mainly in ths Thurston LAva Tube area,

There have been a number of auto accldents, usually two car
crashes, or autos which somehow go off the road into the
caldera,

One non-fatal accident resulted in legal action. On
Avgust 3, 1955, anrélderly KMC guest, Mré, Elizabsth Simpaocn,
agad 78, slipped on thsz Lava Tube trail and broke her left
femur, The preliminary report indicates sha aad cub across
a switchback on a steeply rounded pivot pbint to avold the
group gathered on the flat point of the switchback. The area
had recsntly bsen resurfaced and handrails installsd to give
support and to prevent such shortcuts, In November, a
claim was presented in tke sum of $4,985.49. Claims of
over $1000.00 howzver, must bes handled by ths Disirict Court;



an amended claim was then submitted for $99l.31. The Field
Solicltor denied this claim oa the grounds the 1njury had 5
been caused by the visitor not using due caution. An
appeal was entereé, the injured party now ciaiming she did -
not cut across the switchback, it was muddy, and the‘crowdr
was pushing. A point was made of the fact that the Park ‘
administration, lmmediately after the sccident, had instituted
new security measures for this trail, which the complainant | i
claimed indicated an admission of respoasibility on the part ‘
of ths Park., The clalm was again denled in August 1956.%
Fatalitles in ths Park to August 1966 includs twe auto-
rolated deaths, one death dus to vblcanic activity, ons
spactacular murder-sulclde, and a series of other suicides,
either planned or accidental, O0f these thirtsen fatalities;
6 involvad KMC personnel; 5 involved walking into either
Kijausa caldera or Halemaumau crater. .
Tha death due to volcanic activity involved an smateur
photographer who ignored protective barriers apd various
waranings during thg.exploéiva eruptibn of May 192}y and was |
killed~by a flyingllsouldar when 2000 feet away from the pit,
There 1s little lnformation on this case in any of the files,
The highway deaths occured on May 25, 1945, when a
Sgt. Johnson of KMC was killed while riding a bicycle which
was struck down by an automobile; and an auto accident on
April 17, 1966, rasulting in the death of Miss FPanoie Howe,

a visltor, This accldent apparently involved a Volkswagon

% Flle: AT7623.
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auto driving on the new Mamalahoa by-pass road, and pointed
up the immedliate nssd for clear jurisdiction over this
sectlon of the road. [Particulars on both cases not in
available files,/

Tﬁo cases during the-1930's were the most spectacular,
Oa Monday, September 29, 1950,'Pvt. Michsel Rubenstein of
Fort Shafter, a visitor at KMC, hilted to the sseashore acrosa
the Kau desert in company with 3 obther soldiers, They wsnt
farther than planned and Rubenstein was reported exhausted,
20 he and two others remalned overnigat at the sbore ﬂnile’
the Lth man returnsd to KMC for help., Next day, his two
companions were locabted on the trail back, but Rubenstein
was gone and could not be found after ssveral days of
searching, Hs had reportedly been drinking ssa water agailnst
all advice, and there was divided cplnion a3 to whether he
had wandered off, crazed, or had tricked his companions and

gons AWOL, His father offered a reward of $500 far his son,

dead or alive, but after a final search of the Kau area by = = -

Army planes on Octgber 5, ths sesarch was abandoned,

Then on July 10, 1935, =2 akeléton was found ih the Kau
desert by a CCC crew constructing a trail from Mauna iki to
meet the old Kalapana-~Kau trail, The body was probably mals,
was found assoclated with various milistary type materlal --
shoes, buckles, canteen -- apd had been thers for socme bime,
There were no signs of violence, and the body was lying oa a
small knoll with the welght on the left hip, the cantesn 30

fzet away, 1/3 full of ses shells, The body was returned to
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KMC and then sent on to Honolulu for additional study, ;No

final report 1ocatedt§7

The other sp?ctacular casse occured during June 1932
and was triggered by a Sylvester Nunes of Hilo, kidnapping
his yoﬁthful sweetheart Margarst Enos from high school, She
was then shot to death and with her body Nunes jumped into
Halemaumau crater. The crater was inactive, the remains werse

visible, and both the National Park Service and the involved

 families prefoerred a morse sultabls burigl site. The twe

bodies wers finally recovered by Mr. Rikan Konishi, a
Japanese contractor, after 10 days of intensive effort, _
which involved the erection of a cable across the pit, 3500
feet 1n diameter, and the lowsring of a cage to the bodies
resting on the talus slopes about 850 feet below, Konishi
had contracted to do ths Jjob for $1000, but expshnses wers
nearly twice that much. Hilo County Supervisors gave $1000,
the NPS $500, and another $1113 was ralssd by subscription,
There was much cooperation throughout, and the event brought
great pumbers of visitors to the Park, along with a great
deal of publicity. |

Chroaologically, the other known Kilauea fatalities ars
as follows:ite

1948, February 18, a doubls suicide at Uwekahuna Bluff
involving Tozeno Takayama, 19 and Mrs, Qladys Sakai, 39, both

of Honolulu, ’A suicide note by the woman indicated they were

*Seet Superintendent’s Report for Sasptember 1930; and also
correspondence bstween Army Surgeoq Wood and Ranger Christ,

Ranger Christ and Ningats, both dated July 12, 1955.
#xSee Files: 801-01,2 and AT7623.
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preparing for death by carbon monoxide poisoninz in a
rented car due o romantic difficultiss.

1949, April 27, during the evening, Lt., (USAF) A, H,
Stephens, a KMC visltor, drove his car out on the steanm flats
to tbsvold Poter Lee road, He got out and, spparently lost,
walked over bhe edge of the cauldera where his body was
fecovared from a ledge 250 feet down two days laber, His
wifs had remained in thelr caﬁ with the lights on and sounding
the horn, but could attract no ald until dawn.

1952, August 29, an elderly Japaness man, Kanichi Oxi,
6, of Honolulu, walked into Halemaumau crater. Footprints
at the site suggest no hesitation or slipplng. His family
agreed to burial in the crater and after‘a Buddhlst ssrvice,
the body was covered with gravel poured over the rin,

1958, November li, Pfc (USMC) Robert E. Nelson, 19, left
his roving security patrel at XMC, apparently to take the

lounge receipts to the safe. He did not rouse his reliefl

abt 11:30 p.m. and was not found until early the next morning,

velow the cliffs at Uwekahuna, At the site was a Navy sedan
with ths 1lights on and engine ruaniag, but with battery dead
and gas gone, The lounge receipts wers in the car, undisturbad.
Dsath was dus to an apparently accidental fall into ths
cauldera, some 246‘feet beyond the car 1a line with the
headlights,

1962, May 31, Spee. 5, US Army, Christian H. Bauss, 30,
was found dead at KMC, He had hanged bhimself with a GI beltbt

from a corner of the wall locker in his gquarters, a site
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which required the victim to crouéh in order to clear the
fioor, The apparsant reason was depressioa while drinking.
1962, July 29, a missing.Honolulu man, Nobujiro Tanigawa,
76, was the object of a major search., On July 18, he had
written a despondent lettsr to his soa, 1ndicatiag he was
planning a sulcide in such a way hs would not ba found, and
that he didn't want a search or a funeral. Ths,?ark
admiuistratién learaed of the case when hls son contacted
the Hilo newspapers, The searck was called off on bhe 22nd
with the relaﬁivas satlisfiad coatinued effort was hopeleas,¥®
The Superintendsnt's Report for August 196k, reported a
KMC Marine had accidentally killed himself while showlng the

safety featurss of a loaded plstol.

Park parsonnsl problems

The Park suffered a sarles of personnel problems la the
early years, startiog with its first Superintendent, Thomas
Boles, |

The Superintendent's job itself had apparsntly becoms
something of a plum, and Bolea' perscnality made him the
wrong man at the wrong time. In a 1335 letber to Superiae
tendent Wingate, De vis Norton, an active Hul O Pele and
HNP supporter but himself a prickly person, wrote that
Mather had offered him the Job of first Suparintandent of
ths Park, but he was not at the btime a citizen, and when he
becsme one, there was "so much wire-pulling goiaz on in
Honolulu for various favored persons that the best way out

¥ A body found in a pit crater the spring of 1572 may be
that of the missing Tanlgawa.
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of 1t was to ssnd down a malnland highway snginesr, Bolsa
was the result and -- a year later -- Kaual thraatensd to
closs the island ?o tourists altogetner if any effort wers
mads to include Walmea Canyon in the Park and place it
under the jurisdiction of Boles,"

In April 1924 Channing T, Loveloy replaced P.T., Phlllips

as Vias managsr. Boles and Phillips had not besa particularly

frisandly and in Decembsr 1923 Boless had written Director
Mather asking for a btransfer to anothsr park, as the Vise
marager was making 1ife miserable for both the Superiﬁtandant
and his wife, Part of the problem was certainly-due to a lack
of housing for ths Superintendsnt, who used per dilsm allowanca
to renb quarters at the Vise, Matasr wrote back saying Boles
was to stay whare he was and keep on with the work, Othsrwisse,

the Concessioner and not the NPS would be ruaning the Park,

He told Boles to get in touch with Xennedy, Prssident of

Inter~Island Sbeam Navigation Company (opsratora of the VHss)

and explain that the Park would not tolsrate such conditlons,

and if they lntendsd to do business with ths U,S. for a
continuation of tﬁeir franchlss, they would héve to conform
to NPS requirsements.¥* The NPS was on difficult ground
bacauss this leass, like ths othsrs lnherited from the
Bishop Estate, zllowed the new lessor no conbrol of the
area and there was at the time no way the HNPS could forcs
ths VHae to conform to Park raquirements.%*

¥ File: 900-01, Dac, 1, 1923.

% File: 900-01, Raport of Dec. 12, 1923 from Soliclitor to
ths Ssecretary of the Inbterior,



Boles stuck it out, but his relations with Lovejoy
were not much of an improvement. By 1926 a saries of petty
quarrels brought %saistant Director Cammeref to the Park to
see what could be done, He advized Boles that Lovejoy and |

wife, and the Assistant Volcanologlst Ruy'Finch and hls wife,

" were all well liked end had not undertaken a splts progran

against the Boles!, Hs reported the Superliantendent as

"sarpsst, tardwarking, and an economic administrator by

reason of his englneering knowladges, but by reason of his

tempsrament he cannot remain superinteandent of Hawall
Natlonal Park, nor can he be further considered as suparin-
tandent of any natlonal park where conbtact with the publlc
is important."* Boles had a good sense of ths scenic and a
well-doveloped publicity sense, Cammerer recommendsd that
Boles stay at ths Park until July 1926, then return to ths
coast for a non-public assignment, or resign. Reporting on
the situation, Cammsrer also recommended an incresass in tbs
superintendent's salary from $3000 to $3600 pér yéar due to
the high cost of living in Hawall, and he noted that a
supsrintendent's house was baing bﬁilt which should.eliminata
one® source cf ‘possibla friction..

Bolss did leave Hawaiil and went oa to other positiona

withia the ¥NPS3, most notably at Carlsbad Caverns, New Mexico,

His Service rating, begun in 1941, was consistently "Very
Good," and always hlgh in "Meeting and dsaling with others,”

"Prassnting 1deas end facts," Amongsat oldtimsrs of the

% Cammersr Report, 1926,
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Volcano area, Boles is remsmbered for looking upoan the area

£

as "his" Park, and for erecting a prodiglous number of signs,
most of which were deemed unascessary.

The naxt difficulty centered arouad a park rangexr pamed
Robert I, Baldwin, A Hilo tesacher, he was appolnted summer
ranger from June to August 1927, ard in October of that
year, passad the Clvil Service exam for ranger, He rsfused
to accept a fulltims ranger position, but was re-smployed
for the summer season and with his family moved to the Yark.

Accarding to the Superintendent’s Raport for July 1928,
at sbout 8:30 in thke evening on the 2lst, Mrs. Baldwin was
crimiaélly assaulted in front of hsxr cottaze by a man who
tareatansed her children if she made any oubery. No report
was made, therefors, until her husband rstﬁrned from Hilo a
few minutes after midnight.. Patrols weré promptly 3ent out
and KMC alerted, All soldiers at the Camp wers examined and
the departure of ops group, scheduled for the followihg day,
was delayed pending the lnveatigation. There was strong 7
feeling that a soldisr was iovolved, and Park and nsighboring
residents requested police protasction, Laber, the thesory
grew that the act was retaliation fof Baldwin's interfersesnce
wlth tne liguor traffic across the Park, 1t was also
suggested "by persons with habits of drink" that Baldwin
himself had dope it for the sake of the publicity, and "it
has plesased many psrsons to accept ths last theory. It
leavas the case é national park affair and excuses the Hilo

polics for not catehlng the culprit,” A reward was posted
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for the arrest of the assallant (to ths sum of $632.50 in
contributions) but no onelwas‘ever ¢ harged, During August
the Hilo police “Gontinued to foster this theory /of Baldwin's
guilt/ and to participats in a wids whispering propaganda H
and fipally aanounced that they had dropped ths case.™s

The Superintendent radiod the Director for help, especlally
legal aid, and succeeded in lnitiatlnz a new investigation,

The result of this was advice from the District Attarney's

office to keep qulst{ and let the affair die. The case was
agaln closed, Baldwin resigned the end of August and
raturned to his teachihg post, A milid investigation by the
Hilo Detective Departmsnt continued, but Baldwin coabtinued

to protest the inslnuations and implications.against himself,
The cass was never rs-opened,

A third cass was that of George D, Dounglas., With the
opening of ths Uwekahuana Observatory in 1927, a Rangex
Naturallst was assignéd to provide lectures and informatlion
at tbat location, In Octobsr, George Douglas of Honolulu
passad the necessaf& exams and was scinsduled to take over

ths Uwsltanuna post as soon as the details of his transfer

could be completed; he had besn workiug as Jaggar's

- assistant, employed by the HVRA., In November 1928 (while

the Baldwin cass was stlll simmering) Douglas was left in
chargse of the Park as Acting Superintendent until the
arrival of the nsw Superintendent, Thomaa J, Allen., Then

durlag the week of May 5, 1929, while Superiantendent Allen

[ ——

#  Superintendent's Report for September 1928,
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was absent from headquarters, his residence was entered and
niltric acid scattered about. Ranger Douglas was suspended

on HMay 17 on chafges of inabllity to perform the dutles of
ranger-naturalist and regiect of his duty as a ranger, He
was arrested on May 30 on a compleint by the Assistant
Digstrict Attoiney and held under a charge of attempted raps
bf a Park laborer's young daughter. Unable to raise bail,

he was held in Jjail untll June 1, when the U.S. Commissioner
ordered him rsleased on grounds on insufficient evidence.

He was also/under arrest on a Territorial charge c¢f un-
lawfully entering a Hilo residence at night, On June 21,_
he was indicted by the U.3. Grand Jury on charges of stsaling
official correspondence from the HNP office, At a special
session of the Territarial Grant Jury held July 10, hs was
indicted on 3 counts of malicious injury bto property of the
U.S3, Government, the Superlntendsnt, and the Superintendent's
wife; and one charge of unlawful entry to the quarters of é

Park laborer, His bond was $1759 for those codnts, and $1250 R

on other charges. _ ’ A l
The trial of George D. Douglaé, under indictment for j

mallicious damage to the Superintendent's residence, occurred |

January 16, 1930, A verdict of not guilty was returned. ‘

Fallure to prove was held due to the eight months delasy in

bringing the case bto trial and consequent confusion of witnsssss.
The Alex Lancastsrs, father and son, were both dismissed

from the Park for reasons of drunkenness, Alex Sr., a

Chorokes Indian, had served as guide when Jaggar first came
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to the Park, and was taken on as offlclal ranger by Boles.
He was fiﬁally recommended for diamissal after being
suspended on June 21, 1928 for "intoxication." 'Hé had L7
years experlence Lut his sprees, "notorious for years, were
too close together, last being but 8 days apart,"

Boles had ejected Lancaster Jr, from ths Park in March

1323, convinced that young Alex was a bootlegger'and a snsak

thief, besides being generally drunk and uaruly. Alex was

" not to rstura to the Park area, under penalty of arest,

without the written permission of the Secretary of the
Interior, the Director of the Park Service, or the Park
Superintendent himself, any of which Boles felt would be
pretty hard to come by. )

By the 1930's the sltuation had improved, but Coffman’'s
Report (June 1, 193?) reviewed the roblem of general moraie
at the Park and came to somse peritinsnt conclusionsa., Thers
was the feelling, he notéd, that once assigned\to NP, one
was stuck there, "Transportation costs are too great for
a mainland trip on a rangerts salary of $1860, and Hilo,
while close enougbjis too shall, and Honolulu too far away
and too expensive to take up the scclal slack. There are
fow others eround of a similar social interest for the
young personnel, married or unmarried," He recommended a
staff rotation plaan, a paid malnland trip {ar pleasurs or
duty, or the development of avprogram to employ loeal

reaidents far Park work, either as fully qualifisd rangers

or in a limited qualifications "park warden" category.
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NPS policy eventually incorparated a staff rotation
procedure, and a "home leave" provislon becams law in 1955
as part of Public.Law 737. Locsl hires have been most
successful for staff posit ions outside ﬁbe ranzer category.
And, beginning with World War II, the Park steadily losat
the physicel isolation that had intensified many of the
personnsl problems,

Twenty years after Boles' resignation, another BNP
Superintendent elected to resign his position after an NPS
investigation of his personal relatioas., If Boles! problem
was not getting a2long, Wingate's was psrnaps getﬁing along
too well.

Trained as & bopographic engineer, BEdward Gresne
Wingate came to Hawail with a USGS team in 192L, and after
a brief tour in hashlnaton, D.C., was returned to Hawall 1in
June 1931, "in order that he may perform necessary surveys
in connsétion with volcanic studies.” He was serving alse
as consultinv physicist and mathematician,

When Superintendent Leavitt, in 1933, sought a transfer
to Califaornia to be nearer his elderly parsnits, Wingate's
father-in-law, Salby M. Singleton, wrotevlntarior Secretary
Ickes recommending him for Superintendenb at HNP, Sipglston,
a politically prominent Chicago attorney, early ian 1932 had
asked Ickes to keep Wingate at HVO desplibe depression staff
reductions, "He strongly admires the native Hawailan racs
and can spesk their language." He had a wife, a child bora

in 1930, and a residence near the Volcanc Observatory.
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Director Cammerer apparently approved the arrangement and
Wingate was transferred to the Superintendsnt position in
NPS from USGS, effective November 16, 1933,

Wingate saw the Park through the worst of the depression
and wa& years, In the early 1940's he was recommended for
President of the Tarri?crial Board of Commlssicners of
Agriculture and Forestry (by Everett A, Pssonen writing to
Ickes) and for Governor of the Territory (by Georgs Lycurgus
writing to Ickss,) Wingate himself, in a letter to the
Director, NPS,« indicated he had spoken to then~Covernor
Stainback and would be willing to taks ths Ag Jjob., He d4did
not want to leave the NP3, but felt HNP at the tima, 1942,
needed only a skeleton crew. - |

He remaiped with the Park, but in Septembasr 1943, his
famlly moved to Honolulu. On Jaauary 13, 1945, he was
married to Eleanor Walapuhea Tam Sing, of Kalgpgna. On

March 26, 19116, the Hilo Tribuas=Hsralé reported his

resignation, effactive March 31, 1946, although accummlated  4¢
annual leave extended his actual service time to August 7.
Regional Director Tomlinson had arrived in Hilo the previousv;
wsek, he bad talked with Wingate, then wrote the Director

on Mafch 25: "As a result of my investigation I was

convinced that Superintandent'Wingate was no longer =a useful

and effective officlal of the National Park Service and so
informed him, After cbnsidering the matter he decided to

submit his resignatlon, which was forwarded to yocu March 20."

¥ Wingate Personnel File, Sept 17, 1942; MNARS, SF,
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Director Drury "with regret" felt constralped to accsept
the resignation, Wingatel's efficiency report of April 1,
1945 to March 31, ,1948 was "unsstisfactory."

The Kalapanha area had long been a speclal concern of
Wingate's, Hs wished to preserve one of the few rémaining
Hawailan communities for its residents and felt strongly
that the area should not be opsnsd up wilth a road until it
could be provided with some kind of protection, eithsr as
an sxtension of the Park, or as a Hawaiian "ressrvation."
The restrictive fishing regulations and the care taksn to
invclve the Kalapana residents in plans for ths Kalspana

extension during the 1960'a grew from this concern,

Supsrintendents®

1922, Feb, 20- Boles, Thomas, b, Janvary 21, 1881.
1526, Sepb. 15

Previously an enginaser with the Intsrstate Commercs

. Cormission, Boles began on-the-zacene admianistration of

HNP in April 1922, Ia April 1927 he was appoinied custodian
of Carlsbad Cave, znd remained as superintendent until 1946
whan he btransferred "home" to’Hot Springs, Arkansas, as |
Superintendent. He rstired at the mandatory age 70 in 1951.

1926, Auge- Burkland, Albert O. of USGS, Acting
1627, Jen. 1 Superintendant, HNP, -

1926, Nov, 26~  Evans, Richard Tranter, b, July 1, 1881.
1928, Hov, 15 .

A topographic enginesr with ths USGS, Evans was

transferred to the NPS to replace Boles as Superintsndent

% rrom: Personnel Files at NARS, SF.
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at HNP and two years laber requested a return to the USGS

where he continued his carser as a topographic eagineer,

1928, Nov. L- Qouglas, Geroge D,,‘Ranger, Acting Superlatendent.

1928, Nov, 30

1928, Nov. 15- Allen, Thomas J., b, February 21, 1897,
1530, Sept. 10 :

Allen had worked up from temporary ranger to assistant
superintendent at Rocky Mountain National Park before being
appointed to HNP, He entered on duty November 21 and
remained until September 30 when he was transferred to
Zion-Bryce as superintendent., Hs later serveﬂ as Begional
Director and Assistant Directar, NPS, befors returning to
the field, He retired February 27, 1965, tihen served as
special consultant to NPS until May 1966, Hs was awarded
the citation for Distinguished Service in July 1965,

1930, Sept. 10- Leavitt, Ernest Peprson, b. February 23, 1885,
1333, Oct. 9

Leavitt was appoianted a steno-typist at ibsemita
National Park in 1913. By 1918 he had expanded his wark to
keep up with the dayeloping park and was doing the Qork of
an Assistant Superihténdent, to which position Mather
recommendsd him. He remained at Yosemite as Assistant
Superintandeﬁt for 12 years_befofe his asppointment to HNP,
He returned to te mainland, to Mesa Verde from 1933-35,

Lassen 1935-37, and in 1937 to Crater Lake, remaining there

until his retirement on March 1l, 1952, He was awarded the
citation for Meritorious Service in October 1952, along with

a lifetime pass to all NPS aress,
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1933, Nov, 16~ Wingate, Edward Greene, b, March 2, 1898,
1544, Mareh 31

Wingate also had englneering experiesnce with the USGS
before being appointed Superintendent at HNP., After
resignation 13 years later, he worked for ths County of
Hawall, the State of Hawall and the City of Refuge NEP in
various engineering positions,

1946, March 31- Fagerlund, Guannar &/or Baldwia, Paul H,,
1946, . both listed as Acting Supsrintandent

1946, June 2= Oberhansley, Francis Reid, b. March 31, 1896,
1553, Nov. 1

Oberhansley began his carser as a temporary ranger and
worked his way up to Assoclate Park Nabturalist befors World
War II, His scilence tralning was deemed desirable for HNP's
nesds and his wartimes Navy carser provided useful military
contacts, He was transferrsd to Grand Tston National Park
as Supsrintendent, then to Zion Naﬁional Park, until his

retirement on August 19, 1965,

1955 Wosky, John B
1959, Feb,

Wosky came to HNP from Crater Lake and moved on to ths
Reglonal Offica. He had visibed the area in the 1930's as
a Landscaps Arcnitect. |

1959 Johnston, Fred T,
1965

Joannston retired from NPS and weat to the City & County
of Honolulu as head of Parks and Recreation.
1965 Hanneberge, John, Acting Superintendent
1965 Bean, Glenn T,

Bean came to the Park from the Omana Regional Office.

-269-



Miscellansous staff notes

1922  Staff for 1922 consisted of Superintendent
Boles, 1 Ranger, ?lex Lancaster, Sr, who had long been a
volcano gulde, and 3 laborers working on a per diem basis,
1922, March lj; First baby born in the Park, named National
Park Tahsara,

1922 A lady guide, Miss Barrette of Honolulu,
hired as a "temporary rggger" at $3 per day for ths summer
Season,.

1923, May 13 The clerk, autharized on March 16, began work.
1927, June 183 Summér ranger appointed (Baldwin) (first?)
1927, June 25: Kirkpatrick from the Unlversity of Hawaii and
hirsd by HVEA as curator at Uwskanhuna, becams Park Rangsre
Naturalist on July 1. Resigned August 13,

1928, June: Fred Waltjsn, long in charge of roads and
trails, and mechanic extrodinaire, declared “Foo snort" for
appointment as ranger, Anothesr joﬁ description was promptij

developed as "Park must have a man of his btyps."

f1228, Juné: Alsx Lancastsr, Sr., ranger agd volcano guide

for L7 years, dismisssd for intoxication,

1928, Octeber: Personnsl include: permanant, 8 temporary,
decliaing to 5 at the close of the season.

1929, July: = Otto Degener of Honolulu, appointed temporary
NPS ranger-naturallist pending permanent appointment to the
position.

1929, October: Two superintendents during the year; almost

the entire sataff of the Park changed durlng the year.

~270-



1930 Authorized staff now 9: Superinteandent,

Cnisf¥ Ranger, Aasistant Naturalist, foreman, clerk, three
permansnt and 1 temporary (summer) ranger. Naturallst and
one ranger position unfilled,

1930 | Legislation allowed on-the-scene administratlion
of Haleakalsa, as soon as an eligible person is available,
;21; Authorized stalf now 1, plus li seasonal and

5 to 30 on per diem., New appolntments for clerk-siano, ths
previously approved Naturalist (John Doerr, first full-time
NPS Natursilst ab HNP), and the flve permanent rangers,

Chisf Ranger slot s3tlll empty.

1933 Anpual Report: Five seascanal per diem
appolntments mads permanent appoiative positions, briaging
the authorized staff to 23, 6 unfilled, of which 2 ars
perpansnt and li seasonal, |

193L - Annual Report (June): Total authorized
positions now 26; Chief Ranger position still vacant;

one ranger, 2 seasonal rangers and 3 carpsnier positions
unf'illed, VA _

1935, March 16:Ranger J,H, Christ promoted to officially £i1l
the Chief Ranger position; Ranger J,A. Peck promoted to
district manager at Haleakala, | ‘

1936, July l: Jaggar transferrsd from USGS to NPS as
volcanologlat,

1957, June 16: Coffman Report discussed personnel and morale,
1939 Two "junior wardeans" appointed from Civil

Service list; ope esch to Haleakala and Kllauea,
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1940 , Jaggar retired and was replaced by
volcanologlst Ruy H, Finch, who had been Jaggar's assistant

from 1918-1926.

194115 Staff dropped steadily during World War II,
1946 Fiacal year report notes the year began with

15 regular employees agd, after seversl resignations, transfers
and the return of old staff, ended with 17.

1948 Fiscal year report notes 28 permanent and

| 19 WAE positions authorized, all filled except for one

clerk-stenao,
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HALEAKALA

Haleskals, unlike Mauna Kee, has been dormant long
enough for the Hawaiians to develop & bedy of lore
centered eround the crater, and to have left evidence of
their use of it., In 1920, Dr. Eenneth Emory of the Bishop
Museun, mzde en archaeologicel 1lnvestigation and found that
the crater coatzined numerous stoane terraces, platforms,
various shelters, and awﬁéved trail, Some of these

structures may have been heigu dedicated to the worship of

Pele; others are almost certainly burial sites, as the

iscleted location was most desirable., The Bottomless Pit
and Na Pikc kHaua pit were consildered desirable places in

which to secrete the umbiliczl cords of Xaupo bables: proper
disposition made the child strong but a piko destroyed, or
eaten by rats, doomed tne child to becoming a thief, 2Lbove
Paliku a prominent rock served as the "hub of East Manti,"
From it were drawn the boundary lines running from the
mountaintep to the;sea whiéh delineated the ple-~shaped
land divisions. |
Maui-of-a-thousand-tricks, Halesgkala's demi~-god hero,
is best known for his feat of forcing the sua to move more
slowly, but he éided humans in other ways as well, He made
the birds visible., He invented spears and barbed fishhooks
and even used one to fish up the Hawailaen Islands, e
couldntt get them completely above water so they must

remain as several islands,., He pushed up tne heavens s0 man
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didntt have to stoop anymore, For the plants it was already
too late and their leaves remained permanently flattened.
Por man, Maul stole the art of making fire by rubbing two
sticks together, a secret jealcusly guarded by the mud-~hen,
He punished the selfish bird by rubbing her head till the
feathers came off, and she is bzre-headed to this day.
Maui, like man, was mortal, for his father had
neglected a vital paft of the immortality ceremony. The
secret of 1life was kept by an ogress of deabh, and Maul
sought to zaln it by stealing past her jaws into her stomach
while she slept, and then tearing 1t out of her heart, All
went well until men, watchiag all this, lzughed aloud. The
ogress awoke, and thus ended both Maul and man's hope of

escaping death,

Geology

Heleakala was one of two volcanoes that built Maui, a
shield-~shaped moﬁntain like Mauna Loa today, with three
major rift zoﬁes. Over the years the mountain gre& with
layer after layer,éf'gahoehoe lava, Explosive eruptions
deposited ash and cinder in cones. When the eruptions died
away, water began to carve the mountaln, excavating four
great valleys and eating away most of the eastern summitb
area, Kaupo and Keanae valleys Tinally Jjoined in'a single
depression. In geologically recent times, Haleakala began

to erupt again, sending lava down the east and west slopes

of the mountaia, £illing the central cavity, and even
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flowing out the Kaupo and Xoolsu Gaps to the sea. Finally,
cones formed over the easterly and southwesterly rifts to
hide the divide between the twoc greatbt valleys.

Early geologlsts looked at the great depression at the
top of Haleakala and presented several theories and
explanations: it was a terminal crater; the depression
resulted from a huge explosion; it was a collapsed czuldera,
like Kilauea; the mountain was pulled apart in a mighty
convulsion, forming two valleys. The most cereful surveys
by modern geologists teﬁd to support the position that the
"ecrater" is mainly the result of erosion, not of collapse,
explosion, or the sliding away of perts of the mountain.

The vast size is due to the fact that the two mejor
erosicnal valleys, each forming with an empitheatre head, did
not meet in a straight line, The whole process was aided by
the many dikes in the walls which constantly fed waler into

~

the deepening valleys,
Discovery .
Captain Cook discovered Maui on November 26, 1778, on

his way to Kealekekua Bay from exploring the northwest coas?d

of America. "An elevated hill sppeared in the country, whose

summlt rose above the clouds. The land, from this hill, fell

in a gradual slope, terminating in a steep rocky coast; the
sea breaking against it in a most dreadful surf. [Thg?
island...was called by the natives...lowee," In 1786 1la
Perouse anchored oan the south coast in a bay thnat today

bears his name, He found the area "a dismal ceoast where

HALZ~3



torrents of lava had formerly flowed like cascades." He

had mahaged to anchor offshore from the last known eruption
of Haleakala, & flank flow dating from about 1750. Vancouver
was not much more impressed, fianding the area barren, cut
with gullies, trees infrequent, aand only 2 few huts with

meagre cultivation,

Early Exploration

The missionaries came to Masul and established a station
at Lanzina in 1823, In 1828, the Reverend Mr. Richards of
this first mission station made tne first recorded ascent of
"the highest land on Maui' with brother missionaries Andrews
and Creen, They were advised that the way was long but the
escent easy. On the morning of August 21, 1828, they started,

Halfway up the mountain, we found plenty of gocod
water, and, at a convenient fountain, we filled our
calabash for tea, By the sides of our path, we found
plenty of ocheles, (a juicy berry, very palatadle,) and,
occasionally, a cluster of strawberries, On the lower
part of the mountaln, there is considerable timber;
but as we proceeded, it became scarce; =and, as we
approached the summit, almost the oanly thing, of the
vegetable kind, which we saw, was a plant which grew
to the height of six or eight feebt, and produced a
most beautiful flower, It seems to be peculiar to
this mountain, as our guide and servants made ornaments
of it for their hats, to demonstrate to those below,
that they had been to the tep of the mountain,

It was nearly 5 o'clock when we reached the summit;
but we felt ourselves richly repaid for the toll of the
day, by the grandeur and beauty of the scene, which at
once opened up to our view, The day was very fine.

The clouds,..were far below usj; so that we saw the
upper side of them, while the reflection of the sun
painting their verge with varied tints, made them appear
like enchantments....0On the otner side, we beheld the
seat of Pele's dreadful reign., We stook on the edge of
a trewmendous crater, down which, a single misstep would
have precipitated us, 1,000 or 1,500 feet. This was once
filled with liquid fire, z2aod in it, we counted sixteen
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extinguished craters., To complete the grandeur of the
scene, Mouna Kea, and Mouna Roa lifted their lofty summits,
and convinced us, that, though far ebove the clouds, we
were far velow the feet of the traveler who ascends tne
mountains of Hawaii, By this time, the sun was nearly
~sunk in the Pacific; and we looked around for a shelter
during the night,

They spent an uncomfortable night in a small fenced yard
some distance below the summit, The temperature fell from
77° to lYy° and to j0° the next morning when they arose and

reaescended the mountain to its summit, and contemplated
the beauties of thé rising sun, and gezed a while longer,
on the scenery before us....Not having an instrumeat, we
were upnable to ascertain the height of the mountain, We
Presume it would not fall short of 10,000 feet. The
circumference of the great crater, we Jjudged to be 1o
less than fifteen miles. VWe were anxious to remain
longer...but as we were nearly out of provisloas,..we
finished cur chicken and tea, and begzan our descenb.it

Having completed the mapping of Kilauea and Mazuna Loz,
Charles Wilkes and the U.S. Exploring Expedition moved on to
Maui, In February they made an ascent of Heleakela., Wilkes!

usual large perty took three days to reech the summit, aotiaog

-

along the way several new specles of plants, some of which
developed a silky-looking variety at the higher elevations.

On their.arrival at the edge of the crater, on the
summit, the clouds were driving with great veloclty through
it, and completely concealed its extent. The heizht, as
ascertained by the barometer, was ten thousend .two huandred
feet, The driving of the sleet before the strong gale
soon affected the missionaries and native students, the
latter of whom for the first time, felt the effects of
cold °

The crater of Haleskala, if so it may be called,
is a deep gorge, open at the north and east, forming a
kind of elbow....Although its sides are steep, yet a
descent is practicable at almost any part of it, The
inside of the crgter was entirely bare of vegetation,
and from its bottom arose some large hills of scorila
and sand: some of the latter are of an ochre-red colour

% Missionary Berald, XXV, August 1929, pp 246-251,
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at the summit, with small craters in the centre., All

bore the appearance of volcanic action, but the natives

have no tradition of an eruption. It was sald, however,
that in former times the dread goddess Pele had her
habitation here, but was driven out by the sea, and then
took up her abode on Hawagiil, where she has ever since
vemained. Can this legend refer to a time when the
volcznoes of Maui were in activity?

Of the origin of the name Mauna Halealkala, or the

House of the Sun, I could not obtain any informatlon.

Scme of the resideats thought it might be derived from

the sun rising from over it to the pecple of West Maui,

which it does at some seasons of the year.#

Wilkes also noted a volcanic rock used by the natives
as whebstones; the lack of pumice or volcanic glass ia the
crater; =and the tendency, at some places on the wall of the
crater, for the compass te be so affected by local attraction
s to be useless (Magnetic Peak.) Wilkes seems also to have
been the first to use the nawe Haleakala for the crater.

As visitors to the crater ‘grew in number, recorded
impressions also grew in awe. G. W. Bates in 1853 seems %o
be the first to use what is now & common expression: "From
the point where I stood, a huge pit, capable of burylng three
cities as large as New York -- opened before me, "k
Visitors apparently found the New York comparison especlally

apt; Wilkes had already used it in reference to Kilauea,

Haleakalse section

The summit of Haleakela had not been included in the
Hewaii Netional Park bills of 1911 and 1915. Jeggar edded
it to his 1916 bill on the advice of congressmen who pointed
oub 1t would be wise to ask for the maximum desired acreage;
¥ TWilkes, Charles. U.S. Exploring Expedition. Vol. L.

s Bales, G. W, Sandwich lsland Notes. WNew York, 1854,
ppo 116-7.
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in the future i1t would be far easier to delete unnecessary
sections that it would be to add desired cnes., Defining the
area only by & metes and bounds description prepared in
Washington, D.C., Haleakala summit became part of HNP,

On the island of Meaui, the impact of Nationsal Fark
status for the summit of Halegkala was strictly economic.
Local interest in the crater centered on roads and trails
up to it, A Maui News editerial of Merch 3, 1916 suggested
that the Maul Chamber of Commerce -- which edministered the
two ecre sumnit rest house area -- encourage Congress to make
it a park, WVere this to happen "it will probably follow
that most of our present problems concerning roads and trails
and rest houses will te permanently sclved.'" Ancther edit-
orial cn May 5, 1916 noted that the Interior Depertment
manages and develops arees and "edvertises." There was no
newspeper ention of Haleskala as a section of Hewall
Hational Park until the Maui News, on September 21, 1917,
reported a speech by Governor Luclius Pinkham duriag which
he said, "I know oé no opportunity from public lands, o
esteblish parks.on Maui, seve as the federal goverament has
indicated its intention in the Haleeksla division of the
Eewail natiocnal park." .

In July 1921 land exchanges at Xilauea on the islaund
of Hawail had progressed far enough for the KPS to dedicate
the new Hawail National Park. No land exchanges had yet
been arranged for the Haleakala section, but Maui ilaterest

was veginning to develcp. In Januery 1921 the Wailuku Pcst



Office used a new cancellation stamp which read "Halealsla
Nationzl Park, Msui," The Post Office was as inaccurate

as the Honolulu Advertiser which regularly referred to

"Kilauea National Park" until the Maul News pointed out
that the proper name was "Hawaii National Park," and that

the Park included both Kilevea and Halegkala,

Lfter the official dedication of the new Park at Kilsuea . :

ia July 1921, a group from the Brockiyn Dally Eagle party

went to Haleakals and held a dedication ceremcny of thelr
own. They were eathusiastic over the fine facilities
available at the summit rest house and the ease of ascent,
but noﬁed that a "motor road" would be bullt,

Although the Fark had Dbeen dedicated, Maui residents
expressed concern for the administration 6f the area,
especially the protection bf the silversword plant, land
ownership, and the administration of the rest hcuse, "As
yet Haleaksla has been taken over as a Natlonal Park in
little but name, There is no territorial law that prevents
the wanton destruction of the wonderful plants, no park
officials here to enforce rules that would have to be made,"
So wrote the Maui News on September 20, 1921l. The paper
asked for public support in enforcing the NFS rules protecting
Perk flora, and pointed out a first step toward silversword
protection was to prohibit the sale of silversword products.
Although the Park lands were still privately owned, the
Depeartment of the Interior definitely assumed there was a

Kational Fark and referred to it was the "Haleakala Section,™
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Park values,

up to October 1922.

gccessible,

would be unwise for

their affairs," and
of Faui support for

through the crater,

#%  oSuperintendent!'s

Private land owners enjoyed full rights to the use of the

lands as long as such use did not inbterfere with or injure

On-the-ground administratign of HNP began in March 1922
with the arrivel of Park Superintendent Thomas Boles. He
mede his headquerters at Kilauea and 4id not visit Ealeeskala
until August 192!y, although the Meaui Chamber of Commerce did

provide him with a complete report of the summlt rest house

Tbé"Cbamber of Commerce still edministered

the rest house, the only development in the Haleakala section
of the Park. The NP8 refused to accert responsibillty for the
fecility until it hed funds for maintainance, and funds would
not be availeble unbil the Interior Department had edministrabive
control of the area -~ by land exchange or some other agreement

with the private land owners -- and until the summit area was

Superintendent Boles was impressed by his first visit
toc Haleakala, a trip which was paid for almost entirely by
Maul residents, The Maul people were enthusiastic and "of
one mind...in diréct contrast to the preseat condition in

Hilo where there are so many factions and cliques that it

the Park Superintendent to mix up with
he saw the rest house as a fine example
the Park.# He rode up to the summit,

and out the Kaupo Gap to the sea, On

his return to Wailuku he met with local residents and

Report for August 1924,



explained NPS hopes for develcping the area when full title
had been given to the Interior Depariment, "I found that
the delay in giving title to the Federal government was
caused by the owners being offended by unauthorized persons
heretofore speaking to them; I met the verious owners, and
found them bhigh class men, and perfectly willing to see
things carried through tc a success provided they deal direct
with the Government. Although no names were mentioned, i}t
aprears that it was Mr., Thurston and Professor dagger who
appeared as the self-appointed spokesmen &nd thus caused
their (owners) lack of interest thereafter,":

Bﬁles visited the crater again in late 1925 with the
gang that was surveyliang for a summit reoad, With Kilauea
still inactive after the explosive eruptican of May 1%2l,
he felt more and more convinced that as a guaranteed
attraction Halegkala should be given early consideration in
rozad projects, The road survey was completed in December, -
Boles felt the Federal government should stend the cost of
a road to the summiﬁ, although the Couaty of Hawaii had
built the road from Hilo to Kilauea which made that section -
"eccessible" and thus eligible for develepment funds, but he
elso felt that the Park needed more than a "“shoestriong! right-
of~way., The new road survey would allow the Park to determine
whet Park boundary changes were desirable, and would also be
the basis of requests to the F ederal goverament for road

construction funds, A proposed road alignment plan wes sent

Ibid.
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to Governor Ferrington in December 1925 to assist him in
determining whet land exchanges would be necessary to
eccommogdete the proposed road,

The Cemmerer Report in 1926 urged that the boundary be
adjusted so as to follow the topegraphic lines of the crater
and to sccomodate the Haleakala road, Cemmered suggested
that approximately %00 feet outside below the crater rim

would be sufficient. He also recommended offering limited

use of the Sliding Sands trail and limited grazing in the

crater in exchange for necessary protectloan of other areas
of the crater., He clearly felt that FPark had a commitment
tc build a rcad to the summit.

Beginning in February 1925, a series of conferences with
the land owners led to az redefinition of the Park bouadary
along topographic lines, 300 feet below the rim as recommended
by Cegmmerer. The new boundary eliminated from the Parg some
second class grazing lands outside the crater, sad reduced
the total area from approximately 21,150 to 17,1350 acres.

The agreement, which required Congressional epproval, was

reached February 12, 1927, To accommodate the new summit

“road across its lands, Haleakala Ranch Company agreed ©o

relincguish its summit creter lands, but requested permenent
grazing rights in the road lands outside the crater. Fencing
the road right-cf-way to eliminate cattle would have cut off
eccess to their water holes and the NPS readily agreed to this
provision, The Service also hed the right to issue grazing

permits within the crater until such time as those grazing
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lands were reqguired for Park use; eand they could issue
permits for the use of Sliding Sands trail to transfer stock
acress the crater,

With these provisions, the three private land owners
agreed to land exchanges with the Territory of Hawaii., On
Jenuary 28, 1928, the Haleakals Park lands were finally
deeded to the U.3. by the Territory, with one subsequent
amendment, The deed was corrected in 1929 when 1t was
discovered that the permenent grazing rights grented to
Haleskala Ranch Company had not been included in the original
deed from the Territory to the U,3,%

Use of Sliding Sands trail and crater grazing heave Been
minimal., The infrequent cases of cattle wandering from
the Park road areas covered by the permasnent grazing rights
provision onto other Park iands have been guickly anad

pleasantly settled,

#* bee also: Apple, A history of the land acoguisition for
Hewaii HNztional Fark to December 31, 1950, pp. 110-5,
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Roads and Trgzils

Both the 1921 Mather-Albright report znd the 1926

[vy]

Cammerer report recommended a summit road for Haleakala,

and the boundafy revisions of 1927 were specifically

prepared to accommodabe the surveyed road elignment, Land
exchanges were completed in 1928 and that year the Territorial
Legislature passed a road fund bond bill enabling the
Territory to spend the sum of $300,000 for the purpose of
meeting Federal aid given in coastructing a modera highway

to the National Park boundery. Work on this section was
scheduled to start in November 1929 and on completion, the

NPS would continue the construction of a road to the summit.

Ey 1931 the Territorial road was well underway. The Park
section had been surveyed, then was reviewed by the landscaping
division and in line with their recommendations, the Bureau
of PublicvRoads revised 1ts survey to accommodabe suggested
changes, The finai'alignment follows the lendsceape in such
a way that road scars ere almost lnvisible.

Work on the Park road began in October 193%% and was
completed in December 1935, The new summit road was 10.66
ﬁiles in length, exteqding from the Park boundary_where it
connects with the Territorisl road, up to the summit near
White Hill, It was 14 feet wide frcom shoulder to shoulder,
widened to 22 feet on curves., Total cost to the HNPS wes

$392,128,26, 1In November 1935 the road was armor surfeced



-

for an additional $32,575.75.

The new highway to the summit waé dedicated on February
23, 1936, and the program included a nationwide broadcast of
the ceremony., Visitation to the summit jumped from a few
hundred a year to anearly 16,500 for the fiscal year eandiag
June 30, 1936. A storm early in 1926 brough% a number of
people up ﬁhe road to see their first snow., Many were so
lecking in judgement the road finally had to be closed to
minimize the danger of accideaﬁs.

Although a great improvement over the horse trail it
replaced, the summit road was still narrow with several sharp
switch~backs a2nd it lacked shoulders in places, Sudden drop-
off's or cliffs lined some sectiocns. On Kovember 23, 1935, the
road had recorded its first fatelity -~ two miles below White
Hill a car pulled too far of £ in passing and rolled over
leaving one killed and two injured. The same day two miles
below the Park boundary another car did the same thing with
only minor injuries, Cars contiaued to go off the road with
ocassionally fatalfresults although every effort was made to
warn drivers of the hazards and to widen and clear the road
banks, In April 1937 the road was middle-striped for aid in
night driving.

An unexpected hazard to tbé road itself were the pheasant
droppings of "kukee~-uao'" or "kukae~nene' which were softeaing
the bitumen binding-on the road so thnat tires pulled out the
soft material leaving holes, New surfecing eliminated thls

problem., Bad weather and an ocassional earthquake also




damaged the road.

In late 1941, with increased Army use of Red Hill, scne
of the turns were widened to allow passing. These were not
paved, The Army also extended the road from the Observatory
ab White Hill to Red Hill; =and in 1843 this was extended
fror Red Hill to the Signal Corps facility et Xolekole Pezk
outside the Park., Thé increased use of the road was followed
by &n increase in fatal accidents, The Superiantendent's
Reports note that fabtalities tended to slow down the Army
and Engineers drivers "some,"

Increased use of the summit by military during the
Korean conflict of the 1950's led to the Territory patching -~

yet agein -~ thelr badly maintained epproach rcad, Finally

in October 1952 the Territory re-surfaced the epproesch road

to iO feet on the straight and 12 feet on curves, It still
needed widening on corners and at hidden culverts,

Again, the heavy road use during the "Science City"
construction work beginning in 1961 led to ever-iacreasing
complaints. In Apfil 1965 the State began work ot widening
some switchback cuéves, and in March 1966, the Legislature
provided $175,000 in Special Funds for edditional rosd curve
widening, This actlon forced the Park to bring its section
of the roed up to curreat standard also,

Two other road projects ere frequently suggested for
Haleakela, One is a road throuzh the crater and out to the
sea via Kaupo Gap, to connect with the beach road from Hana,

This plan, it is argued, would open up the Keupo end of the
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Park and would thus attract many new visitors., The crater-
Keupo road was being suggested in the early 1900's when the
sunmit rest house was being built, and again in the 1930's
when the summit road was under constructiocn., Landscape
Architect Vint, during his visit in 19%0, made a strong
stand in favor of the road stopping at the summit, and NOT
going iato cor through the crater as was often recommended,
The crater was there to look into, not to go into by car,
"It is definitely recommended that the inside of the crater

be established as a sacred area, accessible oaly by trail,'s*

The 1950 Territorial Legislature considered preparing a
resolution urging the constructlion, by the Federal government,
of 2 road from Hana to Kahului via Kaupo Gap. The Hana
airport had recently been opened and the area was being
developed as a visitor destination area., Nothing came of
this.s% 1t is likely the suggestion willvbe made again,

The second road proposal is for a road from the central
valley via Polipoli Spriangs, up the Southeast rift to
Kplekole., This would provide access to the Science City
aree without the nécessity of going through the Park, It
would also encourage the rebullding of utility 1liaes outéide
the Park, ellowing the separation of Park and non-~Park
scurces and users, Tentative Surveys for sucn a road
elignment were originally made in 1930 as part of the

% Vint Report, February & March 1950.
it 01d file no. 120.
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rlanning for the summit road. The route was reviewed again

in 1963, but nothing was done as assistance from the Kolekole
) g

agencies was unlikely and the State had no funds, Aanocthepr

road survey was made in January l96h.

Trails

Superintendent Boles had no funds for maintenence op
development at Haleakala, Later superintendents noted the
poor crater trails and maneged to squeeze funds for their
repair, realignment and regrading -- some sections were a
forbidding 30% grade -~ but still the trails continued to
wash out in the heavy winter rains. Trail work was further
handicapped by lack of a work crew or supervisofy staff on Maui.

The EHalemauu trail out of Haleskala, the worst of the lct,
was rebuilt in September 1929 and promptly washed out again,
In February 1930, trails leading out of the crater were so
unsafe that funds were requested seperately for the work to
be done at once, Washed out two years in suc;essioa, the
Halemeuu trail was scheduled for complete reslignment in 1931,
but again fuads were not available; iastead, a new trail
was constructed beéween the rest house at Kalsghaku and the
Halemauu trail, and the old trails were repaired,

Trail work was increased with the establishment of a
CCC spur cemp at Haleekals in the spriang of 19%h, The
enrollees built a four foot wide, stendard, 10% grade trail
to the summit of White Hill, hopefully forestelling any new

requests for a road to that summit. The Sliding Sands trail
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from White Hill to Kapalaoa was completed and a new series
of trails ecross the crater to meet the Halemauu trail at
Holua were laid out, Trails were built from the summit road
to the head of the Halemauu trail, from the utility area at
Puu Niazniasu to the start of Halemauu trail, and down the
Kaupo Geap.

Relocation of the Halemsuu trail was finally started ia
May 1935 with funds from an emergency constructlon allotment,
These funds ran out in February 1936 with the trail approxi-
mately 80% complete, and the balance of the project was done
with CCC labor. Completed in Lugust 1936, it washed badly
in April 1938 and was radically re-ditched and re-drained in
February 1940. The Halemsuu trail still regularly requires
ms jor repair.

An adequate crater trail system necessitated the
coastruction of improved overnight facilities in the crater.
The CGCC had established a camp at Holua cave, near the bass
of the Helemauu trail at one of two places‘in the crater
vhere water was available. Two new crater cabins were
completed by late'i957 and two more the following year. Thesse
sre the cabins at Kapalaoa, Paliku and Holua, and the Rahger
station at Paliku.

The major Park trail system was established and in use
before the area became a Park, and most of the post-FPark
trail development was laid out and constructed by CCC
earollees between 1935 and 1940. Work since then has been

mainly meaintenance.




Structures

Headquarters area: District Ranger J. A. Peck,

daleakalats first permanent NPS employee, arrived on duty
March 19%5, The headguarters site was located at the 7000
foot elevation just inside the Fark boundary where there was
edequate level building space withgood water prospects nearby.
The first comnstruction, a four car garage to house HNPS auto-
motive equipment, was completed in June 19%5, and gas storage
facilities were added the follewing year. Equipmeat storage
and shops continued to be located in this area, including the
stock corrals which were moved to the headquarters area ia 1§39.
During 19%5, plsns and specificatiocas for two new projects
were completed and put out to blid., These were an (bservatory
Station and comfort fecility at Pukeozo hear White Hill at
the road end, and a checking station and office bullding at
tnhe headquarters area, As bids were far in excess of &avail-
able funds, the checking staticn-office building weas not
constructed until late in 1936, It sérved as oniy en office
until July 1945 when increasing vanéalism forced the
staff to institute checking procedures, Vandalism dropped
sharply, but the checking process pleced an edded burden on
the already short-handed Park steff, and the procedure was
abandoned in Mey 1946, Vandalism and violations increased
immediately, remaining high until the removal of military
concentrations again relieﬁed the Fark of this problem,
The little stene building was torn down in the 1950's when

o new headquarters bullding was constructed,
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In 1948 a headquarters area at the LO00 foot elevaticn
in Kula was considered, and new construction at the 7000
foot level was deferred until a decision could be made,

A small area was designated for the new headgquarters at

Zula, but the land was never chtained ncr were the needed
facilities ever buillt, and the acreage was eventually removed
from maps of authorized Park lznds,

In 1957, plans were drawn for the construction of a new
headqguarters building at the 7000 foot level, Bids were
cpened in May 1958 and work begen immediately, although the
low bid was'§§6,180 and the estimated cocst was only $26,290,
An =ddition to the building was completed in 1967, |

Houging: The first permanenf NPS staff at Haleskala
found no housing in the Park and were obliged to rent quarters
in Weailuku cor Kula, some 10 miles outside the Park and 20
miles from the visitor concentraticn point at- the summit,

In December 1938, work finally began on a headquarters area
residence building which was ready for cccupancy in February
19L0. A garage was/added later, and central heating was
instaliled in 1957. The presence of a Ranger living in the
Fark was of vital importance in meintaining some modicum of
KPS control in the Park during World War II.

Post-war increases in staff included a new Ranger-in-
charge and an Assistant Superintendent., To accommodabte this
increase, some of the CCC buildings, recently relinguished
by tane Army, were moved to the Park residence esrea and

remcdelled for use as Ranger quarters. They have been
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retained as quarters for officiel Park visitors.

Housing ccatinued inadequate and plans were drawn for
construction of additicnal employee residences in the head-
guarters area, In June 1959, two bids were opened for
roughly $56,000 and §80,000 for the two structures (nos. 218
and 219); Federal housing reguletions limited the amount
which could be spent on constructbicn of the two residences
to approximately $35,000. A plan to convert two of the Lodge
area barracks {(nos, 110 and 111} into steff quarters was next
considered, then rejected as costing nearly as much as new
construction., Eventually, cleerance was recelved to exceed
the Federal maximums for house coastruction, and in 1962 two
residences were built, apparently by the NPS using day labor.
The cost per home was now in excess of $3%0,000 each and required
clearance, In June 1966 bids were received to construct two
additional homes but these were alsoc well zbove available
funds end were rejected. The high cost of construction
material, the great distauces'it must be transported from
the local supplierﬁfo the job site, and the high cost of
local lebor result in bids well above mainland averages for
gimilar structures., As at Kilsuee, it is necessary at
Heleakala to modify meinlend "stendard" plans to accommodate
unique lecal needs, adding yet more to the basic cost,

Summit structures: Bids for the new Pukkaoao Observatory

near White Hill were opened in kovember 1935, and all were

far in excess of the 7000 aveilable, An edditional 35000
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was obtained from KFS Public Works funds and the Jjob was
awarded to B, J. Walsh of wailuku, the low bidder, VWalsh
alsoc was manager of the Maui Grand Hotel which had been
swarded the Park concession to provide food, housing, and
stock for cvernight visitors to Haleakala, Walsh assembled
the structure in Wailuku, then tcok it eapart, transperted
it to the site, and there rebuilt it as a modified pre-~
febricated structure. The Cbservatory was completed and
opened to the public in June 1936,

The new Observatory was provided with a cearetaker and
the building was reported available at any time for the use
cf the public. It housed a relief map of Haleskala, and was
the center of the Psrk's ianterpretive program, Later, a
pertion of tne Observetory was given'over to the Maui Grand
Hotel concessioner who provided hot coffee and food to summit
visiters, (At this date the c¢ld summlt rest house was still
being used to house the CCC unit.) Plans were drawn to have
the Perk buiid éeparate guarters to lease fo the concessioner
but this building gas never constructed, Combiniag the
ccucession and Pari inferpretive programs was not wholly
satisfgctory, although the concessioner's staff was able- to
provide some assistance for tne short-handed Park Ranger
stalff in menning the Observatory. For a brief time, two
CCC boys were also assigned to the Observatory as assistants
to the Ranger-in-~charge, The Mavil Grand Hotel concession
lapsed during VWorld Wer II.

In May 1966, the Observatory again housed a concession



operation in the form of two candy vending mechines znd a
‘soft drink machine. Servicing the machines was not satis-
factory -~ they seemed to be frequently out-of-crder or
enpty ~- and hot drink machines are not feasible with the
limited fresh water suprly,. ;

In 1960, aew exhibits by Paul Rockwood were installed

in the (bservatory and the whole was refurbished. However,

- vlsitor complaints about the lack of heating continued,

rising to a crescendo during periods of freezing temperstures
such as those experilenced in early 1965. Heating of the
Observatory has always been a problem, Originally it wes
furnished with a wood~burning cook stove which was later
replaced with a Franklin stove that looked nicer but threw
less heat than the cook stove. Various types of oil stoves
have also been tried with varying degrees of success. The
basic problem is one of timing: there is not" eaough aight

use to warrant all-night heating, but there is relatively

heavy dawn and early morning use, much of it before a newly

lighted stove can aéequately dissipate the morning chill,

Over the years, several groups have had facilities in
the Observatory. In April 1940 an ‘"airway station" wes
established at the Pukacao Observatory on a cooperative basis
bj the Weather Bureau, Navy and Civil Aerocnautics Administration,
with the man in charge of the concession meking the obser-
vations, As early as 1915, the Weather Bureau had contacted
the Meaui Chamber of Commerce on the possibility of establishin

a rain gauge and weather thermomefer on the summit of Haleakalsa
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to be looked after by the rest house caretaker. The problem

was referred to the rest house committee, and the Maui News

editorialized favorably on a summit weather station in July
and August of the following year. Apparently nothing ever

came of this proposal, perhaps because the rest house still
lacked a permenent caretaker,

In 1940 a petitlicn was received from the Maui Licn's
Club, requesting the establishment of a Post Office station
at the summit of Haleakala, and this was forwarded to the
lccel Post Office inspector. Nothing was done at the time,

A summit Post Office is one of several developments freguently
proposéd by visitors, -

A second facility at the summit was built on Red Hill in
1962, This provides a 360 degree view of.the crater, the
island of Maui, and, in good weather, the neighboring islands
as well, To 1966, this facility had not been. staffed with
interpretive pefsonnel.

CGC: The CCC camp was established at Haleakala late in
1935, The 25 boys/ﬁere housed in the old summit rest house
until facilities could be built for them at Pun Nianiau, Two
spur camps were established in the crater itself for the
enrollees working on the crater trails, and the rest house
site was vacated in August 1935. The crater camp sites were
equipped with water storage tanks and telephone lines. They
operated only during the summer months, closing in wiater
due to the unpleasant weather. The enrollees in the crater

built the cross-crater trails, re-eligned and rebuilt the



Halemauu, Sliding Sands and Kaupo trails, built four cabins
with water storage tanks, and cleaned znd located other
crater water sources., During the winter months the enrollees
neved back to the old rest house and later to the cemp at
Puu kianiau and worked on projects at the summit, Two boys
were assigned to the Ubservatory when it was ficished in _
Juné 1936, and others worked on connecting trails, exotic
pleat control, water systems, and road improvements,

In 1936 the Puu Nianiau camp was started near the Park
garage area, and one bunk house was ready in April 1937.

Four other buildings were complebed in 1938 and additional
coastruction continued into 1939, The camp had its own water
storage system and 1ighting plant., The Puu Nianisu camp was
vacated on May 13, 1941, and leased to the Army for the
duration of World War II,

CCC Haleakala camp staff deaths were surprisingly high.
Although only one enrollee death was reported (of lobar
preumonia) the camp lost its assistant cook, Arthur J. Lloyd
to heart failure_oprune 2, 1936, camp surgeon Dr. Howard
Chamberlain on December 17, 1936, add camp physician Dr,

Josepa O. Sowers on March 26, 1939,
Note:s

Due to a vigorous Records Menagemen${ progrem, recent

Haleskalae records are no longer available in the Park.
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FLORA AND rAURA

Flora

The Haleakala Netional Park has'two features not
found in other sections of the old Hawall National Park,

The first is 8 healthy stand of exotic conifers; the second
is a unigue native,

Ralph S, Hosmer; the first Terfitorial Forester (1904~
1914 ) planbted a series of four experimental plots up the
slopes of Haleekala between 6500 and 9000 feet. Hosmer had
already established the forestry reserve system in Hawalli,
and was now experimenting with  various timber trees
for possible economic iptroduction. In his four Haleakela
plots he planted trees from Nortn America, Jgpan, Australisa
and the Himalayas. The most successful planting was the one
made in 1910 at the 6500 foot level which survives today as
the Ralph S. Hesmer Grove, It contalns over ; dozen exotic
evergreens, many of which have matured as successlfully there
as fhey do in their native habltats. This grove was set
aside with a naturé trail and camping facilities in 196-,

A reforestation attempt was made in 1939 when Park
Ranger Howard FPowers tried transplanting 50 koa seedlings
collected frcm the 7000 foot level on Mauna Loa. They did
not survive, due to drought, generally poor conditions, and
the fact that koa is not easily traansplanted uader any
circumstances,

With the exception of a gorse, which was treated with
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herbicides, these exobtics have not esceped control and have
not required the atteation wihich one nabtive plant has
attracted, The native is the Haleakala silversword.

The silversword had attracted the attention of the
earliest crater visitors and for many years a guaranteed
proof ol a summit bour was the sheaf of silvery leaves oune
brought back. This relative of the sunflower was supposed
to grow only on Halegkala, although the less showy greeansword
was also found on the upper slopes of Mauna Loa., The planbs
blcom only once after a dozen or so years of growth and die
after producing a stalk of multiple, sedately-colored flower
heads and thousands of seeds which fall at its feet, The

seeds have no known mechanical or animal dispersel techanigue

and efforts at propagating seeds or seedling plants &are rarely

successful, In October 1927, Otto Degener, botanist of the
University of Hawaii, sent a can of greensword seeds to plant
along Byron's Ledge and ﬁear KMC at Kilauea., In February of
the next year, 10 silverswdrd sprouts were sent to Kilauea
from Haleekala by ﬁégener and planted on the rim of Kilauea
crater, There is no record of the success of these plaantiags
and i1t may be assumed they did not survive at Kilauea,

The files are full of requests from individuals and
arboretums and botanical gardens around the world for seeds
of the plant. Again, there is no report of long-term success
in propvagatiocn,

Hot only were they hard to grow elsewhere, they suffered

damage in their native habitat. Vandalism was a constant
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threat; as receantly as September 1966, somebody dug up a
large silvepsword and then abandoned it in a canefield near
Keanapali. ‘The plants also suffered from insect infestations.
A serlous insect attack was reported in August 1930, Park
Renger Christ was sent to Haleakala to checiz the plants in

September, -and seversgl infected plants were brought back to

headquarters and then sent on to the Hawall Sugar Planters

Association (HSPA) in Honolulu, Their éntomologist sent
back a report (not located) with recommendations which the
Perk hoped to follow as well as funds would allow., There
is no record of what they were to do but apparently it was
successful. The 1938 Superintendent's Report to the
Governor mentions the continuous improvement in the silver-
sword, and in 1942, 815 plants were in bloom,

. In 1935 Assistant Park Naturalist Semuel Lemb began a

series of reports on a "1935 Silversword Project" the purpose

~of which was to check the reletiocnship of the plazat and its

various insect enemies and also the effectiveness of the
protective measurgs employed, The original reports have not
been located, but an updating 6f part of this study by Park
Naturalist Robert Badaracco, dated October 1962, is available,
The 1962 study used the same couat locations as Lamb's study
and féund that the number of silversword plants in the area
had increased 189% over the 1935 census., Out of the 798 |
plants found in one 20-acre plot, 110 were over a feot tall
and of those, 38 were in bloom. Of the other 688 plants,

almost halfl were 4 to 7 inches tall., BRadaracco urged the



continuvation of a regular count of the plants, the
establishment of test plantings in other parts of the crsater
for study and comparison, and a major reseaﬁch program into
the ecology and natural history of the plant, to be done by
outside agencies and the Park, The plant itself was famous,
but there were a multitude of ecological conditions at play
about which there was still little knowledge., There is no
indication this work has been carried forward, beyond the
attempts to establish other silversword colonies in thne creater,
Other native flora appears briefly in the reports. In
1937, Gunder E, Olsoa, Project Superintendent of ECW at
Haleakalsa, prepafed a short listing of plants found in the
Park at the request of Acting Naturalist Kenneth Willisams.
The sendalwocod appears infrequeantly in reports, mainly as a
case of vandalism ~- in October 1937, somebody cut down and
took awey one of the largest saundalwood trees in the FPark,

removing everything but the smallest twigs -- or as a source

‘of reforestation materials, In April 1942, the discovery of

& red flower geranium was of sufficlent import as to be
included in the Monthly Report of the Superintendent; and
the Report for May 1966 mentions some new Eiolcgical control
of the native rubus -~ the akala or Hawailan raspberry --
by the State Entomologist.

One of the Park Naturalisit's projects has been to tally
the different words and phrases used by visitors to identify
tne silversword. Misconceptions and creative imaginaticn

have produced some remarkable results,
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Fauna

As at Kilauea, the most troublesome fauna wsas the
introduced goat. The goat population moved freely from Park
to neighboriang Territorial Forest Reserve and back, making
a coordinated effort necessary for any kind of long-term
results,
| The Territorial.Board of Forestry had provided woney for
goat drives in the Kilauéa area from 1927 to 1931, and worked
closely with the NFS in control of the Haleakala area., Hunters
could apply for permits to take goats in Forestry lands oub~
side the Park, and - in 194li, Colin Lennox of the Board of
Agriculture and Forestry, wrote Dwight Baldwin, Maul raacher,
about the possibility of a military rest and recreation camp
near the Kahikinui Forest Reserve, with hunting stressed,
Patrons wculd heve to crosé Baldwin ranch leands however, and

ncthing more is heard of this proposal. In 1551, Forestry

‘built the Waikau shelter, but charged $1 to use it, which was

too high for the local food hunters to pay. vGoats promptly
increased in that area as the pressure on them lessened.
Park requests for hunting parties were referred to the
District Forester or to the ranchers.

In~-Park control took the form of hunting, although
polsonling, introducing sterile males and the introduction
of parasites have all been considered. The problem was one
of who should do the hunting, and how., Superintendent Wingate
in 194l felt that huanting, even with paid hunbters, wculd not

be successful. It hadn't worked at Kilauea, although it was



probably the best solution for Forestry areas, Wingate
wented the Park fenced, and then a system of goat wardens to
work on the total elimination of the goats, [or the time
being, fencing was out of the question &s too expensive and
because of the perpetual grazing rights retained by the
neighboring cattle ranchers., In Kilzuea, however, the CGCC
had been able to fence nearly 80% of the Park by 194C, At
Haleskals, 2 fence would have the added benefit of keeping
cattle entirely outside of the Fark, By special reservation
in the land acquisition zgreement, cattle were allowed to
graze within the Park but outside the crater, and to cross
the crater itself to new pastures,

Writing in May 1962, to the Director of Regica Four,
Haleakela Superintendent Stratton again brought up the
possibility of fencing the Park as an aid to control; eand
during a meeting with Director Wirth and others in November,
Wirth even tried to obtain $50,000 in Federal depressed arez
funds to begin the fencing, but Mauli Gid not qualify,

A goat study was authorized and the Park hoped to begin
fencing as part of the proposed Youth Conservation Corps (¥YCC)
cemp, As of November 30, 1964 the program had been approved,
but the Park was walting for the esteblishment of the camp
and had therefore made no other fencing arrangements,

The YCC camp never came to pass and in Octcber 1965
Ranger Lindsey outlined a possible feacing program alcng the
South and East bounderies cnly, The KNorth boundery was

heavily forested and the West was a rcad. He estimated




fourteen or fifteen miles of heavy gelvanized wire fencing

/l
|

5 feet high, and some 2500 metal posts, costing around
$5000 per mile to install in the rough terrain. This
proposel followed a more extensive one dated March 1, 1965
for 334 miles of l-foot fencing with 7 gates and 3 cattle-
guards at a cost of {100,000, This plan would completely
fence the Park; the Lindsey proposal was for limited goat
control cnly, although complete fencing was the more

desirable, Nothing more is heard of this project, either,

The proposed KXaual National Park was much in the news
during 1965, One major stumbling block of acceptance by
the local populace was the heavy hunting use withln the

prorosed Park area. The hunting.public did not want to see

HE BN

the NPS no-nhunting policy close off another large area., It
was difficult for them to accept a no-hunting policy and then
see waﬁdeus hired to eradicate the unwanted goats. On
November 25, 1965, Superintendent Guse reported from
Haleakala on "Feasibility of Public Hunting of Feral Goats
and Pigs as a Control Technique in Hawaii National Parks,™
The report was against public hunting in favor of supervised,
controllied feral animal control. In the past, it was
reported, parties of approximately six were taken into the
crater by uniformed personnel and allowed to eradicate feral
goats under this supervision, This was done at the con-
-venlence of the Park and when it was free of visitors,
Eunters were selected on a first reservation basis znd all

conditions made clear, This provided effective control as
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well as good public relations. If public hunting were
allcwed in the prorosed Ksuail Ferk, 1t would have to be
allowed alsovon Mauil and Hawaii., The Report recommended
controlled and supervised eradication in coanecticn with a
fencing project, As goat populations decreased, public
essistance would be phased out-entirely.

Superintendent Guse wrote also to the Superintendent
at Grand Tetcn NP for detailed infermation on that Park's

Elk Reduction program. Guse indicated he had been

~authorized to institute a shootiag program, using other

than KPS employees, under a deputy system in a strictly
controlled eradication program supervised by uniformed
employees, The object was to rid the Park of predator Z}ig?
feral animeals, especielly goats. No answer has been lccated,

The Superintendent's Monthly Reports for 1965 and 1966
indicate the feral goat eradication program was finding fewer
goats in the Park, and hunters outside the Park were also
taliing fewer of the pests, A few gosais may have beean killed
with a polson bait, used mainly against the mongoose which
was threatening the newly released Nene, In September 1966
2 helicopter flight killed off 24 enimals in an inaccessible
area, Work crevs were doubling as hunters wnile in the crater
on trail maintainance, all under the supervision of uniformed
persoannel, with gocd results,

Guse's reference to escorted hunting parties in the Fark
touched on a recreation facllity not widely advertised. By

moGification of Office Crder No. 288 of June &, 1935, the
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"assistance of outside persons" was allowed in goat hunting,
Territorial rForester W. W. Holt received annuzl reports from
Healeakala of the kills, and in July 19L0, asked if outsiders
could shoot and if so, what arrangements had to be made,

The reply indicated that there were no drives, just rendom

bunting, outsiders could hunt if accompanied by Park persocnnel,

and the Park liked to know in sdvance when someone wanted
to go in,  Yet in October of the same year, Park Ranger
Howard Powers responded to a request from a H. T. Shouse of
the USS Utah, then anchored in Lehsina Roads, who had asked
how soon a hﬁnt could be arranged, by advising that he had
been misinforme@ as to goat hunting on Maul in reference to
the Park, It was strictly against regulations to permit
hunting of any kind in a National Park,

Kills from Haleakala gveraged about 25 a month, even
after Powers was recalled to active duty in 1941. During
fiscal year 1943, large numbers of military were drawn to the
Park for recreatiocn and the Ranger-in-charge made good use
of their service for a total of 537 goats and 5 pigs for the
year, 81 goats taken in February alone. 1In 1948 drives were
again used ih Haleakala which reduced the goat population
by another 168, with immediate improvement to the vegetation,
The June 19 drive was staffed by having Acting District
Ranger Hartesveldt "round up a bunch of local fellows,."

Goat wardens were also used with limited success. The
two hired in 1950 killed 613 between February 1l and June 30,

at a cost of Hl.lly per goat. During this periocd, requests
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for hunting parties in the Park were referred to Forester
Holt or to the neighboring ranchers.

By memorandum of February 18, 195l Superintendent
wosky advised all employees that from then on shooting was
to be limited to NFS empleyees under the direct supervision
of tne Chief Ranger. This memo cancelled énd superceded that
of November 13, 1953 (not found) and both may refer only to
pig hunting, as ea August L, 1954 memo noted that the rig
ropulation was down and hunting was discontinued.

In May 1962, Superintendent Stratton reviewed the problem
to that date in a letter to the Director of Region Four
(referred to earlier), Before 1955, werdens and hunting
parties of local citizens were alleowed to shoot in the crater
under the supervision of Park Rangers., Since 1955, shooting
had been done only by available Park personanel, for a votal
of only 13%2 goats the previous year. He pointed out the -~
lack of information on the ecology of the goat and asked for
a competent field biologist to help determine the most
effective control.f,Regioa Four promised a trip by the
Regioual Reseerch Bioclogist early in 1963. The ecology study
was done by coatrect to Charles ¥, Yocum, His "Ecology of
FeralvGoats in Haleaskela National Perk, HMaul, Hawaii"
appeared in 1967.

Other animals reguired less time and effort. Rats,
mice, cabs and dogs were infrequently found and destroyed,
Thhe mongoose was trapped or killed with poisoned bait,

especially after the introduction of the Nene in 1961,



Pigs are native to the Park but thelr number has to be
controlled by hunting.

A vigorous protest arose over the proposed introduétion
of axis deer.* In 1959, Goveranor Quinn signed a law mandeting
the Board of Agriculture and Forestry to intrcduce game
enimals on Maui, and they elected to start with the axis deer,
& letter from botanist Otto Degener was the first the NPS
knew of it, although the Service had previously voiced
opposition to the project on the grounds that the deer would
move out of the lower kiswe forests and up into the Fark.

The deer had been proposed in December 1955, but a% that time
Governﬁr King iandicated he would nobt allow the introductibn

of exotics, The Fish and Game sﬁaff wanted to eredicate
exotics like goats and instead introduce game exotics like

the deer, They had previocusly pointed out that other members
of the deer family were welcome in Natioanal Rarks and iﬁ

HNP, wild pigs, sheep and goats "were protected by hunting
prohlibition., We would assume that damage to native vegetation
by these animals iévnil."%%

With the cooperation eof the Bureau of Sport Fisheries
and Wildlife, Nene were re-introduced to the crater in 1961°
Toe project was very successful in view of the fact that Neane
had been thought extinct on Maul since the 1880's and nobody
knew where they used to roam. Between l9élvand August 1966,
151 birds had been released in the crater, usually in groups

% File: N1hL27. ,
s rfile: N16, Guse to Director, Region Four, May 8, 19¢lk,
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of twenty-five, For detalils of this project see the Nene

Frogress Report frem the Division of Fish and Game, Department
of Land and Natural Resources,

Another introduced bird was the pheasant, which Fish and
Game wanted to release in the Park in 19%6, Surerintendent
Wingate wrote that although the pheasant was an exotic,
they were plentiful in Haleaskala and were ratner strenvously
protected, as they were not to be hunted, and no effort had
been made by the Park to eliminate them. The KPS edministration
felt that releazse in the Park was inadvisable but naturally
could not contrcl release outside.

More recently, the dark-rump petrel has received some
attention &s =n endengered species, Katuralist James larsca
began a study of the crater population aad in August 1965
cbtained from the Fish znd wWildlife Service a permit to
band petrels., His "The dark-rumped petrel in- Haleakela

crater, Meui, Hawaii" was published in 1967.
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COHCESSIONS

As at Kilauea, early Haleakala visitors made their own
way, baking with them all necessary food and water, Shelter

wvas obtained by huddling in caves or behind the walls of what

b

ware possibly animal psns, Big Flea zand Little Flsa caves, a
gazrver of a mile from the summlc, soon became the best known
caa2 sites, a popularliy geared solely to the fact that thers

was aothing better,

Tarum's Annual for 1890 reported a "new road of easy
cpeaed Lo the btop & the crabter ~- 1,o.,, the old horse
trail had been slightly improved -- and in 1894 Maui residents,
spurra2d by C. w..Dickey, got up a-popular subscripticon to
build zo overnight shelter at Halahaku Lookout., ALl building

matarials were hauled up 25 miles on pack animals provided by

jie

H.?, Bzidwin and the sugar plantabticns, Unhappily, the shelter

was ta2dly used by those for whom it had been donstr

CT
TS

windews wsre broken, btimbers were ripped up for use as fi
wocd, and garbage accumulated Tae destruction was hastened
=l 530?» which rs ovmd the roof.

tober 1914, Lorrin A, Thurston spoke before a msetiag

3
(@]
o
i

of tas Civic Coavention in Wailuwiu, eathusiastically promoting
MHouil and especlally the summit of Haleakala as a tourist
destination, A subscriptlon was prompitly raised for ths
zenatruction of a new summit rest house, and, at the nexb
nezting of the Maul Chamber of Commerce, a Rest House
Committee was appoliated with Wortn O, Alken as secretary.

Addisional funds were 301101t°d rlans were drawn, and
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contracts advertised. -As bids were considered tco hign,

the committes proceeded with the work "under their own

supervision.” Ulonstruction bagan the following spring and
a concrete and stons house, 16 by LO feet, was completed

iate in June 1915, The cost was somewhat more thaan originally
g3timated and additicnazl funds were solicitsd from the four

ite

i

=z jor Maul sugar plantations.: A two acre rest house
was lesased from Halsakala Rancih Company in 1915 for ta

nomninal sum of $1,00 per year, Presumably the Maul Chambar

Q
Fh
[}
Q

:

mmerce continued to lease ths rest house site untcil

the land exchanges of 1927 vlaced the area under the

Jurisdicticn of tns NPS,
From the outset i1t was found that the work done on the

}:
™)
1~
o}
W
o
)
O

rool of ths house was very deficient, and extensive

repalirs wsre necessary. The walls were waterproofed, a asi

¥

patsnied roofing” was put on, a necessary chimney was cub
orouga the wall and brilt Mat considerable trouole,,.. having
beea overlooked by the contractor." A stable and fence were
also built; thoughjtne original Qooden gatae was

ussd Tor firewood and had to be replaced with one of iron,

4 well build circular concrete water tank was constructed,

apparsatly tae only thing to do its job properly without
2iving any troubls whatsosver, The place was furaisped wisth

double iron bunks, mattressss, pillows and blankets., Care-
takers were hired for as long as they could be eanticed to
stay. The fee was $1.00 per versoca per ni_ht and was collectad

* doughly: estimaced-31850; expendec~54500., There is no
nformation on ths bids,



et Aiken's home "Idlewild" on the trail above Olinds. Aiken,
as secretary of the ad hoc HRest House Committee, had the
gensral superintendence of the facility, In 1918 he suggested
that the Maul Chamber of Ccmurerce amend its by-laws to provide

for a permerent rest house committee, 4 detailed report sent

to the new FPark Superintendent Boles in QOctober 1822 urged

that the Rest House be given 1into the custody oif scme.
"permanent commitbee properly established for ths purrcse,
or better, perhaps, under the control cf cne ¢f tae permanens

[3

comrittees of the Chamber now existing,”

The Haleakala Rest House continued under the cars of the
MHaul Cﬁamber of Commerce for several more yeers, S“peria;
tendent Allen wrote in his monthiy report for February 1927:
"The Haleakela section bas been in the hends of the Hauil
Chamber of Commerce and though that orgenizeticn is willing
it is best that the Service not accept transfer at present.
There is no allotment with whicn to undertake it.® The various
superintendents did arrange for occasionel aid in cliszning u
the rest house sité,

In 1935 the new summlt road was opened. Tnis made the
Baleakala section easily accessible by car and greatly
reduced the need for overnight eccommodation. The 1%52 Wosky
Report had recommended a small overnight facility at either

White Hill, or just outside the Park at the summit, He felt

at,
ol

Heport. Haleakala Rest Bouse Committse for full period

om October 1914 to July 3lst 1922, To the President

nd members of the Maul Chamber of Commerce, wWaillulu,

teul, Territory of Hawaii. The report iancludes “Heceipts,"
'Expeuditures," Summary of Expenses," and correspondence
between Alken and Boles during October 1922,
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anywhere but at the top would not be commercially

Teasible. The NPS tock over the rest house znd used 1t for

.L.

tnem &t Fuun Nianiau, A new tourish fecility with coffee
shop and overnigh®t guarters was pleanned, but restricted funds
limited new construction to an Ubservaticn Station at Whirte

Thls lecatvion.was aearer the summit at the roed terminus
ands trail begen and offered more lesvel

In 1936 the KIS coantracted wizh E,J,
Walsh, then owner and manager of the
ing facilities,
haleaxéla visitors, using the old rest house as well as the
new crater cablas, The service ﬁas geed butbt not profitable
Tor the concessicner, VWalsih used part of the new Ubservatica
Stetion for a coffee saop andé his employee there helped the
it was not a

ranger, satisfactory arrengement, and this

-

concesslon terminated with the start of World ¥war II. In

Augzust 1943%, the Maul Grand Hotel changed hands., The npew

oviners planned onvéfater trips aand an Observatory refreshment

ccacessica but nothing came of tbis; The Walsh ccntract

ves the first end last which included covernight

The old rest house itself was torn down in 1957.
In 1946 the Maui Grand Hotel was again considering the

creater trip conceésion, they tbto pro#ide all but the saddle

norses. - Applications for the horse concession were received

from ean Edmund H, Rogers and the Robert Sprinkles, Mrs.
Sypri rles was Lorana von Tempsky, sister of Armine =nd cousin
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of Robert von Tempsky. Both applicents were turned down,

LIhe Army weas still usingktbe area, and Sprickles had neither
the money nor the temperament to run such en operaticn., Lorna
Sprinkles wrote Delegate to Ccngress Farrington for assisbance
and the matter eventually reached Acting Directer Tolson
before it became clear that Sprinkles resglly did not waat the
concession;

The end of the war had brought incregsed uss of the Park
and there was come agltation for cveraizht
Superintendent Oberhansley felt Haleakele was more ¢ day-use
Park, but urged return of the army area at Fuu Hizniau for
rossible use gs an overanight concession area., 4g of t his
time, the old rest house at Kelehaku point was inadeguatbe
in bed repalr, and had little level ground for develormentb.
He favored Robert voa Tempsky as ccrcessioner,

Robert von Tempsky applied for the pack-horse concession

in Februery 1947. The Army eventually returned the Pun

Nianiau cemp, and in Jumne 1S47T, Robert von Tempsky waes granted

P

a permit to operaté a visitor concession for 18 mo=n ths, until
Decembier 31, 1949, The Service was tp fix up the CGificers
Club building consisting of 6 rooms, lobby and twc taths
and the whole was to be furnished with army surplus. The
new "Mountain Lodge" opened for business on August 13, i9L7.
The Mountein Lodge was not successful. It was too far
from both the summit of Haleakala, and from centrasl MHsui
the source of both supplies and patrons, Labor wes hard to |

chtain and 1n Decewmber 1948, a wall-out by eun70 rees clesead
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the Ledge, It was re-opened in Cetcober 1949, under new
management, The general repcrt by Assistant Superi ndent
Barton ia February 1950 found that most features could he

made

el

Von Tempsky gave up the concescsion on the expiretion of
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his permit on December 31, 19L9. The Sex
new concessicners aand received two offers., One was frcm
Harry Alu, proprietor of the Haleskala Hotel in Weiluku who
nad re-opened the Mountain Lodge in Cctober 1G4G unfer the
von Tempsky permit; and one from E. E. Gemage, cwner and

-

manager of the Queens Suprfl restaurant, and later the Niumalu

dotel, in Honolulu, Gamage aprplied for the conrcessica as

“Lodges of Hawali," thea being incorpcrated., His bhackers

ju

nd

jul

is experieace were deened
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leace was'arranged, to run from Janvary 1, 195C ¢c¢ December
51; 1954, N

The new business did not make money. It needed $3000
per month to brezk even and even with a liguor license
(granted temporarii& while the EPS.decided on policy) the

- A

corporation remained in the red., By mid-1952 the Lodge was

badly in deot and creditcrs would do cash business cnliy,

3

‘ne Cerieges were getting a diveorce and Mrs. Gamage received

)

ber husvand's interest in the Lodge., Then she also lefis, and
Francis 1, James, licnolulu realtor and an associate in Lhe

Lodges of nawaii corporation, took cver active management,

5.2
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18~np~36, signed December 5, 1950.
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rofitable but for the high cost of heating and cooking,s



Crecditors were contacted and arrangements made to pay off
cutstanding debts, This re-organization received Service
epproval later in the year,

In Februsry 195% it was cleer the Lodge was #orse off
than before. In late 195% and eerly 1954, new shares wsre
authorized in an attempt to attract additicnal operatin
caplital, and large blccks of shares changed hands ssverszl times,
¥, L, James sold cut to Marquis Calmes who took cver as
President for a brief time. James bought back this interest
in 1958, having meanuwnile becoms invclved in the reration of

Kule Ledge, a restawrant-hotel facility at the 3500 foos
8€, ]

(e

elevetion on the Haleskala road, With the returz of Jaues,
the Lodge's managers/stccltholders W, Karl Reimes znd Cetherine

Hine, hoped for clcse cooperaticn between the two feocilities

o

s

n providing service to Haleaksl

[l

A

. visitors, Reiman, however,

:
was dying of cancer and his management practices were erratic %
|
at best, In November 1956, he had adviced Superintendent i
Stratton that Lodges of Hawaii, Ltd., doing busiuess as |
Helezkala Mountain-Lodge, was for sals., In March of the

followlng year, Superintendent Wosky wrote that dus to lack

of business, Lodges cf Hawail had ceased operations about the

Tirst of January 1957rgnd he did not think they wculd be abie

to re-open. Apparently bhey 6id re-open and aan Annuszl Xeport

v

28 submitted to the Service for the year ending Decexber 31,

|
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Lodge operations had suffered a major financial reverse

in 1956 when several tour companies, which had been scheduling

IALE~L



the Lodge as their luncheon stop, withdrew their business

cn the grounds of pocor service and bad fcod. There had.
been rumors of illness following meals at the Lodge throuch-
out 1955, all duly iavestigated by the-NPS and the Health

Department, The latter agency found ncthing emiss, wlthough

|20

t was probably true that the selection c¢f food was limited .
and poorly displayed,
In April 1958, the Williem Ellises took over, he as

.

manager of' Lodges of Hawaii with headquarters iz Honclulu,

O

jus]

and Mrs. Ellis as resident mansger of the Haleakal ¥Meountain
Lodge. This change of manesgement was concurrent with a
transfer of some 1322 sheares of Lédges of Haweii stock, out
of 1655 shares issued, to0 the Kula Orchard =ad Lend
Development Corporation, in which corporation Lodges
President Franecis I, James.owned a bhalf interest, Late in

the year, Kula Orchard and Land Development sgld thils stock

~end all other interest in Lodges of Hawail to the Ellises,

effective January 1, 1959. Ellis sought% tc heve the eold
contreact cancelledjand & new one lilssued, an operssion the
stockholders approved during a meeting in early Jepuary 1959,
It wes finally arranged with the Service for the Eilises to
continue menagement of the Lodge under the leese wonich was to
expire on December 31, 1959, This contract was transferred
to them on April 1, 1959. They had already, the previous
summer; won permission to change the name of tune Lodge from
the cumberscmely long "Haleaksle Mountain Lodge! to

"Silverswerd Inn "

HALE-LS



In late 1959 the Ellises begen negotiations for a new
contrect to replace the one due toexrire on December 31 of
that vear. They sought a 10 year term &s the minimum needed
to give management the time to finance, refurbish, and
generslly get the place going. As the operation contiaued
to be marginal -~ the Ellises had had several employee
complaints resulting from "slip-shod" business practices --
the new Revoceble Permit was for only two»years -- terminating
December 31, 1961.

The next November, a Prospectus to Bid on managing &
concession at Haleakala was sent tc interested parties in
Hewail and on the mainland, The Ellises did oot tid and no
cther tenable offers were received., Vhen the E1lis operation
requested permission, which was granted, to clcse down during
the winter season from January to Mey 1961, the E
to terminate the entire concessicn cperation at Haleshkala,
Ellis was notified of this decision and sdvised that he was
even free to clcse up as early as September when The summer

trade declined. A protest was registered -- Ellis still felt

he could meke a go of it -- but the food and lodging concession

et Haleaskela came to an end in 1961,

Horse trips through the crater had been offered by tne
Lodge menagement under a Ysub-concessien" arrangement with
both Marcial in the early 1950's and with Frank Freitas from
June 1, 1958 through 1961.> Freitas had originally sought an
independent contract directly with the NP3, but difficulties

in obteining insurance coverage forced him to operate through

HALE-L6



% See files: C 3823, "Silver

Lodges of Bewaii, Hana Rench Compzny (Hana Maui Hotel)

FE e

was alsc olfering crater saddle trips via Keupo Gap duriag

The food and lodging concessions at Haleakszla have
been plagued by one major problem: distance, In the early
years, distence made adeguate supervision of the summit

feeilities almest impossible.»'Building the rcad partly

alleviated the problem uantil after World Wer II when the
concesslon location was moved to Puun Nienisu et 7000 fees

in the headguarters area. This site was still some 35
winding miles from the source of staff and supplies at

Repului or wailuku, and even more deedly, it was
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miles frem the summit, which was what the concecssionerts

rrospective patrcns hadé come to see. As pointed o

[

t oy
Wosky in 1932, plans for a food and lodging ccuacession at
Heleakala must fake into consideration the necessity of a

sumeit location,

sword Inn" and € 50. Both
a2t Haleakala NP, dating varicusly from 1952 to 1962,



KOH-PARK INSTALLATIONS

The objectives of the National Park Service and those
of other Federal agencies are often in conflict, Beczuse of
its geographical location, these conflicts were perticularly

noticegble in Hawaii National Park during World wWar II. he

k3

summlt of Haleakala was éspecially ettractive to the military
organizations {(and later to other_groups) because it contained
easily sccessible, undeveloped, Federally-owned land. As
militery planners tend to overlock time, money, and aesthetic
intangibles in the name of current defense necessity, to
maintain any Park values the Natioagl Ysrk Service hes heen
repeatedly obliged to thwart, delay, and "retura via proper
channels" the freguent rmilitary pleaas for Heleskala, The
Retional Park Servine was thus in the'unpopular rosition of
opposing programs the military claimed were‘absolutely vitael

for the national defense,

Red Hill.

The Septemberllb, 1945 of Time magazine carried an
erticle claiming that the National Park Service had delayed
installation of important radar devices at Haleskala, thereby
aiding the Japanese atpack. Superintendent Wingate prepeared
& memorandum for Associate Director Demearay detailing the
Tacts in the matter.s They make interesting reeding. This

chronological record covers correspoadence from

o
‘.J
LV
}..J
o
%
=
O
N
O

through February 1, 1943,

* rile: 601-05,1, September 1i, 1945,
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In brief, the Army sought sites on both daleakala and
Fauna Loa for "unspecified defense installaticns," 4
"thorough" study was referred to, but only the very tops of
both peaks were apparently surveyed., It was determined that

the "two sites selected in the Wational Park offer the only

T

ites which are suitable {or these proposed defense purposes.”

H

be Naticnal Park sites were "not oﬁly the most sultevle but
elsc the only sccepteble sites.," The Heuna Loa siie was
approved by the National Park Service for Army use in
November 1940, but no work was ever done there by the Army.
The Haleaxala location, atop Red Eill, nad been
scheduled for development in the Fark's wster system, Ths
National Fark Service recommended a site just outside the
Parg, on Kolekole peek, with more level gfound and even
bevter visibility, but for»uaspecified reasons this wsas
rejected by the Afmy aad a restudy of the Haleakeala summit
procuced no new sites, The Army still weated Red Hill and
sought the withdrawal of‘several acres there Ior the
"defense installation" plus additional acreage lower down
the slope for a support camp.
By April 1941, the War and Interior Departments had

al

e

worked out an agreement for the use of the area, A Spec
Use Fermit was signed oa April 29, 1941 covering a 6 zcre
installation site at Red Hill, and the Army agreed to use

r base camp the CCC camp site which had been vacated
by the CCC in May 1941, VWork scon began on a road extension

up to red Hill znd on a steel tower at the summit, A waber



caetchment dam, of unauthorized size and lccation, was started.
The Red Hill installation, however, was not operational on
December 7, 1941, some seven months after approval for the
work had been granted by the Katicnal Pari Service, and the
new telephone line to Red Hill was not even started until
January 1942, Army engineers finally completed the
installation of all Army eguipment at Red Hill in Mey 1942,
The Aircraft Warning Service System (AWS, a reder-type
fecility) thus constructed was operated intermitienily until
Merch 19L3 when the facility was atandoned except for a few
guards to protect the property.s Haleakala, clcesed on
December 7, 1941, was partially re-opened Gctober 1342, and
completely re-opened for public day use ca February 1, 1943,
In Nevember 19L3%, the Army again approached Superintendent
iingate for permission to coanstruct & communi ation statién
at Red Hill., The Army assumed that there would be no problem
&s there was already a Special Use Permit for the desired
area, and_the.agreemeat was between two agencies c¢f the
Federal governmen;fanyhow. Wingete agein sought assurance
that Red Hill was the only suitable site, and that the
installation was not permanent, He suggested that the new
reguest be processed through regular channels.,
1t soon became clear that the Arny considered this new
¥ The newly developed redsr was thougnt to reguire o}
uncbstructed line between stations, masking the highest
locations the most desirable, In practice, the un-
obstructed 360 degree radar signzls "echoed" mcst

confusingly, and labter staticas were located against
mountains which blocked signals bouncing back Irom behind,
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preoject a continuation of bthe previously abandoned ALWS and
thus, in eftect, slready spproved. For their part, the
National Park Service saw a new, permanent, unauthorized
iastallation which, if allowed, might be merely the bezinaning
cf acditiocnzl requests, The Army began actual cornstruchion
at Red Hill in April 19Ll;, five months after contacting
Wingate, but still without heving applied for authorizaitiocn
from the Interior Derartment. When told by Service personnel
that such activity had not been approved, the Arry 1adicated
that they intended to go éhead with the work and would tear
it all down again should Washington disspprove. The heevy
construction at Red Hill was demsaging the site. The peak

had alreedy been leveled off, thereby lowering kMzuitls highest

o

polnt by several feet. A new brick power house end another
large brick building were going up although the work stopped
for a while midway when the supply of bricks rzn out. Nost
distressing of all were the 90-foot radio rvoles with red
lights atop, scon dubbed the "Halezkala Netionsl Forest,"
£A11 of this was prégented as "essential to the successful
prosecution of the war in this area,"s& None of it coafofmed
to the provisions of the Special Use Permit of April 2%, 1oi1,
The pfoblem soon reached the Departmental level., Cn

October 2li, 1941, Secretary of ¥War Stimson wrote Secretary of

3 In April 1941y, the Allies had successfully concluded the

naval battles at Midway and the Fhiliprine Sea, and the
landings at Guadalecansl and Kwajalein, Nevertheless,
General Hichardson, Commanding General, Hawalian Departieant,
testified in a habeas corpus case on April 11, 9L, that
the Jepanese were still capable orf attacking Hawgii either
from air or from the sea,
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Interior Fortas asking for a new permit tc replace the old
one for Red Hill. There was, s justification for this
latest assault on the Park, a "military necessgity" for the
constructicn and operation of a "Radio Statioan" there, A
permanent permit would not be possible, replied Fortas, but
one for the "duration asnd six monbhs" might be worked out.
The permanency of the installation was the key pcint, and

the War Department indicated that i1t was preparing revort,

[3y]

If 1% were to be permanent, the land would have

y 23
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removed from the Park by Coangressionzl action, a time-coonsuming
process,

Even the withdrawal of the desired screage weuld not
really solve the problem, Superintendent VWingate visited
Haleakala in December 19ll; and reported on the demage, He
felt that the installation was clearly of & permeusent aature,

and it was Véry visible from both inside and ocutside the
crater, No amount of boundary legislation could remove the
eyesore. "And it is all unnecessary ia this particuler spot, '
Nevertheless, it remained, A revised Specisal Use Permit
for the Red Hill site was signed on spril 11, 19h5. It
euthorized the use of the area for a "communlcaticn station
for a period not to exceed 6 months after the war,"
Two months later, on June 19, 1945, Heleakala section
Ranger-ia-charge Frank J, Hjort, submitted a report to.

Superintendent Wingate on Army activities in the Haleakala

secticn. The Pukaoao Observatory, a building the Army

ads

¢ rfile: €01.05.1, December 7, 1S4l, Vingate to Director.
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occasionally claimed as 1its cwn, had again been cleared of
radio equipment., The Red Hill station was very prominently

in operation, and an installation on Xolekole was operating,

<

alsoc staffed from the base camp at the old CCC site at Pu
Nieniau, The Red Hill facility apparently reguired a clear
line-of-sight with étations on the other islands., 4 number

of sites along the south-west rift beyond Kolekole would

seenm to have served this purpose equelly well, and i1t was
generallj felt that the Army had chosen Red nill merely because
"they already had shacks there.," For this reasoa, aaé beceause
Hed H1ll was an integral pert of the Crater of EHaleskala both
from & scenic and geological point of view, withdrewal of this

-

area from the National Pari would not be acceptabl
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Hjort sugzested bargaining the withdrawalsof the Puu Hianilan
camp from the Natignal Park in exchenge for Aroy withdrawal
from Red Hill at the end of the war., Although the Special
Use FPermit the VWar Department had signed was only for the
"duration and six months," Park perscaonel thought that they
recognized a permanéat installstion no matter what the Army
called it.

On August i, 1945 the war weas over; in March 1¢i6 the
six months were up and the Army had evacuated the base camp
at Puu Nianiau., Red Hill was nob menticned. 1In Sepiemver
1946, Superintendent Oberhansley, who had replsced Wingate
as Superintendent the previous July, wrecte to the Cemmanding
General, MIDPAC, about the ownership of prcperty within the

Heleakale secticn of the Park. Oberhansley suggested the



£rry consider transfer of the stripped physical plant at
Puu Nigpieu in lieu of a.complete restveration of the site,
Under any circumstences, technical eguipment should be
removed immediately &5 there weas no security and things

were disappearing. In April 1947, the Army engineers sgreed
to return the bese camp at Fuu Nienia There was still no

menticn of the Red Hill installsation in thils exchang

*
*-

Cn Merch 15, 1948,.two years beyond the “"duration and

six months! specified in the Special Use Permit

Oberhansley sent a memcrandum to the Directer of Hegicn Fo
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saying that the station was inoperative due to lack of pow

the line was down and the stendby generatcr ruined by freezing,

g8 of March 15, If this were true, Ober
the National Park Service take immecdlate steprs fo hold the

. -

Army strictly to the terms of the Special Use Permit in t

Iy
@

matter of site restoraticn. Cnce gone, the Army was censidered
unlikely to return for any site restoratioa work,

The concern was premature. The site, repcrted the Army
F & 7

’.In

on April 2, was indeed being abandoned as a rader staticn,

but now the Air Force needed it for "highly classifisch®

equipnent,

Once eggain the Fark Superintendent asked for detesils

of the nature of this new installation, its permanency, &nd

the reasoning by which the Air Force, already installed cn
Kolelkole, souzght a new site on Red Eill, The Army replied

rith a detailed background anzlysis of the pricr "joint use"



of Red Hill by the Army and Air Force, and the now usual

insisténce thet the Alr Force nad a "definite need" for
Hed Hill for the installaticn of new, highly classified
ecuirment.

In May 1908, Oberhansley visited Haleakala and found
that the Army, Lir Porce, and Mutual Telephone Company all
hed their eyes on the Red Hill location, Park policy wculd
not allow approval of any use of this site il it were ot
necessary for immediate nationsl defense, especially wien
other sites were available., The 4ir Feorce did not écme in,
but the Army coantinued to claim the site Ior standny purposes.
Lven the installation of a new telephone line to serve the
developing Kolekole facilities did not seem vc cbviate the
necessity ¢l retaining the cbeclete, de-activated structure
on Red Hill,

The Superintendent's Report for Juane 1950, fianally
reperted the Red Hill barracks razed and sglféged, and all
1% poles of the "Haleeskala Natiocnal Forest" removed for use
at the Kihel signal station.

Four months iéter the military was back, Duriag the
"Horean Conflict," the Special Use Permit of April 11, 1545
wes extended by the Secretary of the Interior on Uctcber 2i,
1950, to allow the Air Force to continue its "temporary use"
of the Red Hill site until six months after the ftermination
of hostilities, On October 22, 1953, the Air Force declared

its entire Haleaskala instellation "excess'" and entered

fore

negotiations with the Natlonsel Park Service for its disposal.
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The military, however; balked at site restcration, and the
Naticnal Fark Service refused to take over the pbulldings.
Early in 1955, with the fubure of Red Hill still un-
settled, the University of Hawail joined tne petiticners.
They sought the Alr Force buildings on Red Hill for use as

a "geophysical observatory." In a letter dated January 1li,

1955, the Director of Region Four warned the Directcr cf the
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Hational Park Service of this propcsed University
The buildings at Red Hill were an eyescre, aund cace ia place,
the new facillity very likely would wish to expeand its
operations, He pointed out that a similar Weather Bureau

rroject on Mauna Loa was nct functicning, The University

was given permission to use the site in 4pril fcor a
1 — AR H .
corcnograpih' study.
Ino July, the Alr Force was agein talxing ¢f loag term

use, instead of the original six months use during the up-
coming nuclear testing. In December, the Navy was using
the cld Air PForce instellstions, project uanknown., In
January 1956, the Air Force was using it, but veceted in
August and most of the buildings were removed. In February
1958, the Air Force again requested use of Red Hill for two
menths, later extended to four months, and the katicazl Park
Service granted the request. The Alr Force used trailer
and the remaining Red Hill buildings; there was no uew
coustruction. |

The final military threat to Red Hill came from the

Hewaii Air Kational Guard (HAKG,) Public Law 86-149 of

.Lr‘.:'u_x-}é)
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zed tne ccostructica cf two HAKG radaer

)J-

sugust 10, 1959 euthor
stations for the defense of the Islands. During May 1959,
the Air Force, with scme HANG officers, undertock an cn-the-
ground investigation of the Haleskala summit area without

botherinz to contact the Naticnal Park Service, (They exrressed

indignation when the Service protested.) There were rumors of -

& large new Red Eill base,; but when queried in Auzust, the Air
Force rerorted that nothing had been decided on the size or
location of any new camp, and they alsc aamitted that tne
Special Use Permit for the use ¢f Red Eill had exvired., Io
e letter dated August 3, 1959, the Alr Force advised the
Interior Depesrtment thait the HAY G had been instructed ”tgat
they shall take no actilon such as preparaticn cf plans until
ccmplete agreement of the National Park Service has been
cbtained," However, there were plans already prepared to
put the necessary large towers oubside the FPérk with the
support buildings in the Red Hill hollow. The Kationsl Park
Service peinted out that if the towers could go ouiside the
Perk, the entire péoject could go oubtside the P&rk. The
Interior Department wrocte the Secretary of the Aiir Forcé,
Dudley C., Sharp, on December 30, 1959, outlining the Service
position 6n such intrusive and discordent developmenis, The
Alir rorce was asked to review its plans; "If this ceanact be
done and no other possible alternative can be found, we are

agreeeble to a re-examination," -

bt

ressure was then applied to tne Eawaili State Goveranmeat

tnrough Congressmen Hiram Fong, Oren Loag, and later Dan



Incuye, and Hawalil Governor William Quinn,.¥ It was suggested
that if the first choice Haleaksala site was not agproved,
additional funds would be needed. In that case, the entire
project ran>the risk of beiag delayed or scrapped entirely,
with a2 heavy loss of military spending ian Hawaii, Quian
recognized three national policles in conflict: preservation

of National Parks; adequate delense for Hawail; and

e

budgetery limitations. .He preferred to bend the budgstar
one first, and asked the Congressmen for sd¢diticael icfermatiocn.
On Mey 12, 1960, Recbert Hiatt, Dean and Direchor of
Research at the University of Hewaii, wrote HikG's General
Valentine Sieferman, Hiett had a oumber ol cuesticas con the
cperation of the proposed rada equipment.aad how 1t might

effect the University's researcn program et Xolekele., "It

castronomy...would be

$oss

ls our ceonsidered opinicn that rad
impossible on Haleskala with the radar staticen on either

Red Hill o Xolekole. ALt the KNational Radar Uvservatory at

- Green Bank, West Virginia, no low Dovered ragic transmitters

of aay kind are allowed within 50 miles.,” The Hawsiian
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Astronomical Society abt its meeting May 3, 196C w

reccrd cpposing a radar tracking station at Haleskals, and

‘Quinn asked if tne Air Force had checked out this possible

rroblem,
Loceal commercial broadcasters alsoc expressed concern
and the Alr Force prepared agreenmeats with several stations

to guarantee no interference, and to close the station until

#  for the fullest coverage of this material, see: AH,

Governor's Files-Quinn, Defense, laleakals Radar Site,



any interference was eliminated -- except in case of
national emergency.

In the Tace of this oppesition, the Air Force turaed
its consiceration to its third choice site cn Kolekole,
(The second choice was White Hill, lower than Hed Hill, an
still within the Perk,) In & letter to Quinn dated Arril 13,

1660 (and marked "secret") Sieferman noted that until receatly

o)
28]
o

HeRNG hed iansisted theat Red Hill was the only feasi: cite,
but recent technical advances "will make it feesibls o
locate tnis ecuipment at the alternate site /Holekole,/"

The aew Air force interest in Kolekole produced an even

rmore vigcrous response Irom the University cf Zewall scientisvus,

Hiett wrote to Governor Quinn (via Senstor Feng) ssking no

o

acyt

D'

ast

’-c‘

cn on the Kolekole site and saylng redar was

=T

incompeatible with the obser vatory. ‘idoreover, it is highly
doubtful that any scieantific activity can be carried on
enywhere at the summit with the radsr unit in cperation,!

A great deal of money had alresdy beean spent on the Cbservatory,
he =aid, and more was being appropriated. "The fact that

Kolekole Peek is the third choice of the Alr Naticnel Guard

indicates that other sites might be scught to serve about

ol

as well and stlll not effect or eradicete existing activities
in Hawail. In any event, full scale investigation should be
made before any change occures in the activities on Halesiala, !

Througn tne summer of 1660, the sclentific gentlemen at

the University, and their finencial supporters at the Lationsl

N
“

ioid, Hiztt to Guinn, via rong, April 27, 1960,
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Science Poundation and. the Smit

to express "deep concern' over the proposed laostal

lati

onian Institute contiaued

on of

redar on the summit of Haleakazals, A meeting in November,

however iroduced some changes letter dated
] ]

",
vemnb

from the Depertment of Defense to the National Science

Foundation reported: "Dr,

. .

radar is iastalled on Red Hill, which 1s eapproximzte

s

Teet from the University fecility, that tonis wilil
This figure is not quite the 50 miles Hiztt had me

May, The National Park Service no longer had the

the University scientists in oppcsing the BAKNG redar

on Red Hill.

Red Hill since 1948 and had only beea awaiting new

radar equipment and funds for coastructicn of the T

Congress had approved tane rroject and provided the
959 /11 years later./ Objecticas by broadcesting

tine University of Hawali-3mithsonian Institute

fo
DJ

0

h-d been resclved.

"Exhaustive! surveys showed tal

best siagle redsr site. When Director Wirth toured

in early Jan unary 1960, explaining to the 4ir Force
policy on in~holdings, the Air Force clarified its
for him, "This edémirable principle is fully under
said Chickering,

national defease and survival.®

BALE-EO
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er 15

diatt egreed thet if bthe Air Force

stations,

Cbservatory .

andable,”

"except when epplied at the expense of

wirth mentioned Serv1ce rlans



for the developrent ol Red rzill and the Air Force sugzested

\J

combining tihe facilities, Tue Hational Park Service, howevepr,
stubbornly insisted on going ahead with "unilateral' plans
for the develcpment of Red Hill, Iun the interests of ecozomy
"and to rrevent constructicn of permanent Park Service

facilities /in a Hational Park/ incompatible with defense

1
o
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reguirements," Chickering reguested immediate action bj
kxecutive, or vy Court order, if necessary, to suspend Further
planning until the USAF recquest for use of the site hed been
resolved, At about the same time, Secretary of the Interior
Seaton wrote the Defense Department noting that other ag
with site requirenents based on "extreme urgency" had been
turned down, and had found other locations ocuviside the FParlk,
Local agencies delayed action until the rroblem could

be solved in VWashington. 0a Apri
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Coagressmen Incuye and Long saylag that Director Wirth still
oppecsed Red Hill and recommended Kolekele, . Szid Hiatt, "as

you know we settled the mabtter of matuaT habitatica on

ol

L

ialeaikzla by nav1ng the Department of Defense azree to put
their redar installation on Red Hill, which is higher and-
better for their purposes, and the University to put iis
observatory on Kolekole Feak. This agreement was arrzzged

at the highest level_of the Department of Defense, the XNational
Scilence Foundetion which is spoascriag the University's

obgervatory, and the Smithsoanlen Institute which, with the

University, operates oune ol the twelve United States satellite

trucking stations immediately adjacen’s to Xolelole Peak,!



{ational Fark Service, zdministrator
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not included in this settlement c¢i mutual nabitation., Any
change in plans, it was threatened, could result in the loss
of the tracking staticn, the observatory groject,/and assorted
HASH funds, Hiatt asked thub the Congressmen insist tze rader
go on Red Hill as originally planned egnd that the Nebional Park
Service be esked to take a more reasonable attitude co the
"highest and best use of those few acres of barren lzad on

one corner of thelr vast holdings on the summit of Zaleakala,!
Ioouye brought the problem to the attention of Director Wirth

"who pointed out that Congress had already decided the highest

and best use of those "few bzrren acres" by mekiang them part

of a National Park,

£11 interested agencies egreed tonst the
be on Kolekole and the HANG readar station on Fed Hill; 2l11,
that is, except the Natiocnel Fark Service whose cbjections
seemed to be based on mere aest;eulcs, and cculdé zardly stand
before the fact of national defense necessity. 2Resides, the
Red hill propouentg insisted, the rader stzticn wc n't
seriously detract from the vista. Congress, however, by Act
of September 1%, 1960, had established a separate Kational
Eark of tﬁe Hgleakala section of Hawaii KNational Fark, aad
the new Haleakala National Park included the pesk of Red Hill,

In January 1962, Goveraor Guinn again asked the Air rorce
about the razdar site, specifically asking if the Hgleakala

lecation had not been abzndoned in favor of cne oan Gahu, On

Jzmruery 5, 1962, he wrote to Senstor Foa
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should be spent promoting a Jolint-use faclility witn the
FAA on Mt. Haala on Oahu, rather than trying to obtaian ths
£

Haleekala site. A few days later the Alr Force aanounced

or a redayr statica on Haleekzla.

m
Y

they had zbandoned plzn
Scme bteckgrouzd Ior this reversal may be
from Haleakala Superintendent Stratton to the Directer of

Region Four dabed September 12, 1661, It detailed & mesting

that day during which Governor Quinn was informed Tty General
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Sieferman that the r
Guinn thereupon withdrew his support of the military use of
Red #ill, On October 18, 1961, Regional Directoer Merriam
wrote HAVO Superintendent Johnstcn that as far as the
Secretary of Interior was cconcernsd, the Red nill issue was
to be considered dead,

The HANG radar stabtion was eveatually built on iit.
The Red Hill site was turaed back to the IPS - under an excess
property declarstion, and a visitor faciliéy cullt thereon,
Although construction of the Red Hill Observatory eliminated
reguests for permagént installatlions, the site is sTill
desirable for temporary military use. In September ;965
the Department of Defense reguested the use of the zrea
from September 15 to December 15 for a satellite tracking
station. This was granted. A note of thanks was received
for the use of the Observatory lookcub, and the Park stelfl
noted that the site had been returned in perfect condition,

--L~

Other groups have also nad sbo*t term permits to use the

g

(D

d Hill locaticn for scilentific programs, These installations



did not alvays meet with approval from the Science City
nelighbors,. The Director of the Unilversity's Haleakala
Observatory, John T. Jefiries, oace wrote the Superintendent
at Halealkala to ask that the Observatory please be advised
of aay fubture permits so scientific zctivities at the summit
could be coordinated, They had just recently had to ask

another group fo lower their antenna so as not to intsrfere

with the Observatory, "Science City" was beconming crowded,
i S

The Silversword Lodge buildings at Puu Nianiau ware
vacated by the coancessioner in late 1961 and they then
became desirable in the eyes of various Federal agencies
dalealzala, To forestall requests for

the sifte, the LIPS asked the Gensral Services Admin-

isbration to iliaitlate actlon for the removal of the structures

early in 1962, Before a contract could ve awarded, ths AEC
regussved the bulldings for staff housing during Operation
Dominic, scheduled for later in the year. The Haleakala

v

~iatendsnt refused the requast on pol1cy rounds aad the
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LE0 then made gpplication through the Department of Defease.

St

There was strong feeling on all levels of the NPS that there
should be no new precedent-making arrangements of this sort
with sister Federal agencies. Althouzh the ARG produced

-

arguments which suggested their requiremesats were based on

(D

convenience ratper than need, a six month S3Special Use FPermit

TO us
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[0}

was 1ssusd on February 26, 1962, The ALC wa the

HALE-SL



17 3 /4
vacate no later than September 1, 1962. On Auzust §, 1962,
buperlnuendent Stratton at delezkala wrote the Lirector of
the Vestern Regional Office: ™ It will come as no surprise

to you that the AEC hes this date requested zn extension of

the rermit for use of the former Silver Sword Inn in

Hational Park.®s: Operaticn Doninic was scheduled for ccmpletion
5y the end of the year and the AXEC was granted & new rermit
to run through December 31, 1962, 1t was strengly urzed that
the buildings be razed zs sooh as possible zfter the A0 hegd
vacated, The Department of Defense had other iastallictions
scheduled for KXKolekole, and private organizastions were agein
asking zbout the Lodge area for group campiang. The AKC
vacated the area in November, turned cver some hcuseleeplag
suﬁplies to the Haleakals National FPerk at no ccshb, and the
0ld CCC ceamp=~yorld War II military camp-Silversword Ledge
buildings were finally removed. The area has‘been vacant
since then, with only shops and stebles remaininz in the
vicinity.

As early as May 1962, the FAA had requested the use of

the Lodge area for their new facility at the 7000 foot

o

levation., Superintendent Stratton agein replied thnet such
developments were against policy and pointed out that sarlier
use of the area had beén military or defense-coriented. The
FAA then asked for access to hous1qg site beyond the Lcdge
area, just cutside the Park on Haleakala Ranch land., This
would still have required btappring the Fark waber and power
lines, and would make closing out the Ledge that much more
S

* File: 320,
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difticult. The Park has only a limited water supply which

fometimes requires ratloalng for stafl end visi

tor needs

Fetitioning agencies rarely quecsticuned the water or power

supply, assuming that both were readily available, The

FAA request was denied when it again beceme clear thet the

- -

site decision was based on coavenience and

than unicue need, The F4A Tipally zgreed to a site location

just outsicde the Fark near the Hosmer Grove

within the section proposed for the Zeansze adcitica. Th

KPS granted the FAA a revocable use permit
December 22, 196l, for a power line access
L new revocable use permit was iscsued in
chenges in alignment of the undergrcund poi

ES8A troroscat btower was completed in the s
fd

There were, in 1266, no non-Park installsaticas oa the

summit of Ealeaksla or elsewhere within the Fark bpoundaries,

-~

but the adjazcent summit area around Xclekole pezik, Ju

0
ct

outside the Park and at preqenn accessibvle cnly through the

Park, has been developed as "Science Civy."

‘nis development

is reedily v151ble from many locations outside the Fark, but

cannot be seem from within the crater. "Science City" and the

Fah troposcat tower located just outside i

0ne

1600 feet are both cerviced from Wailuku and

present {ime, the only access to either si
dighway and Park Eighway to the summit of

tional access to "Science City" as well as
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pewer zad water lines,
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KIPAKULU EXTENSLION

Az early as hLugust 13, 1935, botanlst Ctto Degener had
written to Superintendent Wingste sbout the excellent native
flore in the Koolau aree and the possibilitles of the Farl
teking the eree under its wing., This erea was owned by
Sermuel Baldwin who ren cettle cn it, butb Wingeate promised
to talk with Baldwin ebout volunterily eliminebing grezing
there, Besides the Kcoleu Gep lends, Keanee and Kipshulu
velleys heve also been suggested for inelusion ian the Katlonel
Perk,

Most of the interest centered around Kipesbulu, Reports
furnished by a1l those going inbe the velley imdicated thetb
ite generszl visitor use wes limited bubt itz botenicel and
netural history values were unsurpassed. Native birds and
plents ebounded aud the ipaccessibility which made visitor
use doubtful had preserved them from destruction. As one
of the few almost virgin forests remaining; it should be
protvected, .

Ranger~in—cha;ge Frenk Hjort wrote Superiatencent
Wingate on March i, 1945 to report a trip he end Gunnar.o.
Fagerlun&'had taken thrdugh the velley. Ee felt the srea
hed Hational Park possibilities end should be set asice
before it also succumbed to the repid expension of the Army
end Nevy cr the planting of exotics by the Territorisl
Ferestry Service, Colin G, Lennox, then presicent of the
Territorizl Board of fgriculture and Forestry, bad visited

See riles: 601-11; 602-01; 602-01.2; 701-023 L58; L1L17s
11425,
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the erea in July 1Shlt, and was spproached on the subject cf
the Park acquiriag the lend, He approved the idea eand

indicated that it would be possible to acquire the land while
he was President of the Board. Wingate had replied to an
eerlier report ca the Lennox meeting to say thet Xipehulu
velley wes one of the areas suthorized by the Director of

KPS for consideration as a Park esddéiticn, following pudlic

opposition to ‘the Kauei Nationel Perk proposel (194l}, Wingats

pointed out that protection by the Perk would not be cecessary

if the Territorial Board had the legisletive suthority and

an established policy of preserving intact the native forests,

Five yeers labter in 1949, Superintendent Oberhensley
sent off to the Director of Region Four some meps eod other
informetion requested concerning e Revised Boundary‘Status
Report on Kipehulu velley, He noted thet some of the
privately owned lend wes administered for wetershed by the
Boerd of Agriculture and Forestry, thus elimineling taxes,
end the privete Kipghulu percels wers in this CeteROory. Thé
owners eearlier hed indicated a willisguness to turn over the
percels if weter rights could be reteined,

The eddition propesed weas appreximately 1C,540 scres of
landé to include 211 the valley from the Heleskals esst
boundary down to privetely owned Kipahulu Rench, and cther
lends as necessery to prevent eancroachment along the cenyocn
walls, plus a strip including two lekes., Land acquisition
wes not expected to be any trouble ss it was =21l coatrclled

by the Territory; prompt legislaticn was urged,
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This Boundary Status Report cleared the Reglonel
orfice 6/17/49; eand was epproved by Director Drury oa 8/1/L49.
The Secretary of Iaterior in 1551 épproved the proposed
extension of the Park to imclude 2 porticn of Kipehulu velley.
The boundaries of the formerly undivided ENP were establi shed
es depicted cn HNP Drewing No. NP-EAW TO1l9/B, epproved on
1/14/55, and reiterated on Mey 1k, 195h.% The boundaries of
the two Perks remeined as esteblished ip 1955 and as depicted
in thet drewing when Beleskela became & seperete Fark in 1961,
For its part, the Territory of Hewail in 1949-5C surveyed the
lends of the Kipehulu extension end the Kuls he&équ&rters _
percel,

And there the gpproved Kipehulu Valley Extensicn rested
guietly until 1961.

Eeleekale Ketional Park wes ecteblished &s o separate
Perk by Public Law 86-Tll;, spproved Septexber 13, 1360, to
teke effect July 1, 1961, At ebout the seme time, the State
of Hewalil was pertlicipeting in the Heweil Sesshore snd
Recreation Study, §esigued to locete areas of naticnal
gignificence,

On Februsry 2%, 1961, E. H. Cook, Director of the
Department of Lend end Netural Resources, sent a memcrendun
fo Jess Welters, Administrative Lssistant to the Goverazer,
noting that bill S543 to promecte the presérvaticn of sea~
* This 19 oSk item not leccated; mentioned in correcpoﬂdence

file u.hl?, November 17, 1963, FTJ to Director, Western

Regional Office,

s#% File: L1Li25, September 14, 1961, Herry Senders (ketg Chief
of Lands) to Director, Reglon Four



—

ghore areas did not include Haweii. Would it be possible to
revise the bill to include Heweailien eress, especlally the
Ke Pell coast of Kasuel and e shoreline addition for Heleeksala
Netionel Paric, A Seashore Recreationsl Study in Heweil wes
underway by late December, HNeturalist Bob Carpeater of
Heleekele was asked to prepere justificetions for boﬁn proposed
edditions, The USGS bed meps with points of ipterest in
verious categories plotted, and Frofessor Lemoursux cf the
University of Hawaii wes to belp with the beteny. Cerpeater
was to studlously avold undue publicity on thisz sssigament,
At the request of Richerd Sis, Chief, Heweii Sesashore end
Recreetion Study, coples of letters and reports relative to
Kipehulu velley were forwarded to Reglon Foury; Kenneth P,
Emcry of the Bishop Museum provided & short list of the
arcbaeoldgy end use of the Kipashulu-Keupo eres; end on
Mey 8, 1962 Carpenter submitted his report. The Seeshore
Study, oddly enough, recommended two arees in Hewgii: the
Ne Peli coast of Kesusi end the Kipeshulu valley o Heul,

Lfter cereful  investigetion, it was egreed Kipabulu
waes fer superior o the values inherent in Kooleu-Ksensae,
end the "coasbel lend situation alone weigh heevily in favor
of Kipehulu velley."# AdGitionel detailed studies cf the
two areas, iancluding Kéolau Gep end the greater perit of
Keenee velley, were contracted out to Herlend Eertholomew
in June 1962 for $25,000,

With the authorized sepexration of Heleeskala, Superintendent

Ef‘?I}e: L58, Kay 8, 1962, Director, Regicn Four to Director,
iPg,
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Johnston worked to develop interest in a Park extension,

In & letber to the Director of Reglon Four on Merch 21, 1961,
ke wrote that the upceoming dediceation of the new Perk wuld

be a good time to propose a bouandary extension, He urged no
epeclel area end felt it could take gome time to secure supperi,
Eerlier in the moanth he hed sent to Richerd Duxlap¢ Directo:
of Stete Ferks, meps showing both Keznee velley (preferred by
the Director) and Kipehulu valley, so that the Service and
Stete Parks would be in sgreement on boundaries, The Eeglonzal
Director sent the Johnston memorendum to Weshington and on
Ferch 29, Assiztent Directer Scoyen replied thet the besh
timing for any extension wes to include it in & new Bouadexry
Status Report. A new one was due -~ the lest one hed been
epproved seven yeers before. The Regilonel Director then
wrote the Director that plens for any extsansicn should be
ceferred until effer the Shoreline Study, thean underwey, hed
been completed, Certeinly rno boundery extension should be
given eny publicibty until afier s General Study hed been meds
end a revised Boundery Stetus Report had been submitted'and
epproved, ! _

Hews got eround hokever, end on June 30, 1961, the dey
before Haleakela beceme a seperste Netional Perk, S. Herbert
Evison, editor of the Nationel Park Courier, wrote Director‘
irth to esk what the plans were for ﬁhe expansion of Haleekele,
The reply on August 22 noted the euthorizstion éf June 20, 1938
which sllowed extension eestwerd to include Kipehulu Forest

Reserve and some privately owned lands, At that time the
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Service hed agreed with the Territorial officisls not to
push for this "although we retain it as an ultimate objective, "
On Mey 8, 1962 (after receipt of the Carpenter report)
Director Merrisam oeregion Four wrote to the Director, NPS,
ebout the Seeashore Study end Kipebulu valley and he said:
“We believe thet the 1938 Act releting to NPS sdditicns in
rresent circumstances is inepplicable to Haleskala Kestional
Perk and in any event, should not be relied upon &s euthecrity
for a mejor addition to thet park, '

In MHerch 1961; Assistent Director Scoyenr hed suggested
thet a new Boundary Stetus Report for Haleekels was due,
By September, the Lends section hsed cug out Drawi ng No,
NP~EAW T019/B showing the bounderies epproved in 1853, end
this wes forwarded to the Director cf Reglon Four with the
commeni that the reccords showed verylang ecreeges for the
non-Federel holdings within the Heleakela Netionsl Park but
they could see no pressing need for, or poesibiliiy of,
reconciling the smounts et that time. Horeover, the qﬁestion
of whether Kipehulu valley should be included witbin the Perk
ﬂad been raised severel times, Accoréing to Lends'! records,
Heleekals Kationsl Park includec 17,3130 ecres of reqeral 1and,
£1l conveyed by deed, Jénuary 28, 1948 from the itory of
Hewaii; eand apprex_mately 9,272.78 ecres of noa-Federsl land

in the following contiguous ownersghips

#i 7 °
-:’-"— 3 _1e ¢ LS

#r% Files Ll.(,._‘j, September 1L, 1961,
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Parcel H 3138 ecres Ulupzlalue Ranch, watershed
dedication
I 5310 " Ulupelekus Rench, cleer title
K 166 " Dwight Beldwin
0 26.5 ¢ E, Mazul Iprrigstion Co,, Ltd,
L Q.27 *® Eeleskala Ranch Compeny (the
’ Kuls hesdquarters site) :
plus 5561 - " Kipehulu Forest Reserve {State

of Heweil) |

The following April 11, 1962, the Deperiment of Fleoning
end Reegeerch wrote to HPS, Weshington, esking for the curreat
cdeta on ecreage at Heleekale and Hewall Volcences Kationel
Perks,  Weshington's reply showed 9,272.78 ecres cf non-
Federal lend in Haléakala. Superiantendent Stretion hed
received a similer request, end sgurprised t¢ leara that |
there was apy non-Federal land in Ealeakels KNP, dug out an
old HNP Renger Menuel end discovered 8 non-Federal percels,
ell outside the Park boundery, 7 of which were ia the Kipshulu
velley, His 1list included percels H, I, X, 0, & L {ebove)
rlus the following Stete-owned percels: |

Parcél J 1070 ecres

H 57 ©
N 780 "

Letters were also‘exchanged between Superintendent
Strettoa and the US Departuent of Agriculture on the total
ecreage involved and the»kiad of land it was,

Pert of the confusion wes due to the ineclusion of
Parcel L in some listings, A Bouadsry Status Report submitted

by Superintendent Oberhansley on July 22, 19&7vproposed the
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ecquisition of some 20-L0 ecres of land near the Xula pipe-
line for & Park headguerters at the L00O foot level. A
percel of 9.27 acres was recommended by Director Drury on
February 26, 1951, approved by Interior Secretery Chapman
on Merch 26, 1951, end appeered in Drewing No. NP-HAW T019/A
es trect Y"L", It was later determined that the idea of =z
deteched headquerters was impracticable end all visiting
Service officials concurred in sbandoning the site., On
Septembsr 17, 1953, Oberhansiay recommenéed abeadonriag the
site and developlng the 7000 foot headguarters erea, This
wes approved by Assistant Diréctor Sanford Hill con October
22, 1953. Acting Superintendent Castroc recommended the
proposel to acquire be ebolished on October 29, 1953; it
wes approved by Regionmel Director Merriam on December 8, 1953,
and by Director Tolson on Decewber Z0, 1953, This percel
wes mentloned by Acting Chief of Lands in his letier of
September 1k, 1961 to the Director of Regioa Four és "now
definitely eliminested from Park development placs end neb
depicted on Drawlag No. NP-HAW 7019/B." Lpperently his was
the only office with a corrected drewing., The deletion
made everyonels pon-Federal laad tdtal come out the same,
On QOctober 5, 1962, Regioqal Director Merriem wrote -
Superintendent Stratton that the House Committee ou Lp-
propriations wanted to know the aumber of non-Federasl scres
es of July 1, 1962, estimated value, and number of land
ownsers. Stratton replied the next dey that there was no

non-Federal lend in Heleekala, On October 30, however,

HALE=-Th



B T N B B B B e

the zdonolulu Star-Bulletia reportsd that the extension was

to include both Koolau {owned by Richard Baldwin who, it was

rsported, thought the idea was fins) and Kaupo {owned by
Dwight Baldwin) as well as other, Sfate~ownnd lands,
Director Wirth was sald to approve., Somebody thought
defenss funds could be btapped for development in the area,
éspecially at Sclence City, add for a roadvbeyond’Skyline
Drive down to PoliPoli Spriags. |

Wirth, of couras, had been misquoted. While he wantad
a study of Kaupo, Kipahulu was the desired sxtension,
Apologliss went to Dwight Baldwin, dilsclaiming anj'?ark
intarest in acquiring the arsa at Kaupo.

At this polat an even 1arger'storm-erupted over the
po3838lbllity that Keanae was also proposed for inclusion in
the National Park, On January 13, 1963, Mamoru Yamasaki
Representative, Tth Dlstvlc», wrove Gonﬂrassmaq Inouyv thét

taere wers runors of an extension iacludinv Keanae and

Wallua, He indicated tbe pooxr Hawaiians wers very upset over

the possibility of losine thei* lands to the 4edaral govern— ‘

ment as they supp’em°qted their meagre family inc3m°s by

growing taro on the lands wanbed, Inouye contacted Intsrior

Secrstary Udall who replied that several areas wers being
studied for}a Uossiblé oxtension, There were no recomnend-
atlons as yet and an act of Coangress would be reéuired undér
any circumstances before the Park could be enlarged. About

the same time, Senator Fong wrote NPS Director Wirth asqug

tie same questioas and rkceived a simlilar rsply.
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Back 1in September 1960, a hiking club went from
Hosmer Grove to Keanas valléyralong the boundary, and the
Superintendent's %ontnly Report noted that én additicnal
hiking cabin at Keanae and a route into the valley were
wanbed., The Report also went on record as wantiag Lo add
the vallsy to the Park,

In an atbtempt to clarify the situatioa; a méetiag was
arrangad for Harch 2i, 1963 in Wailuku, with Supsrinbsndent
Stratton, Seanator Inouys and the Keanas rasidsnta, Oneriand
holder, Dr, Thomas Bshrmann, was vensmently oppoéed to any

zxteznalon boward Keanas, Inouye supportesd the Park, Pro-

|

ark persons suggestsd an annouacement that the Parik was nosg
I 3

Iintsrested in the private lands below the ditch line, onls
¢ P i
13

ths State lands above ths ditch. This limlt would also

Y

avoid the problems of diteh water. i1ghts,.
The residents were nobt satisfied, and, lsd by Ypoor
Hawailian® Bshrmann, formed a citizsa's group bo “resist
loag-rangs Haléakala Hational Park expansion pléns." The
campalgn would extend beyond Maul es Tthey felt Inouye had
not convinced them the expansion eould or wounld a0t occur
in tns Tubure, Thej felt expansion Wwas a threat to everyéne
in the aresa,
Behrmann met with ths Maul Chambsr of Commerce on May 1,
and the next day Superintandent Stratton mst Qitnrﬁui Ahina-
niaa, ths Halaakala National Park citizehs aésistanca group,

They waat over the claims and countsr-clalims and the

Directors of nul Ahinanipa offerad a resolution in support
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of the ex% easion. Stratton polnted out State_Senata
Resolution number 116 rsquessted counties to assist and
cooparate wilth Fe?erél and Stabe agencies'in the study of
National Parks, and asked Hul Ahinahina to hold,ﬁheir
resolution until the study was completed, On May 51,
Dirscbor Wirth wrots the Director of Reéioq Four, asraelag
to announce that the Parﬁ was cnly interested ggggg the
ditech 1ins, He hopad eventually that zonigg would preserve
the lowér valley. | |

A statement to this effect, dated June 13, 1963, was
sant to Hawali'’s Congressmsn and others. Hepressantatlive
Ton Gill wrota on July 2 about the coatinuing, 1f lesseaing
uproar, wantlng to know who was complaining, who ownad the
1znd and so on, and was advised thatb furthsr opposition was
not expectad now that lowsr Keanas had been permansntly
excluded from any extension, "

In lats July, Kipahulu was visited again by John
Hennsberger of HAVO, Rgnger Lindsay of HALE and WRO Parlk
Planner Mortimar. Hennaberger also visited Keg&a@ with:
HALE Supsrinbendsnt Guss and HALE Navuralist Zink in November,
Their reports indicatasd that Kipahulu was be%tar bobtanically,

but Keanse had batter visitor potential, HAVO Superintenden’

 Johnston wrote November 18 to the Western Region Director,

to say that the situajion in Kipahulu was the same as it had
been 9% years befors, and quoted the lebter of May 1, 195h:
"We fesel that 1t is exbtremely desirabls to retain ths Kipahulu

Vallsy snd adjacent lands in any acqulsition plans for Maui.,
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The sams reason that impslled this Service Qriginal ly to
iacluds tne Valley ia the land program is still valid....
It is emphasized that we will reduce our land requests on
bhe Island of Hewali only upon condibion that Kipahulu
Valley remain with the Park acquisition program and that
the Territory initiate early actlon to acQuira the private
hoidings aﬁd ssttle thé ownarship of the disputad‘Tract H,
3,138 acres, ™t | |
Mesanwnile, anouheriégency had cntsred the picture. In
a letter dated October 17, 1963 Ho the Dirsctor of the
Western Hegional Office, HALZ Supsrintendsat Guse noted that
the SSats Dapartment of Land and Natural Rsesources and
Haleakala Ranch had an agreement to release gggé in Xoolau
Gap and the north crater ridgs, This agrsement permitied
the State free access to the laad af all times and allowed
them to rezulate and control all hunting., Thiz was ths

same land propbsed for addition bo the'?arx. Gﬁsé wrote the

next day to the Superintendent of HAVO, iaaicatiag the move

was a COﬂnle*e sux ”prlse to HALE as tnere had bsen a gentlemen s

agresment with tns Rancd‘s land manager to consider an ezchange

of lands on ths south slope of HALB for the land now-iaclu&ad
in the agreement with tne State, if an addition Lo the Park
bacams deslrable, |

The agreemént was Land and Nabtural Resources Board
Resolution #40 of October 11, 1953, which declarad the afea‘
"Haleakala Wildlifs Refuge™ %o be managsd by terms of a

# This letter not located; koown only by quotes in other
corrsspondsace,
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cooperative agrsement between the Board of Land and Natural
Resources and the Haleakala Ranch Company. Included wesre
some 33460 acres b§tween the Park boundary and Halku uka, ths
larnd of Kalialinui, including Forestfy*s Waikou Cabia,

Additional correspondence from Michio Tanaka, Directdr,
Division of Fish and Ggme, to Richard Baldwin, dated October
21, gave the new name as "Haleakala Neﬁa Sanétuaﬁy," and the
duration of the agreement as 10 years, alihough the Ranch
could remove any portion of land from the area for’any purpossas
provided the Board was given 30 days nqtice.' No funds changed
hands and reserved to the Raach were all normal ranching
activities, exéept hunting., |

Supsrintendesnt Guse sent coplies of all this on to the
Director, Western Regional Office, with the note that it

would have littla effect oﬁ continued consideration of the

‘area as a possible addition to ths Park,#

The nexd move‘came'in Jaauary 1964 from Hawail Répreéen-
tative Spark Matsunaga who wagted to kabw the pressnt stavus
of the boundary ex?ension; He was advised that the Harlan
Bartholomew'study had baen fihisbed‘the»pfevious summer but
study in the NPS was still underway. It was hoped to have a

declslon and rescommendation by the next few months, Any changs

would still require an enabling act of Congress. Superinbendent

Guse also wondered. Wrlting to the Director, WRO, on March
13, 196L, in response to an inquiry on inholdings, he indicated

there wers nons, except for the 9272,77 acres in Kipahulu

% File: Lihi7; L58.
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valley, determined as deslirable in 1951 on the basis of

the 1938 "rounding out" clauss, The area was still shown

as non-Federally ?wned‘Park lands in Areas Administersd by
NPS, Should HALE be preparing an ascquisition priority
prograh for thesse lands?

He recelved a letter dated March 18 from James M, Siler
(Regionai Chief, Division of Land and Water Rights, WRO)

saying that they had determined it was not ascessary to

submit a priority program covering those acres,

Keanae surfaced again on April 23, 1964 ia a memo?andum
from WRO to the Superintendent at HALE, Keanas was recormended
a8 an extension cnly to thse ditch lias, with planniag to o
include tralls, shelters, etc, Kipshulu was ﬁot proposed
for addition due to impoasible public use, The State should
consider Kipahulu for its sclentific values and provids

continuous protection. Xipabulu might be studied as a

~

possible Natural Scientific Landmark, If it became endangered,

then the area could be recoasldered for possible addition.
Superintendent Gusa generally agreed. It was a matbter of

giving up Kipahulu when pushing for it might jecpardize

Keanas, and Kipahulu wilthout the coastel area did not compete

favorably with Xeanas, also without a coastal area, On May 5,

‘Superintendent Jopnston of HAVO wrobte the Director of WRO:

"] would recommend that bthe authorized extension of the
boundary intc the upper portion of Kipahulu valliey be with-
drawn in favor of the boundary extension into Keanae valley

as shown on She map accompanyleg your April 23 memo,"
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Keanae was still in the running, and on June 11, the E, Maul
Irrigation Compsany wrote to s&ggest the,bounda:y be‘200 feet
above the ditch to provide better maintalnance. WRO replied
that water rights‘and easements were still to be explored. 
For the rest of the year the matter remained quies
except for a letter from Ira B, Lykes (Acting Assistant
Director, Cooperative Activities) to the Director of WRO,
offering“help onrthe‘ﬁoundary changés during bhe_next session
of congress, Lykes was responding to the Harland Bartholomgw
"Report on Economic.Evaluatién of Proposéd Keanae Extension,"
No officisl report had yeﬁmbgen reléasedrwhén Superin~
tendent Guse surmarized the generai outlipnes of the pfoposéd
extension on February 2, 1955, in a report to the members of
Superintendent Stratton's ad hoec Advisory Pane;‘onvpotantial
land acquisitions, (This Advisory group had been heard frpm |
earlier; in December 1965 they met to discusg the::ela;ive
values of Keanae and Kipahulu bobtanically,) The pioposal.
covered some 7900 acres in upper Keanse valiey,"starting o
200 feet above the ditch, with limited development, and all
water rights contiéued.' The members met again on March 2
and generally agreed wilith the aréa and develépment plans, |
although thers were questions on overnignt cabins and hunting,
There was not enough conssasus within the Advisory Group to
make any recommendations. Then, in early 1966, the propcsed‘
Kaual NP brought new adverse commen$s on the Keanae valley

addltion,

The proposesd Kipshulu extension remained on the map, and
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the Keanae extenslon remained off, as of the end of 1965.
There had been no officilal boundery change to put them on
or take them off.‘ In May 1966, Superintendent,Guss obtained
from HAVO a copy of Drawing No. NP-HAW 7019/B, still in
effect; and filed it away in his offlce until the entire

land-holding question could be worked outb,
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